
        
            
                
            
        

     
   
    Foreword 
 
    Hello, please accept my thanks for taking the time to read my book. I would like to preface your experience with some information in case you didn’t fully read the blurb before picking it. 
 
    This book is intended to be read by adults and is not for children. It features violence and descriptions of explicit sex as well as profane language. 
 
    The characters in this book are fictional, who make choices and take actions which defy societal norms and legal definitions of sexual consent.  
 
    This work is for entertainment purposes only and is not an endorsement of these activities or attitudes. 
 
    It is a bit smutty, it is a male erotic harem fantasy, emphasis on the fantasy. If you don’t want to read something of that nature, I recommend you stop now.  
 
    This book also includes Gamelit/LitRPG elements including stats and levelling. 
 
    Like many writers I have occasionally borrowed elements of my real life and incorporated them into my characters. Yet the MC is not me and should not be mistaken to reflect me or my actual feelings or opinions.  
 
    I can’t stop you from leaving a scathing review, but if any of the above is the sum of your criticism, you’re wasting your time. I intend to continue writing smutty male erotic harem fantasy set in a sex dungeon. Well maybe some of it won’t be set in a sex dungeon, but it’ll still be smutty male erotic fantasy, or sci-fi, possibly urban fantasy. Scantily clad, sexy women will be a given, everything else is negotiable I suppose. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    The Wolf King’s Lair 
 
    Book 6 
 
      
 
    By Devan Drake 
 
    

  

 
   
    What Has Gone Before 
 
      
 
    Dave Smith was minding his own business in his crappy little flat on the outskirts of London. Bemoaning many of the very things that probably affect you in your everyday lives. 
 
    Then rather unexpectedly he was spared his banal existence when he was dragged through a portal to another dimension by a bunch of demon-worshipping cultists with a questionable grasp of ritualistic pronunciation. 
 
    The strains of unprotected interdimensional travel had a rather untoward effect on our intrepid hero and that left him as little more than a drooling mess. He was quietly disposed of in this fantasy realms sewer system and shortly thereafter, he died. 
 
    A rather inauspicious beginning by anybody’s standards. 
 
    All was not lost, though. Dave Smith was reborn as Daxas, a ripped and awesome in every way, badass Lupus Rex. That’s a Wolf King for those of you who haven’t picked up any Latin. 
 
    But he was also trapped in the Proving Grounds as a Dungeon Core. The Grounds are the metaphysical equivalent of Purgatory for the fantasy dimension he’d been transported to. Where the mettle of the unworthy was tested and those found wanting went to a rather ignominious end as soul food for the Infernal Reaches. 
 
    This is an incredibly unfair situation for almost all involved. 
 
    Worse than that, Daxas was not meant to be here. 
 
    He quickly discovered the gods of this place were sorely lacking when it came to a sense of humour or pleasant personality traits, like compassion. Instead of letting him go free, as they should have, they ensured he had to take part in their horrific battle for survival. Pitting the victims against one another. 
 
    It gets better for Daxas, that is a sarcasm, it doesn’t. These divine assholes are actively trying to get him killed. 
 
    So, with his big-eared, blue-skinned adviser, Tenzing. Who did not look like Yoda at all, (newsflash he kind of did.) Daxas built himself a dungeon and waited for the penitent adventurers of the Proving Grounds to come and try to destroy him. 
 
    They failed. Whoop whoop! 
 
    Daxas soon discovered he had a second adviser, the buxom and teasing Alyssa. She was sympathetic to his plight, but not as forthcoming with help as Tenzing. 
 
    She was, however, far prettier. No offence, Tenzing, but facts are facts. 
 
    Through Alyssa, Daxas learned the secrets of why the gods wanted him six feet under. 
 
    He was a soul siphon that had been harmlessly absorbing and accumulating the soul energy of more than ten million Londoners his whole life. If your average adventurer was a tasty snack for the Divine Lords, like a small bowl of nuts, Daxas was the combined agricultural produce of the whole planet. 
 
    And the greedy buggers wanted to devour him badly. 
 
    Bending the rules and cheating for all he was worth was the only path of success open to our protagonist. That and ruthlessly crushing anybody who stood in his way or who happened to irritate him. There could be no sympathy for others. It was a wolf-eat-wolf world. 
 
    Over time Daxas managed to gather a bevy of beautiful women to his side to act as his disciples and share his bed. Jessamyn, the wood-elf was the first and became his alpha mate. Karragh and Fiadh followed after that. 
 
    He also managed to add Nessa Fiveleaf and Jen’Zadeer Shadestar to his growing harem. Both of whom were dungeon cores in their own right. 
 
    This kind of rule-bending, while it greatly increased his personal power, also brought the ire of those very gods who sought to cheat him of his life. 
 
    Alyssa was replaced as his adviser and joined him in the dungeon, replaced by a new Arbiter influenced instead by Timian, the God of Prophecy and head douchebag. However, this malignant influence didn’t help the Arbiter, and Daxas was able to enrage and outwit him to get what he wanted. 
 
    Added to all this the elven goddess, Jezebel. She had been on the run after failing to suitably hamstring Daxas. And had abandoned the Heavenly Realm and fled to the Proving Grounds. Jezebel seized control of several elf guilds in the Proving Grounds and masquerading as Lady Silvermayne enacted her own plan to secure Daxas’ power for herself. 
 
    With the assistance of his adventuring allies that he had built up over the years. And it only cost him a minor amount of complaints and grumbling from Simeon. 
 
    The halfling really ought to turn that frown upside down and get over himself. Maybe in this book? It’s pretty much his last chance. 
 
    Daxas has added many more mates to his harem over the years. Krista the vampire, Gadiel, a foul-mouthed high-elf, Tabitha a cute, but shy, bunnygirl to name a few and close to thirty others. A veritable cornucopia of ladies of different shapes, sizes and hues. The gorgon, Tamara’s dungeon had been merged with his and her cabal destroyed. 
 
    Despite the Wolf King’s many successes, time is short, and the end is coming. Daxas’ dungeon has been advancing swiftly and soon he will face the ultimate test, which will decide his fate and the fates of those he cares for. 
 
    The day of the Divine Challenge is almost upon him. Jezebel’s antics have hastened its arrival and curtailed most of the time Daxas believed he would have. However, confidence remains high in their camp.  
 
    And now, read on for the epic conclusion to the Wolf King’s Lair. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    What’s Past is Prologue 
 
      
 
    Colmis: The Twelfth Realm 
 
    Circa 400 years before Dave Smith’s arrival. 
 
      
 
    The rain hammered down hard on the tiled roof of Pilbin Tisquissin’s Emporium of Literary Wonders. Keeping the building watertight was the single expense the overly haughty, eponymous shopkeeper indulged in. He wouldn’t abide leaks and allow his beloved stock to get damp. The books he kept here were more precious to him than anything else in the world, especially an illiterate orphan boy like Randall. 
 
    The hour was late, the dead of night to be exact. Randall was the only one still in the shop at this ungodly hour. Pilbin had retired to his townhouse at sundown for tea and after-dinner drinks with his associates. The teenage boy shivered in the cold, chained to his desk. 
 
    Literally. 
 
    His pompous moustachioed master treated him like a slave and not the apprentice he was supposed to be. He couldn’t have Randall running off during the night. It would look bad and then Pilbin would have to do all the shitty jobs he happily foisted upon the orphaned lad. 
 
    Randall rubbed his chapped hands in front of the shuttered oil lantern that was the single source of light and heat on horrible nights like this. Pilbin would never allow him to light a real fire no matter the weather. 
 
    What if a spark or ember escaped the fireplace and set alight his precious books! 
 
    Strangely, that worry seemed to escape Pilbin’s concerns when it came to his private office and the customer reading room. They were both places Randall was forbidden to enter unless he was cleaning. 
 
    Suppressing a shiver, Randall dipped his quill in the inkwell and continued with the task at hand. Copying the text from the leatherbound book in front of him into another smaller pocketbook. The young lad may have been illiterate, but his penmanship was exquisite and incredibly accurate. It was the only reason Pilbin bothered to feed him reasonably well. 
 
    Pilbin had truly lucked in when he found the youngster at a local orphanage two years ago and apprenticed him. Randall was a real money-maker for the bookshop. Not that Pilbin would ever tell the boy that or give him a penny of the proceeds. 
 
    Despite not being able to read any of the texts he dutifully transcribed, Randall was neither naïve nor ignorant of his situation. However, escaping his unjust lot required funds. To break an apprenticeship, you needed sufficient coin to grease the wheels at the guild. The applicable penalty fees that went to your master weren’t really the issue. Randall would need to out-bribe the guild officials. He knew Pilbin wouldn’t willingly let him leave. To escape this rotten life and find his own fortune he had to make it too expensive for his master to hang onto him. 
 
    Which was the reason Randall was still diligently working away when all others were abed. Not even Pilbin Tisquissin was such a prick that he would make him work through the night. Chain him to the desk with only a smattering of straw in the corner for a bed and a thin ratty blanket for warmth, yes. Working him through the night, no. Although as Randall thought it over that was probably only because he would start making mistakes if he was too exhausted. 
 
    No, what Randall was working on was a private commission. One of Pilbin’s customers, an oily, obsequious toad-like man had propositioned Randall before closing a week ago when his master’s back was turned. 
 
    The man offered Randall ten pieces of gold to make twenty copies of the leatherbound book in front of him. The original was old, and the dark green leather cracked. The ink on the leaves was faded, but Randall’s eyesight was sharp, and he could make it out even in the low light from his lantern. 
 
    The book was gorgeously illustrated even if many of the images were quite disturbing, but the client only wanted him to make copies of the text. This had to be a banned book of some kind. What he offered for the transcription was ridiculously high and he made it very clear that Pilbin was not to be made aware of the transaction and Randall was happy to oblige on that front. 
 
    Randall suspected the man only approached him after his master had boasted earlier that day of his ability in spite of his illiteracy. 
 
    He never got the oily man’s name. Randall thought he was a merchant out of Centrani, though. The apprentice didn’t care what the provenance of the book was or what the merchant planned to do with the copies once he had them. Ten gold might be enough to earn him his freedom. He could speak to Tasha at the guild offices. The older woman had taken a liking to him, and even commented once or twice about his misfortunate circumstance. Randall was sure she would make quiet enquiries on his behalf. 
 
    The merchant had delivered the book the following day and Randall had been finishing two or three copies each night. He was halfway through the nineteenth of twenty when he heard the sound of the shopfronts bell jangle. 
 
    “What? Who is there?” He squeaked in fright and hastily began to tidy his workspace and hide the books he had been working on under the desk. 
 
    His master had never come back to the shop after dark in the two years since Randall had been bought from the orphanage. But it would be just his luck that Pilbin would find a reason to do so tonight, just as Randall neared his independence. 
 
    “A weary traveller come to sample your wares,” a mocking voice Randall didn’t recognise called back to him. 
 
    A few seconds later a figure walked into the backroom. He was clad in a deep green robe and cloak that concealed his face from the frightened boy. 
 
    “Who…Who are you?” he demanded querulously, his voice breaking from both fear and burgeoning adulthood. “M…Master Tisquissin would never leave the door unlocked.” 
 
    Randall’s chains rattled as he fidgeted in his seat nervously. Unsure of whether to confront or cower from the intruder and ultimately doing neither. 
 
    “An astute observation, young man. He did not. However, locks have never been a problem for me,” the figure chuckled lightly. 
 
    “You haven’t told me who you are.” 
 
    “A second astute observation in as many seconds. They are almost like buses. Oh, and I don’t plan on doing so,” the unwelcome stranger said. 
 
    Randall’s brow furrowed in confusion at the strange man’s odd words. 
 
    “Ah, wrong place, wrong time. My next appointment would have appreciated the humour, though.” 
 
    The figure shrugged his shoulders and grabbed a simple wooden stool leaning against one of the many bookcases in the backroom and sat down beside Randall’s desk. 
 
    The stranger said nothing more and Randall looked at him askance. “The shop is closed. If you wish to buy anything you will have to return in the morning when Master Tisquissin has returned. He handles all sales.” 
 
    “The purchase of any of these fine tomes is not my purpose here tonight.” 
 
    “Then, why are you here?” 
 
    “Aha! A question I will answer for you. To make you an offer, young man.” 
 
    “Then you will have to converse with Master Tisquissin in the morning. He makes all the business decisions.” 
 
    Randall tried to be as dismissive as possible. The entire situation gave him the creeps and he still hadn’t been able to get a hint of the man’s face inside the green hood despite his uncomfortable closeness. 
 
    “Really, Randall? That does surprise me. I was under the impression you were quite open to under-the-table offers. Like the one you made with Markos to make copies of the book you are coincidentally hiding underneath the table, well desk, between us.” 
 
    “I don’t know who Markos is,” Randall whispered truthfully, eyes wide, but there would be no prize for guessing it was the name of the oily merchant who had contracted him. 
 
    “He wouldn’t have given you his name, but you know who I’m talking about.” 
 
    Randall had no interest in hearing any more. He had obviously got himself involved in something he shouldn’t have and decided to say as much. “I think you have me mistaken for another scribe. Please leave.” 
 
    “I’m afraid I can’t do that, Randall. You haven’t even heard my offer.” 
 
    “Please…” the boy begged, but what he was asking for was unclear even to himself. 
 
    The mysterious stranger chose to interpret the plea as one to proceed. “Very well, you’ve twisted my arm,” he chuckled. “I offer you threefold freedom.” 
 
    Randall blinked a couple of times not properly understanding what the figure meant. “Uh…” 
 
    The stranger clapped him on the shoulder with his hand. Randall could see that he was wearing a gauntlet, but it hadn’t felt like that when it touched him. “In exchange for the threefold freedom I offer, I wish you to perform a simple task for me.” 
 
    The man produced a slip of paper from his sleeve and placed it on the desk in front of Randall. The lad looked down at it. The cursive text seemed familiar, very similar to that which he had been copying under the cover of night all week, but he could see there were some key differences. Randall couldn’t read, but his keen eye could spot the alterations. 
 
    “I want you to add this to your current work in progress instead of the page in the daemonicon that should be there.” 
 
    “What?” 
 
    “The daemonicon. It’s the name of the book you are copying. Not a particularly original title, and a bit derivative if you ask me.” 
 
    “No, I don’t care what the book is called. You want me to change what is in the copies of the book. I can’t do that. Markos is paying me to make perfect copies. I need that money. I won’t do it.” 
 
    “First, Randall, I don’t want you to change all of them. Just the one you are currently working on. The nineteenth, I believe it is. Trust me, Markos will never notice the difference,” the stranger assured him in an almost hypnotic tone. 
 
    Randall was almost gulled by the honeyed words but shook it off. “No. You might think me an easily bought orphan, but I have my integrity. I won’t create a false copy for you.” 
 
    The stranger chuckled and leaned back on the stool. “That is an admirable attitude, Randall. And one I can appreciate. But I think you’ll find my offer too attractive to deny.” 
 
    “Ah, yes, this threefold freedom. Well, I don’t need you to free me. I am on the path to doing that for myself,” Randall said with increased confidence. He even straightened his posture as he spoke. 
 
    “I wish that was the case my young friend, but it is not,” the stranger told him sadly. “I shall have to explain. The first freedom I offer you is freedom from this desk. This one is fairly self-explanatory. I can break those chains and get you out of this shop. Tonight. After you have finished your transcription with the one very minor alteration to a single copy made on my behalf, of course. 
 
    “The second freedom I offer is from this life you are trapped in. I can take you to somewhere your talents will not go unappreciated. Even should you escape your current captivity, opportunities for connectionless orphans in this land are few and far between.” 
 
    “I can manage that myself as soon as I’ve paid off the guild,” Randall interrupted. “They will help set me up on my own.” 
 
    “Ah, yes. Your plan to take the ten gold Markos will pay you and have the kind Tasha negotiate to bribe them on your behalf. I hate to be the bearer of bad news, but that kindly older woman is an arch manipulator that even I would be proud of. You are but one of dozens of put-upon apprentices she has fooled into believing she is on their side. She is not. At this very moment, she is sharing wine with your master and will likely be sharing his bed soon after. They would have taken your gold and split it between them and left you here, chained, robbed, and a terrific beating worse off.” 
 
    Randall gulped down his disappointment and shame. A part of him wanted to deny the words, but this stranger knew too much. His smooth confidence had a ring of authenticity. “And the third freedom?” he asked instead. 
 
    “Freedom from death, of course. It can’t have escaped the notice of an observant lad like yourself that Markos wore gloves when handing over the daemonicon to you?” 
 
    “Yes, he did. But that isn’t unusual. Many book dealers wear gloves when handling old tomes.” 
 
    “And yet he didn’t insist you do so as well, did he?” 
 
    The stranger was right, and Randall blanched at the implication. He had been such a fool. The book was clearly forbidden. Even if Randall couldn’t read it and be able to testify to the contents, would a shady opportunist leave a living witness behind? The boy pulled the book out from the cubby beneath his desk with shaking hands and almost dropped it. 
 
    “How?” he croaked. 
 
    “The leather was cured in a rather effective, slow acting, contact poison. Quite rare these days. I’d wager most apothecaries wouldn’t recognise the name if I were disposed to share it. Which I am not. Its efficacy has diminished over the centuries. Merely picking it up is no longer fatal but handling it as often as you have without protection certainly will be. 
 
    “It was a rather common deterrent against theft for volumes such as this when it was written, but the practice fell into disuse once thieves and inquisitors adapted. And with disuse, the due care and attention for such things no longer became the norm and we come full circle to your current predicament. 
 
    “In this case, the slow build-up of poison in your bloodstream that will leave you unaffected long enough for you to complete your task for Markos, while also ensuring your continued silence after you have delivered. You have three, perhaps four days. Worry not, Randall, my boy, I have the antidote. You’ll be right as rain in no time. Right after we have concluded our business for the night.” 
 
    The mild headaches and ill-humours Randall had recently experienced took on an entirely different hue in the boy’s mind. He had put it down to tiredness from the repeated late nights and intensive concentration on his work. It could still be that, but did he want to bet his life on it? 
 
     Randall looked at the green-clad stranger with fresh eyes. He came across as amiable but also radiated an undeniable ruthlessness. He was under no illusions that this man would leave him to die if he did not agree to do as asked. 
 
    “Integrity is an indulgence only the privileged can afford,” Randall said with resigned acceptance. 
 
    “Truer words have never been spoken. You really were wasted here, Randall. When you’re done, we’ll wrap the copies up with the original and leave them for collection. Pilbin will never notice an extra package and we wouldn’t want Markos to think you didn’t follow through on your bargain. He’ll simply assume you died a bit earlier than anticipated and your master is covering with a story of you running away to save his own reputation. The dastardly always suspect the worst in others.” 
 
    The boy nodded and got his workspace back in order and began to copy the slightly modified text provided by the stranger. 
 
      
 
    Ritual for the summoning of daemons devoted to the Great Dread: Shabbarth. 
 
      
 
    Randall didn’t understand a word of it. However, he had learned to recognise numerals. Pilbin thought it important he knew that much. If he was making changes for the stranger, then why not one for himself? At the top of the page, he scribbled the number nineteen. Randall had no idea if he would ever see any of these copies again, but if he did, he would know this was the one that differed from all the others. 
 
    Unseen by Randall the stranger observed his small addition and smiled widely in the depths of his impenetrable cowl. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
    The city of Centrani 
 
    400 years later. 
 
      
 
    Goran Meester and his wife Myra exited their cult leader’s home by the back servant’s entrance hauling the body between them. The voluminous black silk robes they wore were cool to the touch and added a certain air of importance to their fortnightly gatherings. However, they did make the job of dragging a portly, overweight male out of the house and down into the back alley much trickier. 
 
    “I cannot believe I let you sweet talk me into marrying such a useless dolt,” Myra snapped as she almost tripped descending the two stoop steps. 
 
    “This was not my fault, Myra,” Goran huffed, slightly out of breath and with the resignation of a man used to being browbeaten by his other half. 
 
    He defended himself out of habit and not out of any hope that his darling wife would listen or accept a single word. 
 
    “My mother told me I was marrying beneath my station, and she was right. The third son of a middling merchant house. What was I thinking?” 
 
    “Your mother was a dockside tavern wench, one step away from a doxy. I think you are mistaken as to who was marrying beneath themselves,” Goran muttered under his breath. 
 
    “What was that?” Myra screeched, her voice going up a full octave. 
 
    “Nothing dear. And can you keep your voice down, please. The last thing we need is to alert the watch as to what we are doing.” 
 
    “Don’t tell me what to do!” 
 
    “Do you want to be caught? The kind of bribe necessary to make this go away will pauper the pair of us. No more dresses, lunches with the ladies of good breeding or any of the many other nice things your useless husband buys with the money he earns from his apparently third-rate mercantile business,” Goran snapped almost out of breath by the end. 
 
    “Don’t try and turn this back on me, Goran. We are in this mess because of you.” 
 
    “Like I said, dear, this is not my fault.” 
 
    “Whose fault is it then? I don’t recall anybody else buying a scrap of parchment from an itinerant tinker just because he looked like the kind of fellow who would be a diabolist. The ritual’s failure is why Petemon is making us do this and not his slaves. He is pissed at us for making him look like a fool in front of the rest of the cult.” 
 
    “The strange, green-robed astrologist we saw last week assured me that nineteen was my lucky number this month and you saw it scribbled on the top of that page. It was an obvious sign; how could I have known it wouldn’t work? Besides, it’s not like the ritual failed exactly…” Goran trailed off and looked down at the softly wheezing body he was dragging. Myra had ceased helping in any way once they were out of the house. 
 
    Myra stopped and glowered at her husband. The moonlight caught her at just the perfect angle. Her blonde tresses framed her heart-shaped face and sparkling blue eyes. For a heartbeat, Goran’s breath was taken away and he was taken back to the day ten years prior when he met his wife-to-be for the first time and the future seemed to be one open with endless possibilities for joy and happiness. 
 
    Then she opened her mouth, and her vituperative tongue shattered the illusion. “Imbecile! Does this look like a denizen of the Dark Reaches ready to shower us with wealth and power? We summoned a useless bloody drooler!” Myra punctuated her statement by kicking the hapless man lying in the filth of the back alley. 
 
    “Ah, yes, but we summoned something,” Goran emphasised. “That proves the ritual could work. What if Petemon is the one who screwed it up? He insisted on leading the ritual and I’m not sure about some of his pronunciations.” 
 
    “Maybe,” Myra answered in a slightly mollified tone, unwilling to admit she hadn’t thought of that and was mildly impressed by her husband. “I will speak to Tina Crossfields at lunch tomorrow and lead her to that conclusion. She’s the biggest gossip in the cult. Perhaps our reputation following this debacle can be salvaged, after all.” 
 
    “An excellent idea, dear. Now can you help with the disposal? The drooler is heavier than he looks, and we still have a fair way to go before we can dump him in the river.” 
 
    Myra looked at her husband with distaste at the mere suggestion. Then her eyes alighted on something across the alley or more correctly the absence of something. A drain into the ancient sewerage system. The iron grate had corroded and broken away. 
 
    Myra pointed at the drainage hole. “Let’s just dump him in the sewer.” 
 
    “That’s a bit close to Petemon’s home, isn’t it?” 
 
    “I seriously doubt anybody will find him down there. Anyway, it’s not like we care if that pompous ass gets caught by the watch. It might even help us step up in the cult if he were to be discovered.” 
 
    “Good point,” Goran agreed and dragged the helpless man across the alley and then leaned down and pushed him through the gap. The rusty grating gouged the soft, doughy flesh of the drooler, and the man mewled weakly in pain. After one last hefty shove by Goran, the drooler was through and slid down into the dark and muck. 
 
    “What now?” Goran asked his wife. 
 
    “The night is young and I’m feeling wide awake after all of this. Why don’t we go home and open a bottle of the Imperial Red? We can have a few glasses and then finish the night with a bit of rutting. I’m in the mood. We can break in the new serving girl. You know the one. Curly brown hair, cute button nose, and a curvy bum that you’ve been staring at since she started last week.” 
 
    “I have not!” 
 
    “Really? My mistake. Let’s call the whole idea off and go straight to bed then.” 
 
    “Let’s not be so hasty, dear.” 
 
    Myra didn’t answer and she smiled sweetly up at her husband to let him know she was only teasing. It reminded Goran of why he loved her so fiercely despite the not-so-occasional henpecking. Where else would he find an attractive wife with a libido to match his own and who was willing to join in bedding the help? 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Sixteen hours later the unfortunate soul that Goran and Myra had unceremoniously dumped in the sewer was alone in the dark. His internal organs were shutting down and he was very close to death. Quite frankly, this was to come as some relief to him. If he had been capable of doing so, he would likely have ended things many hours ago. 
 
    He did not, however, remain alone in his final minutes. 
 
    A familiar green-clad sorcerer emerged from the gloom and sniffed at the rather unpleasant smell of the environs that surrounded them. 
 
    Devantus dropped down on his haunches in front of the broken body in the sewer. “It’s a pleasure to make your acquaintance, Mr Smith,” he said in a jovial tone that belied the gravity of the place and situation. 
 
    If Dave Smith had been capable of responding at that moment it would have been something filled with a litany of vulgarities. 
 
    “Don’t be like that, Mr Smith. Such language,” the sorcerer tutted despite his silence. “Yes, I know, you’ve had something of a bad day. Worry not, it is almost over. The welcome embrace of death fast approaches and then you will be onto your next adventure. One that I think you will enjoy a great deal more than the last twenty-four hours.” 
 
    Dave Smith did not respond. Not even a wheezed moan. Truthfully, he was barely conscious, but his silence and stillness managed to adequately express his resentment. 
 
    “Well, I can’t really blame you. If it helps, you won’t remember any of this in a few minutes’ time.” 
 
    It was the last thing Dave Smith heard as his heart finally gave out and shortly afterwards, starved of oxygen, brain death occurred, and his soul departed for the ethereal plane. 
 
    “Goodbye, Mr Smith. I’m sure you won’t mind but I do have one final need for your corporeal form, and I don’t think you have any further use for it.” 
 
    The sorcerer muttered a few indecipherable words and tapped the forehead of the almost dead body, and it was surrounded by a shimmering stasis field. He clapped his hands with satisfaction. The field would hold and prevent the body from fully expiring until it was needed. It would be tight, but he’d had closer shaves over the millennia. 
 
    Drakonis preferred not to get too physically involved if he could avoid it. However, this final touch required a bit of a hands-on approach. There was no one else down here but the rats. 
 
    The multiverse had a way of objecting and making his life difficult if he did too much himself. But they hardly ever reacted to actions by those who were supposed to be where they were. Even if they had been guided or manipulated into acting against the current of what was meant to be. 
 
    It often meant more work for him, but if he was honest with himself, it was a lot more fun than simply snapping his fingers and reshaping events to his liking. 
 
    Speaking of snapping, he snapped his fingers and disappeared in a puff of dark green smoke. Leaving the recently vacated body of Dave Smith, the man who would become the legendary Daxas, alone in the foul dark with nothing but the rodents for company. 
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 1 
 
    Simeon Reedwhistle 
 
      
 
    My opponent smirked cruelly as he thrust his spear towards my guts for a second time. The bastard elf got lucky in the melee and managed to skewer me like a shish kabob with his shimmering mithril-tipped spearpoint. 
 
    The smug git had been fortunate that the sheer sun above had glinted from his polished ornate helm and dazzled me at just the wrong moment. Or the right moment from his perspective. I’d stumbled back onto my ass after the initial attack and now he was intent on finishing the job. 
 
    “Chief!” I vaguely heard Piotr roar from my side. 
 
    Almost simultaneously with the sound of his cry, the small body of my red-haired protégé was interposed between my prone form and the incoming spear. 
 
    What a brave, but bloody stupid boy. I didn’t deserve him or the loyalty he showed me at that moment. 
 
    The engraved leaf-shaped spearhead plunged into his chest just under his sternum. Piotr grabbed hold of the shaft just above the socket. With the spear firmly in his grip, he clenched his teeth and rolled off me, jerking the elf who held onto his spear tightly along with him. 
 
    I didn’t have time to think things through and sprang to my feet. Piotr doggedly held on to the elf’s spear and the elvish fool hadn’t surrendered the decorated and admittedly, pretty weapon. His pride and joy no doubt. Knowing the high elves as I did, the haughty bastard would never give it up to a lowly halfling street urchin. 
 
    In dungeons, you didn’t have to worry about that so much as you always got your equipment back, even if you dropped it, when you exited. But we weren’t in a dungeon. If someone managed to snaffle your gear before you perished, they’d get to keep it. That was an advantage for us smallfolk who were looked down upon, and Piotr had exploited it well. 
 
    He was learning. 
 
    Three short bounds and I closed the distance between us as the elf fought for control of his precious weapon. Drawing my trusty poniard from its scabbard, I stabbed its tip into the groin of my opponent. The elf squealed like a stuck pig but refused to release the haft of his spear. So, rapid-fire, I stabbed into the upper thighs on either side of his groin. Aiming for his femoral artery for maximum damage. 
 
    Seeing me in action, Piotr suddenly released his grip on the spear. The elf, surprised, fell backwards and landed on the blood-slicked sand with a groaning whimper. 
 
    A quick glance behind me confirmed the brave lad was still with me and was unstoppering a health potion. 
 
    With the knowledge he would likely be okay, I leapt on the chest of the elf, trapping his weapon against his gut. Once in position, I let loose with a flurry of strikes, stabbing under his armpit and into his throat. The elf weakly tried to ward me off, but his attempts were ineffective as he stubbornly kept one hand wrapped around the shaft of the spear. 
 
    My arm was raised and came down repeatedly until a smallish hand restrained my bicep. 
 
    “Um…I think he is dead, Chief,” Piotr stuttered. “Also, they’ve surrendered…it’s…uh…it’s bad form to keep killing them once they’ve given up, right?” 
 
    I leaned back on my haunches, calming myself and chuckled lightly. “Bad form, indeed. Very impolite. Halflings may be many things, but impolite is not one of them.” 
 
    “We should be alright, Chief. I’m fairly sure that one was done for after you stabbed him in the throat. The next twenty or so stabbings weren’t really necessary,” Piotr commented, deadly serious. It brought an inappropriate smile to my face. 
 
    On the horizon, I could see two large groups of warriors that I recognised approaching. Orcs and dark elves. Reinforcements from the guilds in our alliance. No wonder the elves had given up so suddenly. From what I could tell being in the eye of the storm, things had been fairly even between us up until that point. 
 
    Looking around me I couldn’t help but notice that the guild building had collapsed back into the arid earth. This appeared to have also helped trigger the general surrender of the elves. 
 
    Standing up, I took Piotr by the shoulders and gave him a thankful hug. As I broke the embrace, the lad’s cheeks reddening, I gave him a proper hard clip around the ear. “Whatever possessed you to do something so bloody foolhardy, you daft eejit?” 
 
    “We’re supposed to protect our chief, ain’t we, Chief? You are too important for us to lose,” Piotr mumbled in a slightly wounded tone. “Thrasher and Yorsashi sacrificed themselves.” 
 
    “Thrasher and Yorsashi took out almost a dozen high-ranked elves and prevented a breakthrough before they were cut down. And they can probably fight their way through any surprises waiting for them at the emergence pool.” 
 
    Piotr stared at the gravel in sullen silence. I ruffled his curly red hair good-naturedly and his smile returned as he pulled away like the embarrassed youngster he was. “Hmmm, it worked out today, but don’t make a habit of this noble self-sacrifice malarkey. Leave that for the miserable ballads these twats listen to,” I said and kicked the dead elf at my feet. 
 
    Bending down, I managed to find an unmarked part of the dead elf’s cloak and wiped my poniard clean with it, then sheathed the weapon quickly. The elf maintained a death grip on his spear, not that I wanted it for myself, but it could have been useful for someone else. 
 
    Never mind, you can’t win it all my dear Grandmamma used to say. But that was usually just a distraction as she wiped the floor with us young ‘uns at cards and took nearly every pot. 
 
    The conniving old biddy. 
 
    Damn, but I missed her. 
 
    By the time I’d finished cleaning and reminiscing, Arash had joined me from the rear ranks where he had commanded our ranged forces. The dwarf twins were approaching our position from the opposite direction, escorting a single elf from the enemy lines. 
 
    “What’s the butcher’s bill like?” I asked the human archer before the other three arrived. 
 
    “Not too bad, all things considered,” Arash answered. “A little over half it seems. Sindar and Pacclo were slain in the fighting.” 
 
    “A win is a win, I suppose,” I grunted. 
 
    “Provided Torvald and the Blue Pennant do their job at the emergence pool in the City, they should be fine,” Arash added. 
 
    “Let’s not take the risk, eh? We hadn’t expected two platoons of Lightsteel Companions to be here. The last thing we need is any of those arrogant bastards overwhelming and detaining our people when they return. High-elf pride could lead them down the path of doing something permanent.” 
 
    “Prevention is better than vengeance,” Piotr interjected sagely. “For all parties.” 
 
    I ruffled his hair, embarrassing him again. “Quite right. Arash, intercept the Sons of the Shadow and ask Nel’Van to head directly to the City and support Torvald should he need it. We can handle things here with Zagog’s help.” 
 
    The human archer habitually scratched behind his ear before he nodded and took off across the hot gravel. As the dust kicked up by Arash started to settle a fresh dervish was brewed by the stomping of the dwarf twins as they delivered the lone elf between them to me. 
 
    The elf’s armour, while more ornate than any of the functional gear we wore was not as ostentatious as what I’d grown accustomed to when dealing with their leadership. He bowed at the waist before taking a knee in front of me and proffering his sabre. 
 
    “This is Elauthuin,” the twins creepily grunted in unison.  
 
    I moved forward to take the sabre from him and as my hand got near, he raised the sabre, just out of my reach. 
 
    A flash of anger at his temerity flitted across my mind and then his head came up and his azure eyes met mine with firm resolve. 
 
    “I proffer my sabre of office as a sign of our culpable surrender to end this official guild war between us,” Elauthuin said and then shifted the sabre, so the tip grazed his throat and the pommel pointed above my head. 
 
    Neither the stress he put on the word official, nor his offer of culpable surrender was accidental. There had been nothing official about this conflict. The Dark Moon Rising had not adhered to the accepted rules of engagement when starting this battle. The Gleaming Towers could make life very difficult for us going forward if they chose and we’d assumed they would. We knew that going in, but the situation hadn’t left us a choice. 
 
    Elauthuin was offering a trade. 
 
    By recognising the war as official and admitting culpability, that future difficulty went away. On the other side of the coin, if the war was official, then by the guild’s codes of conduct the war would be over. All conflict was to cease and most importantly all prisoners were to be returned, unmolested. 
 
    We wouldn’t be able to do anything nasty and permanent, like stripping them of their soul marks and abandoning them in dungeons or ending the Gleaming Towers guild entirely. A very real possibility with the losses they had incurred before we even arrived on the battlefield. if we proved to be the kind of dishonourable opportunists that would do something of that nature. 
 
    I can’t deny I wasn’t tempted to refuse and do just that. 
 
    It was a fair trade, though, and would resolve most of the headache Daxas’ little war had caused me. There was only one question that remained. Did Elauthuin have the authority to make such an offer? High Elves didn’t typically resort to barefaced lying, but then they didn’t typically launch dungeon extermination campaigns either. 
 
    “Where are Taliel and Ardryll? What about your new Guild Mistress? Lady Silvermayne, I think she is called.” 
 
    Elauthuin grimaced as I said the names. “Councillor Taliel and Prince Ardryll were killed by your…dungeon allies, along with the few surviving members of the elite shortly after your guild building was summoned. Lady Silvermayne then fought them and appeared to be victorious. 
 
    “She used magic I have never seen wielded in the Realms. It was equally terrifying and magnificent. She was last seen pursuing a man whom I presume was the Wolf King into the outpost. He emerged shortly after to free his surviving companions and then re-entered the outpost with them afterwards. 
 
    “Lady Silvermayne has not been seen, but all Gleaming Towers members received a notification that she was no longer our Guild Mistress and then the outpost dissolved. We can only assume she has been slain or…” 
 
    “Taken as one of the Wolf King’s mates,” I finished for him. “He’s a lusty bastard and has never been one to waste an opportunity. Especially not one served up to him on a silver platter. Pun intended.” 
 
    “The remaining platoon leaders nominated me as field general and empowered me to offer you these terms.” 
 
    That should be enough to satisfy the other guilds and convince them to stay out of this, but Daxas wasn’t the only one who didn’t waste opportunities. 
 
    I reached up and seized hold of the leather grip of the sabre but didn’t pull it from his grasp. “I accept your terms with one condition. Any elves who wish to defect to the Dark Moon Rising may do so without repercussion or censure from the Gleaming Towers or the Lightsteel Companions.” 
 
    “Why?” Elauthuin mumbled in surprise. “Don’t you hate us?” 
 
    “Hate is a strong word, Elauthuin. Irritated by is closer to the truth. As to why, I want my guild to grow stronger. You and your people are some of the finest warriors in the Proving Grounds. Halflings aren’t known for being vindictive, well, not very much. 
 
    “Now, if you’ll pardon my bluntness, the Towers, and likely the other high elf guilds are buggered after what Lady Silvermayne had you do. They may not fall today, but their strength has been gutted and you have few friends in the City. Things…well, those guilds are in for a torrid time. Dark days, filled with struggle. Why not join the winning side instead?” 
 
    Elauthuin looked thoughtful for a moment. “All of us?” he asked. 
 
    “Sure,” I replied. “Except for Taliel. That prick tried to expunge my guild. He can go hang for all I care. I said halflings weren’t vindictive much, not never.” 
 
    Elauthuin smiled at that. He must not have liked Taliel either. “I doubt he would have agreed anyway. I accept your terms…and will pass your words on to my brothers. Some of them will doubtless refuse, but I for one shall take you up on your offer.” 
 
    “That’s good enough for me,” I told him and gently pulled the sabre from his hands, formalising the pact between our guilds. 
 
    I received a notification from the Proving Grounds that a written copy of our pact was now in my inventory. That had never happened before, and I couldn’t help but wonder if it was another example of how Daxas had turned what we knew of this place on its head. 
 
    Elauthuin rose from the gravel and with the dwarf twins on either side of him, hurried back over to the cluster of surviving elves. 
 
    Retrieving the pact document from my inventory I turned to my young protégé. “Piotr, run this over to Nel’Van and Arash. Those in the City ought to be informed as soon as possible. This should make things a bit more agreeable at the emergence pool.” 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
    Taliel 
 
      
 
    I awakened at the bottom of the pool and felt the gentle current lift me through the miraculously dry waters, towards the surface. It had been many years since I last experienced this particular journey. As pleasant as it felt, I had not intended to experience it again until I left this place. 
 
    The Wolf King and his ridiculously oversized maul were the last things I recalled. That hairy bastard would pay. 
 
    As I rose through the waters a notification wormed its way into my consciousness. 
 
    Success! 
 
    Lady Silvermayne was no more. Or at least she was no longer the guild leader and we had been freed from her insanity and influence. 
 
    Plans quickly swirled in my mind as my body travelled the last few metres to the lip of the pool. If I acted swiftly the guild could be mine to control, at last. Prince Ardryll wouldn’t be a concern any longer. Silvermayne had effectively broken him, and any oaths of support were severed when the coward had ceded power to her without a fight. 
 
    Some of my closest rivals had been a match for me in the duelling ring, but I’d seen to it that they were caught up in Silvermayne’s madness. Should any of them emerge alive and victorious then it should propel them out of the Grounds to the Heavens. The dead or defeated who remained would offer me no challenge. 
 
    Only a master strategist and diplomat like me could have built a platform of victory from the wasteland of sorrow and hopelessness. 
 
    Reaching the surface, I hopped from the pool, a wide grin on my face, and my sabre in hand. 
 
    I would likely have to bloody my blade with the halfling’s foolish followers before I returned in glory to my guild house. 
 
    However, there was no flashpoint of battle before me. Just the billowing moustache of that buffoon Torvald. He was surrounded by a cadre of his Blue Pennant soldiers. I should not be surprised they had got involved on Simeon’s behalf. 
 
    This would only spare the halfling’s guild for a short while. 
 
    Others were emerging around me at different sections of the circumference of the pool and they were being handed an official scrolled parchment. 
 
    “Ah, Taliel, we have been expecting you,” Torvald said as I blinked in confusion at the lack of combat. 
 
    Was there a hint of gleeful menace in his tone? Then he stepped forward, one of those scrolls in his hands. 
 
    “Any violence will be met with an instant and unparalleled response in kind. Hold your peace and you can walk away unharmed.” 
 
    I could see members of the Blue Pennant and the Sons of the Shadow had surrounded the pool in force. Those coming out that belonged to the halfling’s guild were being let through directly, some of them even joining the encircling army. But I could also see that some of my fellow elves were being allowed through too. 
 
    It seemed the moustachioed brute was telling the truth.  
 
    “This is for you,” he said, handing me the scroll in his hand. “You can keep it. As you can see, we have made plenty of copies. Enough for everyone. Consider it a gift for your earlier assistance. Or should I say your earlier attempt to get us to do your dirty work,” he finished referring to the warning I had given him earlier. 
 
    I snatched the vellum parchment from his hands and unfurled it quickly to read what nonsense they had come up with. Torvald must think himself so canny to have figured out my true motivations. And yet, he and his fellows had danced to my tune regardless. Paving the way for the accomplishment of my aims. That was what true power, and the ability to wield it competently, looked like. 
 
    It didn’t matter what threats they made, once the Gleaming Towers was under my thumb, I’d use our influence and position to expunge every last one of them. We’d been too soft on the lesser beings. Time to stamp our authority in a way that they would feel. 
 
    Such thoughts fled my mind, though, once I finished the first paragraph of the parchment. 
 
    “Culpable surrender! By the thrice sundered tower of Mariel who would agree to such a thing,” I cried with anger. 
 
    “I believe his name was Elauthuin,” Torvald supplied with a smug quirk of his overly bristled upper lip. 
 
    “Elauthuin! Impossible. He is barely a junior officer. He does not have the authority to speak for the guild in this matter.” 
 
    Even as the words left my mouth, I knew with a sinking feeling this was not true. Lady Silvermayne was gone. The council and the elites were either dead, delving, or awaiting resurrection through the pool. 
 
    “He was unanimously elected to the position of field general. That gave him the authority and the Proving Grounds has recognised it,” a new voice called from the other side of the pool. 
 
    It was the dark elf, Nel-Van Lackspire. Another who would rue the day he did not bow in my presence. No matter, this was merely an inconvenience. A bump in the road that I would take great pleasure in smoothing out. 
 
    “I will deal with the coward Elauthuin, later,” I muttered under my breath. 
 
    “I don’t think you will,” Torvald publicly contradicted me. The absolute cheek of the man. “You haven’t read to the end, yet. Elauthuin is no longer a personage of your concern.” 
 
    Despite my desire to ignore his blatant needling, I couldn’t help myself and glanced back down at the document and read on with growing ire. They were openly courting our guild members. Encouraging them to defect. Had that fool, Elauthuin, not offered culpable surrender such an atrocious and egregious breach of guild protocol was forbidden. 
 
    “Faugh!” I scoffed. “You can keep the traitorous cur. He’ll fall to ruin with the rest of you. Only those who have bankrupted their honour like him would accept such a pathetic approach.” 
 
    As I finished my retort, I spotted a familiar figure huddling behind Torvald’s wall of men. “Prince Ardryll. I will accompany you back to the guild house and we can begin the restoration work. There is no need for us to spend another minute with these wretches.” 
 
    Playing nice until we were out of earshot seemed like the wisest course of action. Once I had Ardryll alone I would see to it that he understood his new place in the hierarchy. 
 
    Below me. 
 
    He could prove useful as a council member. There were those who still respected the Suntower name and lineage, regardless of who it was attached to. 
 
    Ardryll Suntower cringed as I spoke and tried to make himself smaller. 
 
    “The prince will not be joining you either,” Torvald gloated. 
 
    I stood there, gobsmacked. Ardryll was a Suntower. A prince of the elven imperium, even if he was the fourteenth son of a minor branch patriarch. That he would forsake his kin and stoop to serve lesser beings was…Well, I had no words to describe the scandalous depravity. 
 
    At a signal from Torvald, several of his clansmen came forward and hustled me away from the pool and through their lines. They marched me a few hundred metres away down the boulevard that led to the Gleaming Towers Guild Headquarters. 
 
    I made no effort to stop them. There were a handful of other elves standing around or listlessly making their way back to our guild building. Far fewer than I could possibly have imagined a few minutes ago. 
 
    The gravity of what Torvald said began to intrude through the fog of shock. As did the final line of the missive. That all were welcome to apply to the halfling’s alliance of guilds. All but me. 
 
    How many of these few who had refused so far would slip away in the night when they realised how little strength we now possessed? A third? Half? Most of them? 
 
    My path to the position of Highest was unopposed. For all the good that would do me now. 
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 2 
 
      
 
    After we left the core floor, Jezebel was put to work mining ore, under the watchful eye of one of my alternates, in one of the many resource rooms I possessed. I’d decided to break her into the monotonous drudgery of certain aspects of dungeon life slowly. And put aside Jen’Zadeer’s idea for a hair shirt. 
 
    The boredom and my constant presence would allow my sexual magnetism to worm its way past her current state of unabated fury and reawaken the passion the beautiful goddess harboured for me. Jezebel’s past experiences with me, wounded pride, and rampant ambition had allowed her to bury that attraction very deep and out of sight. 
 
    She was an incredibly strong-willed woman, with the power of a goddess. It would take time for her innate desire for a devilishly charming wolf king to become dominant in her headspace. Especially while survival and the sting of defeat and humiliation were so fresh. Keeping her angry would only slow my unconventional method of seduction. 
 
    I had but one week above before the Divine Challenge truly started. Although that meant considerably longer in the dungeon, provided all went as expected topside. Jezebel had the lifespan of an immortal. A few months of inconvenience would not shift her attitude on its own. 
 
    My disciples weren’t bothered by my decision to go easier on her. Mainly because after we had captured Jezebel and reclaimed the outpost a grand celebration took place. 
 
    Wine, ale, and spirits flowed freely and were consumed in ever greater quantities. There was dancing, singing, raucous laughter, and many other pleasurable distractions. 
 
    Honestly, with over thirty beautiful mates to satisfy I was almost worn out by the end. 
 
    Almost. 
 
    I said as much to Tenzing as we walked down the winding corridors to the viewing lounge where we did most of our strategising. My final rest day was scant minutes from beginning. “You know what, buddy. As much as it pains me to admit, I’m not sure there is much more of me to go around. If I pick up many more disciples or dungeons, it could leave me drained dry.” 
 
    “You would find a way, Daxas. You always do,” Tenzing chuckled at my side. 
 
    “That is probably true,” I agreed with a big smile on my face. My mind flashed to the shared bedroom where a slumbering version of me was wrapped in exhausted, feminine, naked bodies. 
 
    Sleep tight and replenish your strength, you’re going to need it. I thought silently to myself. Other people might be worried by the nature of my increasingly split consciousness, but not me. Perhaps that was a by-product of the compartmentalisation. 
 
    Thinking about that tweaked a query within my psyche. 
 
    “Tell me, Tenzing. Do you think it would be a good idea to let Jezebel know that even if she had managed to kill my avatar with her Soul Blast, she wouldn’t have been able to harvest my energy as I’d compartmentalised much of it and squirrelled it away?” 
 
    “Well, we don’t know for sure that would have worked, Daxas,” Tenzing hedged. 
 
    “Of course, it would have worked,” Alyssa practically purred as we rounded a bend and found her waiting at the threshold of the lounge. “You can be a little too cautious with your projections at times, brother. Your logic was flawless.” 
 
    Tenzing smiled at Alyssa’s term of endearment. It made sense, they were both created from the same source, which effectively made them siblings. Although I couldn’t recall either of them using such an address with one another before. At least not around me. 
 
    “I shall defer to your confidence…sister,” he answered shyly, trying out the word for the first time. 
 
    Alyssa gave him a warm encouraging smile and then gave me a much more salacious one. 
 
    “I thought you were in the pile of exhausted but satisfied ladies,” I teased. 
 
    Alyssa winked in response. “I’m indefatigable in the dungeon, darling.” 
 
    I wrapped my arm around her waist and guided her into the lounge. As we settled ourselves into the black leather couch one of the kitchen-based goblins I had reassigned to assist in the lounge served us drinks. 
 
    “As for your earlier question, Daxas,” Tenzing continued once we had glasses in hand. “I don’t think it would be wise.” 
 
    “You don’t think understanding the degree of control I possess might help smooth her ruffled feathers? Convince her that betting on me winning out is the safest option.” 
 
    “In her current state of mind, no.” 
 
    “I have to agree with my brother on this,” Alyssa added. “For all her strength and defiance, I sense Jezebel’s esteem is in a fragile state right now. Part of that is the constant threat and manipulation she has been subjected to. Of which, I participated in and am a little responsible for. 
 
    “The best course of action is to continue as we have begun. Keep her occupied with mundane tasks, with your presence nearby at all times. Allow Jezebel to come to the conclusions we want under her own steam.” 
 
    “After what has happened, do we have the time for that?” I pressed. 
 
    “We can always shift our stance if the days start to run out. A little distance between the livid scar of defeat can only improve our chances of getting a Divine Lord willing to fight at our side during the challenge.” 
 
    “Very well, I shall be patient. Although time really is a concern now. I’ve maintained a confident outer shell, but I need you to be honest, how badly fucked are we?” 
 
    “The turn of events has not been ideal,” Alyssa admitted. “Thankfully, the rest day is only a few minutes away and the Waterfalls of Oblivion dungeon has survived. They will undergo the Divine Challenge tomorrow. This means tomorrow is your last chance to make changes and that will require us to adjust our strategy somewhat.” 
 
    I nodded along, having expected as much. 
 
    Tenzing took up the baton. “I think our original plan of conquering the other eligible female dungeons will have to be dropped. There were only three viable candidates, but you will have no opportunity to integrate their dungeons into your overall design if you claim them next week. 
 
    “Adding them at this late juncture would be a risk. Without your specialised additions, we would only be offering the challengers opportunities to take it easier and recover on their way to the core floor.” 
 
    “That is disappointing. Moreso because it aligns with my thoughts on the matter,” I agreed with my blue-skinned adviser. “Privately, I’ve been having doubts about whether to proceed in that direction anyway. On paper, an extra twenty-five or so disciples sounds like a benefit, but most of them would be male. Integrating Tamara’s male disciples into the fold has not been very successful. They obey my orders, but there is an underlying resentment and petulance they can’t or won’t shake off.” 
 
    “That would be your sexual magnetism aura coming home to roost, I’m afraid,” Alyssa commiserated me. “As helpful as it can be in encouraging cooperation from women, it can have the opposite effect on men. Especially with prolonged exposure. 
 
    “You have been fortunate with Marux, the aura has had a limited effect due to the minotaur’s natural solitary lifestyle. Because of that, most of the time he does not perceive you as a threat. Gretsch, the aura has worked on, but he is also a goblin and easily intimidated, which you are rather good at. Even so, he was a liability for quite some time and for much of that period your aura was weaker than it is today. 
 
    “I’m forced to agree that additional male disciples would be of limited value, probably less useful than another life-seeded warrior.” 
 
    “Okay, then we are agreed. No expansion to the number of dungeons next week. That doesn’t mean we can’t add to my repertoire of female disciples,” I said, my good humour rapidly returning. 
 
    “I thought you said you didn’t have much more to go around,” Tenzing teased. 
 
    “I have reserves, deep reserves,” I boasted. 
 
    “You certainly do, lover,” Alyssa chuckled and moved in for a kiss. “Unfortunately, certain factors are going to stifle us on that front as well. By now, the Wolf King’s reputation has preceded you to all corners of the Proving Grounds. Those who found the idea appealing have already made their way here and joined you. Those appalled are staying away, far away. There is a very small handful sitting on the fence in the guild, but our time constraints mean most are unlikely to change their minds by the end of next week. 
 
    “And unless you claimed them before the end of tomorrow it’s too late for them to participate anywhere other than the final room of the core floor.” 
 
    All good points. I had relaxed my acquisition strategy thinking we had a few more weeks. Although Alyssa was correct, we had already swept up the most willing volunteers. Our efforts would be better spent concentrating on the dungeon rather than outside of it. 
 
    “I will speak with Simeon and see what the Dark Moon Rising can do,” I said. 
 
    Tenzing sucked in his breath as I finished. “Based on your previous conversations I don’t think Simeon would be willing to gather more women for your cause.” 
 
    “No worries, Tenzing. I wasn’t contemplating any kind of aggressive or acquisitive approach that would offend his sensibilities. We are in the endgame, perhaps it is time we started being blunt about what I can offer.” 
 
    “Reconstitution,” Alyssa said, filling in the blank. 
 
    “Precisely,” I answered. “Although it would be a waste for any woman to pass up on what yours truly has to offer,” I said and pointed at my body in a sweeping gesture that got an eyeroll from Tenzing and a speculative wink from Alyssa. “But there might be some who would want to take a chance on living again. I wouldn’t need to claim them until the dying minutes of next week. It can’t hurt to put the offer out there.” 
 
    “I’m not sure how successful such a tactic will be, but you are right that it will do you no harm,” Tenzing agreed. 
 
    As we finished that conversation the wolf howls reverberated throughout my dungeon signalling the end of the week and the beginning of my last true rest day. There would be little rest next week. 
 
    Up on the big screen, the flashing icons of the rest day notifications tried to bedazzle us, and I wasted no time opening them up in a cascade of screens. However, there were not as many as I’d grown accustomed to. 
 
      
 
    Congratulations! You have ranked up. 
 
    We are happy to inform you that based on your position on the leader board you have advanced to rank 74. 
 
    Well done on making it this far. 
 
    The Caverns of Jen’Zadeer advances with you and has reached rank 72. The Forest of Xanathia advances with you and has reached rank 69. The Caves of Gorgoth advances with you and has reached rank 74. 
 
    As a rank 74 dungeon, that maintains a first floor, you must increase the minimum size of your eighth floor from 15 to 20 rooms and you will be unable to make any changes to your dungeon layout until this requirement is met. If your dungeon does not meet these requirements, a missed soul mark tithe penalty will be applied each week. 
 
    You have the option to close your existing lower floors. If you do, then the room requirement for the eighth floor increases to 40. 
 
      
 
    This was the standard rank-up notice. The most noteworthy element was how little I’d advanced. 
 
    “Only five ranks!” I yelled. “What the fuck? We crushed four dungeons ourselves and Jezebel’s shenanigans accounted for a few more. After the Arbiter’s intervention, I’m supposed to go as high as my fallen total can take me and that’s pretty damn high.” 
 
    “Dead man’s shoes, remember, darling,” Alyssa consoled me. “The higher you go the fewer positions there are to slot into.” 
 
    Tenzing continued. “And the rank one hundred spots don’t become available until only one dungeon remains to be challenged. With you sitting in the queue, they are not part of the equation.” 
 
    I pursed my lips tightly in frustration. I’d been counting on being higher ranked, significantly higher. My three pre-existing dungeons had risen by five ranks each. The newest addition, Tamara’s Caves of Gorgoth, had only gone up by two and joined the Lair as rank seventy-four. 
 
    The only saving grace was that both the Lair and the Caverns of Jen’Zadeer had passed the next rank threshold and that gave me two major perks. 
 
    “Well, any discussion on what other major perks we might take has been rendered moot,” I grunted. “We can complete the Leatherworking and Metalworking paths, but only by the skin of our teeth.” 
 
    “I believe I’ve heard you refer to it as a silver lining,” Tenzing commented. 
 
    “I’m struggling to see this as anything but a setback if I’m being honest.” 
 
    My attention reverted back to the notification screens. 
 
      
 
    Phantom Progenitor 5 (afforded by the Fertility speciality) 
 
    You have planted life seeds in thirty-two or more women. 
 
    When expectant ‘mothers’ come to term there is a 40% chance of ‘twins’. (2 Life Seeds created) 
 
      
 
    Advancing Phantom Progenitor to rank five was my only achievement of the week. Unlike my ranks, I could continue to accrue these over my final week, but as none of the achievement trees I was currently on would actively assist me during the Divine Challenge, doing so was fairly inconsequential. 
 
    I wouldn’t complain about gathering more life seeds, though. If a mob had already been purchased and placed in the dungeon before next week they could be seeded during the week or on the next rest day before the challenge officially began. More mobs capable of independent action would always be a benefit. 
 
    We chatted about our options for a while, but surprisingly, despite what had happened, we barely altered our course at all. 
 
    After that, it was time to get down to brass tacks and implement the planned changes. 
 
    The Lair needed a new floor but that was easily incorporated. The plan remained to force the challengers to come through the Lair first. So, I updated the Caves of Gorgoth in the same manner as the Caverns of Jen’Zadeer and Forest of Xanathia and reduced it from two floors to a single top-tier floor. 
 
    Tamara’s dungeon had been around for a lot longer than either Jen or Nessa’s. There had been a great deal more invested in it, therefore, I kept changes to a minimum. I shifted her monstrous mythological floor over virtually wholesale as a new front half for the siren-filled sea. It cost a bit extra to expand the room sizes to accommodate minimal alterations to the layout. The leftover rooms were used to create the optional secret army wing I had in every dungeon. 
 
    The back half of her final floor, I kept as the siren sea. But I shored up a few of the weaknesses we had uncovered, increasingly its lethality. 
 
    In fact, as experience earned this week would be largely pointless for me as I wouldn’t be able to spend it to improve the dungeons, I instituted changes to all those final floors increasing their lethality. I would warn my guilds of the updates and advise them to remain out of those dungeons and only run the floors found in the Lair. 
 
    With the official updates completed, I updated my armies as much as my pool of experience and soul marks would allow. Inwardly I grinned, despite the setbacks and condensed timeframe they had become a formidable force. I now had more than three and half thousand troops concealed in five secret wings, one in each of the four dungeons and the fifth attached to the core floor. Around seven hundred and fifty murderous souls in each army. 
 
    They weren’t all life-seeded yet, I didn’t quite have enough to go around. But my projections on how many additional seeds we would accumulate suggested we should just about accommodate them all. At worst, a couple of dozen would have to go without. 
 
    All of a sudden, I was feeling inordinately confident again. 
 
    The Divine Challengers would all be the equivalent of rank one hundred, but their numbers would be limited by the number of Lords in attendance. Individually they were likely stronger, but at best they could muster a couple of hundred to face my thousands. 
 
    And I had a few other aces up my sleeve, ready to play if something unexpected happened. 
 
    Progress on my topside warriors-cum-tavern maids remained limited. Their external nature meant I could only use my coin to improve them, and I had no equivalent to soul marks that I could convert to increase my funds massively. Unless you counted my position as Guild Master of four different guilds that put me in a unique position for embezzlement. 
 
    As external features, the tavern maids could be improved without the end-of-rest-day delay that affected their dungeonborn cousins. I thought it best to leave the pilfering until the last minute. Simeon had a penchant for whining over every little detail, even about the stuff that was done for his benefit. 
 
    He would definitely be stubborn about this. The guild would struggle to recoup what I planned to take without me around. That I was the one bending the rules to line their pockets in the first place he would conveniently hand-wave away. Best to leave it until he was distracted with my parting gifts. 
 
    If things went as planned, they wouldn’t be needing the funds after next week anyway and Simeon may never even discover my larceny. Thieving from the guilds would provide a small increase in the strength of my external forces. 
 
    The last thing I needed to do was the personal updates. The few hours I’d put aside to play around with this became unnecessary as we had far fewer points to assign than I’d anticipated. We had moved into the next spell tier but with so few points available, there were not many decisions to be made. 
 
    The greater versions of Heal, Regrowth, Fireball, Chain Lightning, Hex and Chill Zone became accessible, increasing each spell’s effectiveness and that is where most of the points were distributed across the board. As well as bumping Greater Summon Beasts to rank five to reduce the cooldown and potentially make it reusable in a single battle. After that, most of us only had a single point left over which I dropped into the most relevant stat. 
 
    When I finished, I had a gander at what would be the version of me that had to fight for my very existence. 
 
      
 
    Name: Daxas 
 
    Species: Lupus Rex 
 
    Rank: 74 
 
    Strength: 27 
 
    Agility: 26 
 
    Stamina: 26 
 
    Mana: 50 
 
    Spell Power: 100 
 
    Resilience: 27 
 
    Dungeon Power: 74 
 
    Health: 520/520 
 
    Unspent Experience: 42,000 
 
    Soul Marks: 120 
 
    Fallen Total: 19,236 
 
    Skills: Mining 86, Hunting 85, Gathering 87, Farming 85, Smelting 87, Butchering 87, Woodwork 86, Masonry 83, Metal Work 86, Leather Work 94, Alchemy 85, Enchanting 91, General Crafting 64 
 
    Damage Reduction: 27 for all damage types. 
 
    Spells:  
 
    Life Domain: Greater Summon Beasts 5, Venom 5, Greater Regrowth 4, Camouflage 3. 
 
    Lightning Domain: Greater Electro Claws 5, Lightning Bolt 5, Greater Chain Lightning 4, Electrified 3. 
 
    Sanctified Domain: Greater Heal 5, Greater Bless 4, Purge 5 
 
    Aura of Dominance: Variable base of 30 
 
    Aura of Fear: Variable base of 15 
 
    Aura of Sexual Magnetism: Variable base of 15 
 
    (Full character sheets can be found at the end of the book) 
 
      
 
    I would need to redouble my efforts on pushing some of my crafting skills as high as they could go. It was tedious work, but then that’s what multiple avatars were for. It was time to see how far I could tax my mental reserves. 
 
    I’d learned I could comfortably control three at once. In fact, I had three in operation right now, though one of them was asleep at the bottom of the flesh pile. I was confident I could handle five with aplomb, especially if the extras were engaged in monotonous and repetitive tasks that required little concentration. If I worked on it, I could likely push that out to six, maybe even seven. That would see my skills grow in no time. 
 
    Growing my skills and preparing all the gear for the coming challenge wouldn’t be the only thing my disciples and I would be getting up to this week. 
 
    There was one unexpected benefit to our modest rank improvement. It left more dungeons vulnerable to my conquest activity and I planned on taking advantage of that to conquer and destroy as many as was feasible. 
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 3 
 
      
 
    The curious thing about perception, particularly the perception of time, is how it shifts depending on your situation. For over a decade, down in the dungeon, I had been frustrated by the slow pace of the clock up above while so much time flowed down below. Despite its necessity and the advantages that it conferred upon me. 
 
    But once we were into that final week. It seemed as if the calendar never ceased to flip as the months and then a full year and more flew by. Until we were faced with only one more day above ground. One more set of dungeon runs that could be run by the guilds that paid homage to me. Those runs ticked off one by one and now after all the waiting, it felt as if we were running short of the commodity that once seemed to be in overabundance. 
 
    My time was almost up. I couldn’t shake the nagging sensation that there was some unfinished business that I’d forgotten and would never have a chance to complete, but I could never quite put my finger on what. In the end, I had to put it down to the bundle of nervous energy that had built up inside me that left me feeling ripe to burst. 
 
    Everything was ready. Everything I could prepare had been prepared. Almost everything I could do had been done. Including the elimination of many other dungeons. 
 
    I’d pissed off a lot of my fellow dungeon cores with that activity. Well, the ones that didn’t get a visit from me were pissed off. Those I’d attacked weren’t saying much of anything anymore. I would feel bad about it if most of them weren’t dicks that had it coming to them. 
 
    My selection process had only two requirements. The dungeon had to be ranked high enough that we could attack, obviously. And that they were either vicious or stingy when it came to dealing with adventurers. 
 
    Those imprisoned here ought to think of it as an act of public service, though they didn’t. The guilds received no end of complaints about their complicity, mostly from unaffiliated adventurers. It was my good deed, a parting gift should I not make it through what was to come. Even if most other adventurers were too conditioned by circumstance to see it. 
 
    I’d hoped that my shining example of cooperation between cores and adventurers would inspire others to adopt a similar approach. Not for altruistic reasons, of course. I just wanted to keep screwing with the Lord’s unfair playground even after I was gone. 
 
    Sadly, the cores remained stubbornly unmoved by my exemplary behaviour. Perhaps slaughtering those that strayed furthest from my philosophy would shake something loose and drive that spanner deeper into the works. 
 
    This modus operandi had been successful in remodelling the behaviour of adventurers and the guilds they formed. After I got finished with the Black Hills Brigade, the Jagged Boar Tusks and the Gleaming Towers, genuine change seemed to be in the air. Simeon, Torvald, Nel’Van, and Zagog had been inundated with well-wishing and inquiries. The artificial barriers between guilds were collapsing. 
 
    This would aid the unaffiliated moaning minnies, who would never get a chance to thank me. I did have to frequently remind myself that for them it had only been a week and it would take time for the changes I’d wrought to bed in. 
 
    One of the three things I had left on my agenda concerned the guilds and I had a meeting scheduled with them during the last few minutes before midnight. 
 
    I knew thanks to Tenzing and Alyssa that Divine Challenges did not begin at the stroke of midnight, so that wouldn’t be an issue. My dungeon would be sealed to challengers until noon. Any Lords and the forces they assembled were placed in seclusion within the Proving Grounds and were only released an hour before my dungeon became accessible. One advantage we got from them using their True Minds was that they wouldn’t be able to spy on us for those few hours giving us a bit more latitude.  
 
    The second thing I needed to do was already underway. Spending some private time with each of my mates before the final battle began. Including three last-gasp disciples claimed by me at the beginning of the day. We might not get another chance until after the challenge. 
 
    The third and final item on my agenda had to be dealt with now. 
 
    Jezebel. 
 
    I would make one last attempt at convincing Jezebel to join us. 
 
    Currently one of my avatars was following her discretely through one of my superior resource rooms. One with an Amazonian jungle setting. 
 
    Jezebel was garbed in a simple figure-hugging white robe that was cinched around her waist with the soul chain we had to leave in place to ensure her compliance and that she didn’t try to escape. She carried her ivory long spear which had become a necessity in this resource room. The choicest prizes were the most difficult to attain. 
 
    The goddess wandered nonchalantly into a small clearing with an air of distraction. She couldn’t deceive me, but then I wasn’t who her performance was directed at. 
 
    As she sat down on a conveniently placed boulder the foliage around her began to slither from the surrounding jungle. Seven vegetative mouths that reminded me of the leaves of a Venus flytrap shot out from the boughs of the nearby trees and snapped at the composed goddess. The outer shell of the snapping pod was a deep green and the inside was a blood-red colour, almost like flesh. 
 
    These monstrosities were native to the Realms and were called Clam Snappers. So named because the plant’s mouth looked like a clam. In the wild, they were not big enough to attack a person. They fed on rodents, the particularly big ones might be able to handle a rabbit, but here almost anything was possible, and they grew much larger. 
 
    Jezebel instantly reacted to the attacks of the carnivorous plants. She hopped up onto the boulder and launched herself upward and over the snapping plant jaws. At the peak of her somersault, she threw her spear with great force downwards and it ran through the heads of two of the plants before embedding itself into the soft loam of the jungle floor. 
 
    By the time her body had finished its rotation in the air and gravity was drawing her back down, a pair of sabres were pulled from the inventory, and they flashed out slicing through the stems of two more of her assailants. The plant heads dropped to the ground, where they snapped aimlessly for a few seconds before easing into deathly stillness. 
 
    When she landed gracefully on the balls of her feet, there were only three carnivorous plants left capable of attacking her. 
 
    The two headless stems retreated back to the boughs from whence they came. Jezebel bobbed and weaved around the short glade deftly avoiding the snapping jaws of the plant monsters as she danced around them. The dappled sunlight that made it through the jungle canopy glinted from her sabres as she finished the last of the plant monsters off and began to harvest the materials from them. 
 
    “I know you are watching me, Daxas,” she commented as her paring knife dug into the plant flesh of the stems of the two skewered in place with her spear, carving out fresh pieces. 
 
     “And I knew that you knew. Which is why you were showing off. There are easier ways of harvesting from the Clam Snappers than walking into their feeding zone,” I chuckled back at her and joined her in the grove. 
 
    If you flicked on your aura sight, they glowed orange giving away their positions and allowing you to manoeuvre behind them or cut their stalks near the base of the trees they inhabited.  
 
    As I approached, Jezebel jerked back from me as if I’d shocked her with electricity. My good humour faded, and I took a couple of steps back from her to the edge of the grove. 
 
    Jezebel sat back down on the boulder and smiled at me wanly “I’m sorry,” she muttered. “It’s been so long since I’ve seen you and I hoped things would have changed. They haven’t. I can still feel your corona, the cravings are…are undiminished.” 
 
    “No, it’s my fault,” I reassured her. “I shouldn’t have been so forward.” 
 
    Handling the Jezebel situation had proved far trickier than any of us had anticipated when we first captured her. At first, things had proceeded as one would expect. Jezebel had been apocalyptically angry with me and the rest of my harem. Her tongue was vituperative and unless we used the soul chain to restrain her, she would let that tongue run roughshod over anybody in the vicinity. 
 
    We had enacted the mundanity plan and after a few months it seemed to be having the desired effect and Jezebel’s general prickliness began to subside. She even smiled at me a few times as I followed her around. Of course, my ever-reliable nose was also signalling the positive direction her ardour was moving in. 
 
    Which is when everything began to fall apart. 
 
    The only positive of what came next is that we weren’t directly responsible. 
 
    The truth was that Jezebel had been trundling along on fumes. Those last meagre reserves of soul energy she had left had been exhausted and she went into a state of severe withdrawal. Her dependence on that energy really was akin to being addicted to crack or heroin. 
 
    Jezebel broke down physically. She was shaking, sweating, and in constant pain. Screaming blue murder one minute, then weeping uncontrollably the next. 
 
    Even Alyssa was taken aback by the degree of suffering Jezebel went through. My sexy adviser had expected there to be some discomfort and consequences for her cravings but not the all-consuming debilitating reality. 
 
    The only thing that offered Jezebel any reprieve was my presence. My body was overflowing with soul energy, and it offered her some succour. 
 
    However, my nature as a soul siphon was also part of the problem. While the corona of energy that surrounded me alleviated the symptoms of her withdrawal, it was an inefficient means of transfer. The alleviating halo only extended a few feet. 
 
    The range of my passive siphoning nature was far greater. The pittance of energy Jezebel managed to absorb was just as swiftly extracted if I stepped away and then she was back to square one. 
 
    Worse, any progress she’d made towards dealing with her dependency was wiped away. 
 
    There was a solution, of course. A Daxasian Blessing would forge a permanent link between us. A way for her to have a constant source of what she craved. 
 
    But that would also forever bind her dependence to me. That would keep Jezebel a junkie and me her new supplier. 
 
    I didn’t need any olfactory expertise or specialised soul sense to know Jezebel did not want that. Not anymore. Or that when she was wracked with pain and agony, she was in no condition to make a rational choice on the subject. 
 
    So, as much as I didn’t want to, I stayed away. 
 
    Jezebel endured. Over time the physical symptoms faded but the cravings had not. 
 
    Not yet.  
 
    We had talked many times since then and her choice had been to take the harder path she now walked. One that would allow her to benefit from what I had to offer if she chose without feeding that addiction and reinforcing the dependency. 
 
    We had hoped her efforts would bear fruit and we could both get what we both wanted, but it hadn’t taken longer than either of us wished. 
 
    “We are almost out of time, aren’t we?” she whispered. 
 
    I nodded in response and Jezebel let out a loud sigh. “Typical, once again I am the architect of my own downfall. Had I not eliminated those dungeons, I would have had years left to finish the work.” 
 
    “Well, I’m not going to lie to you. Things would have been simpler if you had just handed yourself over to me. But then you wouldn’t be who you are if you did that.” 
 
    Jezebel laughed lightly at my flippancy. 
 
    “How are you?” I asked with genuine concern. 
 
    “The aches of withdrawal are long since gone, as you know. Re-drawing my energy pathways, on the other hand, remains an excruciating experience. If anything, it grows worse with each attempt, but I persevere.” 
 
    Once Jezebel had regained her cognisance, she and Alyssa had collaborated on a potential solution for her problem. Jezebel no longer wished to be dependent upon the soul energy. But the Divine Lords had changed their chakras or something like that with the sorcerer Drakonis’ assistance, so they could utilise the energy better. 
 
    It was having the energy flow directly through their souls that led to their addiction and dependence. 
 
    What Jezebel was doing was gradually shifting the energy pathways they had created, so that they were no longer internal, but external. This would allow her to store and use the energy without it directly touching her soul and thereby insulate her from any further addiction risks. 
 
    Unfortunately, as you could probably guess, the redrawing process involved tearing fragments of her soul apart and then stitching it back together after the section of the pathway had been realigned externally. It was slow, agonising work. Even if you were capable of bearing the extreme pain of doing it all at once, or in large-sized chunks, your soul was not. 
 
    Jezebel’s recovery time between sessions had been unpredictable. That meant we had a slim hope she might be finished in time, but it was not to be. 
 
    “I’m here to see if you have changed your mind,” I said. 
 
    Jezebel’s head dipped and she stared at the jungle floor for a moment. “I have not,” she said quietly. 
 
    “I see. Are you sure? We could really use you.” 
 
    “Thank you, for the compliment, Daxas, but my pathways are a complete mess. Three-quarters external, the remaining quarter internal. My abilities are unpredictable to say the least. I would be of little help.” 
 
    “I think those Clam Snappers would beg to differ.” 
 
    Jezebel smiled at that. “You have many spears to fight for you. One more won’t make a difference.” 
 
    “That is not true, Jezebel. Only you can wear the battle armour we took from you. We’ve spent years trying to find a way for me or one of my disciples to don it, but with no joy. It is superior to anything we can craft and one of the only things I’ve not found a way around.” 
 
    “Of course,” she chuckled. “You didn’t think we wanted these challenges to be a fair fight, did you? No dungeon has ever survived a Divine Challenge unless we allowed them to. That is how Timian controlled Tamara and her allies. The promise of only a token force to face them. You will get no such consideration. Of that, I’m sure we are both certain.” 
 
    “Our chances will be improved if you fight by our side, but that’s the problem, isn’t it? You don’t think your help will be enough.” 
 
    Jezebel stood up and looked me directly in the eye. “I do not see how it can be. Timian is twisted, cruel, and vindictive. He is also cunning, determined, and a nether-blasted prophet. Whatever preparations you have made, he will likely have anticipated. 
 
    “Added to that, the Infernal Lords will be here in their True Minds as well. I would be one against eight, maybe more. I do not think you can prevail.” 
 
    She took a deep breath and kept going. As if she needed to get it all out in one go. “I’m sorry, Daxas. I have grown to care for you, in more than just lust. I have even grown fond of Jessamyn and the others. Nothing would make me happier than to fight at your side and get rid of Timian once and for all. For us to leave this place together, but that is not what will happen. 
 
    “I will remain here. When you fall, and you will, your control of these chains will expire, and I will be free to flee and survive. Life with you and the others is a fantasy. Your deaths are the reality, and I don’t wish to join you. Others might be capable of making such a noble sacrifice, but I am not. Living is too important to me.” she finished. 
 
    My anger at her obstinance and self-interest almost pushed me to cross over the grove and confront her, but I held back at the last second. 
 
    Something was off. 
 
    Jezebel had to know her words would anger me, and she ran the precise risk I would do what I had almost done. And that would set her progress back.  
 
    Why would she seek to anger me with a statement of such pure selfishness? Why tell me that she cared about us but cared for herself more? Why seek to alienate herself from us? 
 
    I became convinced at that moment there was something she wasn’t saying. Something more. 
 
    That was when I noticed her idly fingering the soul chain around her waist. 
 
    “If that is how you feel, perhaps I should just remove the chain binding you to the dungeon now. Be rid of you and your narcissism.” 
 
    Jezebel reacted as if I had clubbed her around the head with my fist. The shock and hurt in her eyes were visceral, as was the way she gripped the soul chain, almost protectively around her waist. 
 
    The hurt was only fleeting, and she quickly rallied. “You have worn out your welcome,” she snapped at me, and fled into the depths of the jungle. 
 
    I let her go. 
 
    I could have used the chain to command her to return, but the control it afforded me was only physical. I couldn’t order Jezebel to answer me and be truthful. And if there was one thing I had learned about her, it was that she could be beyond stubborn. 
 
    We had a few dungeon runs to go, so instead of chasing after her, I stalked back towards the entrance which is where I encountered Jessamyn coming in the other direction. The gorgeous auburn-haired wood elf was dressed in a pale green summer dress and carried a luncheon basket in the crook of her arm. 
 
    After Jezebel’s withdrawal ordeals, any lingering resentment Jessamyn bore the Silver Lady had melted away. She regularly kept her company and had often acted as a nurse when Jezebel endured the aftereffects of the sessions where she redrew her pathways. Offering Jezebel the soothing touch of kindness on a sweaty brow that I could not. 
 
    “It went that well, did it?” she asked in a commiserating tone. 
 
    “You could say that,” I grunted. “Her reluctance to fight beside us is undiminished. If anything, it has intensified.” 
 
    “Did she say why?” 
 
    “She gave me a line about how she had to think of herself and be in a position to abscond after our inevitable demise at the hands of Timian.” 
 
    “I find it hard to believe after all this time she remains so faithless in your abilities, Husband. It’s not like we have made any effort to conceal our preparations from her. She was definitely both surprised and impressed. Jezebel’s behaviour since her recovery is that of someone with renewed hope and resolve. Her dogged insistence on the hopelessness of our situation runs counter to that.” 
 
    “I agree, Jess. There was something, though. When I suggested, rather forcefully, that I should remove the soul chain, she reacted strangely protective of it.” 
 
    “That is bizarre,” Jessamyn remarked thoughtfully. “I can’t remember the last time any of us had to use the distasteful thing. The standing order for her not to flee or act to harm us or the dungeon remains, but it has little other use for us. 
 
    “In fact, not long ago, Alyssa informed me it would need to be removed before the battle. Timian or one of the Infernals could seize mastery of the chain if they were aware of it and force her to do their bidding. Could that be it, do you think?” Jessamyn queried, the excitement of insight glowing in her eyes. “That she fears the consequences of removing the chain if she fought for us. That she believes we can win without her aid and wants us, or to be more specific you, to retain control over her.” 
 
    “You could be right. But if she hasn’t told either of us the why of it after all this time, I doubt she will now.” 
 
    “I will try and induce it out of her, Husband.” 
 
    “Thank you, Jessamyn.” 
 
    With that, she stood up on her tiptoes and kissed me passionately before running off into the jungle to find out where our surly goddess had run off to. 
 
    Knowing that Jessamyn was on the case left me in a better mood than I’d been a few minutes earlier and I strode out of the resource chamber with a skip in my step. 
 
    I had an important conference with Simeon and the other guild leaders in a couple of hours to ready myself for. 
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 4 
 
    Simeon Reedwhistle 
 
      
 
    The Firehouse had been cleared out of the rank and file of the guild in preparation for today’s meeting. My guild personnel had not been happy about it as the hour was growing very late and the rest day beckoned. Getting mind-blowingly drunk after the final run of the week had been completed had become something of a guild tradition. It was very tempting when you had no need to rise early the next morning to do it all again. 
 
    However, Daxas had insisted. 
 
    We did need a large space to host this gathering. It wasn’t just the guild leaders and select officers attending as had been the norm for past meetings. It was pretty much every person of note in all four guilds that had been called here today. The topmost floor of the Firehouse was larger and more comfortable than any of the guild meeting rooms and offered a level of privacy that the grand hall in the guild headquarters did not. 
 
    Too many other people in the building. 
 
    I had doubts this was the true reason, which was essentially confirmed when Daxas ordered all the other entertainment facilities to stop serving alcohol. 
 
    This hadn’t been a choice for us. All the barmaids belonged to him and by now everybody had learned not to mess with them. If you knew what was good for you, that is. So, when they cut everyone off, the guild members kept their grumbling to themselves and accepted that tonight any revelry would be carried out with an air of sobriety. 
 
    It was probably just as well that we were on the top floor and only those invited would know that Rosie and her friends weaved through our number serving everyone their favourite beverage. 
 
    But only one. 
 
    Even Thrasher. 
 
    The large bear-kin man typically had a stein for each hand. The pint tankard he’d been given looked comically small in his hairy paws. As was the look of perplexed disappointment on his face. 
 
    Nel’Van settled himself in on my left. Piotr, of course, was sitting on my right. Arash and Sindar rounded out our small table. The human archer had coaxed Rosie into his lap already and she giggled throatily at his whispered sweet nothings. There were several dozen other similarly populated tables surrounding us. Our table was by the bar at the south end, and I presumed this would be where Daxas would address us. 
 
    “Do you think he will come in person, or do his disembodied voice act,” the dark elf man sitting beside me asked. 
 
    “He’ll come in person. This has to be important given the timing,” I answered. 
 
    Nel’Van nodded gravely but asked for no further clarification. The imminency of the Wolf King’s Lair’s final challenge had been kept a closely guarded secret. Most of my guild officers didn’t even know. Only those who had been present when he had admitted it to us before the guild war last week. 
 
    In fact, the defeat of the Gleaming Towers and the other high elven guilds dominated the hubbub of conversation. Most seemed to assume today’s gathering was to discuss our next steps in that regard. Those guilds hadn’t formally fallen, but they were all in bad shape. Especially the Gleaming Towers, which if reports could be believed had become something of a ghost guild. 
 
    Taliel was said to have locked himself in his office and had refused to come out for the whole week. What remained of his guild was rapidly disintegrating around him and he made no effort to salvage the situation. 
 
    Midnight came and I felt an unfamiliar shivering sensation wash through me as the rest day began. I wasn’t the only one who felt it and the noise levels rose with mutual questioning. 
 
    Any further discussion was silenced by the arrival of our host less than a minute later. Daxas crested the top of the stairs, his claws lightly scratching the bannister where he briefly paused. His scratches were not enough to scar the wood, but enough we could all hear it. His golden lupine eyes roved over the assembled people, and he grinned showing off those pointed fangs of his. 
 
    Satisfied that we were all here and that he had our attention, he marched in and took up a position in front of the bar as I predicted. Coming in his wake were several of his disciples. Some were familiar like the dark elf, Jen’Zadeer, who quirked her eyebrow in Nel’Van’s direction. Old enmities like those the dark elves bore could never be fully suppressed. Beside her was the dryad, Nessa, and she skipped along gaily. 
 
    The third was a gorgon woman I’d been told about but had not been introduced to in the flesh. Tamara, one of his more recent acquisitions. The copper-scaled vipers on her head undulated and occasionally hissed in our direction. 
 
    Following his disciples were several of the serving staff. Those not already engaged with us carried up a series of ironbound wooden chests. Each was a metre across and half a metre both tall and deep, but the serving women carried them as easily as the trays we were used to seeing them wander about the Firehouse with. They placed the six chests in front of Daxas and withdrew. 
 
    All the eyes in the room had become riveted to this unexpected delivery and I almost jumped out of my chair when Daxas clapped his hands together suddenly to steal our attention back to him. I wasn’t the only one shocked if the light swearing about spilt drinks was anything to go by. 
 
    Daxas stepped back and levered himself up onto the bar and sat there grinning at us. 
 
    “Um, you’re not allowed to sit or stand on the bar…” one brave soul had the foolishness to comment but his voice trailed off to a murmur with a single withering look from the Wolf King. 
 
    “I’m sure you’re all wondering why I’ve asked you here today,” Daxas addressed the room. “I’ll be brief as I’ve got important shit to do. It is with deep regret, well, maybe not particularly deep or all that regretful really,” he paused and chuckled lightly to himself. “Anyway, our journey together comes to an end today. The epic finale of my story is about to occur. My Divine Challenge will get underway in a little under twelve hours.” 
 
    There was a shocked silence. You could hear a pin drop or the furious blinking of the stunned audience. The shock didn’t last too long and soon there was a cacophonic storm of questions directed at that sharp-toothed grinning man. He certainly liked to be the centre of attention. 
 
    “What…” 
 
    “How…” 
 
    “But you’re not high enough level…” 
 
    Nel’Van jabbed the side of my gut with his elbow, looked at me meaningfully, and then cried loudly. “What is the meaning of this?” 
 
    Ah, right. It would be best if we acted surprised lest any of our officers figured out we’d been keeping such a monumental secret from them. 
 
    I stood and yelled. “Explain yourself!” 
 
    Daxas’ eyes whipped straight towards me and in retrospect, I could probably have come up with a slightly less demanding phrase to contribute to the din. The Wolf King raised his index finger and then gestured downwards, and I quickly took my seat, a slight heat of embarrassment rising up my cheeks. 
 
    Then the dryad jumped on top of one of the ironbound chests and screeched. “Silence, you bunch of rancid acorn mixers!” 
 
    She put her hands on her hips and stared down at the group imperiously. Her words had the desired effect, though it may have been more because most people were confused as to what a rancid acorn mixer was supposed to be. 
 
    “Thank you, Nessa,” Daxas said. 
 
    The dryad smiled sweetly at him, glared at all of us, and then vaulted sprightly up onto the bar to stand beside her seated lord. Jen’Zadeer and Tamara moved closer to the pair and joined in with the glaring. Although they did not join them up on the bar. 
 
    “Detailed explanations would take too long, and as it wouldn’t change the facts on the ground, I’m not going to waste the time. Both yours and mine. I’d hoped to put this off for a few more weeks myself, but the damn elf guilds screwed that up. So, here we are. The end of the road. 
 
    “That does not mean I plan to abandon you or leave you empty-handed. I came with a parting gift for the deserving.” 
 
    “This gift is what is in those chests, I presume,” I said, unable to hold my tongue. 
 
    We may have known that Daxas would undergo his final challenge today, but he had been extraordinarily tight-lipped about what came after the guild war. He had simply promised that all would become clear. It had been frustrating at first, I hated it when he played us like puppets, but upon reflection my unease and discomfit sloughed away. 
 
    One more day. After today our fates were back in our hands. Daxas would be gone, and the guilds would be ours to run as we saw fit. Solid foundations were already in place and even though there would be some adversity, we could push through it. 
 
    “Right you are, Simeon. However, as those who know me will have intuited, there is no such thing as a free lunch. I need one last thing from you. Something big, but the rewards are commensurate with the risk.” 
 
    Daxas paused for dramatic effect. 
 
    “We are listening,” Torvald boomed into the silence and stroked his moustache. 
 
    It was true, Daxas had the entire room on tenterhooks. 
 
    “Very well. Today I undergo my Divine Challenge at noon. About an hour before that the warriors who will undertake that challenge on behalf of the Lords will arrive. Have any of you ever seen them?” 
 
    I hadn’t. I’d heard about them, though. They would normally set up camp outside the entrance of the dungeon they were to battle and head in shortly afterwards. As this happened on a rest day, most supplicants were in the City, so it was rare to run into them unless you went looking for trouble. 
 
    Few did, the stories about them did not inspire curiosity. 
 
    “I have,” Elauthuin spoke up from the back of the barroom. 
 
    Elauthuin had joined the Dark Moon Rising and I gave him an officer position as I had done with the orc, Ferash. Knowing one of their own would be their direct superior had encouraged more of the elves to defect to us. He was still a bit nervous around the rest of us, though. It didn’t surprise me he had taken a lonely seat at the back. 
 
    “And what was your experience?” Daxas asked him. 
 
    “Not a positive one,” the elf replied. “I was part of a group travelling back to the City a few months after I arrived here. This was before I was admitted into the Gleaming Towers. We were following the road and encountered a group of heavily armoured warriors. Our group leader hailed them in friendship, but he was cut down by his opposite number. 
 
    “I overheard one of them mutter that finally they had something to do. I believe they were bored, and they rushed our group and slaughtered us. I was fortunate to be slain in that initial rush. Others in my group were not so lucky. The divine warriors took their time with them until they left for their challenge. 
 
    “Worst of all, we actually lost several ranks for being slain by them.” 
 
    A profound silence was the response to Elauthuin’s tale. I’d heard similar stories, but this was the first from someone who had directly experienced the savagery of the divine warriors and the accompanying rank loss. 
 
    You did not fuck with the Divine Challengers. Everyone knew that. 
 
    Then there was a shiver that ran down my spine. The entrance to the Wolf King’s Lair was in the guild compound. Those vicious, heartless, assholes would be coming here and soon. They would almost certainly do what they were known to do. Go on a merciless rampage. 
 
    Damn it. We’d have to evacuate the area and head for the City and hope they didn’t manage to do too much damage to the compound. Daxas wouldn’t be around to organise the repairs. 
 
    That spark of understanding was followed by a veritable bucket of ice down my back as it became clear to me what Daxas was about to ask for. “You want us to stick around and fight those crazy bastards!” 
 
    “Indeed, Simeon, I do,” he said matter of factly. 
 
    “That is a lot to ask for,” Torvald commented. 
 
    “And pointless,” Nel’Van snapped in exasperation. “Survive long enough and you’ll hear the stories. The Divine Challengers are echoes of the best of the best the Realms had to offer. Equipped way beyond what we can don, even with your help. We would be annihilated and for what? To sate their bloodlust for a few minutes.” 
 
    This triggered a wave of concerned mutterings that grew in volume until Nessa stamped her foot on the bar and this quieted the room again. 
 
    “The challengers will be here for one hour before they must enter my dungeon for the start of the challenge. And yes, I want you to do battle with them. However, I think you are overlooking the most important part of Elauthuin’s tale. If they can touch you, then you can touch them back. Is this not true, Elauthuin?” 
 
    “It is,” the elf agreed reluctantly. “We did manage to strike back with our weapons before we were overwhelmed. There were damage notifications, though it would have barely impacted their excessive health pool.” 
 
    “Precisely,” Daxas continued with a hint of malicious glee in his voice. “Once they are present in the Proving Grounds, these challengers are no different from you or me. They have to operate under the same rules that apply to you. Their health pool may be large, but it is finite. They can be killed, and to kill you they must do it in the traditional manner. Stick a sword in you, repeatedly.” 
 
    “I’m still not seeing how this is our problem,” a gruff, bearded human grunted from the middle of the room. “They ain’t gonna’ come anywhere near our guild. And the DMR fellers can jus’ leave for the day.” 
 
    I craned my neck around to see the speaker. He was a Blue Pennant member, named Tanko, I think. He was one of the few loyalists of the previous Pennant Guild Master who Daxas deposed. Torvald didn’t like him much, but his opinion still carried weight within the Pennant. Which is why he was here. There were a few other heads nodding in agreement and not all of them were Blue Pennant members. 
 
    “They could and they can. There is little I can do to force anyone to stay. But I’ll ask you a question in return. Do you want the Lords to win?” Daxas practically shouted the last part at us. He pushed himself to his feet and started pacing along the bar, as he spoke, his arm and outstretched claws pointed at each of us in turn. “These are the same shit-heels that have cast you aside and put your souls at risk of being devoured by the Infernal. Are you okay with them getting what they want? 
 
    “I know I’m not. I want to stick it to them good and fuck their shit up so badly, they’ll never be able to get it straight again. And not just for me, but for all of you as well. Does that sound like the kind of bold action you’d be interested in? Taking control of your lives and defying those who have dared to abuse you. If so, then stay and hear me out,” Daxas challenged the entire room. 
 
    “If staying on your knees, swallowing whatever the Lords feel like forcing down your throat and saying thank you, sir, please can I have another dose is more your speed. Then get the fuck out and don’t come back. This is not the place for you. You’ve wasted my time and generosity.” 
 
    There was a palpable power emanating from Daxas by the time he finished. I’d felt the influence of his aura before, but never like this. He had unleashed the full potential of all he had on the room. Everyone was affected and forced to react whether they wanted to or not.  
 
    Tanko was the first to respond. “I will not be spoke to like that,” he bristled. “You…you,” he pointed at the imperious Wolf King and struggled to verbalise his anger. “You are a Lord’s damned pestilence and the path to damnation for any dumb shit that listens to ya. I ain’t gonna’ share in this folly.” 
 
    Tanko pushed his way through the people sitting at the tables and stormed down the stairwell. He was the first, but not the only person to get up and leave. I remained seated and thankfully, none of my inner circle chose to get up and go with the traitors. 
 
    It surprised me that I thought of them in that manner, but I did. 
 
    There were a couple of the newer Dark Moon officers who departed, but mostly it was Pennant members and a few Sons of the Shadow. 
 
    Curiously Elauthuin and none of the few orc representatives left. I had expected those newest arrivals to be more likely to go. 
 
    At one stage Arash possibly looked to be getting out of his seat. He had always preferred to avoid a fight if he could. Rosie put paid to any thoughts in that direction and firmly pressed him back into his chair and then pressed her bum into his lap and made it quite clear that he wasn’t going anywhere. 
 
    “I thought you said fighting the challengers was pointless,” I whispered to Nel’Van quietly, interested in the motivation behind his decision to remain. 
 
    “Daxas has a point about the Lords. Besides, he’s turned the tables so often. Why not trust him to do so once more,” he whispered back with a shrug of his shoulders. 
 
    Daxas jumped down from the bar when it became clear nobody else would be going and the pressure he had been exerting withdrew. Probably three-quarters of those assembled had stayed behind. 
 
    He clapped his hands together. “Alright, now that we’ve got shot of the least reliable and the ingrates, it’s time to get down to brass tacks. 
 
    “After we finish here, I need you to make the same offer I’m about to make for each of you to the members you trust, and think will accept. In exchange, I expect those who accept to set up an ambush for the challengers when they arrive and take out as many of them as you can. 
 
    “There will need to be a second group stationed at the emergence pool, whose job it will be to harry and delay any of the challengers that come out there. Divine warriors will likely have a much-reduced wait time compared to regular adventurers, but it will not be instantaneous. 
 
    “The aim, of course, is to keep as many of them away from my dungeon entrance until after the deadline for their entry and participation has passed.” 
 
    “How exactly are we supposed to do that, then?” I asked. “We’ve all heard how deadly they are.” 
 
    “I was getting to that, Simeon,” Daxas rebuked me. “First off, you will have the assistance of Rosie and her maids of fury…I think.” 
 
    “You think,” I sputtered. “You don’t know?” 
 
    “Nobody has tried to do this before, Simeon. The theory is sound, but you never know until you put it into practice.” 
 
    I gaped as he hand-waved away my concerns. I wasn’t the only one. 
 
    “Close your mouth, Simeon. You’ll catch flies,” he sniggered. “The tavern maids are only one part of the surprise. Second, all those helping out will be able to purchase a full set of top-of-the-line adventuring gear from me. It won’t be quite as powerful as what the challengers are wearing but you won’t be that far off.” 
 
    “Buy? You’re not just going to equip us?” I asked, dumbfounded. 
 
    “Yes, buy. I actually need as much coin as possible to bolster the ambushing forces, so I expect everyone to fork over everything they have for the gear.” 
 
    “Everything? This just keeps getting better,” I snorted incredulously. “No wonder you told the others to bog off before getting into the details.” 
 
    “You’re only being a misery guts because you haven’t seen what’s in the chests,” Daxas teased me. “Ladies, if you would do the honours.” 
 
    Tamara and Jen’Zadeer stepped forward and unclasped the locking mechanism on two of the chests and pulled the lids of them open with a groaning creak of the hinge mechanism. 
 
    I could see twinkling coming from within and leaned forward to get a better view. Each chest was loaded to the brim with gemstones about the size of my thumb. They were all different colours. Red, blue, green, yellow, and even black. 
 
    “Shattered spires!” Nel’Van gasped in unrestrained awe. “Are these what I fucking think they are?” 
 
    Daxas nodded and a predatory smile graced his lower jaw. 
 
    “What are they?” I asked, though I already had an inkling based on Nel’Van’s reaction. 
 
    By now the whole room was on their feet and crowding around us to get a look at what was contained in the chests. “Core shards, Simeon,” Nel’Van answered me. “This is what you get as a reward for successfully challenging a dungeon. Where did you get all of these?” he directed that question at Daxas. 
 
    “Why do you think I’ve been vanquishing all those other dungeons? I’ve been preparing for this day for some time. You didn’t think I’d leave you lot to fend for yourselves once I’m gone, did you,” he chuckled. “These are full shards; each one should provide around one hundred ranks worth of advancement for an individual or a group that absorbs them. The highest ranks will obviously use a little more energy than the lower ones. I’m sure you can work out how best to distribute them for maximum effect. 
 
    “These will get you all the way to the top rank, with some to spare I would think. Then after the battle is done and the challenge is underway, you can use what’s leftover to top up those who lose any ranks as a result of the ambush. 
 
    “Best to top up before the challenge ends. Officially, these belong to my dungeon, so I can’t guarantee how usable they will be once I’ve won.” 
 
    Daxas moved out from behind the chests and clapped his hand on my shoulder. “We’re all getting out of here, Simeon.” 
 
    “Thank you,” it was the only words I could get past the clenching sensation in my throat.  
 
    I’m not ashamed to admit there were tears flowing freely down my cheeks and I wasn’t the only one. 
 
    As the reality of the situation began to settle in, the cheering and dancing began. Whether Daxas was successful or not we would all make our qualifying rank criteria. The threat of our souls being torn apart and devoured was behind us. What kind of reception we’d receive in the Heavens was something to worry about once we got there. 
 
    Piotr was the first to hug me. Once he broke the exuberant embrace and rushed off to do the same with Sindar and Arash, I noticed that Daxas and his women had already made a hasty exit. 
 
    A few minutes later Rosie came up to me and handed me a sealed envelope. It had the words Battle Plan written on the front in a calligraphic font. 
 
    There was still a big stupid grin on my face, and I had to calm my racing heart down. We had much left to do, but that smile would not fade no matter how hard I tried. 
 
    We were getting out. All of us. 
 
    All thanks to Daxas. 
 
    I’d never felt so vindicated for letting a cocky control-freak, bully me into doing what he wanted. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
    Daxas 
 
      
 
    “That went marginally better than expected,” I remarked chirpily as my mates and I reached the lower floor of the Firehouse. 
 
     I’d installed one of many secret entrances in a broom closet so that we could come and go with ease. My alternate back in the dungeon would have sealed off or removed all the other tunnels already. As well as dissolving all the entrances but the one in the heart of the Alpha House compound. 
 
    “Three quarters was a decent retention rate,” Tamara responded. “They really do trust you. I feared it would be fewer than half that stayed the course. Do you think we will see similar numbers when they approach the guilds at large?” 
 
    “Fear and intimidation will make it harder. We can’t forget that to stand with us is to stand against the will of the Lords. Some will baulk at such open defiance of the heavens,” Jen’Zadeer commented as she opened the door to the cupboard, and we began descending into my dungeon. 
 
    “I agree we will likely lose half as many again, but a sizeable force will remain,” I said confidently. 
 
    “Maybe we should have led with the shards in the chests. I’m sure greed would have kept more bums in seats,” Nessa chipped in. 
 
    “Doubtless it would,” I chuckled in return. “Greed is a strong motivator. However, I am in what was called a Catch-22 situation back home. They aren’t my disciples or my dungeon mobs. I can’t ensure they would participate once they got what they wanted from me without withholding the shards until afterwards, to enforce participation. But without the extra ranks they would be much less effective. 
 
    “We need those whom we are boosting to be motivated by more than just their selfishness. That and Tenzing crunched the numbers. Six chests might seem like a lot, but it wouldn’t have been enough to boost all the guild members and then top up those who end up being killed by the challengers. Which will likely be most of them. If we’d had a few more weeks to gather a sufficient number, then we could have risked distributing them more widely. Even to those likely to accept and then turn their backs on me. 
 
    “I’ve put all this in the battle plan for Simeon. Including that he should send the least reliable to the City. To stand watch at the emergence pools and perform the delaying actions. They will be less likely to cut and run if faced with a handful of challengers than the full host.” 
 
    Just as I finished explaining my rationale, Tamara cried out in pain and her head-snakes hissed loudly as she stumbled and fell to her knees. 
 
     “Tamara, what’s the matter?” 
 
    Nessa and Jen’Zadeer stopped, turned, and rushed to help me with the gorgon who groaned piteously on the hard tunnel floor. Tamara was incapable of responding verbally and her eyes had rolled to the back of her head. She was insensate and her legs could no longer support her. I picked her up in my arms and started to run through the tunnels the short distance to my dungeon with Jen and Nessa hot on my heels, worry plainly written on their faces. 
 
    I headed straight to the master bedroom and laid Tamara on the silk sheets as Alyssa hurried inside to join us. 
 
    “Alyssa, do you know what the hell is happening?” I asked in a mild panic. 
 
    Nothing like this had happened in the dungeon before. Especially not in the inactive portions. Alyssa crossed over to us and checked Tamara’s vitals as she writhed a little in pain. Before Alyssa could speak, Reena’s bulky serpentine body slithered into the bedroom, and she provided the answer. 
 
    “I have sseen something like thiss before. It iss the ssight, Masster,” she hissed. “It hass been activated against her will.” 
 
    “She is foretelling, then? I thought she could no longer do that. That once she fell to me, Timian severed her connection to the streams of time.” 
 
    “He did,” Alyssa said with a tiny hint of worry. “This is not foretelling, though. Technically, the ethereal realm exists outside of time. Prophetic abilities do not work here unless you have been anchored to an external source. For Tamara, Timian acted as the anchor. However, that does not mean her abilities are simply gone once that connection was broken.” 
 
    “If she is not seeing the future then what?” Jessamyn pressed. With my focus on the prone Tamara, I had not even heard my alpha mate enter, but of course, she would rush straight here once she heard. 
 
    Alyssa’s response died on her lips as Tamara took a sudden deep inhalation of air and her back arched, thrusting her chest into the air and her head back into the purple silk pillows. Her copper head-snakes screeched at the rough treatment. Just as it seemed she might break her back, Tamara flopped back down onto the bed panting heavily. Her eyes were no longer rolling and blearily they darted around taking in her situation. 
 
    “Tamara, are you okay?” 
 
    “Yes,” she gasped, and winced as a lance of pain shot through her skull. “It’s over, though the aftereffects will linger for a while to come.” 
 
    “What happened?” Nessa pressed as she crawled onto the bed from the other side. 
 
    Jessamyn approached from the other side and handed Tamara a goblet of water while Alyssa and I helped her sit up in the bed. 
 
    When Tamara was a bit more comfortable, she answered the irrepressible dryad’s inquiry. “It was Lord Timian.” 
 
    Jen’Zadeer sniffed disdainfully. “We should have known it would be that shatzah-licking asshole.” 
 
    “What was he trying to do?” I asked Tamara gently. 
 
    “He was attempting to divine the future of the upcoming challenge. Because his divinations directly included me, I was able to offer some resistance to his attempts. Although I’m sorry to say that I was unable to fully thwart the attempt, but I hope my efforts have clouded the results of his oracular intrusion.” 
 
    “Wait, but how?” I said, confused. “Alyssa, I thought he couldn’t do that unless he was here and then only at so great a cost it wouldn’t be worthwhile?” 
 
    The bespectacled brunette pursed her plump lips in thought and tapped them with her index finger. “Hmmm, I fear he may have learned a lesson or two from you, darling. He may have found a way to bend the rules. 
 
    “There is no way that he could have done this while in the Realms. He is powerful, but not powerful enough to penetrate the ethereal. But he would have entered seclusion at midnight. Seclusion places the Divine Challengers in a staging area, not quite in the Proving Grounds but within the ethereal. A space very similar to where you had your meeting with Jezebel and Ironhammer all those years ago. 
 
    “I suppose if he had prepared sufficiently, he might have been able to forge a bridge between his seclusion and the Realms that allowed him to wield his prophetic prowess to some extent here. The cost to him would have been enormous, though.” 
 
    “Not to him,” Tamara contradicted Alyssa and winced in pain again. “He was using others. Many of them. Hundreds. All seers to some degree. I could feel them, as we battled, and he burned through them at an alarming rate. Their death screams still echo through my psyche. I had not thought there could be so many with the curse of the sight in the Realms. 
 
    “I…I think he has done something unforgivably monstrous,” she finished with an expression of deep sadness and pity. 
 
    “That…that tracks,” Alyssa mused. “There is a provision in the Accords for the Lords to bring mortal servants into seclusion with them. They are returned to the Realms when the seclusion period is lifted. He must have abused that provision to bring the seers he has used. We can only hope that he did not factor Tamara’s interference into his plans. Otherwise, he may have greater knowledge of our surprises than we had expected.” 
 
    “There is nothing we can do about that. The dominoes will fall as they will,” I said and stroked Tamara’s cheek, wiping away an errant tear that had escaped. “Is there anything I can do, Tamara.” 
 
    The gorgon woman blushed; her eyes darted hesitantly around the room. “Umm, yes, there is. I could use a distraction from what just happened and some massaging to help my muscles relax. Getting my mind off things can help with the mental strain.” 
 
    Nessa jumped to her feet and gyrated her hips lasciviously. “You just want some extra Unh-unh time, you shameless hussy…ooof.” 
 
    Nessa’s teasing was cut off prematurely as Jen’Zadeer hooked her waist and pulled her to the edge of the bed where Reena threw the outraged, struggling dryad over her shoulder. 
 
    “Come ladies, let’s give them some alone time. There is much left to be done,” Jessamyn commanded with a mischievous smile. “Husband, Tamara,” she nodded to us after ushering the others, including an irate Nessa demanding she be let down, from the room and closed the bedroom door offering us some privacy. And quiet. 
 
    I grinned widely at the pretty gorgon on my bed. “I do believe massages work better when you take your clothes off.” 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
    Explicit Interlude 6.1 
 
      
 
    Tamara smiled up at me tentatively. An early discovery made in our relationship was that Tamara was incredibly shy when it came to intimate scenarios. That nervous smile became more speculative and hungrier when I dismissed my clothing, though. 
 
    She followed suit seconds later and was soon sitting on the sheets in the buff. Her skin was tanned with an underlying golden tinge that went beyond being merely sunkissed. As usually happened, once she was naked, Tamara’s temerity in the bedroom came to the fore and she tried to cover herself up. 
 
    Instinctively she crossed her legs, and her hands covered the plump orbs of her breasts. Tamara had long gold-coloured fingernails and they softly stroked the flesh of her ribs. I sat down on the edge of the bed and lifted her chin gently so that she was no longer staring down at her lap but up at me. 
 
    Tamara had beautiful serpentine eyes the same colour as her claws. She had a smattering of green scales about her eyes and across the top of her cheeks like freckles. She had a similar dusted patterning on her curvy hips and her hairless pubic mound. Rather than detracting from her beauty, they acted as a tantalising invitation for carnal exploration. 
 
    I’d already lost count of how many times Tamara and I had been together, but she took my breath away anew each and every time. Her unusual reticent innocence only added to the allure. A few of the coiled copper vipers on her head reached out and rubbed against my wrist and fingers invitingly. I moved in and my lips met hers in a kiss. Once pressed together our lips parted and tongues mingled. 
 
    The snakes atop her head went into a frenzy of movement, swishing and swirling around the side of my face, brushing themselves up against and caressing my ears which tickled. My hands reached for hers and pulled them away from the twin prizes they obscured. With her breasts free I started to squeeze and play with them, teasing her nipples to hardness and tweaking them playfully. 
 
    Tamara, emboldened now that the passion play was underway, gripped the back of my hair with one hand and pressed her lips harder against mine and deepened the reach of her questing tongue. Her other hand wrapped around the tip of my shaft. She teased the underside of my cock’s helmet with her index finger and rubbed the eyehole with her thumb, slathering my precum all over the dark, swollen head. 
 
    “There’s the eager beaver I know and love,” I whispered as we broke our kiss for a few breaths, foreheads smushed into one another. Tamara’s hand still gripped my hair firmly as if she was afraid I’d pull away now that we had begun. 
 
    “There is something about you, Daxas, that ignites a fire inside me I’ve never felt before,” she said seriously, her voice shaking with emotion. “Should this be our last day I will go into the nothingness with no regrets. It is better to have had this, if only for a short while, than to have lived a dozen lifetimes merely existing.” 
 
    “Hush, Tamara,” I crooned. 
 
    She was clearly still rattled from her mental tussle with Timian. 
 
    “We are only at the beginning of our journey together. The last year has been but a prologue of a much greater and longer story,” I assured her. 
 
    “You can’t guarantee that,” she whispered. 
 
    “I can and I do. Now I believe someone is owed a Daxasian massage special.” 
 
    “What is that?” 
 
    “You’re about to find out. Now lie down on your front,” I ordered in a husky growl. 
 
    Tamara giggled girlishly and hurried to obey. Her head snakes seemed a bit reluctant to let go of my hair and pulled it a bit as they were disentangled. Tamara gave my penis a quick couple of pumps by way of apology before she released my member and lay down on the silk sheets as I’d commanded. 
 
    When she was settled, I knelt beside her and summoned a basket of massage oils from the inventory. Taking a bottle from the basket I flicked off the lid and squirted a line along the back of both her legs and dropped the bottle back where I grabbed it from. 
 
    The oil had a pleasant lavender scent that wafted through the room and Tamara sighed contentedly. 
 
    I spread the oil slowly, swirling my fingers on the back of her thighs before tapping my way down to her lower legs. I started with her calves and rubbed the oil into her skin as I firmly kneaded the muscles. When I finished her right calf, I moved onto the left and gave it the same treatment for a couple of minutes. When that was complete, I let my claws trace up her calves and scratch lightly at the back of her knees. 
 
    “Oh! That tickles, but ummm, it feels so good,” Tamara giggled. 
 
    “Excellent, it’s meant to,” I told her huskily as my fingers stroked the sides of her knee joints and toyed around the edges before I used my knuckles to press gently into the soft centre. 
 
    Tamara’s feet tried to buck at the attention, but I laid my body across them to keep her in place as I continued to rub and stroke around the base of her thighs. She gasped in pleasure and the scent of her arousal, and the wetting of her golden cunny hit my senses. Her rounded ass arched a little in the air, she was obviously enjoying herself and I was content to keep playing for a while. 
 
    However, variety is the spice of life and despite the obvious signs of Tamara’s enjoyment, it was time to switch things around. I sat back up. 
 
    “Oh,” she murmured and looked back over her shoulder in disappointment. 
 
    Her smile quickly returned when she saw I was not done but merely shifting my position so that I was kneeling over the top of her legs. My knees were on either side and then my hands were placed on the back of her thighs and rubbed the lavender oil in as my hands smoothly tracked up and down her toned flesh. 
 
    Tamara relaxed back into a state of orgasmic lassitude as she let my hands and fingers do all the work. When her athletic legs were fully relaxed it was time to move onto her slim, but firm ass. A quick spank to either cheek elicited a deep moan and twerk of excitement as I grabbed hold of the bottle once more and squirted some of the viscous fluid onto her jiggling buns and lower back. 
 
    My hands went back to work as they caressed her bum, taking particular care to work the small folds where her ass met the top of her leg. I knew from past experience that Tamara was particularly sensitive there and she didn’t disappoint this time as her moans and groans of pleasure intensified. 
 
    At one point she tried to sneak her hand in under her belly to touch her quim and I couldn’t have that. I grabbed her wrist and pulled it back out. Then summoned some cuffs and secured the errant arm to the headboard. What’s good for one is good for the other and I quickly did the same with her other hand for good measure. 
 
    “Oh, yes, tie me up and use me, Master,” she begged. 
 
    “Eventually,” I whispered in her ear in promise. 
 
    Putting my hands back on her derriere, I worked my way slowly from the curves of her hips to the centre of her bum, ever closer to her inner thighs and the moistening mound within. Tamara couldn’t help herself and ground her thighs together as I worked my way inwards. 
 
    After another few minutes, my fingers were rubbing inside her thighs and getting tantalisingly close to her wetted labia. 
 
    “Please, master,” she panted, her breathing ragged from the tormenting attention. 
 
    Feeling merciful, my fingers started to tease the entrance of her vulva, coating themselves in her juices. Tamara was so primed from the lengthy attention that my digits barely made it a centimetre or two into her vagina, not even close to her G-spot before her pussy spasmed around them in orgasm. 
 
    “Fuck! Fuck! Fuck! Yessss. So, good,” she gasped. 
 
    I plunged three fingers into her velveteen tunnel, all the way to the knuckle, helping her along and finally located that little rough spot and gave it a few scratches to keep her in that heightened state of bliss. 
 
    The silk sheets beneath her were ruined as Tamara’s cunny gushed and squirted her cum everywhere. When her climax subsided, my head dipped down and my tongue went to work lapping up my lover’s secretions. Tamara’s had a slight hint of a cinnamon burn which was something I’d never tasted with any of my other mates. 
 
    “Thank you, Daxas,” Tamara giggled languidly once she’d regained her breath. 
 
    “What’s this? You’re talking like this is over. I’ve only given your bottom half the needed attention,” I said and shuffled up, sitting on the back of her thighs. 
 
    My weighty balls nestled against her slick cum-covered inner thighs, while I pressed my rock-hard rod between the peachy-pillows of her firm ass. My hands found their way onto her lower back and started to spread the oil up and down her back and to the sides of her waist, squeezing and kneading as they went while my hips rocked back and forth. My cock slowly pumped between her gluteal cleft. I’d left a dribble of the lavender massage oil in there untouched, and it kindly lubed my length. 
 
    This continued for several more minutes, my hands only leaving Tamara’s body for the time it took to dribble a bit more oil on her shoulders. When my hands finally made it that far up, her head snakes went into a frenzy, and they writhed around my wrists and gripped them tight. 
 
    “By all that’s considered holy, Daxas, uh…Master, will you please mount me,” Tamara begged. 
 
    How could I refuse such a poignant and sexy request? 
 
    My hands gripped her shoulders and I raised myself off the back of her thighs and let my cock slide backwards through the cleft of her ass cheeks until I reached the end. I kept my cock firmly pressed against the bottom of her ass until I felt the parting of the drenched entrance to her pussy and pushed forward. 
 
    There was a bit of resistance because of the awkward angle and as my legs were pressing Tamara’s thighs together. My stiff rod flexed a little, but it wasn’t a true contest as to which would give way first. The moist lips of Tamara’s vagina parted like a budding flower, and I thrust forward, eager for the nectar she harboured within. 
 
    “Ahhh!” I grunted gruffly. “You’re so tight, Tammy. This was worth the wait.” 
 
    “Ungh!” she groaned in response. “Hard and fast, please.” 
 
    There would be no disagreement from me. Soon I was in a crouched position over the top of her as I pounded my cock inside as deeply as possible. At some point, the serpents that entwined my wrists and lower arms had bitten deeply into my flesh. Their small sharp teeth lodged into my skin and prevented me from easily removing the hands that grasped Tamara’s shoulders. 
 
    The head snakes signalled that Tamara’s conscious request for me to ride her hard was matched by her subconscious. My pretty gorgon might start our sexplay sessions timid and unsure, but she finished them as filthily as could be. 
 
    “What do you want from me, Tammy?” I quizzed her between thrusts, knowing the answer. 
 
    “Your seed, Master,” she cried. “Fill my slutty quim with your cum.” 
 
    “As you wish,” I chuckled with pleasure and increased the pace of my thrusting action. 
 
    My hips were slamming into the twin cushions of her ass, strong enough to bruise them if we weren’t inhabiting avatars and my balls slapped wetly on the back of her legs. Then I felt that familiar aching flex as my climax hit. The muscles in my testicles contracted and soon I was flooding Tamara’s warm tunnels with my pearlescent jism. 
 
    My bellowing roar of conquest pushed Tamara over the edge for the second time and soon her vaginal walls were clenching my deeply buried cock hard, milking it for every last drop. 
 
    Spent, for the briefest of moments, I relaxed and lay on Tamara’s back. 
 
    Her head snakes calmed and released their lockjaw bite as they settled on the pillows, barely moving. 
 
    I kissed the nape of Tamara’s neck. “Feeling better,” I whispered into the quiet. 
 
    “Very much,” she answered and sent the cuffs back to the inventory. “I’m very relaxed, but perhaps I could do with a bit more distracting,” she said with a naughty laugh. 
 
    “Is that so?” 
 
    “Yes, Master. Correct me if I’m wrong but you did say you planned to massage me fully. You’ve barely even touched the front of my body.” 
 
    “Minx,” I teased and kissed her on the cheek. “But a promise is a promise.” 
 
    Leaping off Tamara, I flipped her onto her back and reached for the lavender oil again. 
 
    We still had time before battle would be met. Why not enjoy it in the company of a beautiful woman? 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 5 
 
    Timian 
 
      
 
    I settled myself on the intricately embroidered, maroon, ceremonial mat in front of me. Closed my eyes and deepened my breathing. The mat was old and threadbare and offered no cushioning or comfort to those it bore. Moreover, the mat itself did not help with the enormously difficult task of navigating potential future timelines, but ritual and repetition eased the road to enlightenment. 
 
    This was how my long-dead mentor inducted me into the mysteries of prophecy. The process of seizing hold of the raging torrents of the time stream, stilling the maelstrom long enough to discern the patterns and for the especially skilled, moulding those events to match one’s desires. 
 
    This was not the same mat, of course. Merely a replica I conjured from memory. The original had long since become dust along with the cities, lands, and culture of my birth. From the time when I had been merely mortal, strong and powerful for sure, but limited by the shell of my existence. My ascension had hastened the eventual demise of my people and mentor, not that I cared. 
 
    Then or now. 
 
    Regardless, that sudden thought disturbed my concentration for a moment. It had been centuries, maybe more, since I last recalled the place of my birth and my mortality. But then it had probably been just as long since I’d needed to make use of the old methods for prognostication. 
 
    This was all the fault of the damned murkiness of the ethereal realm. No matter, after today I would no longer need the entity or the Proving Grounds. Daxas’ energy would be mine and the Infernal Lords would be dead. Their greedy demands gone with them and the way to the Dark Reaches open and plump for the taking. 
 
    I opened my eyes and shook out my shoulders, ready to purge such thoughts and reset myself to begin again. 
 
    Kriger and Garvax stood not far in front of me. Kriger observed me with a predatory gleam in his eye, always assessing. I didn’t need any of my abilities to read that predictable sadist like an open book. 
 
    Any hint of weakness or opportunity and the viper would strike. But he was also a coward at heart. If he harboured any doubts of success, he would hold off. A single meaningful flick of my eyes as I readjusted my posture put paid to any aggressive acts by Kriger. 
 
    Garvax behaviour, on the other hand, was less foreseeable. He would not meet my gaze. Instead, he glanced around, shamefaced, at the struggling forms on the biers that ringed the chamber I had prepared for my temporal voyage. 
 
    He’d been moping like this ever since I had him gag the two hundred seers we had brought into seclusion with us. The crying and caterwauling of the children in particular had grated on my nerves. Although the begging and weeping from the few adults had been little different or any less pitiful. 
 
    Better to silence them all. 
 
    The sentimental fool had even dared question me about the use of so many babes and children. As if their youth should exclude them from being fodder to feed the furtherment of my designs. 
 
    Those born with the sight were rare, but not as rare as many believed. The problem was that for the majority their tenuous connection to the time stream rapidly withered as they aged. Most lost the connection entirely before they had the maturity to pass on anything of what they saw. 
 
    Two hundred was barely enough as it was and Garvax in his stupidity suggested we should only make use of the adults. I sensed he would likely do something…precipitous, once he witnessed any of the youngest become a sunken and lifeless husk. 
 
    Kriger would step in and prevent any attempted interference, though. His penchant for sadism and the infliction of misery meant he would be enjoying the suffering too much to permit Garvax to act on his weakness. 
 
    An idle thought of whether either of my two puppets still recalled their mortal lives disturbed my internal preparations once again. 
 
    Kriger probably not. He was one of the originals along with me, though I could no longer remember anything about him from back then. From what I could tell every member of the first tranche, apart from myself, had become so engrossed in their new identities, that the memories of who they had been faded fast into nothingness. 
 
    Garvax was one of the newest to join our ranks. Long after the Proving Grounds had been established. Maybe it was the echoes of his connection with mortality that robbed him of his divine integrity. Or perhaps he was simply weak. It didn’t matter. I would only allow one of them to survive the challenge. Whichever of them had the dubious honour of still existing on the morrow would be nought but a slave to my will. If it proved to be Garvax, his conscience wouldn’t be troubling him for long. 
 
    I couldn’t quite place why I was plagued by such distractions on the eve of my victory. Perhaps, I was innately channelling knowledge of my future. After all, I was on the verge of the equivalent of a second ascension. One that should catapult me beyond even that interfering sorcerer Drakonis. 
 
    Unknown to all, even him, I intended to not only seize the deep well of energy Daxas possessed but his birth right as well. His ability as a soul siphon. But I would not be content to leave it to run passively, extracting energy slowly and painlessly from those around me. No, it would be modified and enhanced. 
 
    His former home world, Earth, would be my first port of call and I would take all that the billions who lived there had and more. And they would just be the first. The first of many. 
 
    That had to be it. Echoes of my former life were reverberating back through the time stream. Flooding backwards to me in the now as they were permanently purged from my consciousness once I wielded the supreme power in the universe. What need would an omnipotent god have for such recollections? It wasn’t even a sacrifice. 
 
    With that settled, my mind stilled and slipped into the stream of time with practised ease. My soul stretched out and latched onto the souls of my gagged thralls. They resisted, of course, but their wills were as nothing compared to mine. 
 
    Briefly, I contemplated snuffing their minds out to spare me the very minor irritation of suppressing them. But then I would forego the sweet taste of their despair. Who was I to deny myself such pleasures? Suffering that goes unsavoured, is suffering wasted. 
 
    Images flashed by me of the present and the future, flitting past me too fast to comprehend. I extended my will and slowed the passage of the closest pieces of information down to a more manageable speed so the streams could be reviewed and therefore subtly manipulated to give me the outcomes of different actions. 
 
    This was the easy part, and I needed no assistance. The closest streams were those that personally intersected with me and were not too far forward in the future, a few days. The streams which contained events that affected others or were months, even years ahead, continued to streak by too fast to be perceptible. With greater effort and energy expenditure I could slow even these. 
 
    I did not bother with that today, though. Regular prognostication was merely the warm-up. With amusement, I watched my predictions play out in the seclusion chamber. Garvax paled and stepped forward, intent on breaking my concentration and stopping me. Kriger then seized him from behind and choked him in turn. Their godly essences clashed and neutralised one another. 
 
    With my single concern put to bed, I turned my attention to the task at hand. Familiarity allowed me to locate the timestreams of the ethereal realm, all frustratingly obfuscated by the entity. They were as smoke to my fingers, impossible to grasp and hold, but that was why I brought so many seers with me. Tapping into their souls, I added their paltry talents to the prodigious depth of my own. 
 
    My talents reinforced my consciousness and reached out for the untouchable. Six of my tools, the weakest, all babes, were depleted and burnt out by the mere attempt. Mentally I formed a counter in a corner of my mind to keep abreast of their depletion. 
 
    196/202 remain. 
 
    The blood drained from Garvax stupid face at the sight. 
 
    Never mind him, it was working. The ethereal streams sped by as quickly as ever but now their smoky texture solidified. They essentially became corporeal to my talent. I flexed my mind and the nearest ethereal timestreams slowed. 
 
    179/202 remain. Seventeen more seers were husked in an instant. 
 
    Kriger put Garvax in the chokehold, keeping him from interfering. 
 
    My first attempt was a success, but I could only see a few minutes into the future of the Proving Grounds. That was of little use to me, I needed to see further and slowly broadened my grip. 
 
    147/202 remain. Another thirty-two lost. 
 
    More than a quarter of my tools were gone already but elation filled my heart, they had helped me achieve the desired result. The streams that catalogued what was to come over the next day in the Proving Grounds were readable. I should have sufficient thralls to hold the streams long enough to do my work if I didn’t waste any time. 
 
    145/202 remain. Two more useless and weak mortals gone. 
 
    I dived into the streams with relish, but was instantly met with consternation on two fronts. 
 
    First, the streams detailing events in the Proving Grounds after the conclusion of the Divine Challenge showed carefree supplicants celebrating Daxas’ success. 
 
    Somehow that filthy bastard was fated to win! 
 
    My anger was short-lived. These were visions of what would have happened had I not used my talent to see ahead. His victory would never be. 
 
    I couldn’t deny that I was disappointed by this revelation. My expectation had been that I’d only need to tweak events to handle the Infernals. Instead, I’d be forced to waste time fixing the ultimate outcome as well. Then it occurred to me this might not be such a setback after all. Likely fixing one would fix the other. 
 
    It was inconceivable that Daxas could defeat me unless the moronic demons lent him a hand, intentionally or not. 
 
    Second, and far more infuriating, the streams, even those that involved me directly inside his dungeon were obscured. 
 
    142/202 remain. 
 
    This was an unexpected barrier, and I didn’t have time to tentatively probe and reason out the source of the extra layer of obfuscation. The strength of my tools was already waning, and I couldn’t risk being subtle. The worst scenario would be not getting an answer while burning through more seers and then have to brute force my way through anyway. Burning through even more. The risk was too great to not bully from the beginning. 
 
    I pushed hard with my talent instead of probing. The push, bolstered by my unwilling tools, would divine the source of the blockage. 
 
    102/202 remain. 
 
    Forty more tiny soul fires winked out, but I had my answer. 
 
    Tamara.  
 
    It was Tamara hiding the filthy mutt from me. 
 
    That traitorous, disgusting, scaly slut! Damn the bitch, she would pay for this. 
 
    101/202 remain. 
 
    The push from my talent availed me with a lot of useless information including being assaulted by snippets of the mutt and the snake-headed whore coupling. A bile-inducing sight. Using the data earned, I quickly calculated what it would cost to break through the blockage she presented, and the results were mixed. 
 
    To eradicate her influence entirely by scouring the ability of foresight from her soul would burn through all the reserves leaving me insufficient time to analyse and manipulate the streams. I would have to settle for a compromise. 
 
    I blasted away Tamara’s ability to actively interfere any further at great cost to myself, and the thick cloud that obscured the Divine Challenge was lifted. Now I could see unobstructed. Sadly, her continued presence in the dungeon caused stutters in the streams and made them difficult to hold onto. 
 
    30/202 remain. 
 
    Regardless of the difficulties this presented, I immersed myself in the streams, absorbing as much knowledge as I could from them. 
 
    8/202 remain. 
 
    My mind bulged with what I saw. 
 
    My death at the hands of Shabbarth and Daxas’ eventual success left a sour taste in my mouth. The demon king baited me with insults and tried to exclude me before the run even began and then he and his six compatriots would strike me down. Then those ridiculous infernal fools turned on one another during the challenge, making it possible for the Wolf King to finish the straggling survivors off. It was embarrassingly easy for him. 
 
    That would not happen. 
 
    A few alterations and the Princeps early plans to murder me were stymied and that changed things immeasurably. This shift of events helped but there was much left to do. The Infernals were fools, but they outnumbered us. Outmanoeuvring them and preventing them from ruining this would take all my skill to achieve. 
 
    7/202 remain. Only the strongest of the seers survived, but they should each last a little longer than those who had already perished. 
 
    My time was short but there was nobody better at this than me. Before I began, I already had several ideas on steps that could be taken should Daxas prove a worthier foe than anticipated. Now armed with the knowledge of his plans and tricks these concepts could be moulded into counters and turn his own deviousness against him. My relationship with the Arbiter would be my greatest asset and I trialled what uses I could put him to. 
 
    The first of these counters was pure genius if I did say so myself and removed large parts of Daxas advantage. Including cancelling out Tamara. That had the benefit of making my vision a bit clearer and the streams easier to manipulate.  
 
    5/202 remain. 
 
    Which was just as well, as I needed to waste some of my time altering the flows to undo the crass stupidity of the Infernal Lords. Engineering Daxas’ demise would be of little benefit if those obtuse horned twats killed me in the process. Time and time again, given half a chance they would turn on me. Crafting the most efficient path wounded my pride, but I could endure the shame for the greatest prize of them all. None would live to ever remind me of the indignities I would endure at their hands. 
 
    2/202 remain. 
 
    I had just long enough to try a few more things with the streams. I used the Arbiter again, a most agreeable fellow, to implement one last surprise to shock Daxas. 
 
    As things were going my way, there was another wrinkle. 
 
    Jezebel. 
 
    Well, a few further tweaks of the streams and that insipid cow was dealt with too. It meant sacrificing one of my minions a bit earlier than planned. Keeping one of them would have been handy to deal with the aftermath and clean up when I returned victorious to the Realms. 
 
    A shame, but I would simply have to get my hands dirty. 
 
    Well, dirtier.  
 
    1/202 remain. 
 
    Finally, and just in the nick of time, the outcome was shifted dramatically in my favour. All was becoming clear. Each of Daxas’ moves revealed in part, at least, and then unravelled by me, leaving him bereft. 
 
    At last, I watched the final stream with rapt attention. 
 
    Daxas, his fur matted and bloodied lay panting on the scorched stone of his Core Floor. The bodies of his disciples were broken and strewn across the chamber. Me standing over him, four champions at my back, victory at hand. The defeated wolf tries one last trick. 
 
    Frustratingly, the stream judders at just that moment and I miss what his last play is. 
 
    0/202 remain. 
 
    My tools were fully spent, and I was being forced from the ethereal streams. 
 
    In the chamber, Garvax ceased struggling with Kriger as he sensed the last of the life sources being snuffed out.  
 
    No! 
 
    I must see the end. 
 
    There is one last ace up my sleeve. My High Priest, Mortan, is meditating in the Realms. I can feel the small bundle of his consciousness in the back of my mind as he connects me to the Realms and through them to the Heavens. This will allow me to replenish myself. The risk of entering the challenge depleted and unable to use foresight at all is low. Not that I should nee it after my good work today. 
 
    I burn through some of my soul energy reserves to keep the link for just a little longer. 
 
    With my hold weakening, the vision wavered. I manage to steady it, but only on myself and a few feet from me. 
 
    “You haven’t won yet, Timian. I have one last card to play,” Daxas coughs from below me, though I can’t focus properly on him. 
 
    I can feel my head look around but whatever I’m seeing is extremely fuzzy. All I can make out are big lumps of brown. “You are a dumber mutt than I thought, Daxas,” the vision of me castigates the desperate Wolf King. 
 
    The confidence and surety of my future-self flowed through me. “Everything is clear to me now. And to think you succeeded in getting me to worry, albeit fleetingly. Your final card is a dud, Daxas. Just like you,” I laughed. “Do you think you are the first to think of such a thing? You can’t make use of them. No one can. Now do me a favour and die in screaming agony.” 
 
    My arm pulled back, ready to thrust my halberd forward, exultation surged through me and that was the last thing I saw. The vision was cut off at the very end and my eyes snapped open. It was an annoyance that I would have to wait for the pleasure of torturing my enemy, but now knew for certain that my victory was assured. 
 
    As if there could have been any other outcome. 
 
    I may not have seen my ultimate victory, but I felt it, and that was even better. The eyes of foresight could be deceived or what they saw misinterpreted. Feelings were another matter and offered absolute certainty. 
 
    I rolled my neck to straighten out the kink that had built up, and then rose to my feet. 
 
    Kriger and Garvax had picked themselves up from the floor as well and were looking at me expectantly. 
 
    “Well?” Kriger asked, a gleam of excitement in his eyes. 
 
    I smiled brightly. “We’re all getting what we deserve, my friends.” 
 
    My actions had left me drained and I would not be able to use Mortan to replenish my reserves until we exited seclusion. However, their genuine answering smiles told me I didn’t have to worry about either of them suspecting my planned betrayal of them or acting during my brief time of weakness. 
 
    They really were naive. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    There was a thunderous clap that reverberated through the High Temple. The sound waves disturbed motes of dust from every surface and caused the four guards that surrounded the old seer-priest to stumble. 
 
    Two managed to drop their halberds in shock and a third fell to the ground, his scale mail making an accompanying clattering sound to follow the thunderclap of the sudden and unexpected opening of a portal. 
 
    The only person completely unaware of what had just happened was Mortan. Timian’s High Priest was deep in meditation, fulfilling his patron God’s demands. Making himself an anchor for Timian to the Realms and the Heavens above. 
 
    The portal pulsed in front of the back wall, and the cloudy disc at its centre solidified into the image of a fiery hellscape. 
 
    Stepping through from the Infernal Reaches came Targelan, a Duke of the Reaches. The eight-foot scarlet-skinned demon sniffed in disdain as he took in the surroundings. The black plate armour he wore provided great protection but was hardly comfortable. The Sathanite noble preferred diplomacy and manipulation as his tools of war, but he could get his hands dirty like the best of them when it was required. 
 
    “How dare you profane this holy place, demon,” one of the braver of the four guards screamed at Targelan’s arrival. 
 
    Those were his last words as the demon raised his hand in the guard’s direction and a gout of flame burst from his palm and engulfed the doomed guard’s head. His wordless screams replaced the echoes of the sound of the portal opening.  
 
    His three companions instantly determined not to make the same mistake and give the demon any warning of their intent. 
 
    Two of them, the pair who had dropped their polearms, pulled swords from their sheaths and rushed the demon. Only to find Targelan was armed in kind and a far superior swordsman. Three parries and two unerring thrusts later and the pair were choking to death as they drowned in their own blood. 
 
    The final guardian had regained his footing and Targelan stared at him calmly. “Shall we?” he asked with a cruel smirk on his lips, showing off the rows of white serrated teeth like a shark. 
 
    The last guardian. A pragmatic fellow, known as Bill to his friends, had only taken a position as a ceremonial guard at one of the Divine Lord Timian’s temples as it was supposed to be a safe gig with regular pay. Nobody was stupid enough to piss off the God of Prophecy by causing a ruckus in one of his temples. 
 
    No one but a pants-shittingly scary demon, of course. 
 
    Bill turned tail and ran from the meditation antechamber. He didn’t stop until he made it to his local boozer and pawned his armour to fund a week-long beer-fuelled bender. By the Lord’s, he needed it, and it wasn’t like he was ever going back to that bloody temple again. Screw that job, all he wanted was to forget about the place. 
 
    Targelan chuckled at the departing form of Bill and put away the poisoned dart he’d been about to flick at the exposed nape of the man’s neck. Targelan was a firm believer that the application of common sense should be appropriately rewarded, and it wasn’t like he was ever coming back to this bloody temple again. He had a job to do before he could leave and forget about the place. 
 
    He strode over to the oblivious old man and struck off his head with a single swipe of his blade. Mortan’s wizened head with its scraggly beard rolled away and Targelan hopped back to avoid the spurts of arterial blood and stepped back through the portal. The wisps of Mortan’s soul were drawn into the portal with Targelan, and he inhaled them deeply, sighing with pleasure as power and knowledge flooded into him. The souls of the depraved had the choicest taste to them. 
 
    With a snap of his fingers, the demon closed the portal. He wanted to sever any connection to the Realms as quickly as possible. The place seemed to breed naivety. In its people and its deities. 
 
    This High Priest had been a fool to place his faith in a god who was clearly bereft of morals. Not that the old bastard had an overabundance of morals himself. Still, Mortan had known what Timian planned to do with the child seers. The despicable old man had gathered the unfortunates himself and gloried in the ruination and death of potential future rivals. 
 
    That he couldn’t, therefore, see the precariousness of the position that left him in, stumped Targelan. 
 
    Almost as much as Timian’s foolish assumption that the Infernal Lords would let him join them in the Proving Grounds with his prophetic abilities unhindered. 
 
    Of course, delaying his visit here by half an hour and allowing the godling a small advantage was Targelan’s idea, not the Princeps.  
 
    The greater the carnage, the greater the opportunities for those with the prudence to sidestep the furore. It was time for him to eke out what advantage he could for himself in the turmoil that was sure to come. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 6 
 
      
 
    The prelude was about to commence. The seconds were ticking down to exactly one hour from the Divine Challenge. 
 
    The seclusion of my final opponents was almost over. 
 
    All the entrances to my dungeon except the original, sited in the heart of the Alpha compound, had been dissolved. This included the original entrances to Nessa’s, Jen’Zadeer’s, and Tamara’s dungeons. They would only have one way to get in and without those other dungeon entrances being present we removed one avenue of uncertainty. Our adversaries wouldn’t be able to evade my welcoming committee by showing up on the other side of the Proving Grounds. 
 
    Thankfully, we were fully aware of their chosen arrival location, it was roughly half a mile away from the entrance. Outside the compound’s encircling walls and in the forest that surrounded the glade. 
 
    Had the timeframe not been severely restricted by Jezebel’s attempts to take my life, I would have moved the location of our last stand. Created a new custom-built camp at the very edge of the Proving Grounds boundary. One as far as was acceptable from the City. That would have made it as difficult as possible for any fallen challengers to make it back to us. 
 
    Alas, it was not to be. 
 
    Without those extra weeks to gather coin and fund the relocation, I would have had to do it using my current warchest. And that would mean weaker defenders. We’d have to rely on Torvald and the Pennant volunteers to get the job done at their end. 
 
    We’d gathered in the Viewing Lounge and settled into the leather couches with drinks in hand. Understandably, all my disciples were present and that did mean things were a little crowded. I had Krista on one knee and Jessamyn on the other with Fiadh sitting on the floor between my legs. Yanna and Yuni, the twin catgirls, had draped themselves over the back of my couch and were purring pleasently in my ears. Despite the circumstances of this gathering, I was extremely cosy and satisfied. 
 
    However, there was an understandable air of tension in the room that spoiled the festive atmosphere for many. Our fates were on the line and regardless of my indefatigable confidence, which I transmitted to my mates via our bond, most couldn’t help but return their feelings of nervousness in the same manner. They had faith in me, Defeating Jezebel as we had only cemented that trust. But a twinge of uneasiness before you risked your life, irrespective of the circumstances, was only natural. 
 
    The viewer was aimed at the correct spot and silence descended across the room as the enemy slowly materialised in the forest. They were a series of hazy outlines at first, which gradually solidified until there was a final shimmer. It was as if the focus sharpened giving us full clarity. 
 
    When the process completed, and the full array of what we faced became clear, there was a round of gasped inhalations from my mates. 
 
    “That is a lot of delvers,” Jessamyn lightly gulped. 
 
    “So many,” The catgirl twins hissed with disgust in unison. 
 
    Alyssa cleared her throat to get everyone’s attention and tapped lightly on a tablet connected to my DDD, analysing the data it had been recording from the moment of their arrival. “There are two hundred and ten to be precise. A classic good news-bad news scenario. The good news, many of the Divine Lords have stayed away. Only Timian, Kriger…” 
 
    A low growl coming from Fiadh kneeling on the floor interrupted Alyssa. 
 
    Krista leaned down and rubbed the berserker woman’s shoulder. “Don’t you worry, my dear. That wretched specimen of cruelty will get what’s coming to him.” 
 
    By now everyone was aware of the sadistic curse Kriger had inflicted upon Fiadh. One that I had managed to cleanse. 
 
    “Yes, he will. Daxas will see to it,” Alyssa continued to a round of agreement from the other women in the room. I didn’t mind others speaking for me in this regard, as I had every intention of following through on the promise they made on my behalf. 
 
    “Timian, Kriger, and Garvax are the only Divine Lord representatives. Unfortunately, they have been joined by all seven Princeps of the Dark Reaches who do not usually bother to participate. Not with the hatred between the two groups being as strong as it is. Congratulations my love, you have become a unifying force,” Alyssa joked. 
 
    “I fucking hope not,” I chuckled. “We want those bastards at one another’s throats.” 
 
     “I think we have little to fear in that regard,” Jessamyn interjected and pointed at the viewer. 
 
    There were sixty-three divine lords and champions. Each was bedecked in brightly glittering armour, pristine cloaks, with tabards of blazing white and other gentle pastel colours. They sneered with contempt at their demonic allies. 
 
    The demons in contrast had donned armour in an array of red and black shades, many despoiled with grime and blood. They made lewd gestures in the divine champion’s direction as both groups separated quickly and kept with their own kind. 
 
    “Indeed. And as we knew they would, they have come with their True Minds, which means they get their own avatars instead of assuming control of one of their champions. Despite that, ten lordly participants is actually on the low side. There ends the good news.” 
 
    Alyssa paused before continuing. “Our old friend the Arbiter has made some…allowances for them.” 
 
    I sat forward and almost accidentally deposited Jessamyn and Krista on the floor. My hands were quick, though, and I wrapped them around their waists and held them in place. “Wait! The deal we struck meant that he has to keep his little bitch ass out of my business,” I growled angrily. 
 
    “Sadly, he has found a way around that,” Tenzing contributed from behind the leather couches. 
 
    “How has he managed that?” Nessa practically snarled. 
 
    Tenzing gave her a wounded look and she mouthed the word sorry back at him. He nodded back his appreciation at her apology and continued. “While the bargain we struck covers your dungeon and its interactions with adventurers, Daxas. It did not include the Lords, as they were not present in the Proving Grounds when the bargain was struck. Provided his dictates relate to them specifically, and not to you, it technically remains within his purview.” 
 
    “Bugger!” I grunted. 
 
    Alyssa picked the baton back up and continued with her explanation. “It was too much to hope that the enemy would fail to learn from you, darling. 
 
    “To this end, the Arbiter has decreed that as they are facing four dungeons in one challenge, the Lords may bring separate champions for all four. Instead of the usual five champions each, they have brought along twenty. Ten Lords means two hundred champions, plus their ten avatars which makes two hundred and ten. 
 
    “Actually, we should probably thank Jezebel for shortening the time frame. Had we been allowed those extra weeks we would have undoubtedly added another three, maybe four dungeons to our ranks. Then we could have been facing more than four hundred of these bastards.” 
 
    Tenzing made a humming and hawing sound as he thought something over. “I believe there is an exploitable flaw here.” 
 
    “Would you look at that, my blue buddy is all grown up. I’m so proud,” I teased him good-naturedly. “Lay it on us, Tenzing. We could do with a dollop of good news.” 
 
    “This change of his is linked to the presence of the Lords in the Proving Grounds. I think we can use that. Under normal circumstances, if the commanding champion inhabited by a Lord, or one of the Princeps for that matter, is slain it does not affect the status of the others. However, if the Lord in question no longer existed, then this new rule of his should no longer apply.” 
 
    “I like where you’re going with this, buddy. If we kill one of these assholes, which we’re planning to do anyway, then their extra helpers should be pulled along with them.” 
 
    “Indeed, Daxas. With your permission, I shall go and petition the Entity directly.” 
 
    “Of course. Go make our case, Tenzing.” 
 
    Tenzing nodded to me and smiled. He took a reflexive breath, ready to take his leave but Alyssa interrupted him as she hurried across the room. 
 
    “A moment, brother.” 
 
    When she reached Tenzing, Alyssa whispered something in his big, blue ears and my mentor smiled widely showing his teeth. Despite my super hearing, I couldn’t hear what she said. Alyssa could block me out if she wished. 
 
    Before I could ask Tenzing closed his eyes, and he blinked out of the room with a small popping sound. 
 
    “What was that about?” I quizzed her. 
 
    “You’ll see,” she shot back with an air of mystery. 
 
    “Alyssa!” 
 
    “It’s a surprise, Daxas.” 
 
    “Is this really the time?” I complained. 
 
    “Let her have some fun, Husband,” Jessamyn urged me. “Alyssa has never let us down. She won’t now.” 
 
    Casting my eyes around the room none of my mates jumped to my defence. It was going to be like that, was it. The downside of a harem is that you are always outnumbered. I’ll admit the upsides more than made up for the occasional irritation. 
 
    “Fine,” I grumped, not entirely happy that I was being double-teamed and denied. “Let’s take a closer look at who we’ll be up against.” 
 
    I motioned for Alyssa to retake her position in front of the viewer. She strutted smartly back into position and tapped on her tablet. Seven fresh screens appeared overlaid on the larger one. Each focused on one of the infernals. 
 
    “These are the Princeps of the Infernal Reaches. Dread Shabbarth, Olganeth the Grizzled, Tharzus Soulblight, and Mutilation Magros are the self-styled Cornerstone Kings. Not because they are any more vital than the other three, but because they all ascended from the Sathanite nobility of the Reaches. The master race of infernal culture. Consequently, they look down on the others, not viewing them as true Princeps. Next, we have Tir’Goran Six-Winged of the Eyrie who rules Imp-kind. Bulmaras warrior-general of the Brutes and finally Thorzoth the Vain, lord of the Incubi.” 
 
    My eyes roved over each of them in turn. Shabbarth had the classical devil look going on for him. Red-skinned, with foot-long black horns adorning his head. The popular image of Satan or Tim Curry’s Lord of Darkness from Legend. His fanged mouth was seemingly permanently stuck in a cruel smirk. He cut an imposing figure pushing eight feet in height, not including the horns, with a massive sword almost as long strapped to his back. 
 
    Olganeth was physically similar to Shabbarth except his skin was ash-grey and crisscrossed with scarring or wrinkling like a prune. Unlike the others, he wore little visible armour but had dozens of small blades in sheaths strapped to him. 
 
    Tharzus Soulblight had green skin and was shorter than his fellow Cornerstone Kings by at least a foot. His horns were twisted, and his flesh was pocked with sores and scabs. 
 
    Mutilation Magros was probably the most visually intimidating of the Sathanite foursome. His skin complexion was pale, and he was probably half a foot taller than any of the others. He had a fat, distended belly, with jiggling jowls and broken tusks jutting up from his lower jaw. On his shoulder, he carried a huge cleaver covered in blood and gobbets of viscera. He regularly slapped his belly, covered by an oilskin butcher’s apron, to punctate whatever bawdy joke he was making to his comrades. 
 
    Tir’Goran the imp Princeps was the tallest of them all. Ten feet at least, maybe eleven. However, his frame was bone thin, almost skeletal with a black skin covering. He had three pairs of wings that protruded from his back which he flapped whenever he thought somebody got too close. From the negative reaction of those nearby, the flapping had to produce some kind of noxious effect. 
 
    Bulmaras lived up to his breed. Thick, stocky, and made of muscle with a wide snout that gave him a demonic piggish look. However, his yellow eyes never stopped moving, examining, and assessing. This was no mindless animal to be dismissed. My instincts were pinging warning shots across all my neurons. 
 
    The Brute Lord was one to watch, perhaps even the most dangerous of them all. Not to be underestimated. 
 
    On the Infernal side of the road that just left Thorzoth the Vain. At first, I thought he almost looked like an extremely handsome human man, but I shook my head, focused, and whatever illusory power he used was pushed aside. Behind the veneer, he was exceedingly unimpressive. Barely six feet tall, with light red skin, and two small nubbin-like horns protruding from his forehead. His hair was unkempt, teeth filthy, and all sense of personal hygiene was long gone. 
 
    I could only presume Thorzoth had grown entirely reliant on his illusory power to present himself as an impeccable and handsome devil. Perhaps he used it to fool even himself. 
 
    It was at that point I picked up on some of the appreciative murmurs from my mates. That the slick mind-fucker could affect them even from afar sent a surge of unquenchable anger through me. 
 
    Jessamyn picked up on my sudden wrath and leaned back into me. She took my jaw in her dainty hand and guided my gaze back to her. “Only you,” she whispered and kissed me on the lips. 
 
    My alpha mate’s reassurance reforged the fury in my heart. Soon it was redirected and reshaped with purpose. My will and intent pulsed outward from me and into my mates via our bond and the incubus’ vile influence was shattered. 
 
    “Yeuch! Would you look at those teeth,” Jen’Zadeer said with distaste. “I thought Incubi were supposed to be alluring to women.” 
 
    She wasn’t the only one to make similar comments and Jessamyn grinned back up at me and patted the side of my face. It was interesting that once Thorzoth’s influence had been broken, even the memory of how it once made them feel was purged. Regardless of that curiosity, he would have to be dealt with quickly. Half of my life-seeded mobs were female, and I couldn’t protect them from his mind fuckery in the same way I had for my mates just now. 
 
    Most of the champions they had brought mirrored their Princeps in shape and type, albeit usually a bit smaller and slightly less impressive looking than their leaders. The biggest exception was that some of the Incubi champions sported a pair of bat-like wings sprouting from their backs. 
 
    I sent a quick message to Torvald who was commanding the emergence pool contingent to expect some fliers. Including a few suggestions on how to deal with them. 
 
    On the other side of the road, the three Divine Lords and their retinues had assembled. They were a stark contrast to their demonic allies. 
 
    Firstly, the three of them, Timian, Garvax, and Kriger all looked remarkably normal. Almost human, in fact. Their skin shone with an unnatural burnished glow, but apart from that, they didn’t look dissimilar from a trio of guys who spent too many hours in their local gym. Kriger stood out with a shock of carrot-red hair. Timian was blonde and blue-eyed, every inch the popular alpha-Chad type and Garvax a rather non-descript brown haired man with a sour expression. 
 
    Their champions, on the other hand, were a menagerie of what the Realms had to offer. There were a few of the usual suspects, elves, dwarves, and orcs, but also some from species I’d not encountered here in the Proving Grounds. Two nine-foot ogres and a white-scaled, winged draconic man. 
 
    “The draconic champion is Braxtor,” Alyssa informed me. “Very dangerous. They always bring him when they are going for the jugular during a challenge. Few dragons have ever been bound to a humanoid form permanently and to the best of my knowledge, Braxtor is the only one who did so willingly. 
 
    “While these champions are copies of the originals and not the real thing, the entity insisted they keep their true personalities, and each had to be unique. Which is just as well. Thirty more like Braxtor on top of everything else could have been more than we could handle. The ogres are called Grolth and Mugu. As a pair, they are a match for Braxtor. The rest are capable fighters but those three are the standouts. 
 
    “Unfortunately, due to the scarcity of their participation, I have little insight to give about the infernal champions, though at first look, there does not appear to be any surprises.” 
 
    “Well, I think we are about to find out,” Eina said, and Alyssa turned around to see what she was referring to. 
 
    My naiad disciple was correct. The infernal’s posturing and jockeying for position amongst one another was at an end. They had spotted movement on the ramparts surrounding Alpha compound and their bloodlust was ignited. There was mortal meat to be had and they were chomping at the bit to get a taste. 
 
    The seven Princeps looked at one another, distrust and barely concealed contempt plain, but a wordless agreement was reached, and the reins were released. With a cacophony of howls, growls, snarls, and roars, most of the demons shot off at break-neck speed towards the compound and the awaiting defenders. 
 
    Only the seven Princeps and their honour guards remained. 
 
    “Don’t get any foolish ideas, little godlings,” Shabbarth barked at Timian and his followers who had maintained better discipline. “I may despise my brothers for their weakness and they me for outshining them. But be under no illusions. That disposition pales in comparison to the loathing we bear for your kind. You are here on sufferance. If you show sufficient obedience, maybe, we’ll let you have a few discarded scraps from our table.” 
 
    A round of snickering and coughed laughter followed Shabbarth’s pronouncement as the infernals and their entourage began to casually stroll after their main force. 
 
    The look of impotent rage on Timian’s face was priceless. His greed had got the better of him. If he had brought more of the other Lords with him then he wouldn’t have been so seriously outnumbered and effectively impotent. But then he would have had to share the spoils with them. 
 
    My heart bled for him. It really did. Not. 
 
    There were a few concerned looks from within the ranks of his champions that the great Lord Timian seemed to be willing to eat whatever shit the infernals doled out. To be honest I was a bit surprised he hadn’t reacted a little more aggressively myself. But on second thought, Timian was nothing if not a plotter. Something virtually confirmed as soon as the infernals were out of earshot. 
 
    “Lord Timian,” Braxtor started in a gravelly voice. 
 
    Timian put his hand up to cut off whatever he had been about to say. “Not. A. Word. It’s all in hand. Just be ready to act when I say. We shall stay back here until the last second. Let our friends deal with the welcoming committee that awaits them within those walls.” 
 
    As he finished the sourpuss expression on Timian’s face was replaced by a maliciously gleeful one. 
 
    So, he knew about the ambush by the guild awaiting them and was letting the infernals walk heedlessly into it. This was both welcome news and worrisome.  
 
    Welcome for obvious reasons. Worrisome because I didn’t like the idea of Timian being aware of my plans in any shape, manner, or form. Although given Tamara’s recent bout with him, I shouldn’t be overly surprised that he had gleaned some forewarning of what we were doing. Hopefully, the longer this went on, the less he would know. 
 
    Those worries were pressed into the background as the big screen shifted perspective. The demons had made it to the walls. The first phase of the final battle was about to begin. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 7 
 
      
 
    The swarm of infernal champions approached the gates of Alpha Compound in a fever pitch of battle fury. My people would be facing roughly one hundred and twenty enemy combatants. Thirty of which, eighteen imps and the rest winged sathanites and incubi, could fly over the walls, ignoring the defenders commanded by Pacclo on the walls. 
 
    Meanwhile, the ground-based force battered themselves into the outer gate or started to claw their way up the wall. The demon’s claws scored deep gouges into the thick granite bricks of the walls. 
 
    The gates held strong, they bowed but did not break. At least, not from this initial attack. The fliers swooped into the courtyard, screaming their high-pitched and disturbing war cries for all to hear. It’s as if they thought my people might be unaware they were coming and wanted to instil fear in their victims. 
 
    During my planning phase, I’d been hoping they would throw themselves at us so recklessly. There were no specific aerial defences in place, I had some installed in the dungeon and didn’t want to give them away early. However, the guilds and my topside girls were ready. They poked their heads out from the multitude of windows in the buildings around the compound and unleashed a hail of crossbow bolts into the troop of flying demons that were landing. 
 
    Most of the bolts were either evaded or bounced off armour unable to penetrate and deal any piercing damage. But the bolts weren’t completely ineffective, they had been enchanted with various shades of elemental damage. I suspected some of it was being resisted, but the occasional grimaces of discomfort on the faces of the enemy meant part of it was getting through and starting to wear them down. 
 
    Outside the courtyard, Pacclo issued the order and the wall defenders tipped cauldrons of boiling oil on the huddled demons as they prepared themselves for a second shoulder barge into the creaking outer gate. The creatures laughed as they were slathered in the scalding substance and stuck their tongues out to lap up the liquid, smacking their lips in feigned gastronomic pleasure. 
 
    Their enjoyment had to be an act, as the viscous liquid we tipped on them wasn’t an edible kind of oil, and I doubted it had a pleasant taste even if it didn’t scorch their tongues and throats. 
 
    A high resistance, if not complete immunity to sources of heat damage, was not exactly a surprise for these hell-born monstrosities. The cauldrons of oil had been put in place primarily to target the divine warriors who had been held back. As we wouldn’t get a chance to try it on them, it was worth a shot coating the infernals instead even if it proved ineffective. The guild defenders would get no criticism from me on that front. 
 
    Unfortunately, the walls weren’t that tall in the grand scheme of things and the climbing infernals made it up to the ramparts very quickly and engaged with Pacclo and the guild members manning the walls. There was not much room up there and the melee fights were practically one-on-one. Even after my gifts, the adventurers were horribly outmatched and the infernals carved through them with frightening ferocity. They tore limbs from bodies and hurled defeated opponents from the walls in all directions. 
 
    The jaguar-man bobbed and weaved, his scimitars stabbing and slicing any opportune target. Several times he was forced to dance agilely across the crenelated wall to avoid the claws of an infernal. Sadly, most of those under his command had neither the stats nor skills to match the cat-kin man’s deftness and fell victim to their monstrous opponents. 
 
    Some of those firing ranged weapons from inside the buildings turned their attention to the beasts currently destroying their comrades with frightening efficiency. 
 
    Using the DDD, I opened a channel and broadcast my voice to the compound. 
 
    “Keep targeting the fliers. Ignore those who have already made it to the top of the wall.” 
 
    “Heavens fall! Look at what those monsters are doing to them,” Marie, one of my three freshest disciples who was sitting beside me gulped. “I know many of those men well. They are good dungeoneers. Experienced, competent, and boosted to rank one hundred to boot. They are being torn apart like straw dolls. How in the hells are we supposed to stop these bastards?” 
 
    My newest disciples had only been with us for the equivalent of a couple of weeks and missed some of the briefings we’d held over the years. Jessamyn reached over and hugged the shaken woman. 
 
    “Fear not, Marie,” she reassured her. “They are powerful, but not unbeatable. Look closely, do you see that slightly flickering dark purple nimbus the attacking infernals are surrounded by?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “That denotes they have activated a spell similar to the Blood Rage which has significantly boosted their combat proficiency. It’s a special blended spell we expect most of the infernal champions to have taken called Sundered Hate.” 
 
    “Blended? What does that mean?” Marie asked, her fear being replaced by inquisitiveness. 
 
    Alyssa absent-mindedly answered the question for Jessamyn and Marie while most of her attention was rapt on the battle. 
 
    “The Lords negotiated for a few special spells only their champions could take. Blending spells from different schools into a single overpowered spell. Sundered Hate combines three spells, one from the Infernal and two from the Destruction schools. It takes the stat-boosting and duration elements of Blood Rage, the limb severing effect from Vorpal Weapon and the disabling of damage reduction granted by worn armour from Greater Armour Breaker. The divine champions have something similar called Blessed Strike. It’s much the same but it uses Bless instead of Blood Rage. Greatly increasing their sanctified damage.” 
 
    “That doesn’t make me feel much better,” Marie complained when Alyssa finished her explanation. 
 
    “Don’t worry,” Jessamyn said and stroked some stray hair behind her ears. “The ethereal entity always demands balance. The spells are very powerful, yes, but the mana required to cast them matches that power. Leaving them with little leftover for anything else. Sundered Hate and Blessed Strike also have a ninety-minute cooldown between casts. They will have to be very selective about when they use it when inside the dungeon. And we have a few strategies up our sleeve that could render them defunct which we are saving for later. We can’t give those strategies away before they get inside though, can we?” 
 
    “Plus,” I added to the conversation with a hint of malicious glee. “The daft fuckers outthought themselves.” 
 
    “Huh?” 
 
    “When the Lords negotiated these exceptions to the spell lists available, it was specific to their champions. They didn’t think to include themselves, assuming they would never be here in the flesh, so to speak. None of the Princep assholes, Timian, Kriger, or Garvax could take them.” 
 
    Marie settled down, much happier to know our cause wasn’t hopeless, and the group’s attention went back to the big screen. 
 
    A few more missiles had been launched in the direction of the infernals atop the battlements, but they had trickled away, and our archers returned to targeting the flying combatants. The enemy fliers had split up and were making it difficult for the archers to hit them. The imps in particular were fast and agile, making turns and aerial manoeuvres like a starling, rather than something the size of a large but thin humanoid. 
 
    Down on the ground, the battering horde had forced their way through the outer gates and surged into the gatehouse courtyard. The portcullis barring the inner gateway was down and they rushed it without thought. Their claws and even a few tentacles grasped the bars and forced it upwards. 
 
    I opened a second localised communications channel directly by the ear of the halfling Piotr. He’d been embedded in the loft of the gatehouse ready to unleash the next surprise. 
 
    “Piotr, they are inside the gatehouse. Drop the vats and then make your escape quickly. You will not like what is coming next. The outer walls are your best bet to avoid getting turned into paste.” 
 
    The young man jumped a bit from fright but hastened to obey my order. “Yes, Sir,” he answered crisply and pulled the lever he’d been gripping tightly in anticipation of this moment. 
 
    The mechanism released a catch to a series of brown glass jars that were tipped inwards and deposited their liquid contents, concentrated sulphuric acid, on the mass of demons below. 
 
    The squeals of shock, pain, and anger told me they didn’t enjoy the acid rain as they had the one made of oil moments earlier. In part, we had dumped the searing hot oil on them to lull them into a false sense of security. Convince them we had failed to adequately prepare for beasts of their nature. 
 
    As the acid did its work, Piotr dropped a coil of rope through a porthole only he was small enough to squeeze through and started to lower himself to the ground. His escape was delayed by a couple of seconds as the shock of seeing Pacclo’s headless body fly past the porthole. Once his platoon of defenders had dwindled even Pacclo with the inherent grace of a cat couldn’t evade multiple infernals with insanely boosted stats. 
 
    The delay meant Piotr only made it about halfway down before I was forced to enact the next part of the defence plan. All the other defenders on the battlements of that front-facing wall had been slain and the infernals who had despatched them were about to descend into the compound. 
 
    There were quite a few restrictions on what I was allowed to buy and install when adventurers or others were present in the locations I wanted to adapt. So many, in fact, as to make it virtually useless as a tactic. 
 
    Trying to add extra walls, traps, or gates while anyone was in the vicinity simply would not work. However, the rules regarding what I could remove when they were present left me a little more room to work with. 
 
    Alyssa tapped her tablet as we watched, and the entire forward-facing wall and gatehouse shimmered and then disappeared. The demons atop the wall now found themselves with no surface to stand on. Without purchase, they couldn’t gain any traction that would propel them into the compound, and they plummeted straight down instead. 
 
    The fall was a mere fifty feet, not enough to do any damage to fighters equipped as they were. Sadly, for them, but not us, I had made alterations to what lay beneath the wall’s foundations before the attack began. A trench thirty feet deep had been excavated and the walls of this trench had been reinforced with smooth titanium walls to maintain the structure’s stability. 
 
    At the base of the trench was a glass trough filled to the brim with more pungent, and recently proven to be quite effective, concentrated sulphuric acid. Most of the infernals on the walls, barring a couple, were unable to grab hold of the rim or angle their fall to avoid being dropped into the trap. 
 
    They plunged into the acid, screaming with unabated fury and discomfort. The smooth titanium of the walls was not stone and successfully resisted any attempts from their frantic clawing to penetrate the surface and give them the required leverage to escape the acidic trench. 
 
    Piotr, who hadn’t made it all the way down the rope, dropped like a stone and landed on his arse with an oof sound as air escaped his lungs in stunned astonishment. He was quick to get back on his feet, though, and canny enough to pull the remnants of his rope out of the trench, lest an angry demon managed to grab hold of it and pull him in or themselves up. He swiftly scarpered into the forest before any of the back rank of the mob at the gatehouse spotted him. 
 
    That mob remained mostly intact. I hadn’t been able to set the same fall trap beneath the swarmed mass in the gatehouse, more’s the pity. The walls had been solid and rested on either side of the excavated trench which was something I couldn’t do for the gatehouse. But the sudden disappearance of the walls at the sides that had hemmed them in did cause a few of them to lose their balance and tumble into the acid-filled trenches on either side. 
 
    The front rank that had been trying to haul the portcullis up fell forward after its sudden disappearance and were then trampled by their fellows as those behind charged over them into the cobbled compound. 
 
    Using the communications channel that covered the whole complex I barked a simple command. 
 
    “Maids, attack!” 
 
    Following my orders, the battle maids in their skimpy bramour outfits were the first to rush out of every available building. Their short swords gleamed wickedly in the permanent summer sunshine of the forest glade. 
 
    Under normal circumstances, I wouldn’t order my army to give up the tactical advantage that occupying buildings afforded. But the infernals were too fast and too strong. They’d get inside with ease and then the close-quarters nature of the fighting would rob the guild and my battle maids of their singular advantage. 
 
    Numbers. 
 
    The ability to surround and overwhelm, especially now that the enemy ‘formation’ was in such disarray. 
 
    On a separate viewing screen, we could see that Shabbarth, and his fellow Princeps had caught wind that something was up with the unexpected disappearance of the front wall. They were already speeding up and running towards the battle. Unless they were complete morons, which was possible, albeit unlikely. They would order the fliers to descend into the trenches and ferry out those languishing in the acid bath and slowly dissolving within. The addition of a swirling grand melee would make any attempts at that kind of organisation more difficult. 
 
    Especially when I started pumping out some Lamb of God metal music at maximum volume where they would be standing. 
 
    Throughout this, I couldn’t help but notice the creepy and smug smile on Timian’s face. 
 
    That bastard knew what would happen to the infernals during the attack. 
 
    His silence on the matter wouldn’t earn him any sympathy from me, though. He and his brethren were going down in the worst way I could manage. 
 
    The battle-maids made contact with the enemy, slashing, distracting, and using their acrobatic skills to try and get close. Their demonic opponents were a fair match for their grace and athleticism. The maids sold their lives dearly. A maid would be bisected or clubbed to death so that one of her sisters could get close enough and stab her weapon into the gaps of an infernal’s armour. 
 
    Their attacks were getting through, weakening the enemy, but the cost was so great the attack would dwindle and peter out too quickly to have any long-term effect. Not a single infernal had fallen and failed to rise back up. But there was more to come from our ambushing army. 
 
    “Now, Simeon!” 
 
    “The Dark Moon! The Dark Moon!” The halfling guild chief roared at the top of his lungs as he led the second assault with Thrasher and Yorsashi flanking him to watch his back. 
 
    The cry was taken up and joined by others. “For the Sons!” came from Nel’Van and his kin on the other side of the compound. “The Wolf’s Fang!” from the orcs who rushed out with the dark elves and even a “Fuck those rotten grot-licking Lords!” from a particularly enthusiastic Arash. Slightly ironic, coming from him, as he, Sindar, plus a few other selected superior marksmen would be staying put indoors and trying to keep the ranged pressure on the continued flying threat. 
 
    Speaking of the flying threat, I happened to have a rather devious idea pop into my head as I watched them swoop around and dive bomb at the freshest charge. They were trying to disrupt it and give their ground-based allies longer to slaughter my battle maids who would remain engaged until the reinforcements arrived to relieve them. 
 
    An idea that would not impact any defences already in the dungeon. 
 
    I could effortlessly utilise the DDD mentally these days and made the preparation promptly. Seconds later, I’d used a few hundred gold coins we had left in reserve to purchase a very heavily weighted mesh net. Several hundred square metres worth. I couldn’t materialise it anywhere close to where the adventurers or champions were present, but I didn’t need to. That’s what the ton’s worth of weighting was for. 
 
    A quarter of a mile up would be sufficiently far away. The net would create a bit of drag as it fell, still, it ought to only take ten to fifteen seconds to cover the distance between where the net came into being and the flying infernals below. Which should be just long enough. 
 
    “Guild members! Disengage and back up to the building,” I ordered into the courtyard. 
 
    My battle maids stayed in the melee and held their ground as most of the bewildered guild warriors backed up as commanded. Confused as they had only just engaged the enemy. A few had lost their heads, figuratively, and ignored my order, although they would likely lose them literally as well quite quickly by themselves. 
 
    The infernals roared with bloodlust and delight, tearing apart my brave battle maids, believing they had the guild warriors on the run. Then the mesh reached the courtyard at terminal velocity and the roars of victory transformed into cries of frustrated rage. 
 
    The first and intended targets were the fliers. Only a handful of them, those who pursued the retreating guild warriors avoided being caught up as the netting fell to the earth. Three-quarters of them were tangled in the mesh and were slammed into the ground or on top of the other infernals hard. Their wings were incapable of keeping them aloft with the unexpected added force and weight. 
 
    One of the poor bastards was brained on the skull by a hundred-kilogram weight travelling at several hundred miles per hour. I don’t care what protective measures you may have taken, that is going to hurt. 
 
    “Back into the fray!” I ordered over the DDD, and the guild warriors responded admirably to the shock that came from the tactical shift. 
 
    “Always making it up on the fly,” Simeon grumbled as he waved his short sword forward, pointing at the enmeshed infernals struggling to adapt, and led his squad in a charge. “Get ‘em.” 
 
    Short, simple, and to the point. The words a bit like the man who uttered them, I thought. Although knowing Simeon as I do, he’d take exception to all three observations. 
 
    The guild warriors ran back into the melee. The wire mesh didn’t hold the infernals for long and quite a few of them had cut their way through by the time the guild faithful swarmed over them. They were still impeded by the netting, though, being bigger, Claws and weapons also got caught on the parts of the mesh that hadn’t been severed and were hindered. Especially the fliers whose wings would get tangled and hold them back. 
 
    With their speed compromised, Simeon, Nel’Van, Ferash, and their assembled host had a much better time of it during the second charge. 
 
    They weren’t harried from the skies as the few remaining flying infernals were recalled by the Princeps who had reached the edge of the compound at the same time the mesh had landed. They were ordered into the trenches to attempt the rescue of the twenty or more dissolving demons. 
 
    I leaned forward on the leather couch, my gaze intent on the unfolding battle. Things were at a pivotal point, and it almost looked like the guilds were going to overwhelm the infernals that had been caught up in the mesh. 
 
    The infernals may have been stronger and they were almost one-shotting many of the adventurers buffed as they were by Sundered Hate. But the guilds started the day with more than two thousand soldiers, whenever one fell their place was taken by another. And it’s not like when they got past the infernal’s defences they weren’t hurting them. There was power behind their attacks. 
 
    “They’re going to do it,” Nessa squealed with glee and bounced up and down on the couch. “They’re going to wipe all these demonic fuckers out.” 
 
    Alas, her optimism was misplaced. 
 
    The Princeps glared imperiously at the swirling mass of blood and carnage. 
 
    “Together?” Shabbarth asked, sounding almost bored. 
 
    “If we must,” Tharzus Soulblight remarked with feigned disinterest. 
 
    “Yes,” Tir’Goran Six-Winged snapped irritably. The imp lord’s impatience did not surprise me, it was mostly his champions that were getting hacked to pieces by my adventurer followers. 
 
    As a group the seven raised their arms, palms facing outward, and balls of crackling plasma came into existence. The plasma balls shot forward and expanded rapidly as they flew the short distance to the grand melee and exploded above the mass of warring bodies. 
 
    The explosion caused by the seven spells was tremendous. Two shockwaves emanated from the fiery centre. The first made up of compressed air slammed the bodies of those fighting, into the blood-slicked cobblestones. However, most of the explosive force from the plasma wave went laterally and collided with the guild buildings and walls of the compound causing massive amounts of damage to the structures inside the compound. 
 
    Most of the buildings shuddered and collapsed from the force like a house of cards. Rosie, Arash, and Sindar along with a few of the other ranged attackers inside were buried in the destruction. The walls, being a solid ten feet thick, fared better and did not fall, but significant cracks and fissures spidered across the surface. 
 
    The Princeps weren’t spared the effect of their magical attack and they were thrown from their feet, embarrassed, but otherwise likely unharmed as most of the energy was displaced over their heads. 
 
    The second fiery shockwave was made up of the superheated nature of the plasma explosion that had been directed downwards into the fighters crushed into the ground. The flames stormed across the cobbles, over the crumbled guild buildings and licked at the edges of the cracked walls before petering out. 
 
    The effect on the battle was world-ending for my guild warriors. The crushing damage would have hurt, but the intensity of the flames roasted most of them alive. I could see the crisped body of Simeon atop an infernal that struggled to get back on its feet. Simeon’s partially melted short sword jutted from the demon’s gut. The burned bodies of Thrasher and Yorsashi lay beside the halfling chieftain. Nel’Van, Ferash, and the other guild members in the courtyard were just as dead. 
 
    The entire guild attack force had been wiped out in a single attack. Well, seven attacks combined into one. 
 
    There was stunned silence in the viewing lounge until Gadiel muttered. “Fucking overkill much.” 
 
    Alyssa tsked the foul-mouthed elf. “It was clever of them,” she noted. “They will get all their mana back for the challenge. Their fiendish minions were immune to the heat damage. They lost nothing by unleashing seven Infernal Bombs to end the war. They also have insurance to keep Sundered Hate active,” she finished and brought up a smaller fresh screen for us to view.  
 
    On screen, we could see a flustered and very afraid Piotr being flushed out of the treeline by a handful of the Princeps personal guard who had been absent from the attack on Alpha compound. They harried the young halfling but made no effort to kill him. Like Blood Rage, Sundered Hate remained active until there were no living visible enemies. 
 
    “Poor Piotr,” Krista said sympathetically as we watched him jink and scramble, his panic rising. She had been close to and had liked the young halfling a great deal when she had been an officer in the guild before joining me in the dungeon. 
 
    Tamara, who had stood up behind the couch, patted the shoulder of the vampire woman on my knee. “I think he will be alright,” she consoled. “The Princeps have miscalculated the depth of Timian’s malevolence and duplicity.” 
 
    As Tamara finished speaking a shadow from above flitted over the treetops. This was followed by a white streak as Braxtor swooped down like a shimmering dart from the heavens and skewered poor Piotr with his emblazoned lance. 
 
    The tip of the weapon connected between the halflings clavicle bone and went all the way through his body, the point burying itself into the loamy earth. The look of shock was plain on Piotr’s face and hurt flashed across his features. Then his head slumped down, hanging loosely, he was quite dead. 
 
    “Of course, ‘alright’ in this situation is a somewhat relative concept,” I quipped, smiling broadly. 
 
    The draconic warrior had landed in a crouched position, Superman style, and sprang back up to the frosty glares of the Princeps and their champions. 
 
    “What?” Braxtor rasped. “Was this not the scraps you promised us?” 
 
    With a gruff chuckle, he put his taloned foot on Piotr’s dead shoulder and pulled his lance free. A single last contemptuous look at the infernals and Braxtor launched himself back into the air, winging his way back to Timian’s side. 
 
    The reason for my smile at Piotr’s tragic demise quickly became apparent to my watching mates. All around the battlefield, the crackling sickly purple nimbus of Sundered Hate faded from the infernal champions. All due to there no longer being any visible living opponents in the vicinity and their stats suddenly returned to normal. 
 
    This meant their boosted health pools that had been keeping many of them hale and hearty returned to their pre-spell levels too. They were no longer quite so hale and certainly not hearty. 
 
    Health potions were hastily summoned and quaffed, but not all the infernal champions in the courtyard had the time or the forethought to take such action. Some of them, those being rescued from the acid pits, for example, couldn’t make use of a potion as they were holding on to, or being held by, their rescuers. 
 
    Plus, potions didn’t appear unstoppered and in your mouth. Not unless you made preparations in advance, something I would certainly be doing now that I had thought about it. 
 
    Cheering broke out around the room as more than thirty of our enemies slumped or were deposited on the ground unmoving. We had just carved away fifteen percent of the challenger’s fighting force. 
 
    Provided we managed to stop them from getting back to the dungeon entrance in time, of course. 
 
    “Torvald,” I said, opening a channel to the Blue Pennant commander leading the five hundred people we had ready to act in the City. “Get your people ready. You’re going to have incoming any minute now.” 
 
    After I’d taken a moment to think it over the only person not openly celebrating our pyrrhic victory was me. Contrary to what people might think, I found Braxtor’s last-second intervention unnerving. Mainly because he had to have been acting at Timian’s behest. 
 
    The prophetic god’s actions had been beneficial to us, but why? Timian was an arrogant prick, but he was no fool. Fewer infernal champions would make the job of completing my dungeon more difficult. What was the source of his overabundant confidence? 
 
    That fucker was plotting something. Something we hadn’t anticipated or overlooked in our own planning. For the first time in as long as I could remember there was a gnawing in my gut. 
 
    A knot of worry had found a way to worm its way into my psyche and I didn’t like it. 
 
    The only consolation was that I wouldn’t have long to wait to find out if my concern was needless or not. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Torvald, Elauthuin, and their adventurer allies had cordoned off the emergence pool area. Sadly, it was quite an open space with a wide circular perimeter made of marble flagstones and half a dozen boulevards that connected to the courtyard where the zone seven pool could be found. 
 
    They had split their forces into six teams of eighty warriors that manned very solid ten-foot barricades made of concrete that I had provided for the occasion. The guilds wheeled them into place on trolleys I had also made available. The work was mostly carried out by guild members who were hedging their bets. They wanted to be seen to help but hadn’t fully committed to the last stand against the champion’s plan I’d worked up. 
 
    Our activities had caused quite a bit of consternation amongst the City dwellers not part of my outer circle of influence. But once they found out what our intention was, they wanted to get themselves as far away as possible. So, that reduced the risk of any potential muck-makers. However, to be on the safe side we made use of those hedging adventurers and asked them to search the surrounding buildings and disperse anyone they found.  
 
    The final touch was a network of hastily prepared ropes and chains that had been tied between the barriers so that they crisscrossed over the pool. We had specifically targeted the fliers as much as possible during the battle and they made up a disproportionate number of the thirty fallen infernal champions. The preparations wouldn’t last very long, but they would prevent them from simply flying away. The first time around, at least. 
 
    The Viewing Lounge had emptied out of my disciples except for me and Alyssa. They were taking up their positions just in case the Lords tried some kind of surprise and found a way to start the challenge early. Given what had happened to Tamara, and Timian’s subsequent behaviour, I’d been spooked a little and didn’t want to take any risks. 
 
    It took ten minutes for the champions to emerge from the pool. The imp champions and one winged sathanite, as predicted, tried to fly straight upwards and flew headfirst into the chain network and entangled themselves. 
 
    The barrier crews launched a torrent of missile fire into the infernal champions who were caught by surprise. They hadn’t been expecting to arise in the City and be thrust straight back into battle. However, these creatures were bred for battle, and they adjusted quickly. The twenty landbound champions charged several of the barriers, while the ten fliers worked at either shattering the chains or trying to work their way through. 
 
    Luckily for Torvald, all these demons had already blown their biggest asset. Sundered Hate. It would still be on cooldown even if their mana and health pools had been fully replenished. Without the massive boost the spell provided, they couldn’t carve through the guild attackers with the frenzied ease they’d enjoyed during the battle of Alpha House. Nor could the imps hack their way through the solid metallic chains. 
 
    Once the landbound infernals were engaged, Torvald gestured to Elauthuin, and he and his elven companions vaulted over the barriers unmolested. The numbers were very much in their favour. Armed with javelins and spears they rushed the entangled imps, balancing themselves on the low marbled edge of the emergence pool wall. The imps, having no other choice, abandoned their attempts to either saw through the chains or worm their way through. They dropped back down into the pool and went toe-to-toe with the elven threat. 
 
    Had the selfish little buggers worked together, they could easily have freed a few of their number to return to the fold. 
 
    The combat in Emergence Square went on for almost ten minutes. At its conclusion, Elauthuin and his elves had been slaughtered but they had slain the imps in the process. None of them got away. 
 
    Torvald still stood, well, he leaned heavily against the barrier he’d been on, horrendously injured, but breathing. Most of his compatriots hadn’t made it. The dead defenders were joined by seventeen more infernal champions. But this did mean we effectively had nothing left with which to challenge them if they emerged from the pool a second time. 
 
    Only three champions had made it over the barriers. All carrying severe injuries and associated movement debuffs. 
 
    “Judging by the gait of the three escapees, only one of them will definitely make it back in time,” Alyssa commented with a grin. “The other two will be cutting it very close. It rather depends on how efficient a path they take. As for those that died again. Their resurrection time will be a minimum of thirty minutes following a second death so quickly after the first. It’s over five miles back to your dungeon. Even the fliers will be too hard-pressed to make it back before the challenge window closes. Besides, some of the fallen guild members might come out of the pool before them and reinforce Torvald.” 
 
    Nodding to what Alyssa told me I opened a channel to Torvald and quickly filled him in. 
 
    Having had time to recover some of his health with a potion the bushy-moustached man looked much better. “Understood, Daxas. We will be ready for round two.” 
 
    “Stay at range and delay them for a few minutes is all we need to be sure,” I said and closed the channel to him. 
 
    “Can you plot out the route the three who got through will likely take?” I asked Alyssa next. 
 
    “Not a problem, darling. What deviousness are you cooking up?” 
 
    “Time to give those hedge-sitting guild members one last chance. We will send them a message. Let them know where the infernal champions are going to be. Anybody that acts to slow them down will get a post-battle rank-boosting. I don’t want any of them getting back to the fold.” 
 
    “It shall be done,” she purred sexily, pushed her black-rimmed glasses up her nose and blew me a kiss. 
 
    “Temptress.” I grinned back at her. 
 
    “Always.” 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 8 
 
      
 
    My last-minute plotting was successful, and to my joy, none of the thirty infernal champions made it back in time to join the Divine Challenge. 
 
    The appointed time came and the entrance to the Wolf King’s Lair was unlocked and made available for my enemies to enter. 
 
    By now, Timian and his lackeys had joined the remaining Infernals within the rubble of the Alpha House compound. The sight of the destruction was slightly irritating, but I’d already pre-set the repairs to take place once the challenge was under way. The nature of the ethereal realm meant they would be completed rapidly. Before most of the guild even had a chance to return. 
 
    Tensions had been running high, and the false unity the Princeps presented an hour ago had already fractured and was falling apart. They had separated into their own little groups, surrounded by their personal champions. 
 
    Tir’Goran Six-Winged had suffered the greatest number of casualties. His twenty impish champions had been reduced to eleven. He and his remaining retinue were perched atop the ruins of the Firehouse, the furthest away from the others and out of reach. The Firehouse had been the tallest building in the complex and now was the largest pile of rubble. It gave him the best panoramic view of the area and would make escape easier if his brethren chose to turn on him. 
 
    Most of the other Princeps had lost three or four of their champions except for Shabbarth. The Great Dread was slippery as an eel and so were his followers. Only one of them had been killed in the battle, the very same champion Alyssa had highlighted as the most likely to make it back. 
 
    Thankfully, my bribery had paid off and he’d been jumped on his return trip, delaying him just long enough. They had five minutes from the allotted time to enter before the gateway into my domain would be sealed to all. It would take that champion seven minutes to reach the grass-covered hillock entrance. 
 
    Any good mood that might have engendered was swiftly doused as a fresh notification from the Arbiter popped into the DDD’s inbox. 
 
    It flashed brightly at me, mocking me. I had no choice but to open the thing. 
 
    It immediately stood out that the Arbiter had handwritten this missive. The usually neutral tone of my notifications was completely absent. 
 
      
 
    Congratulations Daxas, you mangy, meddling cur. 
 
    You have made it to the final showpiece of your dungeon existence. The Divine Challenge. Where you will be sorely tested by an elite team of dungeoneers who will tear apart all you have built and put you in your place as you deserve. 
 
    On your knees, begging for mercy. 
 
    I seriously doubt you will be shown any. The mere thought of the humiliation and agony you shall endure warms my heart, but I digress. 
 
    I won’t bore us both with the usual spiel of how your final challenge operates. You have that bitch, Alyssa, and the fawning lickspittle, Tenzing, who will have told you everything already. 
 
    No, I’m taking the time to inform you of certain…adjustments that have been made to accommodate the unique nature of your dungeon setup. And before you start to whine like the little doggy you are. These adjustments have come at the request of Lord Timian and therefore supersede any non-interference agreements we may have made. My role requires me to account for the considerations of all the participants involved, not just the brash oversexed ones. 
 
    I have assessed his requested adjustments and judged them to be both fair and balanced. You will just have to suck it up. 
 
    To whit, in order to account for your specific nature, primarily that you are made up of four dungeons, not one, the challengers will be allowed to complete the challenge in four waves. 
 
    A separate antechamber has been attached to the start of the Wolf King’s Lair and will act as a saferoom of sorts. Neither you nor any of your followers will be permitted to enter. 
 
    Each attack wave will begin once any divine challenger sets foot into any other chamber of the dungeon. The wave will be considered complete if no divine challenger survives in any other part of your dungeon apart from the antechamber or if the last actively participating Lord forfeits. 
 
    At the end of the wave, all challengers will be reconstituted in the antechamber as they were when they first entered, and the next wave of the assault may begin. None of your dungeon floors will be reset. 
 
    The Divine Challenge will only be deemed to have failed after the conclusion of the fourth wave or if the forty-eight-hour time limit expires. 
 
    Good luck, Mutt. 
 
    You’re going to need it. 
 
      
 
    My eyes scanned the contents and a snarl at the back of my throat grew in intensity the farther I got into the Arbiter’s meddling. The reasons behind Timian’s smug confidence became clear. We may have just cut their numbers by thirty, but this new swerve meant they had effectively gained over five hundred more in return. 
 
    The scream of rage that echoed across the room was accompanied by the crunching and splintering sounds of one of the leather couches colliding with the wall where the ire-inducing notification was being displayed. Being a projection and not something physically present in the room, the destruction of my furniture did nothing to remove the cause of my building wrath. 
 
    “That motherfucker,” I growled out. “If I get my hands on him, I will tear out his innards and stuff them down his smart-arsed mouth.” 
 
    “Timian or the Arbiter, darling,” Alyssa quipped and arched her eyebrow at me. 
 
    “This is not the time for jokes, Alyssa,” I snapped back in response. 
 
    She pouted at me saucily and then sashayed over and pressed her hands on my chest pushing me back so that I had to sit on one of the couches that had survived my ire-induced redecoration attempt. Then she hopped into my lap. 
 
    She halted my attempt to snarl some more obscenities by pressing her lips to mine and muffling them out. 
 
    “Things are not as dire as they seem,” she said as our lips parted. 
 
    “Did you know about this?” I asked, suspicion rearing its ugly head. 
 
    Alyssa was of the entity after all, much as the Arbiter was. 
 
    Alyssa pouted again, this time in annoyance. “Of course not! The information was only made available to us at the same moment you received the notification.” 
 
    “Then how is this not a massive setback?” 
 
    Alyssa sucked her breath in. “It is a setback, I’ll admit. Although one perhaps we should have seen coming given the Arbiter’s earlier interference on champion numbers.” 
 
    “That’s another thing,” I growled. “They’ve already been enhanced using the quadruple dungeon excuse. This smacks of double jeopardy. The application of balance seems to be sorely lacking in this matter.” 
 
    “Although the entity strives for balance, it remains bound by the Accords. The Arbiter is their current representative and if it can justify the changes internally then the entity must accept its judgement. We may have underestimated how great the corruption its exposure to Timian has caused. 
 
    “Speaking of the chief bootlicker, there are a few details the Arbiter ‘forgot’ to include in his message, but which are relevant,” Alyssa started to explain while air-quoting the word forgot. “Most importantly, the forfeiture clause is because the Lords are True-Minding. They do not get a do-over no matter what the Arbiter says about reconstitution at the end of a wave. If they die, even once, they are dead. For good. I suspect this mortal threat to their existence is the excuse the Arbiter is leaning on to justify stacking the odds so heavily in their favour. 
 
    “Another piece of good news is that Tenzing has been mostly successful on the mission you sent him on despite the barriers certain parties tried to put in place. He had to negotiate with the Arbiter after he sent you that little missive instead of with the entity directly. My brother must have really got under his skin and the Arbiter has prevented his immediate return. Tenzing shall be allowed to rematerialise here after the challenge officially begins.” 
 
    “Define mostly?” 
 
    “He had to compromise on certain elements, and it impacts upon what we have just read which has already changed.” Alyssa rolled her eyes at that. “Following the Arbiter’s ill-thought through attempts at screwing you over, darling, Tenzing’s audience with him began. 
 
    “My brother forced the Arbiter to accept that when a Princeps or Lord is slain, all their champions will go with them. Instantly. This is more than what we originally were hoping for. My suggestion, of course and it does make a nice surprise. We had thought only the excess champions over five would be taken. This matters as the ability to forfeit during a wave and be returned to the antechamber won’t be automatic. 
 
    “The Lords must be out of melee range to use this escape route. They can’t use it to save themselves from a killing blow. Just as importantly, should they forfeit then their champions will be removed from the current wave. We might be able to use that to end the waves prematurely. 
 
    “And that is where Tenzing was forced to accept a compromise. Or perhaps a peremptory demand is a better way to describe the Arbiter’s scrambled addition. Should the Lords be completely out of combat and under no threat whatsoever. In a cleared chamber, for example. Then they can choose to retire to the saferoom antechamber instead of forfeiting. Only the champions in the immediate vicinity will be taken with them.  
 
    “Overall, I believe the existence of these waves will make them overconfident which means they will likely take risks and make mistakes. Mistakes we can take advantage of. To kill them and remove their adherents. 
 
    “Also, the dungeon not resetting does offer us some tactical ploys we would otherwise not be able to utilise. It means the dungeon will remain active in between the waves. I’m sure you can come up with some way of making use of that.” 
 
    Placated, I nuzzled at Alyssa’s neck. “That’s some impressive insight to come up with in the time it took me to rock star the room,” I complimented her.  
 
    “What can I say? I’m that good,” Alyssa quipped back without a hint of modesty. 
 
    “And you’re right. Now that I’ve calmed down, I’ve already thought of some things we can do to mitigate this.” 
 
    Alyssa breathed in over her teeth sharply. “There is one other thing…” 
 
    “I know. The Arbiter wrote ‘his requested adjustments’. Plural,” I said in response to her warning, and she puffed out her inhaled breath. 
 
    “You picked up on that as well, I see. There is something else. All I’ve been able to infer from the entity’s presence in my consciousness is that the Arbiter has made one other adjustment. I don’t know what it is, yet, only that we will discover his last nasty surprise very soon.” 
 
    Soon turned out to be roughly five minutes. 
 
    We’d remained in the Viewing Lounge observing our opponents as they milled about outside in the wreckage they had wrought. Awaiting the return of their subordinates who would never make it back in time. 
 
    Finally, Timian led Kriger, Garvax, and their retinues up to the entrance of my dungeon. They all stepped through the portal which I had remoulded into the shape of a gaping wolf’s maw for intimidation purposes. Every little bit helps. 
 
    Fortunately, the Arbiter had not thought to block my ability to see into the antechamber, so I saw them arrive. Or perhaps he couldn’t block me since they were technically in a part of my dungeon once they passed the threshold. 
 
    The last to go in was Timian. He stopped, turned, and spoke to the assembled Infernal Lords before he entered. “Your fallen champions are not going to get here in time. If you don’t come in now, you will lose the opportunity to feast on Daxas’ soul. I’m quite happy for you to sit this out. We don’t need you to deal with the mangy cur inside, after all. But you will miss out on the…surprise I’ve arranged.” 
 
    With that, the smug god slipped through the giant wolf’s jaw and blinked out of sight. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
    Shabbarth 
 
      
 
    What would my idiotic brothers do? I thought to myself as Timian spoke his piece. It would not surprise me if they devolved into arguing due to the godlings needling and missed their chance as Timian no doubt intended. 
 
    “We should kill the godlings now,” Magros rasped out the moment Timian disappeared from view. 
 
    A fairly predictable response from Magros. Killing was the Mutilator’s solution to every problem. It was a tactic I used frequently myself, but there was a time and a place, and it was not now. 
 
    “Too early,” Thorzoth, the grand incubus, contradicted. “Better to use their followers as meat shields. It will be more enjoyable that way.” 
 
    Reliable Thorzoth. You could count on him to disagree with Magros no matter what. Even if Magros was talking sense, which was admittedly rare. 
 
    “I did not like his tone,” Tharzus barked while picking at one of his many suppurating scabs. “Or his pretty face. I say we disfigure, torture, and then kill them.” 
 
    “My vote is to wait until a more opportune moment,” Tir-Goran squawked shrilly as he and his imps launched themselves from their rubble perch. Readying themselves to fly inside. 
 
    I relaxed. Things were going as expected. My sathanite brothers would support one another and the other three would oppose them. I would get the breaking vote. The real power. 
 
    “You would. Fucking flying coward,” Olganeth spat. “Death is all our enemies deserve and they are our enemies.” 
 
    Meanwhile, Bulmaras had ignored the bickering of the Princeps and led his troops to the entrance. “Later,” he uttered his single word contribution and stepped through. 
 
    Three votes to three as it ever seemed to be in the Dark Reaches. Five sets of eyes centred on me for the tie break. I would have preferred to wallow in the satisfaction of my importance, but time was of the essence. “We wait,” I said. “At least, until after this surprise of Timian’s. It’s not like he or his two minions are a danger to us.” 
 
    My decision prompted Tir-Goran and his imps to fly into the jawed entrance with the incubi hot on their forked tails. 
 
    “Siding with our inferiors again. You are a disgrace to the blood of Sathan, Shabbarth,” Magros sneered. “And to think you claim the purest of bloodlines to him.” 
 
    “It is no claim. As any can see,” I declared while gesturing to my perfect physique and smiling broadly at my degenerate kin. 
 
    My skin was the perfect shade of red, my black horns smooth and gleaming brightly. Polished and buffed by my slaves. I was the very image of our storied progenitor. The Great Sathan. 
 
    Personally, I had my doubts that the mythic source of infernal kind ever truly existed, but I was never one to ignore a useful tool in the advancement of my purpose. Which was me becoming king of all. 
 
    However, while outwardly I seemed unbothered, internally I seethed with hate and fury. I did not like to be questioned, especially by a mindless gore-hound like Magros. I strode forward and slipped a hand under my chest armour and fondly stroked the daggers procured from the sorcerer. Magros would be the first to taste the void steel. The others would not be spared, but Magros would be first. 
 
    I entered the Lair and there was a moment of disorientation and then I was inside. 
 
    The antechamber was simply a large rectangular room with rough-hewn granite walls. It was sparsely furnished. Some plain wooden tables and chairs and a few threadbare upholstered benches along the walls. There was a single large arch at the far end that led into the dungeon proper. 
 
    I was unbothered by the décor and had endured far worse while campaigning in the Reaches. And it wasn’t as if we would be spending more than a few minutes in here. Unlike the godlings. 
 
    I didn’t wait for the other three sathanite princeps and walked over to Timian, cuffing the golden-haired godling’s face as soon as he was in my range. I saw a flash of recognition in the godlings eyes as the back of my gauntlet met Timian’s exposed jaw. He had known the blow was coming and accepted it. 
 
    Interesting. And fitting. 
 
    Either he was fully cowed, which I doubted, or the wretched piece of filth actually thought he had a chance of getting something out of this. Targelan had been very thorough in his examination of Timian’s prophetic abilities. He may have been able to foresee a little of the beginning. The ambush he and his fellows completely avoided outside for example. He’d pay for that, but that would come later. That was one of the reasons I chose to wait before we cut off his head and feasted on his innards. 
 
    But once in here, his sight would be stunted and almost useless. Especially after Targelan had performed his final duty and slaughtered his High Priest in the Realms. 
 
    It was possible that Targelan had not followed through, but I doubted it. The Infernal Duke was ambitious as all his kin were, but unlike most of them, Targelan had the wits to make some true headway. The duke would be expecting elevation to the role of Princeps and for that, he would need some support from me. Therefore, he wouldn’t dare cross me by leaving his work undone. 
 
    Of course, he didn’t understand I planned to kill all six of the other Princeps and seize control of all the thrones for myself. There would be no replacement for the fallen Princeps and Targelan’s execution would be one of my first acts upon my triumphant return to the Reaches. Rivals, even weak ones, would not be tolerated in my new world order. 
 
    Meanwhile, I would need to keep my eye on this slippery snake of a godling, just in case. 
 
    The sound of metal scraping against leather filled the room as Timian’s champions started to unsheathe their weapons. 
 
    Timian put one hand up to halt their actions and rubbed his jaw with the other. 
 
    “Talk,” I commanded. 
 
    There was insolence behind Timian’s eyes, but he hid it well. Just not well enough. 
 
    “Daxas was due to participate in a gauntlet match today. He did not know, as such things are kept from the dungeons until the appointed time. With my connections, I’ve managed to arrange that the match will go ahead. Against us, not other dungeons. It is a great opportunity.” 
 
    “What is a great opportunity?” Magros growled. 
 
    He and the other two had arrived in time to hear the last part of Timian’s statement. 
 
    “Let me explain,” the godling said, a small smile tugging on his lips. 
 
    As we heard him out, a similar smile tugged at my own mouth. Opportunities indeed and my eyes roved over Magros, revelling in his ignorance of how little time the dumb lug had left. 
 
    Timian had done well. He’d earned a few more hours of life. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 9 
 
      
 
    I stopped paying attention to the interplay between the Lords. While Timian had announced what his surprise was, the Arbiter had sent another of his obscenity-laden missives to me. Blessedly for my blood pressure, Alyssa had confirmed that it would be the last. His meddling was done after this. 
 
    This time, because I’d been forewarned, the couches were spared my fit of pique. But pique there was. So much pique. Timian and the Arbiter were really sticking it to us this time. 
 
    There would indeed be another gauntlet match. One that would begin the moment any of the opposing forces started the Divine Challenge by setting foot into any active part of my dungeon. Which they hadn’t yet. Timian was still explaining to the infernals the details of the screw job he had cooked up with the Arbiter, but once he finished, I couldn’t see them waiting any longer. 
 
    When that happened, time would freeze as they blinked out and I would be given one minute of preparation time as dictated by the perk I’d gained from the Gauntlet Veteran achievement. There was no point waiting for that, though. 
 
    Tamara, Jen’Zadeer, and Nessa rushed into the lounge to join Alyssa and me. We’d called them here immediately as they would also be directly involved in the match. 
 
    “What’s going on?” Nessa asked, her eyes darting to the oversized viewer and the broken furniture beneath it. 
 
    “The Arbiter is forcing us into a last-minute Gauntlet match,” I told them without preamble. “He has replaced our traditional opponents with the ten assholes trying to kill us.” 
 
    “Shatzah!” 
 
    “How long do we have?” Tamara asked, steely resolve in her eyes. 
 
    As she asked the question Shabbarth barked an order at one of his champions and they stepped out of the antechamber. Shabbarth disappeared along with the other nine while his champion froze in place halfway through the gateway into the dungeon. As did all those still in the antechamber. 
 
    But the challenge timer did not freeze. The forty-eight hours had begun to count down. Well, at least there would be one minor benefit to participating in the gauntlet match. 
 
    “One minute. Start getting prepared. Equip yourselves for stealth and speed. We won’t be able to access the dungeon’s inventory once we’re inside. We will be able to stow and summon anything we have on us once we get inside so go fully loaded.” 
 
    “We know,” three voices replied in unison, pointing out this was not their first rodeo either. 
 
    I smiled back at them and added. “But stick to the gear we’ve already been seen to use. The bit of extra oomph our latest iterations add won’t make much difference if we get embroiled in a one-on-one battle to the death with a godly being. Better to keep what we have unknown until we can hit them with several hundred similarly equipped warriors all at once.”  
 
    “Nessa and Jen you won’t have experienced a gauntlet like this before,” Alyssa started. “Tamara, I believe you have competed in something similar before. The Pyramid of Life.” 
 
    “Yes, many years ago, but I recall the details. We begin in separate chambers at the base of the pyramid. We are sealed inside, and it is a maze of chambers and corridors with monsters and traps throughout. Every ten minutes the pyramid will pulse like a beating heart. It gives you a sense of life essence, letting you know the proximity and direction of the other competitors. The aim is to be the first to ascend to the top and touch the capstone or be the final survivor. Whichever comes first.” 
 
    Alyssa nodded. “Good. However, there have been a few alterations to your scenario. Only the four of you will start at the base. One in each corner of the pyramid. The monsters have been removed and replaced by the Lords, although the traps will remain and any creatures integral to the trap will also stay. 
 
    “There will also be a time limit of one hour. That is important. The longer you can survive the better. The penalties for an early death are severe. You begin the gauntlet being penalised with the removal of ten floors from your respective dungeons.” 
 
    “What?” Nessa screeched. 
 
    “Shatzah!” Jen’Zadeer spat. 
 
    “Unbelievable,” Tamara gasped. 
 
    “Believe it,” I growled. “And we don’t have time to appeal. So, game faces on. This is happening whether we like it or not.” 
 
    That settled them down and Alyssa continued. 
 
    “For every five minutes that passes the penalty is lessened by one floor. If you survive for over fifty minutes or make it to the capstone, then no floors will be removed from your dungeon.” 
 
    “But the three of us only have one floor each,” Nessa wailed. 
 
    “I know. If you don’t survive for over fifty minutes, your entire dungeon and everything on them are effectively ruled out of the Divine Challenge. Any of your personal disciples stationed on those floors, which is all of them, would be excluded from the challenge entirely. The three of you, and any of Daxas’ other personal disciples on those floors would be permitted to fight, but only in the Core Room should the challengers get that far.” 
 
    “Why are you so calm, Daxas,” Jen’Zadeer asked me, her eyebrow quirking upwards. 
 
    “I’m only calm on the outside,” I answered. 
 
    This was a bit of a fib. Alyssa and I had already discussed a potential cheat before they arrived, but I didn’t want to give any of them false hope. This gauntlet would be incredibly difficult, and they needed to behave as if their lives depended on it. 
 
    “What do we get out of this?” Tamara asked. “There has to be some kind of reward for the gauntlet participants. Not being cheated out of our dungeon floors can’t really qualify as balance. Does it?” 
 
    “You are right, Tamara,” I answered her. “It does not. Should any one of us make it to the capstone, there will be no floor penalties for any of us. Plus, for each of us that makes it there, one of these bullshit waves will be disallowed. If all four of us make it to the capstone, then all four waves are eliminated, and we win the divine challenge by default.” 
 
    “Hells yeah!” Nessa crowed and jumped up on the couch bounding with exuberant joy. “No wonder you’re so calm. We’ve got these bastards by the balls. What do you call stuff like this? Oh, yeah, an epic fail.” 
 
    Jen’Zadeer smiled warmly at her small friend’s antics, but the enthusiasm was not shared by Tamara who had been involved in a pyramid gauntlet before. 
 
    I stepped forward and grabbed hold of the bouncing dryad’s arms stilling her on the couch. “No, Nessa. Your sole focus will be on evading the hunting Lords and waiting out the one-hour time limit.” 
 
    “Uh, why?” 
 
    There was not enough time to explain everything to her but a simple question to Tamara should illustrate the difficulty. 
 
    “Tamara, how long did it take you to find the right path and reach the capstone?” 
 
    “Over four hours.” 
 
    “That’s why, Nessa. Stay out of trouble. The alleged rewards are a trap to encourage us into acting recklessly. Alyssa won’t be able to speak to you once inside. You will be on your own. I might be able to use our bonds to send you emotive impressions. Nothing verbal, which would make them subjective and easily misunderstood.” 
 
    There was no more time to discuss anything further. The ladies had equipped themselves as I’d ordered, and the minute-long preparatory time had expired. 
 
    Blink. And we were gone. 
 
    But I also wasn’t. As soon as my avatar in the lounge was spirited away to the gauntlet, I created a second to take his place. 
 
    “You’re back,” Alyssa smiled at me and tapped on her tablet. 
 
    A moment later fourteen fresh screens were hanging in the air. Each of them focused on one of the participants in their starting position. Joining the screens was a large 3D hologram of the pyramid. Complete with traps and little figures mimicking those inside. Currently, the four dungeon avatars were behind a gate in their starting chambers waiting for them to be raised. 
 
    The pyramid was huge. Fifteen levels in all. None of the Lords were permitted to start on the ground floor with us, but unsurprisingly four of them had chosen to begin in a spot near a staircase on the first floor that led down to the ground floor in close proximity to the four corners. It was clear they planned to try and end this quickly. They would have to wait a few moments as all the staircases started out gated in the way that our starting chambers were. 
 
    I grinned back at her. “I am and can confirm that as we hoped, I can communicate with myself inside the pyramid. It would appear my demand for secrecy inside the dungeon is paying off. The Arbiter and Timian might be aware that I’ve been using multiple avatars, but it would appear they are still ignorant that I’ve been splitting my consciousness between them. Otherwise, I’m sure they would have taken steps to prevent us from watching what is going on.” 
 
    “I concur,” said a familiar voice from behind me. 
 
    Tenzing had returned. 
 
    “Bored with the Arbiter already, Tenzing,” I joked. 
 
    “I couldn’t get away from him fast enough. He is truly unpleasant, and ever so full of himself. Also, he never shuts up. I would have remained to gather further intelligence, but his rants began to grate on my ears and were not illuminating. Just a repetition of how much he hates you and how he is looking forward to your eventual downfall.” 
 
    “Come join us,” I beckoned him over. 
 
    “Sister, have you plotted the optimal course for Daxas to the capstone?” he asked as he came and joined us on the leather couch. 
 
    “Not yet, brother. Would you care to do the honours?” 
 
    “I will, if you don’t mind.” 
 
    “Not at all.” 
 
    With that, Tenzing summoned a similar tablet to his stubby blue fingers and started tapping away. 
 
    “It is a shame I can’t talk directly to the others using our bond,” I said to Alyssa as Tenzing worked. 
 
    “True, but we will keep an eye on them anyway. You can still transmit feelings through the bond. You might be able to send them a sense of dread if they are about to walk into a trap or if a path would take them close to an Infernal Lord.” 
 
    “That is a great idea. How are things coming along, Tenzing? The match is about to begin.” 
 
    “I am done, Daxas,” he replied, and swept two of his fingers across his pad and a route in gold against the blue of the schematics of the pyramid was overlaid. “If you follow this path, you can reach the capstone and avoid the traps. The margin for error is small. I calculate you have less than six minutes of contingency time available. 
 
    “Considering that we will likely have to adapt the route to avoid the Lords when they move, making it to the capstone will be difficult. The Arbiter has done well with his interference.” Tenzing tapped a few more times and three new routes, one for each of my mates in different colours appeared. 
 
    My adviser had been thorough, but we had no way to truly communicate these paths to them. The best we could do was monitor their progress and have me send them the occasional sensation and hoped they interpreted it correctly.  
 
    “The great rewards he has offered can be achieved,” he continued. “Which has allowed him the latitude to make the penalties so severe. But only barely, and the likelihood of any one of you guessing a quick enough path is tiny. All four of you, it may as well be zero.” 
 
    “But not actually zero. Technicalities,” I muttered. 
 
    That word had been a boon to me for so long that it left a sour taste in my mouth to have the tables turned. Still, although we may not be able to end the challenge before it even begins, we had the opportunity to undermine their planned swerve and emerge as strong as ever. 
 
    That alone should shake their confidence. 
 
    Silver Linings. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
    Timian 
 
      
 
    Blink. 
 
    The tingling sensation faded, and I opened my eyes. We were inside the pyramid. I had chosen a throne room for our starting position in the centre of the structure. It would be a fitting place for me to begin and wait out the early parts of this gauntlet. 
 
    Kriger and Garvax were beside me. The pair of them blinked and took in the surroundings. The darkness was punctured by a series of lit biers filled with orange-glowing coals. Polished copper mirrors were used to reflect the light from the biers around the large room illuminating the many corridors that led to other parts of the pyramid. 
 
    There was a grand golden, gem-studded throne that dominated the middle of the chamber. Naturally, I placed myself sitting upon it. Despite the regal nature of the location, it was still my secondary choice. Predominantly, as it was one for which my understanding of what was to come was less than complete. 
 
    The loss of my connection to my High Priest Mortan in the Realms had been a hammer blow. The old man had to be dead. He was far too cowed by my glorious presence to contemplate betrayal. Somebody had anticipated what I would do and acted to disrupt my preparations. If they had waited until we entered seclusion, which they must have, my High Priest and I would have our attention focused elsewhere. 
 
    The list of candidates for such egregious behaviour was small. Jezebel, the traitorous slut, certainly had the temperament, but she was stuck in the Proving Grounds. Merrock would jump at the chance, but my temples had been warded against him and his agents millennia ago. Nothing less than a full-blown invasion from the seas would work for him and that couldn’t be hidden from my sight. Especially as my temples were all sited deep inland for that very reason. 
 
    No, the only reasonable conclusion was that it was one of the Princeps. This meant that one or more of them knew I had been severely weakened and would likely take the opportunity to slay me if they caught me by myself. Hence, I had to settle for this less-than-ideal location. One that was sufficiently far away from all their starting places. My prime choice would have resulted in me crossing paths with both Magros and Shabbarth and I couldn’t risk that now. The focus of my oracular visions had incorporated me being able to replenish my reserves. 
 
    If I could have kept the other two gods at my side, it would have been a different story. Unfortunately, I needed to use Kriger and Garvax to prevent Daxas from making it to the capstone before the time expired. My knowledge of how things would play out from this location was incomplete, but the final outcome was not. The infernals would fail to get their hands on the mangy cur. 
 
    I was not positive about how he manages to navigate the maze within the pyramid with such unerring accuracy, though I have a few suspicions. If I didn’t send my subordinates to do the job, this entire endeavour would be a failure. If I did, he wouldn’t make it and suffer the consequences. My understanding of the probable timelines should Daxas’ dungeons being at full strength was indistinct. There was too much uncertainty down that path and it could not be allowed to unfold that way. 
 
    Had my seer thralls not been such useless chaff, I could have spent more time examining the possibilities the pyramid presented. Nothing would have pleased me more than to snuff the hairy scum and his harlots out nice and early, but Daxas had proven devilishly difficult to pin down. 
 
    None of the scenarios I had a chance to trial came close to catching him early enough to make a difference. It didn’t matter, though. Arranging his death and removing all the Infernal Lords and my two pawns would have proved incredibly difficult anyway. I would likely have had to let him live through this even if I got sufficient time to plan. 
 
    However, there was one benefit to adopting the secondary location. I would be able to deal with a matter personally that I would otherwise have had to manipulate an infernal into doing. Adding that personal touch would make the whole game much more satisfying. 
 
    I stood up and stepped away from the throne, walking over to the other two gods. “Kriger, take the second corridor on your right and head down at your first opportunity.” Before he could rush off, I slipped further detailed instructions on a slip of folded parchment into his palm. “When you reach an open space with a six-foot golden statue of a cat, start reading this and follow my instructions. Garvax, take the third left. Ignore the first three staircases you come across and go down the fourth. Here take this,” I handed him his own note. “Read this when you get to the bottom. Follow my guidance to the letter and you should be able to corner him in about half an hour. Don’t fail me.” 
 
    Kriger grinned maliciously and licked his lips. “The hunt is on,” he crowed loudly and then scampered away without a second thought. 
 
    Garvax stared at me for a few moments. I could feel the thoughts of insurrection pulsing from his pea-brain. “Are you not joining the hunt?” he asked of me, at last. 
 
    “No. I shall be running interference with the infernals so that they don’t slaughter the pair of you, you bloody ungrateful wretch. Another reason for you to abide by what I’ve written for you. Deviate and they will likely corner you alone. Now quit malingering and go!” 
 
    Garvax’s baleful gaze lingered for half a second longer but then he inclined his head and stalked across the mosaic of tiles on the floor and departed down the corridor I had ordered him to take. 
 
    His insolence was intolerable. And aggravating as it eliminated the most advantageous outcome that could be achieved from this secondary position. Daxas losing more than half of the floors from his combined dungeon. 
 
    It was just as well that Garvax would be dead before the challenge was done. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 10 
 
      
 
    The ghostly numbers were counting down from thirty. The starting place for the gauntlet was the same as ever. Portcullis gate in front of me, endless darkness behind. Sand covering the floor. Although the sand extended out into the pyramid. There was a plaque on the wall explaining the rules of the Pyramid of Life gauntlet match, but I was familiar with all the details. 
 
    Hello? Can you hear me? I thought to myself. 
 
    Loud and clear, came the response from my alternate in the Viewing Lounge. 
 
    Well, at least, one thing had gone to plan. 
 
    As the numbers counted down, I fidgeted nervously. As the counter reached five my mind was filled with the layout of the pyramid and the route I needed to take to get to the capstone in time and I relaxed. The quickly laid and rather makeshift plan hadn’t failed us yet. 
 
    The counter hit zero and the gate sprang upwards with a rusty screech of pain, and I was off, running down the corridor. The grains of sand rubbed between my humanoid toes. I’d elected not to use my larger wolf form. I was no quicker as a humanoid, but the greater bulk of my wolfed-out form would make navigating some of the tighter corridors and evading traps more cumbersome. 
 
    Keep me updated on what is happening with the other three, I thought. 
 
    Concentrate on what you are doing. I will watch over them, my alternate thought back at me. 
 
    God damn, but I could be an exasperating bastard when I wanted to be. But I was right. There was nothing I could feasibly do for my beloved disciples while I was in the pyramid. 
 
    Nothing, except win. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    It was a strange sensation for me both watching the events unfold on the big screens while also being present in the pyramid’s corridors. Navigating my way through the twisting maze, jumping over the triggers for traps and suppressing the temptation to investigate red herrings that exuded auras like my sexual magnetism planted in the pyramid. 
 
    It was almost an overload to my senses from the dual, yet conflicting situations. I had no choice but to endure the conflicting emotions of purpose and helplessness. 
 
    We were only about seven minutes into the match and things had not started particularly well. 
 
    First off, based on the direction that Timian had sent Kriger, we suspected he would be able to make it to a key intersection in the pyramid that lay on my optimal path. The one that would allow me to reach the capstone unscathed. A suspicion reinforced by Timian’s background as an oracle. 
 
    Tenzing altered the route where he could, eating up as little of our contingency as possible, only for Kriger to change direction and compensate for the updated route when he reached a cat statue. All but confirming Timian’s advanced knowledge of where I was and where I planned to go. 
 
    Damnably, Kriger hadn’t opened the page he’d been given in full, but only pulled back the first folded piece. Not only did it include his instructions on where to go next, but also at which point he should unfold the paper further and read the next part. The viewer allowed us many invasive camera angles, but we couldn’t read something that was not visible at all. 
 
    Shortly afterwards Garvax did the same. Timian hadn’t given them any orders in this regard. None that we’d heard, at any rate. So, it must have been a familiar setup they had used before. It meant we wouldn’t be able to get ahead of what they were doing. Not unless one of them screwed up and unfolded more of their instructions than they should, and we managed to sneak a peek. 
 
    About the only positive in those first few minutes was that we had left Olganeth, the Infernal Lord who began the match closest to me, in the dust. 
 
    Well, the sand. 
 
    He had come down to the ground level and had started to methodically work his way towards the corner I started in, but thanks to our cheat, I was already long gone and effectively ahead of him. 
 
    It was just as well that Olganeth had come after me. The other three who descended to the lowest level, Tharzus, Bulmaras, and the incubus Thorzoth, did not appear to be as adept at threading the maze as the grizzled and experienced sathanite. Had Olganeth been seeking out either Nessa or Jen’Zadeer, he would likely have cornered them very quickly as they tried to find their way around the pyramid. 
 
    Speaking of my disciples, Jen’Zadeer and Tamara were doing well enough. The going was quite slow for my dark elf ice queen. The section of the pyramid she was in was very trap heavy and she had to take her time checking for the triggers as she made her way through. This affected her hunter Thorzoth as much as her, though. Albeit he tended to set them off rather than avoid them and simply shrugged off the effects. 
 
    Tamara had the best of it, probably aided by her prognostication abilities. She had already made it to an alternate staircase and was heading up to the next level. Which meant Tharzus who chased her would be wasting his time on the ground floor. At least, until the first ping event when he would find out she was up above him. 
 
    “By the Entity! What is that foolish girl doing?” Alyssa breathed with exasperation and drew my attention to the viewer showing us Nessa. 
 
    The dryad had been haring around her section of the pyramid with wild abandon. I’d not been too concerned as her quarter of the ground floor was the diametric opposite of Jen’Zadeer’s. Virtually trap-free. 
 
    In fact, only once had I needed to send her a warning tingle as she skipped down a dead-end corridor with a sizeable pit trap halfway down. And I quickly realised she was at the entrance of that self-same trapped corridor with her hands on her hips. 
 
    “Come and get me, Ugger!” she screamed at the top of her voice. 
 
    Bulmaras the Brute Lord had been the infernal sent to her section. He was big, bulky, and about as subtle as a brick. Staying out of his way should have been relatively simple for my diminutive spitfire. But Nessa does not do simple. Instead, she was taunting him. 
 
    There was an answering roar of anger followed by the pounding of heavy footsteps that echoed down the sandstone corridor despite the muffling nature of the sandy covering of the floor. 
 
    Without thinking I pulsed the feelings of dread and warning through our bond trying to deter Nessa from whatever mischief the dryad had cooked up. To no avail. 
 
    “I know what I’m doing,” Nessa muttered under her breath. 
 
    She looked upwards and winked before she raced down the entrapped corridor after Bulmaras had skidded into the main thoroughfare a hundred metres away and caught sight of her. 
 
    “It is not her fault,” Tenzing sighed and explained. “Her section of the pyramid is filled with vases imbued with an aura that bestows confidence. Or to be more accurate, overconfidence. That is the true danger of this section and Nessa would be the most vulnerable to its effects. I doubt her placement here was accidental.” 
 
    “Bloody Arbiter!” I snarled, but there was nothing we could do now except watch and hope, 
 
    The corridor Nessa ran down was only a couple of metres wide and perhaps fifty metres long. The pit trap was thirty metres in and was a relatively simple fall trap. There was a canvas frame that covered the pit, and it was covered by a layer of sand to disguise it. 
 
    Nessa ran up to the edge, which she had identified during her previous foray and leant down to shift some fresh sand over the outline she had uncovered previously. 
 
    Being Nessa, when she first found the trap, she couldn’t help but lift the canvas and take a peek inside, even throwing a torch taken from a sconce on the wall into the black depths. 
 
    The smooth walls of the pit descended only ten metres before it opened out into a massive cavern below. The bottom had to be several hundred metres farther down. The falling damage would be hefty indeed, and the cavern was populated with gigantic carnivorous beetles ready to consume anybody strong enough to survive the fall. 
 
    The dryad sprang back up to her feet and grinned as she looked to the wall on her right. 
 
    Running along the wall on the right was a worn, wooden shelf that had a series of cheap-looking stoneware urns resting atop it. All covered with dust and cobwebs and pumping out more of that blasted aura that encouraged her to act so recklessly. 
 
    Nessa leapt up the seven feet or so to the shelf and grabbed hold of the edge. While she hung there, her legs swinging, she pulled on the shelf hard, but it didn’t bend or break. Despite its outward appearance, it was of sturdy construction. 
 
    My heart was in my mouth as she nimbly started to move along the shelf. 
 
    Moving her grip one hand at a time, Nessa quickly shimmied her way to the other end of the lengthy shelf which took her over the full extent of the pit trap, and she dropped down lightly and wiped the dust off her hands with a self-satisfied grin on her face. The whole manoeuvre was very reminiscent of the Tomb Raider games. 
 
    “This hasn’t worked yet, Nessa,” I muttered to myself, frustrated at my inability to intervene or give aid. At least she hadn’t tried to vault over the trap. 
 
    “It’s not a terrible idea, though,” Alyssa added. “Awfully risky, yes, but not terrible. If she succeeds in luring Bulmaras into the trap that is one less Lord to worry about. It is probably too much to hope for that the fall and the monstrous scarabs would be enough to kill him, but he wouldn’t be able to get out. Nessa’s odds of lasting the full sixty minutes would go up considerably.” 
 
    “And if he doesn’t, she’s completely fucked.” 
 
    “That is why it’s risky,” Alyssa teased in agreement and kissed me on the cheek. 
 
    I didn’t have time to say anything back. Bulmaras had made it to the corridor and was charging towards Nessa who had taken a few steps backwards and was doing her best at playacting fearfulness. Petrified that she’d been cornered by the brute’s advance. 
 
    Bulmaras approached heedlessly and didn’t slow down at all. 
 
    Perhaps he was under the influence of the auras as well? 
 
    And then it was the moment of truth. His large lumbering stride meant his massive, clawed foot landed in the dead centre of the canvas. The weight of his bulk tore through the canvas frame as if it were made of toilet paper and he disappeared into the yawning hole in the floor with a shocked, piggish squeal. 
 
    “Yes!” Nessa yelled with exuberant joy as she jumped up and down on the spot and started to do one of her hip-gyrating victory dances. “Nessa one. Dumbass, rancid acorn-lickers zero!” 
 
    The dryad’s joy was not being shared by the three of us in the viewing lounge, though. We could see what was obscured from Nessa’s current vantage point. 
 
    Bulmaras had indeed fallen for her ruse and went into the pit. But as I feared, he wasn’t half as stupid as he looked. The Brute Lord reacted to the sudden change in his circumstances swiftly and his gauntleted hands reached out. His sheer size meant he could touch the far wall of the pit and his fingers dug into the smoothed sandstone, slowing his descent. 
 
    For the briefest of moments, it looked as if his momentum and weight would pull him down into the cavern anyway, but his descent halted cinematically, at the last possible moment. One of his hands held onto the very bottom edge of the pit wall desperately, as the bulk of his body swung in the dark. We held our collective breaths willing his grip or the sandstone of the wall to give away and send him tumbling into the depths below. 
 
    It was not to be. 
 
    With a grunt, Bulmaras steadied his swinging body, and with his free hand reached up and dug into the pit wall. He smiled cruelly as he flexed his arm with this new firmer grip and easily raised his bulky body upwards allowing him to release the other hand and take another clawed handhold further up. Climbing inexorably upwards to the unknowing, dancing dryad. 
 
    “Fuck! So, God damn close,” I swore, and crushed the metal tankard in my hand with a crunch. It was mostly empty, so we were spared being covered in the suds of the beer it had previously contained. 
 
    My disappointment surged down the bond and alerted Nessa that something had gone wrong. 
 
    Very wrong. 
 
    She stopped her dance and tiptoed her way to the edge of the pit and looked down. She was greeted by the sight of Bulmaras swiftly climbing up. The full length of his body was above the start of the cavern now and the dug-in talons on his feet were increasing his stability and climbing speed. 
 
    The Brute Lord leered up at her. 
 
    “Shit! Shit, shit, shit, shit, this is bad,” Nessa squealed. 
 
    She pointed her hands down at the brute and let him have an Ice Blast to the face. Bulmaras froze in place but did not fall. 
 
     “That will have to do, I suppose,” Nessa muttered. Then she turned back to the shelf and leapt back up and grabbed hold of the edge to swing herself back to the other side and escape. 
 
    “Nessa don’t,” Tenzing cried as she did so. But he was as incapable of stopping what came next as Alyssa and I were. 
 
    Bulmaras was frozen stiff by the paralysis effect of the Ice Blast spell, but I could have sworn I could see the spiteful glee in his eyes. He’d been looking up at Nessa when she slapped him with her spell, but she had forgotten paralysis only prevents physical actions. The Brute waited until she was halfway across, over the dead centre of the pit and he mentally cast a Fireball up at her. 
 
    If the force of the fiery explosion hadn’t dislodged Nessa’s grip, which it did, it completely demolished the shelf and the stoneware urns resting atop it, making the point somewhat moot. 
 
    Nessa fell past Bulmaras, a plaintive wail echoing from her lips until she hit the cavern floor below. Her armour had kept her alive and she had the wherewithal to cast Greater Summon Beasts to give her some protectors while she cast her healing spells on herself. 
 
    Treants were summoned and formed a circle around the gravely injured dryad. They didn’t have long to wait before the scuttling and scratching of the carrion scarabs collided with the woody flesh of the tall treants. The summoned plant mobs fought with verve and dedication, repelling the initial wave of scarabs.  
 
    Nessa might even have been able to fight off the carrion scarabs the cavern was filled with. At least, for long enough that she might have been able to come up with a plan to survive in the cavern. 
 
    Any such hope was cut to ribbons when Bulmaras’ paralysis wore off after a couple of minutes. Instead of climbing out of the trap, he let go of his grip and plummeted down to the manic battle below. Landing inside Nessa’s protective circle. 
 
    Trapped in a cavern filled with monsters and now an Infernal Lord, low on mana, and with her summoned plant guardians perishing from the dual assault, Nessa didn’t stand a chance. 
 
    She managed to evade Bulmaras’ grasping hands for a short while, but she had nowhere to go. In the end, she did the only thing she could and ordered the treants to turn inwards and attack Bulmaras as she slipped away and took her chances against the carrion scarabs. 
 
    The treants didn’t last long against the Brute Lord, but then he was swarmed by attacking giant insects. Unfortunately, so was Nessa. She fought well and bravely, but the scythe-like mandibles of the scarabs bit hard and slowed her down. Bulmaras, not to be denied, bellowed loudly and shoulder-charged his way through the giant insects until he reached her and slammed his mighty fist into her side. 
 
    Nessa flopped to the ground, stunned, and was finished off by scarabs that took advantage of her insensate state. 
 
    It was over and she hadn’t lasted anywhere near long enough to avoid the gauntlet’s penalties. 
 
    All was quiet in the viewing lounge for a few heartbeats. 
 
    “The bright side is her gambit wasn’t a total failure,” Alyssa said, trying to elevate the mood in the room. “Bulmaras will be taking no further part in the gauntlet.” 
 
    That was all, though. After ensuring Nessa’s demise, the Brute Lord was rampaging around the cavern. Glorying in the slaughter of the scarabs who were simply not strong enough to do any meaningful damage to him. Not with the top-tier armour he was wearing and Blood Rage empowering him. 
 
    “That is cold comfort,” I replied. “If I don’t make it to the capstone, we lose her floor and the designated life-seeded army on them. Nessa and my disciples in her dungeon will be restricted to remaining in the core room for the entire challenge.” 
 
    “You will lose Gretsch completely, as well,” Tenzing reminded me. 
 
    As Nessa’s disciple, he wouldn’t be permitted to participate at all as her entire dungeon was essentially removed. We had just gone past the ten-minute mark. The whole encounter between her and Bulmaras lasted only three or four minutes. Soon I would have ‘survived’ long enough to at least keep my core floor if everything else went wrong. That meant my disciples garrisoned on any of the floors lost would be allowed to be present in the core room. 
 
    Things weren’t that bad, yet. 
 
    In fact, just after witnessing the conclusion of Nessa’s tragic demise something far more uplifting happened that brought some cheer back to my cheeks. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    In the wake of Nessa’s death, Tenzing tapped my arm lightly and pointed to a couple of the other screens which we had largely ignored up until now due to the lack of anything relevant happening. 
 
    Magros the Mutilator and the Dread Shabbarth had chosen to begin the gauntlet match on the mid-levels of the pyramid. Tir’Goran the imp lord had been selected to guard the capstone. Tenzing was pointing towards Magros and Shabbarth’s screens as the two of them were about to converge. 
 
    I watched on with rapt attention. Two infernal lords that hated one another alone. What would the outcome be? 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Magros hawked up a gobbet of phlegm and spat the foul substance out into a tarnished bronze vase sitting on a pedestal in the corner of the room. The spit hit with such force it made an audible dinging sound and caused the vase to rock slightly. 
 
    “Direct hit!” Magros half-grunted half-laughed and slapped his big gut with his free hand to punctuate his remark. 
 
    His other hand hefted and reset his gigantic cleaver on his shoulder. 
 
    “Easily amused, I see,” Shabbarth chuckled from the dark of an adjoining corridor before he stepped into the light of the burial chamber. 
 
    The Great Dread looked the room over and sniffed loudly in derision. 
 
    Magros had chosen one of the more opulent burial chambers on the fifth level to while away his time. Leaving the chasing down of the mutt and his disciples to the lesser princeps and those worthless divinities. Shabbarth might have been impressed by the politicking of the toady prophet, but Magros was not. The Mutilator had always preferred the direct approach. What need was there for manipulation when you could simply carve up anyone who stood in the way of what you wanted? 
 
    Might makes right. And Magros was the mightiest and rightest of them all. 
 
    There had been ten sealed sarcophagi in the burial chamber that had been painted brightly in an array of shades, red, gold, and yellow. He’d spent the first ten minutes of the gauntlet breaking into each of them and desecrating the remains. Slicing in twain the three animated mummies that were part of the trap element of this room and then looting their tombs. 
 
    Amongst the gem-studded sceptres, gold coins, and ornate jewellery were a few enchanted weapons and pieces of armour. A tantalising reward for any hardy adventurer that risked awakening the dormant creatures within, but of absolutely no use to an infernal who would be leaving the Proving Grounds at the conclusion of the challenge. 
 
    The blood-spattered outer pockets of the thick oilskin leather butcher’s apron Magros wore bulged with his ill-got gains. 
 
    Shabbarth intuited what his rival had been up to and sneered at him. “Really, Magros? You can’t take any of this with you. But you just couldn’t help yourself, could you? It’s your nature.” 
 
    Magros huffed with impatience. “What do you want, Shabbarth? The scent of your self-satisfaction stings my eyes. Say your piece and fuck off!” 
 
    Shabbarth’s upper lip curled with anger. “I came to issue you with a warning, my brother. Questioning my heritage in front of the others was a mistake. One that you shall pay for. I am here to demand reparations. Your holdings in the independent city of Quenneth should suffice.” 
 
    Magros, whose free hand had slipped under his apron searching for something, stopped, and blinked in surprise. As Shabbarth’s words penetrated past the tumult of his own plotting, his lips grew wide, sliding over his tusks, and he threw his head back, guffawing loudly at the audacity and base cowardice of the other dark prince. 
 
    This had been the opening Shabbarth had hoped for. Quick as a striking viper, he seized the lid of a stone sarcophagi that Magros had so carelessly discarded during his looting and launched it at his opponent’s right shoulder. 
 
    The accurately thrown lid clattered into Magros and struck him directly on the hand that gripped his gigantic cleaver, as well as banging into the cleaver itself. 
 
    Magros stumbled back a step or two from the surprise collision. The impact damage was minimal, and he hadn’t fully lost his grip on his mighty weapon, but his hand had slipped down the haft a bit before gripping tight again as the cleaver was knocked from his shoulder. The haft now rested in the crook of his arm and the head of the cleaver was dipped backwards, almost scraping the sandstone blocks of the floor. 
 
    Shabbarth exploited the opportunity and leapt over the emptied tombs. He pulled the voidsteel dagger with a yellow citrine gemstone in the pommel and matching striations in the black of the blade from a place of concealment in his bracer and landed in front of the other demon. 
 
    His right-hand swept outwards, leading with the dagger trying to cut Magros’ throat. The blade feathered the jowls of the demon, nicking the skin and drawing a little blood. But not enough to fully activate the dagger’s properties. However, Magros felt his strength being sapped from the otherwise insignificant injury. 
 
    The dagger did succeed in cutting through the straps of the butcher’s apron, despite also being tied behind his back. The oilskin leather accoutrement clattered to the stone ground, around his ankles. Weighted down by the gold and jewels so recently looted from the tombs, it had fallen easily. 
 
    The Mutilator tried to swing his mighty cleaver into the side of the attacking Shabbarth. But the awkward starting angle and the sudden loss of some of his strength made the attack awkward and easily blocked. 
 
    Shabbarth took his voidsteel dagger in both hands and thrust it forward. Magros backed up a step rapidly until his back connected with the wall. He released his grip on the cleaver and snatched hold of Shabbarth’s wrists, the point of the dagger a few inches from his jiggling throat. 
 
    While watching, I noticed a flash of recognition from Magros as his panic-ridden eyes fixated on the weapon that his rival was inexorably forcing closer to his jugular. 
 
    “Where did you get this dagger?” Magros gasped desperately. 
 
    “No point in telling you, mutilator. You’ll be dead very soon.” The red-skinned demon grinned back. 
 
    Magros’ arms trembled, then gave way slightly, and the dagger shot forward, closing the gap, the tip piercing the skin and sinking into his bobbing Adam’s apple. 
 
    “That fucking sorcerer,” he managed to gurgle as all resistance from his shaking limbs evaporated and Shabbarth buried the blade of the dagger to the hilt in his throat. 
 
    When Magros’ hands fell away from his wrists, Shabbarth released his grip on the dagger and stepped back from the impaled princeps with a toothy grin on his face. He stood there, staring deeply into the eyes of the dying demon. 
 
    The pleasure of the kill coursed through his veins. 
 
    Magros’ skin began to dry out and wither, his muscle definition deflating and he collapsed to his knees and fell forward onto his apron that had been lying on the floor between them. Unmoving and quite dead. 
 
    Shabbarth knelt down by the corpse and lifted the broken-tusked head up. It had desiccated to the degree that the brittle neck snapped, and the head almost came away. Of the dagger with yellow striations that landed the fatal blow, there was no sign. Just a few wisps of intermingled yellow and black smoke remained and that quickly dissipated. 
 
    “He did say they wouldn’t last after they were used. Shame. I would have appreciated the souvenir,” Shabbarth whispered to himself. 
 
    The surviving infernal rose back to his full height, spat on the body of his defeated opponent and strode from the funerary chamber whistling a jaunty tune. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Back in the viewing lounge, I let out a loud breath. “Holy shit! What did we just see?” 
 
    “Unholy shit, I think, given the participants, darling,” Alyssa joked. 
 
    I chuckled along. “I’m definitely not complaining about Magros’ untimely expiry. After all the setbacks we’ve suffered. Our enemies turning on one another is certainly a boon we could do with. But what the fuck? That dagger went through him like he was made of butter and was basically an instant kill. Regardless of what he was equipped with. What the hell kind of a weapon can instantaneously kill a champion in a single blow? I mean, should we be worried? What if they have more weapons like that and plan to use them on us?” 
 
    “Hmmm, I don’t believe so, Daxas,” Tenzing answered. “There is no such weapon available in the Proving Grounds. Shabbarth must have brought it in with him.” 
 
    “That is not particularly reassuring, Tenzing.” 
 
    “What my brother means is that the Accords give the Lords a little latitude to bring personal items with them into the Proving Grounds. However, such items will have no effect on the denizens of this place. Should Shabbarth have any more of those blades he would not be able to use them against us. There is absolutely no wriggle room on that,” Alyssa explained. 
 
    “Why did it work on Magros, then?” 
 
    “Because he is not a denizen of the Grounds, but a temporary visitor,” she answered simply. “In fact, that dagger wouldn’t work on a champion either. They are created entirely from the ethereal. It will only have worked on Magros because his True Mind, something foreign to the ethereal realm, was present.” 
 
    “Okay, that’s good to know. Where do you think Shabbarth got the blade? He mentioned a sorcerer. Do you think it was Devantus Drakonis?” 
 
    “Almost certainly. The supreme sorcerer plays his own game. He once told me that he bore you no ill will. That his intercessions on behalf of Timian, the roadblocks he has assisted in putting in your path, had a different purpose. He said at the time it was to make you stronger, but I think we are beginning to see a concealed purpose reveal itself before our eyes. The supreme dark sorcerer has lured the Dark Princes of the Reaches here. They have exposed themselves to great danger, in the pursuit of a much greater reward. One that will cost them more than they can afford to give.” 
 
    “You mean Drakonis is using us as tools for his machinations. Mark my words, should we ever meet, there will be a reckoning between us,” I snarled viciously, my anger rising in my gullet like bile. 
 
    I swallowed my discontent down deep. We were only a third of the way through the gauntlet match and much was still held in the balance. I couldn’t afford to lose my concentration by indulging in fantasies of retribution. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 11 
 
      
 
    The gauntlet match continued. 
 
    Sadly, Shabbarth returned to his previous position rather than hunt down any of his other brethren. Our good luck on that front had expired. At the twenty-minute mark, the second radar-like pulse throbbed through the pyramid. The first had happened at ten minutes while Nessa had been embroiled in her final moments in the scarab cavern and had gone almost unnoticed. 
 
    It did have serious ramifications for Jen’Zadeer, though. 
 
    After the first pulse, Olganeth, who had been pursuing me, must have realised I’d given him the slip and he changed course and headed in the dark elf’s direction. 
 
    Meanwhile, Thorzoth continued to stumble about in the pyramid setting off traps and bemoaning his poor luck. His only real success had been in preventing Jen’Zadeer from ascending to the next level of the pyramid. The incubus might be proving himself to be a poor hunter in the traditional sense, but ultimately his ineptitude had herded Jen’Zadeer in Olganeth’s direction. 
 
    I’d sent multiple feelings of dread to Jen’Zadeer but the tunnels she was traversing were so laden with traps my messages were being misinterpreted. The irony was that she had almost fully navigated her way out of that quarter and the dangers it held only to put herself within reach of the far greater danger, the grizzled old sathanite. 
 
    It came to a head at the twenty-three-minute mark. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer had just exited a very narrow corridor where the floor was riddled with pressure switches that would release blasts of acid from nozzles concealed in the tunnel’s ceiling. To get over the obstacle she had wedged her hands and feet against the wall and frog-hopped her way forward. 
 
    Getting to the end, she launched herself out and landed with a forward roll to get back to her feet in a large subterranean temple that dominated the centre of the bottom level of the pyramid. Lining the walls on all four sides of the square temple was a series of fifteen-foot statues. Representations of the Divine Lords sitting in thrones looking wise and regal. 
 
    The statues had clearly been carved by someone who had never met them. 
 
    The eyes of the statuary were made from gemstones and the staffs and sceptres they held were solid gold, but this finery was not what lit up the dark elf’s eyes. 
 
    Dangling down in the very centre of the temple was a climbable knotted rope. The rope led up to the vaulted ceiling where there was a small hole just large enough for a person to squeeze through. An ingress that would take them up from the pyramid base to the third level, skipping the second entirely. 
 
    With a wide grin and not wasting any time Jen’Zadeer rushed forward and started to pull herself up the rope hand over hand. 
 
    This is when the wily Olganeth emerged from the shadows behind one of the statues and took one of his many knives from the sheaths strapped to his body and threw it above Jen’Zadeer’s head. The blade sliced through the rope and sent her crashing back down onto the hard stone of the temple floor. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer recovered quickly and got back to her feet and scanned the temple surroundings. “Where are you? You shatzah sniffing bastard.” 
 
    Olganeth had shuffled over in the confusion and hidden behind a different statue, one of Ironhammer. At least, I assumed it was Ironhammer, it was particularly accurate. Jen’Zadeer’s attention was then drawn to a noise behind her. Thorzoth, who had been tailing her, had found his way into the acid-trapped corridor. As he had elsewhere, the incubus ran down the narrow tunnel, heedless of the traps he would trigger. 
 
    This tactic should have been quite successful. Thorzoth was swift and largely cleared most of the acid spray when the traps were set off. However, with a sharp cutting gesture of her hands, Jen’Zadeer sent a blue bolt of Ice Blast in his direction, which hit the incubus in the chest. 
 
    Her concealed casting ability meant he had been taken completely unawares and had no time to evade or prepare. Thorzoth fell to the ground, frozen stiff by the paralysis, and landed on top of the trap triggers. He couldn’t evade the ensuing acid spray this time. 
 
    “Got you!” Jen’Zadeer cried with joy. 
 
    Her celebration was cut short as Olganeth emerged from hiding, four throwing knives that glowed an angry red held in his clutches. 
 
    “Damn it,” Alyssa swore in the viewing lounge. Helpless to do anything but watch on. “He’s cast Vorpal Weapon on the knives,” she pointed out, although I had spotted the tell-tale red glow myself. 
 
    No sooner were the words out of Alyssa’s mouth than the grizzled sathanite flicked the knives at Jen’Zadeer with a speed that belied his crotchety appearance. Two of them sank into her outstretched forearms and the other two into her calves. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer cried “Shatzah!” as her limbs were overcome by the numbing effect of the knives’ spell. She wobbled on her feet and tried to keep her balance, but because she had been robbed of all feeling in those limbs, she looked like a puppet with its strings cut. Once her ankle turned awkwardly it was all over, and she fell to the ground. 
 
     Casting Vorpal Weapon on a sword or an axe may look more impressive when it could be used to literally sever limbs, but Olganeth had demonstrated the numbing effect was all you needed if you were canny with the placement of attacks. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer was swearing loudly and trying to get back to her feet but only succeeded in flopping around on the floor like a fish out of water. Olganeth approached her from behind and jumped on her back. He slammed his booted foot into the back of her head, pushing her face into the thin layer of sand that covered the temple floor. He obviously had no intention of allowing her to cast a spell on him, possibly using her eyes as Bulmaras had done to Nessa. 
 
    Drawing two serrated long blades from sheathes on his hip he knelt down atop Jen’Zadeer and went to work sawing and cutting into her throat and the back of her head until she went still. 
 
    Her death was confirmed by sudden movement in the narrow tunnel. Thorzoth sat up, rage plain on his acid-singed face. He took one look at Olganeth standing triumphant atop the dead dark elf and his rage quickly shifted into fear. He practically jumped to his feet and ran back the way he had come. Most of the pressure triggers in that direction had already been activated so he was only sprayed with acid one more time. 
 
    “What’s the matter, Thorzoth? Afraid of an old demon, like me,” Olganeth jeered at his departing form with a dark chuckle. 
 
    Once the incubus had disappeared from view, Olganeth wiped his blades clean on Jen’Zadeer’s back and left the temple area through a concealed side passage that would take him in the direction of Tamara, his next target. 
 
    We had just lost Jen’Zadeer’s floor as well. And Marux along with it.  
 
    Unless, of course, Tamara or I could make it to the capstone before the gauntlet match concluded. 
 
    Which was something else that had not been going to plan. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    A combination of the periodical pings, we’d had three now, and Timian’s handwritten instructions to Kriger and Garvax meant Tenzing had to remap my route to the top three times already and was in the midst of calculating it for a fourth time. 
 
    To further complicate matters, Timian had been wandering about the upper levels, seemingly at random, moving objects or extinguishing light sources. We suspected the intention of his erratic behaviour was to make Tenzing’s task all the more difficult. 
 
    “How are we coming along, Tenzing? If I don’t send myself an update soon, we’ll be committed to the current course.” 
 
    I didn’t like to put my friend under such pressure, but my pressing was almost instinctual. It was squeaky bum time, of that there could be no doubt. If I continued in this direction, I would run straight into Garvax in less than a minute, but I didn’t want to be the one to decide on the new course. Tenzing was far better suited for the calculations, and we had only a minute of contingency left to play with. 
 
    His blue face was crumpled in concentration as he tapped furiously away at his tablet. To be honest, I’m not sure he even heard my nervous urging. 
 
    With one last heavy tap of his finger, he looked up and swept his fingers across the screen replacing the existing layout of the pyramid with a new one. “This is the best option we have available. It is the last chance to make it to the capstone, but it does not come without risk. If you can get through the fifth floor quickly enough, you can stay ahead of Garvax and get in front of Kriger and then nothing will stand in your way except the imp patrolling near the capstone itself. It is risky, though. Miss the window by a fraction and you will be left face-to-face with Kriger and Garvax will not be too far behind.” 
 
    “We don’t have another option,” I said, and relayed to my avatar in the gauntlet match the change of direction and imparted upon him the urgency of the situation. 
 
    My pyramid-self tried to pick up the pace, but honestly, I was already haring through the tunnel complex at my maximum velocity. There was no more speed that could be squeezed out. It was wait and watch time. 
 
    Five minutes later, came the moment of truth. 
 
    I had recently run up a stairwell onto the sixth floor of the pyramid. Shabbarth and Timian had been lurking on the fifth which had made clearing that level tricky. The challenge on the sixth, though, was that the walls shifted every few minutes. Passages that were open would suddenly be closed and new ones would open up. 
 
    Tenzing had to anticipate these shifts as part of his calculations. And it was what made this make or break. Get the timing right and I would pass through into a new section which had a way up to the seventh floor. The shifting wall would close behind me, and that would prevent Kriger and Garvax from following me, at least for a couple of minutes. Those couple of minutes would be all I needed. Then I would have the time to get to the pinnacle floor with enough minutes to spare to figure out a way to get past the imp. 
 
    I sprinted down a T-junction corridor that had been blacked out. Someone had removed the guttering torches or perhaps they had never been any in here. I didn’t need the light; my sight was sharp enough to make out the walls. The sharp left turn ahead of me would take me into that wall-shifting room and I knew Kriger would be rapidly approaching from the opposite direction. 
 
    Reaching the turn, I planted my foot in haste to pivot my body into the sharp junction and not lose any momentum. The first sign something was wrong was when I felt the oily squelch on the sole of my planted foot as it made contact with the sandstone slab. I might have been in my humanoid form, which was lighter, but with the pace I was travelling at it was still enough that I lost my footing and crashed to the floor, slipping a few inches past the turn. 
 
    In the dark, my body skidded into a small table, breaking it. A bronze oil lamp, the kind you’d rub to summon a genie, which had been sitting on the table fell on top of me. I wasn’t covered in the contents of the lamp, as someone, I guessed Timian, had already poured it on the ground of the T-junction intersection. 
 
    His earlier bizarre behaviour now made more sense. He had hidden this single meaningful act amongst dozens of random and pointless ones to disguise its significance from us. After he had extinguished a range of light sources, why would we have looked any harder when he blew out the flame of this particular lamp as he passed by? 
 
    I scrambled back to my feet. 
 
    Knowing the oil was on the slabs made it easy to leap over this time and keep going. My legs churned and my heart pumped as I sprinted the remaining fifty metres, ignoring the open doorways that led into treasure rooms, placed there to tempt the unwary. Thankfully, or maybe not, the far chamber, my destination, was well lit and I could see the way out. 
 
    For a brief exultant moment, I thought I would make it. 
 
    As I exited the tunnel into the small chamber itself, I heard the creaking of the gears coming from the walls as the mechanisms groaned into life and slammed a foot thick wall across the opening right in front of my nose. My body thumped into the blockage, but it had absolutely no give to it. The blockage that is, not my body. That gave plenty as I felt the smarting pain of colliding with solid stone while running at maximum speed. 
 
    “God damn it!” I yelled while battering my fists pointlessly on the sandstone.  
 
    I closed my eyes and rested my head against the impromptu wall. “What now?” I panted, anger and despair warring for dominance over my psyche. 
 
    My question had been to the three people I knew were observing all this from the comfort of the viewing lounge but it was answered by a mocking voice that echoed down the tunnel I had just left. 
 
    “Now, I make the kill and skin you for your pelt to make myself a nice winter coat. And if you’re very lucky, I’ll do it in that order.” 
 
    Kriger calmly jogged into the light of the room. I knew he would not be far behind me but was still a little shocked at how close he’d turned out to be. He was smirking cruelly, showing off his teeth which he had carved or sharpened into points. At some stage, he had covered half of his face in blue woad warpaint that stuck out in contrast to his bright orange hair that he had slicked back and tied with a leather band. 
 
    He carried a pair of hatchets, one in each hand. The armour he wore had shifted from the gleaming steel and white tabard when he first arrived in the Proving Grounds into chainmail and raggedy cured leather hides that made him look like a crazed mountain man. 
 
    Alyssa had forewarned me about this, and I couldn’t assume he was wearing lighter armour than before. The armour hadn’t really changed, its shape and form had merely transformed into something that better suited Kriger’s personality. While he had been in close proximity to Timian, the prophet lord’s ego overshadowed his own and stamped Timian’s will on the armour’s form. 
 
    Being let off the leash had freed him to express himself in a manner of speaking. 
 
    Garvax is getting nearer. You may have to fight both of them. Finish this one quickly. You know what to do. 
 
    I summoned my trusty double-headed maul and shield, and I felt the rippling and tickling sensation of transformation when my body shifted into its mighty lupine form. The information coming to me from the viewing lounge was a touch disheartening. We were indeed confident that I could handle Kriger or Garvax in a head-to-head battle but fighting them at the same time or one directly after the other was far less certain. 
 
    Well, that wasn’t really true. There was a fair bit of certainty about the result, but I just didn’t want to contemplate it. 
 
    The situation was not hopeless, though. 
 
    Had it been Garvax first with Kriger hot on his heels then things would be different, but it wasn’t. 
 
    Kriger had been a regular attendee of the divine challenges. He enjoyed hunting. More than that, he enjoyed harming the people he hunted before killing them. Alyssa had been able to watch him in action and his modus operandi was entirely predictable. 
 
    Blood curses were his area of expertise, like the berserker curse he inflicted on Fiadh. And he never forwent an opportunity to sic a fresh one on a target. We were confident he would try to do so with me. 
 
    “How kind of you to shift,” he sneered at me. “I’ll be sure to use the extra flesh to make myself a pair of boots too.” 
 
    I clanged the maul against my shield and snarled threateningly at him. 
 
    “Shall we,” he invited with a feral grin as he inched one foot backward as if preparing to launch a charging attack. 
 
    I bellowed back in kind and shifted my stance to mimic his. An acceptance of a kind to his call to battle and then pushed off the balls of my feet towards him. 
 
    The cruel glint in his eyes confirmed this had been the opening Kriger had been waiting for. He gathered his power, took aim, and lashed out at me with a pre-prepared curse. 
 
    Under normal circumstances, and with almost any other being, what Kriger tried to do would be invisible and virtually instantaneous. Not with me, though. The curse he through in my direction was not a magical spell like Hex. He had woven raw power, raw soul energy, into a barbed net and cast it not to ensnare my ethereal form, but to directly cage my soul. 
 
    But Kriger had forgotten just what I was. A soul siphon. A being with the capacity to access and use my soul and the souls of others. What’s more, thanks to what he did to Fiadh, I already had direct experience of the kind of cursed cage he was trying to wrap around my soul. Which included knowledge of how to manipulate it. 
 
    The passage of time slowed almost to a stop, 
 
    The net of Kriger’s curse was only a foot from his face and the sadistic smirk of victory it held. The mesh of the cage was very slowly unfurling and expanding in size as it inched its way toward me. I estimated that I had roughly one minute to work my own magic. More than enough time as I had been practising for this very eventuality for several years now. 
 
    With care and concentration, I extended my will towards the angry, barbed mesh of energy slowly crossing the room. My first few attempts at touching it were failures. The curse cage reacted violently at my intrusion and forcefully rejected my influence. It had been freshly created by Kriger and was brimming with his ill-intent and hatred for me. 
 
    This was to be expected and did not discourage me in the least. My early probing revealed the cage’s strongest and weakest points. I was confident that should all else fail, I could successfully disperse the curse before it landed. But there were a couple of other things I could try to turn this to my advantage. 
 
    I tried the longest shot first. An injection of my own will and intent that would convert the cage from a curse into a blessing. Similar in nature to what I’d done for Fiadh, transforming something that was supposed to be detrimental into something that was beneficial. 
 
    Unfortunately, I quickly had to abandon this plan. This curse was too different from Fiadh’s. If I had a few minutes of real-time I could let it strike and then slowly convert it. 
 
    Given the situation, I couldn’t afford to allow the curse to land and debilitate me even for a few seconds. Kriger would be upon me and would almost certainly end me before I could complete the conversion. Then I would lose several floors from my dungeon as a penalty. 
 
    With what we had already lost today, that was a risk too far. 
 
    The potential jeopardy alone would have deterred the attempt, but what I also learned from this failure was that the curse was temporary. It would last at most an hour. The short duration would allow Kriger to make it particularly nasty, with little or none of the beneficial side effects necessary to extend the duration of the curse to permanence. 
 
    It was not worth the effort to even make the attempt. 
 
    The mesh of the cage was fully unfurled and close to halfway across the room. It was now in the perfect position for plan B before falling back on the Plan C of dispersal should B fail. 
 
    Straining my mental faculties to the limit, I prepared twenty blunt soul-based attacks. Ten along the top, on my side of the mesh. The second group of ten ran along the base and faced in the opposite direction, on Kriger’s side of the mesh. 
 
    The strain almost broke me, but I held on long enough to get everything in position and released the pulses in tandem. They slammed into the mesh, which violently repelled them as expected. 
 
    However, as I hoped, the points struck by my attacks were made to recoil in a similarly violent manner. Einstein’s equations of equal and opposite reaction in glorious technicolour. The mesh juddered and then started to rotate. The velocity of its momentum caused the net to spin in place instead of moving towards me. 
 
    After what felt like an age but was only a fraction of a second in real-time the rotations of the curse cage began to slow. My body had been moving forward all this time and was now inches from touching the mesh. It was do or die time 
 
    Well, do or disperse. 
 
    I formed twenty more soul attacks, but with a little less power this time. I put them in place as before but this time the intent was to halt the spinning when the forward part of the mesh was pointing away from me. The strain was less, but the difficulty was higher. I released the attacks and saw them collide creating a series of the same reactions as before but on a smaller scale. 
 
    Figuratively, I held my breath, my eyes rivetted to the complex surgery I had attempted in mid-air. 
 
    Success! 
 
    Or kind of. 
 
    The spinning of the mesh had been halted entirely and it continued to inch its way forward once more. This time in the opposite direction as I’d hoped. But I couldn’t release my figurative breath just yet. It was going back towards Kriger, but the angle was ever so slightly off. This would cause the curse cage to go upwards as well as back towards its sender. 
 
    With Kriger hunched down a little, there was a very real possibility the curse cage would go over his head and slap harmlessly into the sandstone wall above the tunnel entrance. This wouldn’t be the worst result, it would be pretty much the same as if I’d been forced to disperse the mesh, but after successfully reversing its course, I wanted Kriger to suffer the consequences of his actions. 
 
     I couldn’t help but remain immersed in this state that allowed me to directly manipulate soul energy despite the torpid wait. Eventually, my patience was rewarded. 
 
    The curse cage did indeed travel high and wide and slipped by his head and over the top of Kriger’s shoulder, but just as I thought it had failed the very bottom left edge touched the tip of an errant carrot-red hair from behind his ear that was too short to be pulled back in the ponytail. 
 
    And that was all it took. 
 
    The smallest hint of contact and the cage shifted position like a living thing and struck, enveloping Kriger. Sinking into his flesh and then around whatever he possessed that approximated a soul. The barbs dug in, making it virtually impossible to remove the cage without time and exacting care. 
 
    Time sped back up and I was hit with a notification that made me smile wolfishly. 
 
      
 
    You have been the target of a divine curse. The Bloodfire Curse. 
 
    Bloodfire Curse: The very blood that courses through your veins causes a severe allergic reaction in your body. Wherever your blood is in contact with your flesh there will be an instantaneous and extremely painful inflammatory reaction. It will be as if your very blood is made of fire. 
 
    #Error# Despite being the intended target, and the curse activating, you have not been affected. 
 
      
 
     Kriger howled loudly as figurative fire flooded his body. His eyes rolled back in their sockets, and he collapsed to his knees, dropping both his hatchets. He was unable to think or act, so overwhelmed by the extreme level of agony he had been struck by. 
 
    The cruel smirk now adorned my face as I reached the prone god with a few steps and slammed my double-headed maul into the side of his head. The blow knocked out several of his teeth and sent him sprawling onto the floor. 
 
    Kriger barely registered what had happened to him. He was too busy screaming and clawing madly at his body. 
 
    The blood vessels in his eyes had burst and blood flowed down his cheek causing it to blister and burn wherever it touched. Sending my shield to my personal gauntlet inventory, I reached down and pulled the leather band from his hair and discarded it. The leather band transformed into a metal helm as it clattered on the floor slabs. 
 
    A lack of head protection would make this quicker. 
 
    Because this was a gauntlet match, I got no notifications of what percentage of Kriger’s health remained after my first strike. I guess I would just have to keep hitting him until I was sure. 
 
    My maul thumped into the curse lord’s head, cracking his skull and damaging what passed for brains. I got into a steady rhythm and despite Kriger’s relative vulnerability his health pool had been largely unaffected, and it took quite a few head bashes before it looked like I was close to finishing the deed. 
 
    Beware! 
 
    My alternates voice cut through the joy of defeating a foe and I looked up just in time to see Garvax appear from the dark of the corridor. Similar to Kriger, his getup had changed, but the modifications to Garvax’s armour were more cosmetic. The blazing white of his tabard had been replaced by a deep blue. 
 
    Our eyes met and Garvax halted his advance. I readjusted the grip on my maul, there was gurgled gasping coming from Kriger below me as he struggled to draw breath. It was the only sound to be heard. The sadistic god had just hung on long enough for his reinforcements to arrive. 
 
    There was nothing else for it. I would have to fight Garvax too, but I had to be sure of finishing Kriger off first. If I was about to lose dungeon floors, killing him became an even greater priority. I hefted the maul and brought it down on Kriger’s prone head, once, twice, and then a final third time and he was dead. 
 
    But the expected counterattack from Garvax never came. 
 
    Our respective eyes remained glued to one another, and as Kriger expired, Garvax finally took his gaze from mine to stare down at his dead compatriot. 
 
    “Screw Kriger and screw Timian,” he muttered. 
 
    It was as if a dam had been knocked down and Garvax’s entire demeanour changed. He rolled his shoulders and smirked to himself, tittered some snorted laughter, and then started to clap wildly. 
 
    Garvax seemed to be unhinged and I genuinely couldn’t tell if this was an act or if he had started to lose his mind. 
 
    “Congratulations, Wolf King!” he exclaimed as his clapping stopped suddenly and all sense of frivolity left his face and demeanour. “But don’t think this makes us allies. Timian thinks I am such an idiot. He thinks we all are. Fucking arrogant prick that he is.” 
 
    Garvax reached behind him and pulled something from his belt, but it was not a weapon. It was the parchment with his instructions from Timian. He waved the piece of paper in the air in front of him. 
 
    “Do you know what this says?” he asked me rhetorically. “It explains, not in too much detail, mind, but enough, what you were about to do. That you would get the upper hand on Kriger. I was supposed to let that happen and step in before you had a chance to finish murdering him. We’d then have a lengthy tight battle. You unleashing all your spells, me doing the same. 
 
    “Long enough for Kriger to recover a modicum of his senses, return to the fray and distract you. Then I could strike the killing blow…against you. Then Timian ordered me…” he laughed almost hysterically, “…to finish the job on Kriger that you started. I’d no objections on that front. Kriger there was almost as unpleasant as Timian. Hard to pick which was the bigger lump of shit.” 
 
    “Why didn’t you follow through then?” I asked him. 
 
    Garvax grinned again but the smile did not reach his eyes. “Simple really. I’d wager everything I possess in the heavens that Kriger’s final instruction was to do the same to me. I decided not to find out what nasty little trick you had up your sleeve to leave me as vulnerable as him. That’s all.” 
 
    He is correct. My alternate who had been watching in the viewing lounge informed me. He had managed to get a look at Kriger’s parchment when he had unrolled it to read at the T-junction. 
 
    Kriger was not warned about what we would do. He was only told that Garvax would join the fight and he was to allow us to wear him down and then kill him once we had been slain.  
 
    “As you can see. I’m not stupid,” Garvax continued when I didn’t speak any further. “I will make it out of here intact. I’m simply going to let the challenge do what it is meant to and then I will get to feast on you. Best of luck killing as many of the others as you can. You will need it.” 
 
    “Aren’t you afraid that Timian has seen all this? That all you are doing is following his design unwittingly?” I prodded. 
 
    “We shall see,” he replied. “But I doubt it. I’ve played the lickspittle to his overbearing elitist ass for many years. He has tells when he isn’t getting his way. And his well-laid plans didn’t entirely go to plan thanks to Tamara. He is nothing if not predictable, ironic really for the god of seers. You’d think with his advantages, he could surprise people more often. I expect he’ll deal with her personally, even if it isn’t the wisest course of action.” 
 
    With that, Garvax turned on his heel, his dark blue cape whipping around, and he sprinted off back down the tunnel. He started to laugh manically about halfway. 
 
    Well, that was a bit of a surprise. Sadly, he was dead right about Timian’s reaction. 
 
    I lowered my head and sighed which came out as more of a grunt in my wolf form. It had felt like one-step-forward-two-steps-back kind of day, and I really didn’t like it. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 12 
 
      
 
    The tense confrontation with Kriger and Garvax was over, but it had achieved one positive for team Timian. It had dominated my attention and that of Alyssa and Tenzing during a crucial few minutes. During that time, we had lost track of Timian and where he was in relation to our other survivor, Tamara. 
 
    Therefore, my pulsed warning of dread to warn the gorgeous gorgon woman to turn tail and run came seconds too late. 
 
    Tamara had been working her way up through the pyramid levels methodically. Making great time, in fact. The path she took was not identical to the optimal one Tenzing had mapped out which would have got her to the capstone in the shortest amount of time, but it was not far off. It would have been touch and go as to whether she could have made it to the top within the time limit, but she was smashing her previous record by several hours.  
 
    Unknowingly, she’d been helped out by Shabbarth’s murder of Magros. That had pulled the infernal lord out of position at a critical juncture, and she passed him by before he returned to the position he had vacated. The lack of monstrous threats in the pyramid had allowed her to focus her innate intuition solely on the direction she needed to take, and it had not led her astray until now. 
 
    Sadly, the best counter to a seer’s prophetic abilities is another seer with even more powerful foresight. 
 
    Tamara had just entered another of the myriad burial chambers the pyramid was filled with. This particular room appeared to be one for servants or slaves, as the cheap-looking sarcophagi were packed close together in alcoves carved out of the walls. The blue and yellow paint jobs on them were slapdash and faded in comparison to the work that adorned the tombs of kings. 
 
    The centrepiece of the room was a stone statue of a female human body with a cat’s head. The statue was not to be confused with my catgirl twins who were women with a number of cat-like features. The ears, eyes, claws, and tails, mostly. 
 
    Timian had concealed himself on the other side of this statue and Tamara approached the plinth it stood upon when my warning hit her like a freight train. She skidded to a halt on the lightly sandy stone before trying to back up and leave the danger zone. 
 
    “No, you don’t,” Timian sniggered as he revealed himself. 
 
    He pirouetted around the statue and thrust an ivory polearm similar to a halberd inlaid with enchanted rubies that glittered in the low light at Tamara’s head. She raised her shield and deflected the strike, but the strength of the blow forced her to stumble sideways into the corner of the room. 
 
    Away from the closest exit that was on her right. 
 
    Nonchalantly, Timian strode into the space that Tamara had vacated, a cruel smirk on his handsome face. “Nothing to say to your patron and saviour, Tammy?” 
 
    Tamara’s copper head-snakes hissed and writhed in response to Timian’s taunt. “You are no saviour of mine. Abuser and defiler are better suited descriptors,” she snapped back and tried to use her petrifying gaze upon him. 
 
    Almost lazily, Timian flipped the visor of his helmet down over his face with his free hand and leaned out of the way of her attack. Tamara had thrust her head forward and lowered both her arms carrying her sword and shield just a little. 
 
    It was an instinctive reflex when using her gaze attack and one that Timian took advantage of. His halberd started to glow with a red vorpal nimbus, and he lashed out with it one-handed, penetrating through Tamara’s compromised defensive stance. The tip of the blade stabbed under her arm by the shoulder joint. 
 
    Tamara cried out in pain from the stabbing and Timian danced back away from her attempted counterstrike laughing heartily. The effects of the Vorpal Weapon spell had already taken effect and her shield arm hung uselessly by her side. 
 
    Tamara automatically stowed the shield, no more use than a large paperweight that would only get in the way when she moved. 
 
    “You are no match for me, Tammy. You know that, don’t you? Whatever you can think of to do, I have anticipated and countered,” he taunted again. 
 
    Tamara feinted with her sword in his direction, only to abandon the strike and make for the far exit on the other side of the cat-headed statue. Timian laughed as he threw himself forward in a commando roll and came back to a standing position blocking her path. 
 
    It was Tamara’s turn to grin cruelly and she unleashed a Lightning Bolt directly at Timian’s chest that connected with a crackling zap and left the faint smell of ozone in the air. 
 
    However, Timian’s mocking laughter did not stop, and apart from a very small rocking motion he did not seem fazed at all by the powerful spell blast. 
 
    “Invigorating,” he said with a deep breath. “That really got the blood pumping. Such a shame for you that I came prepared with an impressive amount of resistance to electrical damage. What else have you got?” 
 
    He punctuated his mockery with several swift strikes with his halberd. But he wasn’t targeting Tamara’s body, he aimed at her sandalled feet. Her sword was next to useless in deflecting strikes targeted so low and Tamara was forced to essentially dance in order to avoid them, much to Timian’s amusement. 
 
    This could only last so long. 
 
    Timian’s attacks were not random and soon he had Tamara backed into a corner again where she could no longer evade his stabbing thrusts. One particularly well-aimed attack stabbed into the bridge of her left foot and then sliced the inside of her right calf as he drew the tip of the halberd back. 
 
    Once the numbness set in, Tamara was unable to stay on her feet and fell to her knees. 
 
    “Ah, on your knees, where you belong.” Timian smiled and raised the visor of his helmet so he could look down on her. “You were such a disappointment to me, Tammy. Throwing your lot in with that hairy lout. You had such potential. But I am not an unforgiving deity. 
 
    “Beg for my mercy, Tammy. Plead. Denounce the mongrel you’ve allowed to crawl between your legs, and I can save you. You don’t have to end here along with him and his other whores. I shall be the last one standing. I have seen it. You know my power. Your fate is mine to decide. Debase yourself now, pledge eternal service to me and you can have a future. A future of grovelling and serving at my behest. It is the best and only offer you are going to get.” 
 
    To her credit and my unending pride, Tamara did not even hesitate. She raised her head and spat in the eye of her long-time tormentor. 
 
    “Daxas is a thousand times the man you are, Timian. I would rather have the last few hours I can have with him than the centuries of pain and humiliation you offer.” 
 
    To my surprise, Timian didn’t react with violence or petulance. He merely wiped the spittle that dribbled down his cheek away. 
 
    “It would appear that you are a prophetess, after all,” he giggled with a hint of mania. “My behest would have been agonising torment anyway. Day and night with no let up. But don’t think being clever gets you off the hook. Oh no, there has always been a place set aside for you in my fields of suffering and nothing you’ve done today will spare you that fate. A thousand years, Tamara. You will be mine to torment for a thousand years.” 
 
    With those final words, Timian swung his halberd at Tamara’s unprotected throat. The bladed edge bit deep and beheaded her in a single sweep. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Silence reigned in the viewing lounge as Tamara’s head hit the stone of the pyramid floor. Her copper head-snakes writhed for the briefest moment before they flopped motionless, framing her pretty face. Despite what Timian had to say in those final moments she had a serene and hopeful expression. It was not necessary, but I pledged to repay her faultless faith in me. 
 
    The timer on the gauntlet match read 49:32. She had been twenty-eight seconds from retaining her floor for the challenge. 
 
    I’d be a monkey’s uncle if Timian hadn’t known that and timed his ambush perfectly so that he could snatch that small victory from Tamara at the death. Just so that her defeat would sting a little bit more. 
 
    We couldn’t dwell on what could no longer be changed. 
 
    “Tenzing, the compartment wall should open in a moment. Are you able to salvage this?” 
 
    To be fair to Tenzing, he had been poring over his tablet from the moment the fists of my avatar in the gauntlet had first banged noisily on the closed-off wall. He looked up at me with a mournful look on his face. “I’m sorry, Daxas. There is just no way to make up for the lost time. The best I can manage is to keep you undiscovered for the last ten minutes.” 
 
    I blew out a big breath and leaned back on the couch. It was the answer I’d been expecting. Tenzing had already told me the consequences of not making it through the room before the blockading wall slotted into place. My singular hope had been Kriger’s death and Garvax’s apparent disinterest in facing me might have changed the arithmetic. Or that he had been doing a Scotty and was about to be a miracle worker. 
 
    Apparently not. 
 
    I closed my eyes and Alyssa stroked my cheek from her spot in my lap. She knew me well enough not to say anything. There was nothing to say that would change what had just occurred and the torrid bind it put us in. It was why I’d not called any of my other disciples back to watch this with us. I didn’t want to see a single sliver of hope fade from their eyes. 
 
    My mind swirled but that was when I felt it. 
 
    A tickling, almost mental itching sensation. My sixth sense linked to my special soul was tingling. It had been a while; I’d almost thought the sense was gone. Subsumed by my greater understanding and use of my soul. Turns out, this was not the case. I simply hadn’t needed it again, until now. 
 
    What was it telling me, though? 
 
    My ears pricked up. 
 
    I’d missed something. 
 
    In all the excitement and confusion, something important had gone unnoticed. 
 
    Struggling to keep abreast of all the different feeds and goings-on had been a strain. That is how we missed Tamara’s impending doom in the first place. 
 
    It couldn’t be that, though. We’d already missed the boat on saving Tamara. Nessa and Jen’Zadeer too. 
 
    My fight with Kriger and conversation with Garvax? 
 
    Doubtful. 
 
    Both mine and Alyssa’s full attention had been on those unfolding events. Again, a big part of the reason we missed Timian manoeuvring himself into position. 
 
    What did that leave? 
 
    And then it came to me. 
 
    “Alyssa, replay the fight between Magros and Shabbarth for me, please.” 
 
    She looked up at me curiously. “Of course, darling,” and she repurposed the viewing screen that still showed Magros’ corpse lying on the floor. 
 
    The scene began again. 
 
    “What are you looking for?” she asked. 
 
    “I don’t know,” I confessed. “But I think I’ll know it when I see it.” 
 
    We watched together. 
 
    Past Magros’ pointless looting of the tomb. 
 
    Past Shabbarth’s arrival and the early insults between the demons. 
 
    Past Magros’ laughter. 
 
    Past Shabbarth’s attack of opportunity with the lid of a sarcophagus. 
 
    Past the first swipe of that insanely lethal knife as it severed the butcher’s apron from Magros’ neck and fell to the floor. The looted jewels glinted as the apron fell forward. 
 
    Wait! 
 
    The apron had fallen forward, showing me the inside. All the looted gold and valuables had been stuffed in pockets on the outside. What the hell had caught my attention on the inside? 
 
    “Stop the recording,” I asked Alyssa. “Go back to when Shabbarth cuts the apron and then change the angle so we can get a better look as it falls to the floor.” 
 
    With a quizzical look, Alyssa did so. 
 
    We watched as the feed restarted with the angle shifted as I’d requested. There as the apron fell, we could see, clear as clear can be, from this new vantage, six sheaths sewn into the underside of the apron. Each sheath held a knife with a dazzling different coloured jewel in the pommel. That had been what I spotted glinting back the firelight in the replay. 
 
    “Pause it there,” I commanded excitedly. 
 
    Lifting Alyssa with me easily, I stood up from the couch and approached the viewing screen. 
 
    “Tell me I’m seeing things, but do the pommels of those knives look awfully similar to the one Shabbarth happens to be wielding?” 
 
    Alyssa disentangled herself from my embrace and got down on her own two feet and examined the screen closely. 
 
    “You’re right,” she gasped in shock. “By the Entity! How did I miss this?” 
 
    “I suspect you were meant to,” Tenzing piped up from behind us. “Especially, if the providence of these blades includes Devantus Drakonis in any manner. I can’t help but notice that Magros’ set of six does not include a knife with a yellow citrine in the pommel. As if that one was specifically meant for him.” 
 
    I nodded in understanding. “Keep playing the footage but return us to the original view.” 
 
    We watched as the scene completed. “Did you see that?” I said, as it finished. “When Magros’ withered body fell to the ground it covered up the set of knives in the apron. I don’t think Shabbarth noticed them. His entire focus was on watching the life fade from his rival’s eyes. Go back to the beginning again, please.” 
 
    Alyssa duly complied and we started from the beginning again. 
 
    “Look there,” I almost shouted at an earlier point. “Did you see how Magros was rummaging under the apron for something, but he stopped when Shabbarth made his demand for lands in the reaches. I bet he was going for one of those blades believing they were about to fight and then got duped by Shabbarth’s ruse. 
 
    “Tenzing, can you get me to that burial chamber before the clock runs out?” 
 
    “I’m way ahead of you, Daxas.” He beamed at me and waved his hand towards the holo-picture of the pyramid. A fresh golden route already laid out. 
 
    Alyssa clapped her hands excitedly. “You can even take those daggers with you as Magros brought them in with him and they are not part of his official Proving Grounds gear.” 
 
    “Exactly,” I said to her. 
 
    Change of plan, I sent to myself. We’re no longer heading for the capstone. 
 
    I didn’t need to explain the rest. The understanding flowed into my gauntlet-participating other half. 
 
    The next six or seven minutes were quite nerve-wracking. Making it back to Magros’ body in time wasn’t a done deal. Timian, Garvax, Shabbarth, and Tir’Goran might not have been particularly interested in trying to stop me but the others, with the exception of Bulmaras who was stuck in the carrion scarab chamber, were still trying to intercept me. 
 
    However, with under a minute of the match left, I sprinted into the chamber and threw the desiccated corpse of Magros off the apron. I gathered up all six of the blades from their sheaths. Once out of their pockets, we could see they were the same. Black blades with coloured striations that matched the jewel in the pommel. 
 
    I quickly stowed all six in my gauntlet inventory, which effectively confirmed I could keep the daggers for myself. They wouldn’t have gone in otherwise. 
 
    A few seconds later, the match concluded. My gauntlet avatar faded from sight as did all the surviving Lords. Tamara, Jen’Zadeer, and Nessa reappeared in the room in the same place they’d been before the gauntlet began. Various disappointed expressions adorned their beautiful faces. 
 
    Which was in stark contrast to the ridiculously wolfish grin on mine. 
 
    We may have lost three of our most demanding floors from the dungeons. Floors the challengers would no longer have to traverse but we had gained six infernal lord insta-killing daggers in return. 
 
    When you factored in Kriger and Magros’ early demise, I was very much of the opinion that we’d got the better end of the deal. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 13 
 
      
 
    “Ladies, you may as well get comfortable,” I said to the three returnees. 
 
    “Why are you in such a good mood?” Nessa questioned me, rapid fire. “Did you make it to the capstone? If you did, why was I notified during the space in between that my floor has been removed?” 
 
    “I’m afraid not,” I told them and then went on to explain what they had missed. The deaths of Kriger and Magros and the retrieval of the striated daggers. 
 
    Our attention on the dungeon was not immediately necessary. Shabbarth had triggered the official start of the Divine Challenge by sending one of his champions through, but they seemed in no particular hurry to get underway and send through the rest. 
 
    In fact, arguments about who would go first and the rest of the order had broken out. This only intensified after the Infernal Princeps belatedly realised that one of their number was missing along with his champions. 
 
    Tamara summoned a small teak table and covered it with a white silk sheet. I laid out the six daggers on the space she had made so we could all see them. 
 
    Nessa picked one up and tested the edge of the blade with her finger. “It sucks that I won’t be able to use one of these. At least, the challenge should be short and sweet. Just like me.” She winked at Jen’Zadeer who rolled her eyes in response. 
 
    “Things may not be so simple,” Tenzing warned the group. “We do not yet know how the daggers work. My suspicion, based on what I observed during the gauntlet, is that each of these weapons is likely attuned to a specific infernal lord. Should we use the wrong dagger, it will likely have no effect and could possibly destroy or render the blade useless in the process.” 
 
    Nessa looked crestfallen at Tenzing’s explanation and put the blade she had been playing with back on the white silk. 
 
    Tenzing interlocked the fingers of his hands and pushed his palms out, cracking his knuckles. “Give me some time to study the properties of each knife and I’m positive I can match them to their respective lords.” 
 
    “Good man,” I said to my friend and clapped him on the back. 
 
    “It’s likely for the best anyway,” Jen’Zadeer commented. “We wouldn’t want to reveal that we have such powerful weapons in our possession. Not until we had engineered an opportunity to use them to maximum advantage. The Lords may be arrogant and petty, but they didn’t get to where they are today by being imbecilic. Once they know what we have, they will take the necessary precautions to protect themselves.” 
 
    “And it does not solve the problem of Timian and Garvax,” Tamara added. “These weapons will be of no use against them.” 
 
    “We have the time to figure all of this out,” I assured them. “The first couple of floors may not have anything particularly threatening for a force like this, but many of the obstacles are designed to slow progress, not necessarily to kill.” 
 
    We retired back to the leather couches leaving Tenzing to muse over our colourful new weapons and Alyssa whipped up a round of drinks. 
 
    I issued a few fresh orders to change things up a little from the usual challenge mode in the dungeon. 
 
    The squad of twenty goblins on the first floor were ordered into hiding. There was no point wasting them during the first wave. Their ‘Mob Rule’ ability which normally doubled their stats would work in reverse with a delving group that outnumbered them to begin with. It would leave me with some surprises for later, though. 
 
    The orders for the slick bridge were changed as well. There was no point wasting that on the first wave, especially while they still had a few fliers. 
 
    As I was issuing these updated orders, moving my people around like chess pieces a plan began to formulate. 
 
    In my peripheral vision, I’d been keeping an eye on what had been happening in the saferoom with my enemies. The accusations and finger-pointing between the Infernal Lords had gone on for five or six minutes before their instinctive reactions petered out and they got back down to business. 
 
    They all disliked, if not completely despised one another. Trust was in short supply among them. Obviously, Shabbarth was the prime suspect, as he should have been. He was guilty as hell. But he played their paranoia off well. Pointing out that any of them could have sought out Magros while they were split up during the gauntlet and were trying to foist the blame upon him. 
 
    Expertly he cast suspicion on everybody. 
 
    Had any of them seen Bulmaras during the match? No, they hadn’t. 
 
    Or Tharzus? No, again. 
 
    Olganeth and Thorzoth claimed they crossed paths in the pyramid. But what if they were in it together? How did they meet up anyway if they both started in different corners on the first floor of the pyramid? 
 
    And who is faster than Tir’Goran Six-Winged? Why had he been so insistent on guarding the capstone that their victims had no chance of ever reaching? What if his plan had been to abandon that post and perform an ambush all along? 
 
    What of Timian and Garvax? Were the infernals expected to believe their tall tale of the Wolf King killing Kriger? Or did the three of them launch a surprise attack and Magros slew one of them before he succumbed to the numbers game? 
 
    It seemed Shabbarth knew just which buttons to press to sow the seeds of doubt and suspicion amongst his brethren. 
 
    The arguing among them grew testy and loud. As each of the infernal’s voices grew in volume so they could be heard over the others. 
 
    Except for Bulmaras who sat on his haunches in silence. 
 
    Watching. Always watching. 
 
    Unity was not helped by each infernal trying to take all the credit for slaying my three disciples. And then they moved on to laying claim to Kriger’s downfall as well. 
 
    Lies piled upon lies until the only thing they could agree upon was that everyone else was a liar and that was not news to any of them. Eventually, once the ego storm had exhausted itself, they agreed to proceed as they had planned initially. 
 
    Timian and Garvax were told in no uncertain terms that they were not welcome. They and their champions were to remain in the saferoom if they knew what was good for them. Timian accepted these orders without a word, but he had a calm creepy smile on his face that screamed ‘I know something.’ 
 
    Either the infernals missed it or more likely in their arrogance, they assumed he was putting on a confident, all-knowing front. After all, isn’t that what they would have done in his position? 
 
    Anyway, I planned to put this distrust and lack of unity to the test. Apply some pressure to their shoddy alliance and see if I could open those cracks into unfixable gaping fissures. 
 
     My dungeon had nine floors if you included the core floor. The rank restrictions on the first four made them too weak to cause the champions much difficulty, but the fifth would be where I would make my first clinical strike. 
 
    Sacrifices would have to be made to lull the attackers into a false sense of security. Thus, I wouldn’t be implementing any of the various upgrades that could boost my creatures beyond what had already been witnessed in earlier challenges on the first four floors. 
 
    Anything I thought could be utilised later was ordered into hiding as I’d already done for the goblins. However, much of it had to be left in place. The run had to be convincing, after all. Take away too many threats and it would only arouse suspicion.  
 
    The rank-ups for my dungeons may have been reasonably modest for the upcoming week. But it had been enough to complete the last of the crafting paths. My people and I had been working feverishly in the forges and workrooms creating and crafting everything we would need. Ensuring it was made from the highest quality material possible and all of it masterwork grade. 
 
    All the equipment made for the three armies and the mobs on the lost six floors in the ladies’ dungeons was wasted effort now. Having much of that effort be for nothing rankled me deeply. 
 
    I would just have to let that discontent motivate my destructive tendencies and inflict some vengeance when the time came for me to get directly involved. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 14 
 
      
 
    The first thing we learned as we watched the early part of the first wave was that being an infernal champion didn’t make wading through several feet of mud any easier or any more pleasant. 
 
    Not if the incessant grumbling coming from most of them counted for anything. The two mud-bath rooms on the first floor had been extended as far as was practical and the depth of the mire increased to maximise the unpleasantness. 
 
    The guilds had long ago figured out the most efficient way of crossing this obstacle. They had constructed and carried pontoons in their inventories when they went in. The pontoons spread the weight of the party and allowed them to walk over the top. They would retrieve the pontoon from behind them and place it in front as they went. In addition to speeding up their passage, they were spared the unpleasant alternative of wading through the muck. 
 
    The infernals must not have got the memo or hadn’t bothered to watch any of the successful runs. The five wingless princeps commanded the reduced cadre of fliers to carry them and waited at the end for the bulk of the champions to reach them. 
 
    Any hope I may have had that they would be foolish enough to send the fliers back and leave themselves alone and vulnerable for a hastily prepared ambush was dashed. Instead, they waited, albeit impatiently. 
 
    I would have to be satisfied that they either didn’t think to send a suitably sized force ahead and then go themselves or their pride demanded only they should be spared the inconvenience of wading through the muck. 
 
    After that, they cleared the rest of the first floor with relative ease and at a reasonable pace. Mostly because it was largely stood down from a lot of my challenge protocols. 
 
    The ‘Slick Bridge’ was not slicked, nor was it defended. 
 
    A gremlin did trigger the ‘Chimney’s’ dart trap, but it didn’t cause any of them to fall. The gremlin shield push was equally ineffective when Tir’Goran and his flying goons zipped to the top and took care of them with ease. 
 
    They were only gremlins. 
 
    They simply cut through the ‘Playground’ chains rather than climbing over them. The slumber sprites stayed in their alcoves, not that their narcoleptic dust would be much use on delvers the calibre of the champions. 
 
    ‘Chandelier Falls’ didn’t fall. I would keep that trap in reserve for later. It might be of use to surprise a lone retreater. We would have to see. 
 
    The number of baboons and bulls that inhabited ‘Rope Climb’ and ‘Bull Run’ had ballooned over the years, but I still held half of them back for this first wave and had the remainder go out unequipped. 
 
    The ‘Labyrinth’ went unchanged and proved to be the biggest time sink after the dual ‘Mud Bath’ chambers. I beefed up the infernal minotaur guardians in there a little, just for show. They were still mostly one-shotted. 
 
    ‘Wipeout’ as it had so often before, proved to be a complete disappointment. The fliers provided a little balancing support for any champions that needed it, and they navigated the rolling logs quickly and without a problem. 
 
    They simply trampled through ‘Bramble Maze’. There was no point setting it ablaze when there were only fire-resistant infernals present. 
 
    They killed my minotaur champion in the ‘Arena’ for fun and after that, the first floor was done. None of my disciples were officially garrisoned there any longer. Their ranks were too high. I could have moved some of them down as it was a challenge but unless we were taking it to the infernal delvers properly, it would have been a waste of resources. 
 
    “That could have gone better,” Jen’Zadeer noted wryly as they cleared the floor. 
 
    “You can say that again. I don’t think any of them lost so much as a single point of health,” Nessa contributed in a glum tone. 
 
    “Don’t let it get you down. The first floor was never going to trouble them. It’s why most dungeons do away with the lower floors. That way they can attack from minute one. However, our difference is a strength, not a weakness. They won’t know when or where our killing blows will come from. 
 
    “Speaking of hidden strengths. How are things coming along with those daggers, Tenzing?” I called back to him over my shoulder. 
 
    Tenzing had been hunched over the table where I had laid the striated blades out, examining them carefully. 
 
    “Slowly,” he replied, half-distracted. 
 
    Then he sighed loudly, stood up straight and stretched his back and wandered over to where we were clustered. 
 
    “The magics involved in the forging of these weapons is unfamiliar to me and has made my examination troublesome. I have made a little headway, though. As we suspected, each of the blades is intended to be used against a specific Infernal Lord, but I have not been able to figure out which is intended for which Lord. I can sense the signature energies associated with all of them in every blade. It is terribly confusing.” 
 
    “You’ll figure it out, brother,” Alyssa encouraged. “We have every confidence in you.” 
 
    “Your faith in me is gratifying, sister. However, I fear the key to unlocking the mystery of the inner workings of these daggers will require me to witness one of them being used. And then observing how the other blades react to the destruction or the fulfilment of its purpose. The one thing I have been able to learn with certainty is that Magros’ energy signature is no longer present in any of the remaining six daggers. 
 
    “Such an endeavour would come with great risk and the odds are high that whichever blade was used would be the wrong one for that infernal and it would be permanently lost. Taking with it the opportunity to kill them easily.” 
 
    “Keep at it, bud. I’ve got a feeling that tricky problem might unravel itself if we can give the princeps enough rope to hang themselves,” I told him. 
 
    “You’re mixing your metaphors, Daxas.” He grinned back. 
 
    I shrugged and returned his smile in kind and then we both returned to our respective observational tasks. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    The infernals didn’t delay and they moved on to the second floor, ‘Tough Mudder.’ With the exception of the twenty goblin warriors, I left this floor unchanged. Ranks of wood elf archers manned the trenches at the top of the hillocks and bailed out the water all over the soil-covered approaches making climbing and descending treacherous with razor wire obstacles awaiting the clumsy on either side. 
 
    Much as I presumed. Tir’Goran and his loyal flying followers went airborne, easily avoiding the difficult terrain I had designed below. Which is why I had left the two hundred archers in place. They filled the sky with arrow fire making life awkward for the flying imps. Missile avoidance, even without the agility boost from Sundered Hate, was well within the imp’s capabilities, but it was an aggravation they soon tired of. 
 
    In the end, they chose to hover over their ground-bound companions rather than fly forward and deal with the annoying threat. Which did not go down well with some of their companions. 
 
    “Why in the hells are we still being peppered by these poxy arrows?” Thorzoth snarled after they had crested the third hillock and finished killing the patrolling dire wolves that dwelled between. “Tir’Goran, you damned lazy sod, take your imps and go end those fucking pests.” 
 
    “Why should I? Tir’Goran screeched back. “None of you appreciate me or my imps. Always giving orders as if we were your lessers. Look what happened the last time you asked me to send them forth. I lost half of my champions. Which is what you wanted isn’t it, you mother-slaying bastards.” 
 
    “You are a lesser infernal, you witless coward,” Thorzoth snapped back at him. 
 
    “What about your two incubi with wings, Thorzoth?” the imp lord sneered back. “Why haven’t you sent them forward?” 
 
    “He’s got you there, Thorzoth,” Tharzus Soulblight chuckled from behind the arguing pair. 
 
    Thorzoth glared at the interruption but didn’t say anything more. 
 
    “Ha! Nothing to say. I thought not,” Tir’Goran cackled with victory. “Don’t expect me to do what you are not willing to. I am your equal, not your slave.” 
 
    There were several more arguments of a similar nature until they reached the final hillock and fought in melee with the remaining wood elves. Again, I had redirected about a third of the archers into the sealed bunkers and left only enough to be convincing in the fight to the death at the floor’s end. 
 
    The third floor I had dubbed the ‘Vertigo Palace’. It was a relatively new addition with earlier floor designs shuffled upwards and was based on a similar concept to the treetop floor I built for Nessa’s dungeon, but without any trees. 
 
    Every room was a circular vertical tube, and they were stacked on top of one another. The ‘ground’ of each room was made up of a series of tightly meshed and enchanted razor wire. Tight enough that you couldn’t pass through and thereby it met the design protocols. 
 
    Stepping slabs protruded from the smooth inner walls arranged in an ascending spiral and they were the only way to the top. However, this was not a proper stairwell, there were significant gaps between slabs, and you had to jump from one to the next. 
 
    More barbed wire was randomly strung across the centre of the tube to make falling deadlier and to make simply flying up to the top of the current room more difficult. Some of the slabs, especially those towards the top, were booby-trapped. 
 
    Zap and dart traps mostly, placed with the intent of dislodging the unwary and causing them to fall. Where they would incur further damage and then have no choice but to crawl across razor wire to the start of that particular chamber and complete the climb again. 
 
    This floor was almost completely unchanged from a regular run, except for something I’d done through the miracle of mechanical engineering. 
 
    Or at least an approximation that I’d managed to cobble together from what the Accords allowed. 
 
    Key slabs had been removed or had their standing area drastically reduced. The gaps between were still makeable, particularly if you had retrieved the climbing gear in chests you could find in the optional rat basement wing accessible from the first room of the dungeon. 
 
    The infernals had not bothered with the basement. 
 
    However, their claws and talons were sharp and that certainly helped. Although without Sundered Hate they couldn’t dig in quite as effectively as when they were scaling the outer defences of Alpha compound a few hours earlier. 
 
    That limited the number of falls, but there were falls. And each sapped a little health from the unlucky champion who plummeted to the bottom. 
 
    When they made it to the fourth floor, they faced an open and desolate desert. I’d picked up the room type from one of my many martial conquests. The heat was intense, but that did not bother these opponents. The primary threats in this sandscape were sinkhole traps and a nasty plant monster Nessa’s list supplied for us. 
 
    The Greater Bloodspine Cactus. 
 
    As the name implied, it was a cousin species to the bloodthorn bushes. However, the cactus had a much higher purchase cost and its piercing spines drained victims of their blood and life essence with frightening speed. Part of the enhanced danger was that the cactus bloomed with a pretty and enticing pink flower that exuded a powerful aromatic lure. 
 
    The guild adventurers knew the location of these bloodthirsty cacti and avoided them. They could be destroyed from afar, but evasion was simpler and far safer. With the desert being as barren as it was, they weren’t that difficult to spot, even those partially concealed by the sand dunes. The infernals wouldn’t have the benefit of sight, though. For challenges, I toyed around with the environmental effects available to me and used them to whip up a thick sandstorm. 
 
    The whipping winds of the sandstorm were not powerful enough to rend exposed flesh, I couldn’t use the environment to deal any damage quite so directly. But it did reduce visibility to a few feet and once more, made life intolerable for the imps and other fliers in the group who were buffeted by the perpetual swirling winds. 
 
    The end result was that during the course of their clearing the fourth floor, seven champions fell into the clutches of a bloodspine cactus. None of them died, more’s the pity, but most of them were forced to use their Sundered Hate to avoid an early bath on this run. And considering that the fifth floor was where I planned to make my move, I would take that as a win. 
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 15 
 
      
 
    The infernals marched unperturbed through the portal and onto my fifth floor, but upon arrival, they were forced to check their progress. 
 
    The fifth floor used the urban advanced room as its base. This should not have been a surprise to the Infernal Lords. However, thanks to the town planner perk I had acquired in my duel with Jarlath the vampire many moons ago, I had been able to create a secondary layout for the floor. 
 
    A layout that no one had set eyes on before today. 
 
    Before them were densely packed square buildings of varying sizes made from granite. They were solidly built with flat rooves. Most of them had only one way in, a door or a window. A lot of the buildings were built as terraces even if the height of the structures differed. There were a few very tight alleys that weaved through the few gaps between the imposing buildings. Occasionally, there were stairwells or ladders that allowed you to climb up onto the flat rooves or from one roof to another. 
 
    Some of these buildings, deeper into the urban squeeze, could only be accessed through a trap door in the ceiling. Others could only be accessed from within. 
 
    Unlike the previous two floors each of the official rooms that made up the fifth floor was a separate and independent threat. Somewhere within the urban sprawl was the way into the next chamber. They would have to find it while navigating the threats contained in the ‘City of the Damned.’ 
 
    And there were plenty of threats, unlike on the earlier floors, I had decided not to hold back in the least. They would face every trick and advantage my dungeon had to throw at them. 
 
    As soon as they entered, the siege weaponry I had built at the back of the room began to fire. Trebuchets launched heavy lumps of masonry perfectly sighted to land on any delvers who dallied around the open square at the entrance of the chamber. They were joined by scattershot catapults, their buckets filled with enchanted spiked balls that had either been coated with rank five venoms or poisons. 
 
    As much as I would have loved to utilise this kind of long-range mass destruction on all my floors, I was stymied by pesky dungeon restrictions. 
 
    Siege weapons were not mobs and didn’t cost me any dungeon power to install on the floor. From a practical sense, they were no different from any other weapon. However, they were exorbitantly expensive to purchase with experience, but my crafting options allowed me to build them for the mere cost of the materials required. 
 
    Sadly, they were only permitted inside urban advanced rooms and the Accords further restricted their use to one floor per dungeon. 
 
    For once, this was not an intervention by the Arbiter designed to intentionally screw me. This was a pre-existing amendment added many years ago after another crafting dungeon happened upon the same deadly combination. 
 
    Dungeons who took the crafting perks were rare, but there had been a few before me who had taken the risk. 
 
    The bombardment rained down upon the unwary demonic horde. 
 
    Tir’Goran and his imps suffered disproportionately from the spiky ball bearings as they had been aloft, hovering in the air when the first salvo struck their position. With so many projectiles launched in their direction, there was simply no way for them to avoid the deluge. The ball spikes lodged in their wings and brought them back down to the ground with a thud. 
 
    The imps licked their wounds and pulled the caltrops from their hides, often piercing their hands in the act and adding to their wound count. 
 
    “Spread out and get inside the buildings!” Shabbarth barked loudly. “It’s another blasted maze. How unoriginal. The way through will be in one of these buildings. We shall have to search until we find it.” 
 
    Shabbarth was not wrong. They would have to search. There was only one way that led to the exit and a lot of the internally connected buildings would ultimately finish at a dead end and force them to backtrack to try another. 
 
    More time consumed. The first wave had already been in progress for six hours. 
 
    Shabbarth’s minions jumped to obey but the others stayed put until their specific masters nodded in assent for them to follow the Great Dread’s orders. Tir’Goran hesitated the longest. It seemed to me that he either had the desire to exact some vengeance on my siege weaponry or he really didn’t like the idea of being in the cramped quarters of the urban sprawl. 
 
    Having to endure a second volley from the siege line convinced him that discretion was the better part of valour, and he followed in the wake of his fellows. 
 
    Which was just as well. 
 
    I had brought up all the siege weaponry for the entire floor to the first chamber and they had nearly exhausted the first chamber’s stock of ammunition with those two opening salvos. To save on the dungeon power cost they were manned by rank one gremlins. Well armoured gremlins, but still just gremlins. Had the imps flown into battle they would have eliminated them quite easily. 
 
    “Reset positions for chamber two,” I ordered via my comms link to the gremlin commander. 
 
    From within the side wall at the back, a large doorway opened, and the gremlins began to haul the trebuchets and catapults through the tunnel network to set them up in a similar position in the second chamber. 
 
    Fresh ammunition awaited them there. 
 
    The infernals had little choice but to split up into smaller groups. Queuing up to all go through the same doorway into one of the sprawl’s buildings wouldn’t be practical or efficient. Not if they thought they might be continuously bombarded from the back of the chamber. Or if they wanted to waste more time. 
 
    The general distrust between them also contributed to their desire to separate. 
 
    Inside, most of the granite-walled buildings were packed with basic furniture, storage containers, and junk. Lots of barrels and large armoires, that kind of thing. All designed to take up space, constrict movement, and provide an abundance of ambush opportunities for the floor’s primary threat. 
 
    The siege weaponry was merely a goad to get them into the interior quickly. Dispersed throughout the complex were rank thirty Assassin mobs. The kind used by the Rakshasa in his bazaar-themed dungeon. 
 
    The assassin mobs were pure glass cannons. Capable of inflicting significant damage with their opening attack when delivered from concealment. But they had so few hit points they were easily slain by regular delvers afterwards. 
 
    If the delver survived that first strike, of course. 
 
    This was when my advanced crafting options began to shine. 
 
    From my enchanting perks, I could physically enchant the assassin mob itself. The enchantment of choice for the assassins was Bland. 
 
    They already had naturally high stealth abilities that lowered their visibility. And they didn’t breathe so were essentially silent until they moved. Bland rendered them virtually invisible to smell and taste as well. 
 
    I wasn’t one hundred percent sure of the infernal’s aromatic and taste senses, but my own testing while in my lupine form had confirmed that sniffing them out was incredibly difficult even when you knew they were there. 
 
    Alchemy allowed me to program my assassins to smear the contents a dual-acting vial to their blades. One that applied both a rank five poison and venom to them. A wide array of different types of poisons and venoms had been distributed to the assassin mobs. Some were pure upfront damage, others inflicted damage over time effects. There were also some that affected the status of the victim. Paralysis, Mana-devouring effects, or a variety of debilitating sicknesses. 
 
    Makas the plague-troll dungeon master had kindly provided the recipes for many of the infections when he died at my hands. 
 
    Finally, my combined metalworking and leatherworking allowed me to put my custom brigandine armour on the assassin mobs making them slightly less fragile than they were before. 
 
    Unfortunately, due to my actual dungeon rank, I was limited to using the fourth-tier quality materials. Steel and superior leather. This limited the enchantments that could be placed on each piece to the fourth tier as well. Had I been ranked one hundred, as I should have been for the divine challenge, the sixth-tier materials mithril and exotic leather would have formed the base instead. 
 
    The armour should be enough for them to survive the first hit, but nothing beyond that. So, I concentrated the enchantments on upping the lethality of that initial flurry of strikes immediately after contact. 
 
    The first victim was one of Thorzoth’s incubi champions. 
 
    He had squeezed through a tight opening, barely wide enough to go through into the adjoining building. Had they been more familiar with the Proving Grounds, the incubus would have known the design rules meant true portals had to be large enough for any of the possible participants to realistically pass through. 
 
    A giveaway that this was a dead end. I’d only installed these apertures for the assassin mobs to use if they needed to move around and to make it difficult for them to be followed. 
 
    His loss, our gain. 
 
    Once through the gap, one assassin popped from hiding in a large empty wine barrel to the side of the entrance and stabbed his sharp blades into the surprised incubus warrior. He tried to evade and almost avoided the blade aimed for his throat, turning it into a mere slash and not something that buried deep. The second blade went into his back around where his liver would be if he had one. 
 
    I was no expert on infernal physiology. 
 
    The incubus was no slouch and reacted both quickly and angrily. His longsword was rammed into the assassin’s gut, pulled out and thrust back in again, killing the first assailant. 
 
    The death of the first assassin was swift and outpaced the effect of one of his weapon’s poisons. The incubus was not fully paralysed, but he was physically slowed, and his mind rendered sluggish. This left him extremely vulnerable to the second member of the pair that had been in this room. The champion staggered forward, almost drunkenly, and the second assassin struck. Rapidly stabbing its daggers into the body of the weakened champion. 
 
    Without the negative status effect, the champion would likely have remembered to activate Sundered Hate and save himself. That would have given him enough time to kill the assassin or let his closest ally, squeezing through the gap to join him, do so. But he didn’t and the rapid jabbing of the enchanted blades did their deadly work and finished him off. 
 
    The second assassin survived for only a few more seconds, cut down by the next champion to reach him, but the mob and his companion had done their job. 
 
    Throughout the complex the surprise factor allowed the assassins to rack up three kills and six more severely wounded. One of those additional three slain was another of Thorzoth’s incubi champions and left him with only fourteen followers. Not quite as weakened as Tir’Goran but getting there. 
 
    After that initial burst, things became more difficult for my mobs to score meaningful victories. 
 
    The infernals no longer allowed themselves to be caught alone in the same manner as the incubus champion had been. Occasionally, an assassin would get the jump on one of them, but only enough to get a single strike in before they were cut down in turn. The wounded infernal would then be rotated out and allowed to heal up and purge any negative effects incurred. 
 
    The problem for me was that these assassins weren’t exactly cheap in terms of dungeon power, and there were only so many of them to go around on the fifth floor. I had brought up half of those who had been stationed in the later four chambers to give the impression that this floor had more assassins than it really had. 
 
    Thus far my ploy had not had the desired effect. 
 
    “Are you sure this is the wisest course of action?” Tenzing asked me gravely. “If it does not play out as we wish. We will have spent a considerable number of resources for little to no benefit.” 
 
    The infernals had cleared two-thirds of the first chamber and Shabbarth’s group had just entered the block that would lead them to the way out. Tenzing knew what I had been hoping for and it was now or never. 
 
    “It’s too late for us to back down now, Tenzing. We’ve bluffed on the turn card. We’re committed to bluffing on the river too. We just have to hope I’ve read our opponents correctly.” 
 
    He nodded in response. 
 
    “Thorzoth and Olganeth are our best chance,” Alyssa added from my lap. 
 
    “I agree.” 
 
    With that, I issued a series of orders. 
 
    The first set brought even more of my assassins forward into the second complex. It would now almost a match the first in raw numbers of hidden assassins but would leave the final three chambers with little more than a token force. 
 
    The rest of my orders were to the few remaining assassin duos in the first complex. Sending them to specific places to delay our intended targets. 
 
    Thorzoth the incubus who had already lost two of his champions and Olganeth. The grizzled knife-wielding sathanite had already displayed an inclination to bait and needle the slovenly Thorzoth. And the incubus clearly feared the old sathanite, as his reaction to him in the pyramid gauntlet match testified. 
 
    When Shabbarth found the exit, he sent half a dozen of his champions back through the buildings and they marked the correct path using their claws. Two of them went all the way to the entrance and climbed up onto the roof. There they built a makeshift firepit from the rubble and used furniture they had smashed to pieces to start the fire. 
 
    The flames and smoke would be a visual signal that the other groups could see when they next came out into the open to try a new area to explore. 
 
    Once Shabbarth’s champions re-entered the building, returning to their master, I sent a couple of gremlins out with instructions to douse those flames and stymie their makeshift method of communication as much as possible. It would probably take the gremlins ten to fifteen minutes to complete the task as they were under orders to stay out of sight while they carried it out. 
 
    This actually worked in my favour. 
 
    Shabbarth did not wait and entered the second chamber. He was met by a barrage of masonry hurled in his direction and rushed into the nearest building with an impatient grunt. 
 
    Bulmaras and Tharzus, who the assassins were not delaying, both came out while the fire was still lit. They were practically together when they went in. Afterwards, the gremlins doused the flames once the two groups had passed through. 
 
    Tir’Goran and his imps were next to emerge. 
 
    After a quick bit of experimentation, they quickly figured out that the aerial bombardment had ceased, and they took to the air. Once more, this was convenient as this meant one of them spotted the remains of the fire and swooped down to investigate. It didn’t take the imp long to find the directional claw marks inside the square granite building below and he squawked the news to his comrades. 
 
    While all this had been going on, Alyssa had been directing the remaining mobs to harry and slow our two primary targets. With artful skill, she directed them through the warren of interconnected rooms and buildings, keeping the two groups on their toes. Once the four other infernal lords had entered the correct network of buildings, she pulled all the remaining assassins back and had them hide. 
 
    Thorzoth and Olganeth were now alone in the first chamber of the floor and their brethren were occupied searching or being ambushed in the second. We just had to hope they would act accordingly. 
 
    I watched on, engrossed by the action. 
 
    A few spare gremlins had been put in place to grab the attention of the parties and draw them together. Thorzoth and his party came out when their latest exploration proved to be a bust and looked around them. 
 
    “This isn’t working,” the incubus grunted as he stepped out last into a tight alleyway, barely big enough for two demons to stand belly-to-belly. “We need to change things up,” he declared and turned to the two incubi champions that had wings. “Barkus and Grell, get up on the roof and then take to the air. We need a top-down view. You should be able to get a decent look before the siege contraptions fire upon you. There must be a clue up there, otherwise, why try and deter us.” 
 
    “Yes, my lord,” they shouted. 
 
    They hadn’t done this before, and it could be a fatal wrinkle for my overall plan. 
 
    “Why the fuck are they doing this now,” I bitched angrily as I watched the pair of winged incubi scurry down the alleyway that led to a stairwell inbuilt into the front of one of the buildings. 
 
    “Where is Olganeth?” Tenzing asked. 
 
    “Not close enough, I fear,” Alyssa answered. “Without the assassins, he has only just finished exploring his current sector. It will be several more minutes before he comes out into the open.” 
 
    Alyssa’s fears were swiftly confirmed. 
 
    Much as the imps had spotted the remains of the fire, the two incubi did as well. They returned to their master and Thorzoth made the decision to head in that direction. When he arrived, they found the claw scratches indicating the route to take. 
 
    “Damn it,” I swore as the last of them went inside a minute or two before the first of Olganeth’s troops would be in a position to spot them. 
 
    All was not lost, though. We had one last roll of the dice. “Gremlins,” I commanded to the small group hidden nearby. “Restart that fire.” 
 
    They rushed from their hiding spot and attempted to follow my command. However, they had no means by which to start a blaze. But that didn’t stop the little buggers from trying by rubbing pieces of the wood together. 
 
    There might not be any flames, but they were visible if someone were in the right position to observe them. The question was how to get Olganeth into the right position. 
 
    Tenzing supplied a simple yet effective solution. “Have the gremlins argue loudly over their failure to light the fire.” 
 
    I grinned back at my blue buddy and quickly issued the updated orders to the gremlins. They started to jibber jabber at one another in an animated fashion like a bunch of angry Jawas. It didn’t take long before one of the grizzled sathanite’s champions overheard the commotion and grabbed a couple of his brethren to investigate. 
 
    Once spotted, my heroic gremlins were slaughtered with sadistic relish by the demons. Bullies take the greatest pleasure in harming those who are most incapable of defending themselves. And there was very little in the dungeon more unable to put up a fight than a rank one gremlin. 
 
    They did their job, though, and drew Olganeth’s people to where I needed them. 
 
    After despatching the gremlins, they inspected the area and like all the groups before them, found Shabbarth’s scratched directions. 
 
    Meanwhile, in the second dungeon chamber of the fifth floor, the leading four groups had arrived and already begun their investigations. The bombardments in their direction had been token efforts to impel them to proceed, which they duly did. 
 
    When Thorzoth and his team arrived, we changed things up and the bombardment became a near-constant stream targeted at the very entrance. This forced them to hold back or be crushed. 
 
    The point was to delay them as long as possible and give Olganeth’s group a chance to catch them in the rear. 
 
    Sadly, ammunition was once again a factor. 
 
    We’d held back as much as we could, but still had to use some of the stock on the earlier groups. It ran out before Olganeth was in range. 
 
    Tentatively at first, and then with brash confidence, Thorzoth and his incubi walked into the small square before the warren of granite buildings.  
 
    They dithered for a few minutes checking out the various entries available to them. Shabbarth had scratched a rune beside the portal his team had gone into. An indicator of where they had gone. The others, once they spotted that, scratched similar runes to tell those who followed behind which pathways were already under investigation. 
 
    Cooperation was not their strong suit but after the slow going in the first complex, they had to change their behaviour patterns and adapt to the situation. It had taken them over two hours to complete. 
 
    Thorzoth moved his group further into the complex, up a stairwell and onto a roof with a door in the ceiling. He scratched his rune on the rooftop and descended into the dark. 
 
    His choice caused me to curse under my breath yet again. Where he had entered made it very unlikely that Olganeth would happen upon it by accident. 
 
    All that changed with one offhand command from the incubus lord. “Barkus, Grell, go and destroy those siege weapons, will you.” 
 
    The winged incubi flew into the air and glided across the rooftops to the back of the chamber. 
 
    Once the ammunition had been exhausted the gremlins had started to haul the trebuchets and catapults through the opening that led to chamber three. There was nothing for the pair to destroy, so they flew around aimlessly for a while trying to locate the weapons. 
 
    By the time they gave up and headed back to join up with the rest of their team. Olganeth and his squad had finally made their way into the square. They had been examining the runes and it looked like the grizzled sathanite had been about to make a decision on where to go when one of his champions pointed upwards at the two incubi landing on the rooftop deeper into the complex. 
 
    Olganeth smirked cruelly. 
 
    His clawed hand reached under his leather jerkin, and he pulled out a familiar, black-bladed dagger with sky-blue striations and a similarly coloured sapphire in the pommel. 
 
    “This way,” Olganeth said and led his champions down the alley to where the incubi had just climbed down into one of the buildings. 
 
    Bingo! 
 
    My big bet on the river had caused my opponent to blink, reconsider his position, and change his bet. Hold my nerve a bit longer and I could get him to do exactly what I wanted and rake in the pot. 
 
    I’d driven the wedge between them as deeply as I could and provided them with a gilt-edged opportunity to turn on one another. 
 
    Now it looked like my efforts would bear fruit. But the question remained what kind of fruit and would it be ripe? 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 16 
 
      
 
    “How do you want to play this, darling?” Alyssa asked. 
 
    “Let’s not be hasty. This could still go wrong. We don’t want whichever of them gets the upper hand to retire themselves out of the fray early. We want one of them to kill the other. We need to try and engineer their meeting in a location which maximises that outcome. Somewhere Thorzoth won’t see Olganeth coming until they are on top of one another.” 
 
    Tenzing tapped away on his pad and quickly summoned a 3D blueprint of the current sector they were in. The three of us pored over it for a minute or two until Alyssa said. “How about here?” and she pointed to a spot not far from the final dead end. 
 
    It was a small box room which had a very short and tight corridor leading from it. It was the only way out apart from the corridor they’d come from. The tight aperture led into a much bigger storage area that was filled with shelving and wooden boxes styled after a big warehouse. The corridor which they had to follow into the box room was wider and ran along the outside of the outer wall, turning sharply to the right as the length of the room ended. The doorway into the small adjoining chamber a few feet after the turn. 
 
    Alyssa explained her thinking. “It will take Thorzoth’s minions a few minutes to clear the large storage space ahead of him. If he follows his previous behavioural pattern, and we have no reason to think he won’t, then he will stay back in the smaller room with the members of his honour guard. With the sharp right-angle turn, they won’t be able to see Olganeth approach until he literally comes through the doorway.” 
 
    “Yes,” I agreed. “This should work well. The wider corridor should mean that the sathanite can get a couple of his champions into the room with him to occupy the honour guard and give him the best chance to secure the kill. There is no point wasting too many assassins. Send most of them into hiding, away from their current trajectory. Leave only enough in their path that they don’t start to get suspicious.” 
 
    Alyssa followed my directions, and a few minutes later it all came to a head. Thorzoth continued to stay at the back of his party as we hoped. When they reached the small chamber, he remained behind with two of his champions while the other thirteen went into the storage area and turned it upside down, looking for a way out or for hidden attackers. 
 
    The searchers had almost completed their investigation when finally, Olganeth and his followers entered the adjoining corridor. 
 
    The grizzled veteran led his group from the front, unlike his incubus counterpart.  
 
    “What is taking them so long,” Thorzoth muttered under his breath. 
 
    “I can go in and check on their progress, my lord,” one of his honour guards offered. 
 
    “No!” Thorzoth almost shrieked. Then he composed himself before continuing “That will not be necessary. Simply call out to them. I wouldn’t want you to be isolated in case they’ve missed one of these unctuous assassins that vex me so.” 
 
    The incubus champion bowed in response and stepped up to the tight confines of the corridor but did not go in. He shouted out to his companions for an update, which was perfect as the noise was loud enough to alert Olganeth. 
 
    Letting him know just how close his prey was. 
 
    The old sathanite grinned in the dark. He put his hand in the air and motioned for silence from his followers before he slipped one of his regular knives from its sheath and padded forward with a quietude that belied his bulk. Two of his retinue followed soundlessly on his heels while the rest stayed a bit further back. 
 
    Olganeth turned the corner and set his back against the wall and inched up to the doorless opening and glanced around the edge when he was close enough. 
 
    The sight that greeted him brought a second feral grin to his ancient pasty-skinned features. Thorzoth was standing with his back to the doorway and was the closest to it. One of his guards was at the opposite end communicating with the rest of his party and the second stood just in front of his charge. 
 
    Olganeth rushed inside, but he trod on a piece of broken crate that littered the room after the destructive exploration of the incubi who had gone before. The small piece of wood cracked audibly from the weight of the sathanite demon. 
 
    “What?” Thorzoth muttered and glanced behind him just in time to deflect the throwing knife aimed at the back of his head with an armoured hand. 
 
    The incubus lord scrambled away from Olganeth in fright and his champion moved forward to intercept. Olganeth sidestepped in response and made enough space for his own two warriors to enter the chamber. 
 
    “We’re under attack!” Thorzoth’s second guard roared down the corridor to the searching members of their group before he raised his blade and engaged with Olganeth. 
 
    With six fighters present, there was not much room in the tiny room and the battle was intense. Those with longer blades found their sword work impeded and had to quickly switch out to a short sword or daggers. 
 
    “You damned old fool, Olganeth,” Thorzoth spat, his initial fright replaced by a wave of boiling anger now that he had regained his footing and could see his party was holding their own. “We should have hauled your over-the-hill ass from that cesspool you call a fortress and put you out of your misery centuries ago.” 
 
    “You’d have been welcome to try and fail,” Olganeth laughed back, as he sent his deadly throwing knives zinging in all directions. 
 
    “Let’s finish this then, you old goat.” 
 
    Almost as if they had given a command, a small gap opened in the fraught melee leaving the two infernal lords enough room to directly fight one another. 
 
    Thorzoth stepped forward, filled with confidence, and ducked underneath Olganeth’s latest thrown blade. As he closed the very short distance the incubus discarded his sword and summoned a black dagger with violet striations and an amethyst in the pommel. 
 
    I had just enough time to register the shock on Olganeth’s face as he recognised the providence of the weapon in Thorzoth’s hand. His own sapphire-pommelled dagger appeared in his hand at the very moment the incubus collided with him, heedless of the danger he found himself in. Confident perhaps, that the ace he had up his sleeve would trump whatever the old sathanite had cooked up. 
 
    They fell to the floor in a heap, Thorzoth on top of Olganeth. Their hands were hidden from view as they struggled with one another on the ground for a few heartbeats and then all went still. 
 
    The battling incubi suddenly disappeared from the room with a loud pop, leaving Olganeth’s two champions swinging at empty air. 
 
    The stillness of the heap shifted and Olganeth threw the corpse of the incubus lord off him. Of the blade with sky-blue striations, that Olganeth had killed his brother princeps with, only wisps of blueish smoke remained. 
 
    The demon pushed himself into a seated position. I could see the amethyst dagger protruding from his body with perhaps a third of its blade embedded in the old demon’s gut. 
 
    With a shaking hand, he pulled the blade from the wound and stared at it, blinking and breathing deeply. His already pale face drained of all blood and became truly ashen. 
 
    Silently I cursed to myself, if Thorzoth had pushed the blade a little deeper, both would be dead. The mortal fear burgeoning behind Olganeth’s eyes told me he knew it as well. 
 
    “My Lord, are you well?” one of his sathanite champions asked as he knelt down by his shaken master. 
 
    Olganeth blinked for a second more and then what was happening around him and how it would look to his subordinates crashed back into his consciousness. 
 
    “Of course!” he barked and pushed the champion away as he got back to his feet. “Take a few others and clear the rest of this area. Get me some of those assassin’s knives. We need to make this look like their work.” 
 
    “Yes, my Lord.” 
 
    As his honour guard followed his commands, Olganeth’s gaze slipped back down to the amethyst dagger that he absently fingered in his hands. A weapon forged with the specific intent of killing him. 
 
    “Double-dealing, bastard sorcerer,” he muttered under his breath and sent the offending weapon to his inventory. 
 
    I could well understand his disquiet. My opinion of Devantus Drakonis was less than stellar too. 
 
    With the show over for the time being, my focus came back to the room we were sitting in. Tenzing had brought the silk-covered coffee table over in front of us. The sapphire blade that matched the one wielded by Olganeth was now gone. 
 
    “Brother, was that enough for you to identify which blade corresponds to each infernal lord?” Alyssa asked the pertinent question on both of our minds. 
 
    “Not quite,” he answered. “I have learned a great deal about their energy signatures and reduced the risk factor significantly. But will need either for an infernal other than Olganeth to perish or for another dagger to be used on any of them to be one hundred percent sure. 
 
    “The amethyst blade pairs with Olganeth, obviously, but that leaves four others. Ruby, diamond, emerald, and topaz. Currently, I can say with conviction that the diamond and emerald are linked to the two sathanite lords, Shabbarth and Tharzus. The difference in energy signature between the different races is identifiable. Those two and Olganeth all being sathanites have allowed me to determine that. That means the ruby and topaz are definitely linked to Bulmaras and Tir’Goran, but to verify which to which will require some more data.” 
 
    “Thank you, bud. That is helpful. Hopefully, we’ll get you that extra information sooner rather than later.” 
 
    We chatted about the daggers and the risk-reward implications of using any of them where we were only fifty percent sure of the correct infernal it would kill. Ideally, the target would be Olganeth, the one certainty, but events soon made that more difficult. 
 
    Once they had confirmed the sector they were in did not lead to an exit, the grizzled sathanite and his retinue hastily made their way out of the dark granite buildings. Coming back out onto the roof. 
 
    Curiously, Olganeth had brought Thorzoth’s corpse with him. They had stabbed him repeatedly with poisoned and envenomed daggers they had retrieved from my fallen assassin mobs. 
 
    Olganeth’s attempts to disguise his involvement in the incubus’ demise did not surprise me. However, I had expected him to leave the body behind and the subsequent theatrics would only be enacted on the off chance anybody else came across the corpse. 
 
    That was not his plan. Instead of finding a new sector to explore, Olganeth led his band back to the open square at the entrance and waited. 
 
    Over the next half an hour the four other Lords and their retinues came out and spotted the gathering around the corpse of one of their brethren. Olganeth refused to be drawn on anything until they were all present. 
 
    Tharzus was the last of them to join the impromptu council. “Which of you did this?” the soulblighted one asked with a derisive snort. His inquiry did not come from a place of grief or anger. 
 
    “Olganeth,” Tir’Goran answered in his high-pitched tone and flapped his wings to push the freshly arrived Tharzus further away from him. 
 
    “I did not,” Olganeth lied in a snapped tone and gave the imp the dirtiest of looks. “My followers found him like this by chance. The paranoid fool didn’t mark the section he was exploring so we ended up retracing his steps. As you can see, he was killed by the dungeon.” 
 
    “A likely story,” Tharzus whispered under his breath so quietly I doubted any of the others heard him. 
 
    The looks of disbelief were plain on the visages of his fellow princeps. It didn’t take long before accusations went from softly spoken to being spat out angrily. 
 
    In the viewing lounge, Tenzing steepled his fingers and wrinkled his brow. “What is he up to?” he asked rhetorically. 
 
    Neither Alyssa nor I responded but I had a pretty good idea of what was running through the grizzled sathanite’s mind. 
 
    Olganeth had been shaken to discover Thorzoth possessed a blade similar to what he had. 
 
    We only saw the sathanite and incubus wield a single blade each, but Magros had six upon him. One for each of the other six princeps of the reaches. The only one missing from his set was the citrine dagger that Shabbarth used to kill him. If the sets all came from the same source, Devantus Drakonis, logic suggested that every set originally had six weapons, each omitting the blade that could be used on the infernal lord they had been presented to. 
 
    Olganeth would know he hadn’t been given an amethyst knife by Drakonis, but Thorzoth had. It was safe to assume the demon had come to the same conclusion as me. 
 
    He had also crossed paths with Thorzoth in the pyramid gauntlet match. By dint of that encounter, the chances that Thorzoth was responsible for Magros’ death were slight. 
 
    And if the supreme dark sorcerer had given out two sets of blades, one each to Olganeth and Thorzoth, why not a third? Or a fourth? Why not to all of them? They were equally greedy and had all come to this place for the same reason. To gain power which they intended to use against the others. The odds that Magros had been killed by the divine lords or in a true test of combat must have diminished in his mind. 
 
    Olganeth at the very least had to heavily suspect that one or more of the others gathered here also had a weapon capable of killing him in a single blow and he was naturally concerned for his continued wellbeing. The warrens I had set before them made it too easy to be snuck up on. 
 
    Olganeth had already proved that himself. 
 
    “Enough!” Shabbarth bellowed into the morass of bickering. “Olganeth, you must have had a reason for bringing this up. Speak your piece.” 
 
    Olganeth nodded his appreciation to Shabbarth and went on. “We all know that Thorzoth was the weakest and most worthless of our number.” 
 
    That statement got a round of agreeable nods and grunts. 
 
    “But the manner of his death suggests this dungeon is wilier than we first assumed.” 
 
    The second statement was not met with the same round of agreement. There were a few snorts of derision which I chose to take personally. 
 
    I had orchestrated this entire situation, after all. I may not have wielded the knife for the killing blow, but I may as well have. 
 
    “Get to the point. What are you suggesting?” Shabbarth urged. 
 
    “We have all taken a great risk in coming here the way we have.” 
 
    “I would not have if the rest of you hadn’t,” Tir’Goran chirped defensively. 
 
    “Horseshit!” Tharzus barked. 
 
    Olganeth glared at the pair, but then his visage softened as he spotted an opening. “You bring up an excellent point, Tir’Goran.” 
 
    The imp preened at the praise and managed to stand a few inches taller and then shrugged slightly as if Olganeth had just declared that water is wet. 
 
    The old sathanite continued. “We are all risking ourselves unnecessarily out of concern for what would happen if we did not. Driving one another to ever more foolish actions. I propose that we retire from this wave and leave it to our champions to clear the dungeon. They can return before the very end and then together we can finish the wolf pup the second time around. There is plenty of time left. We can afford to take easy for a bit.” 
 
    “That sounds like cowardice to me,” Tharzus needled Olganeth. 
 
    “Making the best tactical use of your surroundings is not cowardice, fool,” he snapped back. 
 
    “Brothers, Olganeth is correct,” Shabbarth announced in an overly reasonable tone. “We have been going about this the wrong way. The way of kings is to lead, not to fight in the trenches. We have forgotten that in our…eagerness…to claim the prize.” 
 
    “Fine,” Tharzus conceded a bit petulantly. “But what if one of us lies? Says they will retire but doesn’t.” 
 
    “That is easily rectified. The retirement option also takes any who is within five metres of the retiree. It was an inclusion meant to allow us to bring some of our warriors with us, but it shall work just as well on one another. We just need to stand together when one of us retires and we shall all be taken with them.” 
 
    “I’m bringing my honour guard,” Tir’Goran yelled suddenly. 
 
    “Naturally,” Shabbarth smarmed. “We all should. To the rest of my champions, you are to cooperate with the champions of my brother princeps to clear the dungeon, but you are not to complete it without me present.” 
 
    Olganeth, Tharzus, and Tir’Goran gave their remaining troops similar orders. The honour guards for each demon stepped forward when they were done while the others backed away. 
 
    “Ah, the harmony and unity of purpose. Sathan himself would be proud,” Shabbarth preached as he looked around preparing to enact their escape. He paused at the last second, noticing something unseen by the others. 
 
    Bulmaras. 
 
    Ever watchful. Ever silent. They had overlooked that the Brute Lord had not given any orders to his champions. Nor had he moved an inch towards them. 
 
    A slight frown creased Shabbarth’s brow as he prepared to speak the necessary words. The silent brute was standing just outside of the five-metre radius necessary to be included in the retirement protocol. 
 
    Understanding dawned a fraction of a second later. 
 
    “Always with the pontificating, Shabbarth. Sometimes brevity is required,” Tharzus complained. 
 
    “Wait…” the warning wail from Shabbarth came too late. 
 
    “We retire,” Tharzus grumped, and they vanished from the dungeon with a pop, reappearing inside the saferoom. 
 
    After they disappeared, Bulmaras rose to his full height and slammed the butt of his great axe into the granite tiles of the square. The attention of the remaining champions was fixed upon him. 
 
    “I thought they would never leave,” he grunted. “From now on you will all do as I command.” 
 
    “With all due respect, Lord Bulmaras, you are not our commander,” one of Shabbarth’s sathanite champions retorted what they were all thinking. 
 
    “True,” he replied. “However, I distinctly recall you being ordered to cooperate with those that remained. I remain, as do my warriors. That means as the only Lord of the Reaches present, I outrank you all and you will answer to me.” 
 
    The champions not loyal to Bulmaras looked at one another. They understood that Bulmaras had pulled a fast one, but at the same time, they had been directly ordered to cooperate to clear the dungeon. 
 
    “Very well,” the same Shabbarthian champion conceded. “But we shall not complete the dungeon without our sovereign lord present.” 
 
    “You only need to clear the way. Killing the Wolf King and his bitches is something I’m more than capable of doing by myself.” 
 
    This changed things. 
 
    It changed them significantly. 
 
    Soon, it would be time for me to take the field, personally. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 17 
 
      
 
    “This changes things,” I said. 
 
    “I agree,” Alyssa remarked. “Looks like we’ll get to see you in action a bit earlier than expected.” 
 
    “Are you sure?” Tenzing queried. “I know this is an opportunity to take out another infernal lord while he is isolated, but there is still a fifty percent chance the dagger you use will be the wrong one. And if you are slain in the dungeon, you won’t be able to re-enter or give commands to your mobs from here.” 
 
    “A lost dagger is a secondary consideration at this point, Tenzing. When the divine challenge started, we didn’t even know they existed,” I replied, and went on to further explain my thinking. “While most of the lords were present, it was as if the imposition of the waves hadn’t really happened. I was content with sticking to our initial game plan. Let the floors wear them down, draw them onto the core floor, and then spring our prepared trap. Massacre them all at once. 
 
    “Now that most of them have retired we can’t afford to let the champions clear the dungeon with the first run-through, only for them to come back at full strength for the second wave. If I manage to kill Bulmaras that will be the icing on the cake, and I don’t mind burning Tir’Goran’s dagger to get a nice, big piece of that confectionery goodness.” 
 
    “Where will you attack, my love,” Alyssa asked. 
 
    “The sooner the better, I think. Floor six in the high passes. I’ll take all the available disciples and the Lair’s army on the expedition.” 
 
    “You’re not holding back then.” 
 
    “No, if I could take the core army with me as well I would for the overwhelming force.” 
 
    Unfortunately, one rule I’d not been able to get around was that even in a challenge you couldn’t bring mobs, even life-seeded ones, from the core floor to the main part of the dungeon. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    “We’re up,” I said to Jessamyn as we waited in my throne room on the eighth floor. The ‘Lair’ was more opulently decorated than it used to be when it was my final room on the first floor all those years ago. Back then it really was little more than a den in a cave with a bunch of pitfalls and a fairly big chair at the back. 
 
    These days the room wasn’t designed as a final stand before the core floor. Instead, it was a waiting area for me and my disciples when we had to be here during runs to avoid the experience penalties for letting the dungeon run our avatars on autopilot. Thankfully, we only had to be present when someone was on the eighth floor. 
 
    “They can’t be here already, has something happened?” Jessamyn asked with some concern. 
 
    The tone in her voice got the attention of my assembled female disciples and seventeen sets of eyes focused on me and my auburn-haired wife. 
 
    “There have been a few setbacks which I will explain on the way to our target, but we are mobilising and heading to the sixth floor to take advantage of an opportunity. The force of champions has been reduced to seventy delvers and they have recently been put through the wringer. They are led by a single infernal lord, and we are going to capitalise on his isolation and take him out.” 
 
    Karragh, Fiadh, Yanna, Yuni, Teotune, Gadiel, Sarissa, Jovebella, and Genya were all here from my core council of disciples. Rounding out the team I could take with me were eight more of my warriors. Six humans, Saoirse, Ayda, Florence, Lena, Ruby and Jools. A halfling lass named Rhoda and a hare-kin called Tithrull rounded out the harem members present. Everyone else had been relegated to wait in the Core Room due to the earlier gauntlet shenanigans.  
 
    Any hint of concern faded, and full confidence was restored. I knew why they were nervy; this was the challenge that counted. Anyone would be in this situation. 
 
     “Will you be requiring my services, sir?” Shelly, the troll mob who was the first being I implanted with a life seed, asked in his typically formal manner. 
 
    “Indeed, Shelly. I’d like you to go ahead of us and rouse the army. Full equipment loadout. We’ll be holding nothing back.” 
 
    “Of course, sir,” Shelly responded. 
 
    He bobbed a little bow and hurried off to carry out my order. 
 
    I strode out of the lair room and into one of the many secret passages that connected the dungeon floors and hidden wings. As we made our way down to the sixth floor, I explained the changes that had been imposed and what Alyssa, Tenzing, and I had planned to deal with it. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    As I suspected, Bulmaras proved to be far more cunning and intelligent than his brutish appearance suggested. His approach to clearing the rest of the fifth floor was methodical and effective. He kept the champions on a short leash and brooked no internal squabbling from the disparate groups. The vanguard teams were rotated regularly and given an opportunity to recover from the occasional ambushes my assassin mobs managed to spring. 
 
    In all, it showed the frightening efficacy of a singular voice in charge of an incredibly powerful collection of delvers. 
 
    The greed and hate of my opponents had so far proved to be a saving grace for me. Without that, the Arbiter’s last-gasp interference would have put us under the kind of pressure we might not have been able to survive. I certainly would have struggled to remove three lords and their champions at this early stage. 
 
    However, I was under no illusions; our fate still hung in the balance. I thought we had the edge, but victory was not a certainty. Removing the Brute Lord would swing that pendulum back in my direction. 
 
    Thankfully, Bulmaras’ methodical style gave us plenty of time to get everything into position for the battle to come. The flip side of that was the extensive Sundered Hate cooldowns had expired and the champions who had been hurt earlier were fully healed. There were only seventy of them plus Bulmaras, but we’d be fighting them at full strength and in a unified battle formation. 
 
    I had a plan for that, though. 
 
    The enemy entered the High Passes floor. Towering snow-capped mountains on either side penned them in. The only way through was the high-altitude valley that meandered through the mountainous landscape. The winds were at gale force strength, and they were whipping up a blizzard hampering visibility and the capacity of the imps to fly more than four or five metres off the valley floor. 
 
    We let the demons march forward until they were about a third of the way through the valley. With the exception of the mildly hostile environment, nothing was sent to interfere with their progress. 
 
    The demon’s attention was undiminished, though. I’d not had any realistic hopes this would lull Bulmaras into a false sense of security, but it was worth a shot. 
 
    “Time to get the ball rolling,” I whispered, the moisture from my breath a puff of mist in the frigid air. 
 
    With my verbal command given, part one of the engagement went into action. The Yeti mobs which were the typical primary threat on this floor up in the mountains smashed apart the wooden structures we had built that had been piled up with snow by them in preparation for the enemy’s arrival. Other yeti struck fault lines within impacted ice in tandem with their platform-wrecking brethren. 
 
    The sudden downfall of piled snow and the cracked open faults triggered an avalanche that gathered steam and rumbled down into the valley. 
 
    The mass of snow, rocks, and broken fir trees slammed into the tightly packed group of demons. The fliers tried to evade the crushing weight of the avalanche but weren’t fast enough and were still caught up in the falling debris and were submerged in mounds of snow. 
 
    The falling snow and the roar of the avalanche subsided after a minute or two. The yeti began to make their way down the mountain slope with a soft touch that belied their bulk and they only dislodged small volumes of the loosened snow that slithered down the slopes. 
 
    The valley grew deathly silent. The best-case scenario would be that the infernals would remain trapped inside the landslide and slowly suffocate. 
 
    Several loud spell-born detonations that threw flurries of snow, ice, and rock high into the air put paid to that forlorn hope. 
 
    Slowly, but inexorably, a few of the imp infernal champions began to pull themselves out from the icy morass. Their bodies burned with an unnatural heat that melted the snow as they pushed it out of their way. They took to the air, hovering in place as they helped the wingless champions out of the depths and dropped them on the top of the landslide. 
 
    Bulmaras was one of the first out and he urged the deposited champions to crawl forward and clear the landslide that had entombed them. 
 
    It was a shame the avalanche hadn’t killed or hindered them further, but it had successfully broken up their careful formation that had been trooping its way through the valley. 
 
    The time it took them to pull clear allowed the yeti to get to the base of the mountains and there, they lay in wait. Prepared to act upon my next order. 
 
    I waited until half of the champions had crawled far enough forward that they had got their footing back under them on the valley floor. “Yeti, attack those still struggling on the remnants of the avalanche,” my avatar in the viewing lounge ordered. 
 
    At the same time, my physically present avatar motioned to my disciples and gave the signal to start the charge. 
 
    We’d positioned ourselves just around a curve in the valley. 
 
    Jessamyn and the ladies cracked a few whips against the rumps of the assembled bull mobs that had been lined up between us and the champions. 
 
    “Hyah! Hyah!” they cried. 
 
    It was not strictly speaking necessary. The mobs, even those which were beasts, would obey commands given verbally but I let them have their fun. 
 
    The bulls snorted in anticipation; their exhalation misting in the cold. They lowed loudly and started to run forward, gathering speed as they went. 
 
    The short-haired coats of the bulls were midnight black, but you wouldn’t necessarily be able to tell by looking at them. I had used almost every trick in my playbook to boost how much damage they could inflict. 
 
    These alpha bulls were larger and more muscular than the bulls I utilised on the first floor, but they still only cost five dungeon power each. Five hundred total for the mass of one hundred I’d just sent against my enemies. 
 
    The colour of their hides was difficult to distinguish because they were covered almost from horn to hoof in brigandine barding. The armour gave them significant damage reduction which should allow most of them to make contact with the infernals despite their relatively low ranking. 
 
    On top of that, I had gone all out on the bells and whistles. 
 
    They had been equipped with as much enchanted silver jewellery as I could find places to insert it. The nose, ears, nipples, and yes, even their cocks. They were mobs. They didn’t care and it wasn’t like I actually had to handle them to put the studs in place. They could be programmed into position remotely from the DDD. 
 
    Added to that were the additional accoutrements provided by my crafting path. Namely enchanted silver shoes that had been hammered into their hooves. As well as a special weapon attachment on their helms. 
 
    It was a modified spiked knuckleduster. Much larger, of course, and able to be connected to a slot on the brow of the bull’s head guards so that it didn’t need to be held in a fist. The four points of the ‘brow buster’ would complement their natural horns when they rammed into their victims. 
 
    When the stampede of bull flesh began to round the natural curve in the valley we mounted up on our steeds and readied ourselves to follow in their wake. 
 
    The war horses we rode were rank two mobs, but they had been similarly kitted out to the bulls rushing ahead of them. The primary difference in the loadouts of their gear was that a lot of the enchantments on the bulls were intended to increase their damage output for that initial charge. The warhorses were geared towards improved survivability. Extra damage reduction and a stamina boosts mainly. The horses could kick out, but the damage and opportunities to do so were minimal. 
 
    With a wave of my hand, my disciples and most of the life-seeded army ensconced in the lair, ploughed forward through a couple of inches of freshly fallen snow. 
 
    At the last minute, I had decided to hold back the life-seeded hobgoblins from the fray. I’d originally added them to the armies because of their affinity for fire and while their suite of spells wasn’t made up entirely from the school of Fire, without them they were far less effective. 
 
    I’d decided to take the risk of holding them back and preserving them for when the divine champions finally took to the field. A few of them came along with us to unleash some Armour Breaker spells from the Destruction sphere, but most stayed back, trotting forward behind us. We could call them in if things looked like they were going south, and we needed the extra muscle. 
 
    The infernal champions still on the snow pile had finished with most of the yeti but the abominable snowmen had done what was necessary and delayed the champions long enough that their lines and formation were muddled when the crazed bulls slammed into them. 
 
    A few offensive spells flashed out from the infernals, taking out half a dozen bulls, but a lot of them had used what they had in their arsenal to dig themselves out of the snow. Instead, the purple nimbus of Sundered Hate flickered into life around them a split second before the mighty collision. 
 
    Few of the infernals bothered with shields and that made the crashing bull flesh all the more effective. The weight, power, and momentum of the alpha bulls drove the demons back into the impromptu wall of snow, rocks, and soil behind them. 
 
    Half the bulls were killed in that initial onslaught. Slain by demonic swords, claws, and teeth. Those that weren’t killed snorted in anger and proceeded to headbutt and kick out at any target they could get their hooves in contact with. They bucked and jumped like they were being ridden by a rodeo cowboy and kept the infernals occupied long enough that the follow up attack thundered down the valley and into the fray. 
 
    I was in the midst of our charging line. We had pulled the same body morphing shenanigans on the infernal minotaur warriors as we had previously with the troll guardians on the core floor. Therefore, they all looked like Lupus Rex specimens. It would make it more difficult for Bulmaras to figure out if I was personally present and if I was, which of the wolfish warriors was me. 
 
    To assist with the deception, I had positioned my disciples evenly along the line. And as much as I may have wanted to keep them by my side it would be too much of a giveaway if I did. 
 
    Speaking of Bulmaras, the wily Brute Lord had withdrawn to the back of the demonic line and surrounded himself with a dozen of his personal champions. This meant I wouldn’t be able to finish him quickly. We would have to fight our way through first. 
 
    Most of the infernal champions met our charge head on. We crashed into them with lances like proper medieval knights. 
 
    A ghostly graphic 1%/73% flashed above the champion I had skewered in the chest with my lance. He was one of many who had the purple haze of Sundered Hate surrounding him. With them losing only a single percentage point or less per blow, they were going to be difficult to deal with. 
 
    The horses screamed in pain as they took the brunt of the demonic counterattack. A few of the steeds went down from the wounds inflicted, including the horse one of my human disciples, Florence, rode. 
 
    There was little we could do for the unfortunate few who fell to the ground. The demons as expected had been too resilient for the first few phases of the battle to disperse their lines adequately. Their line was sloppy, but not yet sufficiently broken. 
 
    With a kick to their flanks, we pulled our horses away from the fight and retreated ten metres or so before wheeling the steeds back to face the enemy. The infernals had jumped forward with relish to pounce on the few of our number struggling to get out from under their fallen horses. 
 
    The sacrifice of the fallen was not without value, as it left the demons even more out of position than before. 
 
    “Spells,” I bellowed. The simplest of signals for what came next. 
 
    Flashes of blue from Ice Blasts were joined by the crackling yellow of various lightning spells cast from our lines. Packs of huge thorn hounds were summoned in the midst of the infernals, and they snapped and bit at the demons around them. 
 
    For my part, I targeted my Chain Lighting and Maxed out Lightning Bolts on the Bulmaras meat shield that circled him. The Chain Lightning returned damage graphics of 12%/6%/3%/1.5%/0.75% until it faded out to zero. The full Lightning Bolt returned a far more gratifying 50%/0% and one of Bulmaras faithful collapsed, his eyes vacant. 
 
    “Melee,” I roared after the salvo of spells had been unleashed. 
 
    Most of my disciples and the minotaurs dismounted quickly, equipped their melee weapons of choice and ran at the disrupted enemy. The demons were distracted by the swarm of dryad-summoned thorn hounds that had the annoying habit of coming back to life even after the infernal champions had struck them down once already. 
 
    The Fallen Fight On enhancement in effect. 
 
    Jessamyn and the dryads held back and equipped ranged weaponry after finishing their offensive spellcasting. Taking pot shots where an opportunity presented itself and casting healing spells on those who needed it. 
 
    The gale force winds died down by design and the cadre of fliers, mostly imps, took to the air and crossed over our heads. Eager to attack the dryad healers. 
 
    We had thought of that possibility ahead of schedule, and I cast my Greater Summon Beasts spell calling forth a flock of lightning eagles to swoop down on the flying vermin from above. 
 
    The winged beasts exuded a mild electrical shock from their talons and beak. Normally it wouldn’t be enough to be troublesome but thanks to the previously cast lightning spells, those flying champions were all afflicted with lightning rod and took double the damage. 
 
    Plus, it wasn’t just my flock of lightning eagles. Only the dryads had cast their version of the summon beast’s spell. Plenty more of my people had it in their repertoire and knew what to do if the imps went after our healers. 
 
    I trusted Jessamyn to handle the rear guard and my focus zeroed in on Bulmaras. With my trusty double-headed maul in hand, I rushed towards the gap at the front of his defensive formation that had been opened by the death of one of his brute champions. 
 
    Fiadh and Karragh had spotted the same weakness and had the same idea. They called out to some of their sister-mates and the attack was on. 
 
    Gadiel and Teotune, my spear maidens came in from the left and occupied that flank. Genya and her closest companion Jools attacked from the right. Each group had a couple of wolf-shaped minotaurs as back up, but they were going head-to-head with an equal number of brutes overflowing with the power and fury of Sundered Hate. 
 
    They wouldn’t be able to hold out for long, but while they did the brutes wouldn’t be able to close that gap easily. 
 
    My fire-headed berserker queen screamed with unbridled fury and hit the left side of the gap. Her fists and feet struck with unparalleled speed. She dished out extreme amounts of damage, but her zero defence fighting style meant she absorbed just as much punishment. 
 
    Karragh engaged the brute champion on the other side of the semi-circle. Putting her hatchets and body in the way as it tried to edge across and close the gap to its master. 
 
    The combined efforts of my mates gave me that precious second to breakthrough. I shifted back to my humanoid form and slipped through the tiny gap, penetrating the inner ring. 
 
    My target was in front of me, and I leapt at him with a loud guttural snarl coming from deep in my throat. 
 
    “I’d hoped you would be this foolhardy,” I heard Bulmaras grunt with effort as my body flew over the top of him. 
 
    The bastard had actually ducked under my leap, slid beneath me in the slush, and wordlessly cast an infernal version of Wind Blast. The damage from the spell was only 5% of my health, but it thrust me into an uncontrollable spin that carried me over Bulmaras and away from my mates. I landed with a wet thud in front of the remnants of the partially melted avalanche. 
 
    The demonic Lord was on me in an instant and pounded on my body with his heavy black metal gauntlets. The axe he carried before seemingly abandoned. Even with my armour and resilience, each blow was sloughing three to four percent from my health. 
 
    And did I mention he was quick. 
 
    Ever so quick for such a big, bulky guy. 
 
    The fucker had been holding back earlier, for sure. 
 
    I scrambled to get myself out of the prone position on the ground; a feat made all the more difficult by Bulmaras’ skilful application of his blows. By the time I got back on my feet and created enough distance between us to halt the flurry of hammer blows, my health had plummeted to under 25%. 
 
    The warm, welcoming embrace of Regrowth and Heal flowed through me as Jessamyn and one of the dryads rejuvenated my health back up to 75% and kept me in the game. 
 
    I jinked and juked to frustrate Bulmaras for a few seconds, before stepping back into range when a failed lunge at me left my opponent exposed. I lashed out with my maul and clubbed Bulmaras heavily in the jaw, but it didn’t seem to faze him in the least, even if it did cost him 2% of his health. 
 
    My hope had been it would give me the time to strike and get out of range. Instead, he had anticipated my manoeuvre, shifted his position to block off my retreat and pinned me up against a slippery wall of ice and snow. 
 
    With nowhere else to go, I tried to work my way up the debris. 
 
    Bulmaras grinned cruelly, foreseeing what I would do. “No, you don’t,” he laughed darkly and pushed himself forward with frightening quickness and grabbed me in a rib-crushing bear-hug. My arms were pinned to my sides, and I dropped my maul to the ground. 
 
    “Got you, wolf-pup,” he breathed in my face as he crushed my body between his massive mighty arms. 
 
    The air exploded from my lungs, and I was unable to answer him. 
 
    He shifted his grip immediately and interlocked those black gauntlets, securing an unbreakable iron grip around me. 
 
    I knew there had to be something special about these gauntlets as soon as I heard the unearthly click as they fused. My ability to cast spells had been blocked and I wouldn’t be able to heal myself. At the same time, my limbs seemed secured in place, almost unnaturally. I couldn’t work them free. 
 
    “Oh, dear,” he chuckled in my ear as I wriggled and struggled for freedom. “Did you think I was too stupid to see the gap in our defence? I let you in here, boy. There is no hope. The enchantment on these gloves will hold you locked in place until either you or I die. And I think we both know that is going to be you,” the brute gloated as my ribs snapped under the onslaught of pressure. “Nobody is coming to help you. My boys are dealing with your harem of foolish girls as we speak.” 
 
    The demon spoke the truth. 
 
    Although his jeering face dominated my vision, I could see in my periphery that Teotune had been killed and Gadiel was being held down by three opponents, with no chance of survival. 
 
    Fiadh fought on but she was outnumbered and slowly losing. 
 
    Karragh had put herself in harm’s way for me to get me through the brute wall and had paid for it with her life. 
 
    Similarly, on the right, Jools lay motionless on the floor and Genya screamed a final battle cry as she threw herself into a hopeless last stand. Unable to retreat she concentrated on hurting her opponents as much as she could before her avatar was struck down. 
 
    The wolf-formed minotaurs that had fought at their sides had all perished. 
 
    It would seem Bulmaras hadn’t been the only one holding back until the perfect moment. 
 
    Elsewhere on the battlefield, my people were faring a little better. 
 
    Champions, life-seeded warriors, and disciples had fallen in equal numbers. 
 
    Shelly, Saoirse, Lena, Jovebella, and Tithrull were down and out. The others bravely battled on. Yanna and Yuni, the catgirl twins, darted this way and that and seemed to be trying to get to me, but they were being thwarted by infernal bodies blocking their path. 
 
    Of course, this exchange was not truly equal. Every one of mine who perished could no longer take part in the challenge, every one of theirs that fell would get three more chances. 
 
    Had my gamble backfired in a manner I couldn’t have possibly imagined. 
 
    The pain of the bearhug was incredible, so intense that I could barely think straight. Bulmaras squeezed and shook me like a ragdoll while giggling with malicious glee and my health dropped rapidly. 
 
    It was down to under 45% and dropping by a further 5% every second. 
 
    Bulmaras had me right where he wanted me, but this proved to be his undoing. 
 
    The crushing power of the gauntlets may have robbed my dungeon avatar of cognisant thought, but not my other self in the viewing lounge. As the demon tried to constrict me to death, he whispered a ploy crafted by the lovely Alyssa into my mind and my blood-flecked lips broke into a manic smile. 
 
    Bulmaras’ expression barely had a chance to display his confusion when I shifted back into my wolf form. 
 
    Had this been the real world, his vise-like grip would have only accelerated my end after the shift to a larger form. 
 
    But the Proving Grounds was not the real world. 
 
    The gauntlet’s enchantment would not allow my unexpected form shift to break Bulmaras’ hold upon me, but his arms were forced a little wider to accommodate my new bigger form in his unbreakable grasp. 
 
    A technical glitch you could call it. 
 
    Being wolfed out would let me bite the bastard in the face, perhaps even his thickly muscled neck, but that was not the point. 
 
    I wouldn’t be able to inflict anywhere near enough damage in the five or six seconds I had before my avatar’s health zeroed out. 
 
    No sooner had I become the wolfman than I reversed the transformation back to humanoid. Being back in my smaller frame meant his arms had been loosened around my body. Again, because of the enchantment on his gauntlets, I didn’t drop out of his crushing embrace even if physics said I should, and he quickly tightened the grip around me once more. 
 
    Just not quite fast enough. 
 
    There was enough room for me to pull my arms out of the bearhug. When they were no longer in direct contact with Bulmaras meaty arms I could use them again. I got them up and out of his embrace before the constrictor grip locked back in around my abdomen. 
 
    In each hand, I summoned the two striated black daggers. One ruby red, the other a burnt topaz orange. Bulmaras’ eyes widened with recognition of the blades and his mouth opened making an O shape, but before he could say a word, I rammed both daggers downwards through his yellowed piggy eyes. 
 
    Bulmaras stumbled back a few steps with me still in his grip. My health had dropped below 15% but stopped dropping as the interlocked gauntlets suddenly disconnected with an audible click. Bulmaras fell over backwards as his arms flopped uselessly to his sides and I landed on my feet, drawing in a deep pained breath now that I was free. 
 
    The surviving brute champions disappeared in an instant with a pop. 
 
    The damage had been done, though. 
 
    Only Fiadh was still standing, or I should say kneeling. Even my berserker queen had been on the brink of death. Everyone else that had engaged with the brutish defence line was down and out, but the tide now turned in our favour. 
 
    Jessamyn had called in the hobgoblin reserves, and she personally led them into the battle. Casting the Regrowth spell on myself and the Heal spell on Fiadh, we waded back into the tumultuous conflict. 
 
    Three minutes later, and the day was ours. 
 
    The butcher’s bill for this battle had been much higher than we had hoped. My snake-kin lover Sarrass, along with Ayda, and the halfling girl Rhoda were slain as we fought off the last champions who remained. 
 
    Only Jessamyn, Fiadh, the catgirl twins, and one of my human disciples named Ruby had survived. 
 
    The Lair’s army had been decimated several times over. All the infernal minotaurs and two-thirds of the dryads had been killed in the battle. The hobgoblins had fared better, but only because most of them had been held back until the end. The few who had accompanied the charge had all been slaughtered along with so many others.  
 
    Regardless of the cost, the first wave was over. 
 
    Or not quite as it turned out. 
 
    It just so happened that advising me of a crucial exploit during my fight with Bulmaras was not the only idea Alyssa had cooked up to help us out. 
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 18 
 
    A few minutes earlier… 
 
      
 
    With a soft sigh of relief from both me and Tenzing, we watched the Brute Lord fall from the comfort of our black leather couch. 
 
    Alyssa simply clicked her tongue with satisfaction, supremely confident in the result of my fight with Bulmaras. The two striated daggers dissipated into coloured smoke, the job done for one, corruption and destruction for the other. 
 
    “Those gauntlets had me worried for a moment,” I confessed. 
 
    Before Tenzing could speak, a melodious voice snatched away my attention. “You called and I have answered. You said it was urgent.” 
 
    I craned my neck around to look at the new arrival. “Jezebel…” 
 
    The blonde deity glided into the room with grace and majesty. She was no longer dressed for resource gathering. Her long hair was meticulously coiffed. Her forelocks were woven into a braid and tied around the back of her head while her long locks at the back were curled. She wore a blue silk gown brocaded with silver stitching that was snug around her bosom and displayed a perfectly enticing amount of cleavage.  
 
    “I called you actually,” Alyssa clarified. “We have a request.” 
 
    There was a tiny hint of disappointment in Jezebel’s expression when she learned I hadn’t been the one to call upon her. She recovered quickly, though. “Daxas, I thought I made myself clear earlier…” Jezebel started to say as she walked over to us, but her attention was grabbed by the events on our screens. “Wait. Is that Bulmaras lying dead in the snow?” 
 
    “Have you not been watching?” Alyssa asked her. 
 
    “No. I may be your captive, but I have grown a little fond of you,” Jezebel said and then her eyes landed on Nessa and Jen’Zadeer sitting alongside me. “Well, some of you,” she added pointedly. “I did not wish to observe you being vanquished. Certainly not if it meant watching Timian exult in his victory.” 
 
    Jen’Zadeer huffed in annoyance. That she and Nessa had pushed for Jezebel to undergo more rigorous punishments was no secret. “It is him. The Brute Lord is no more. Daxas had just slain him in single combat,” Jen’Zadeer praised me while simultaneously giving Jezebel a decidedly frosty reception. “Perhaps you have underestimated our master. Or overestimated the abilities of your former allies.” 
 
    “Damn straight,” Nessa chirped excitedly. “And he personally took out Kriger earlier. That ugly fucker, Thorzoth. Dead. Magros didn’t even make it to the challenge proper.” 
 
    “Daxas killed them all?” Jezebel asked, her tone suggesting a mixture of disbelief and of being reluctantly impressed. 
 
    “Well, he didn’t technically kill Thorzoth or Magros. Olganeth and Shabbarth did, but dead is dead. It doesn’t matter who dealt the blow,” Nessa answered. 
 
    “Keep telling yourself that, brat,” Jezebel snarked at her. “And Timian? None of that matters if Timian lives” 
 
    Tamara answered her question. “Admittedly, he is still breathing. He has mostly sat out the conflict so far.” She shuddered a little as the recollection of her beheading in the gauntlet flitted through her thoughts. 
 
    “Then nothing has truly changed,” Jezebel said with finality. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer and Nessa both rose from the couch ready to fight my corner, but Alyssa beat them to it. 
 
    “We don’t have time for pointless bickering,” she proclaimed loudly and silenced the crowd. “The last of the infernal champions will fall shortly and end the first wave.” 
 
    “Let’s get on with this then,” Jezebel huffed. “Why did you call on me?” 
 
    “This is Alyssa’s show,” I said and nodded to her. 
 
    Alyssa smiled sexily at me and then turned her attention back to the elven goddess. “Are you aware of the changes the Arbiter has made?” 
 
    “Yes, I might not be watching but I am still a Divine Lord of the Realms. I was informed of all the updates to the rules of this challenge. What is your request?” 
 
    “I…We…would like you to enter an active part of the dungeon. Before the battle is over.” 
 
    “I have already been over this. I do not think you can win this war and I will not throw my life away by fighting at your side.” 
 
    “We are not asking you to fight, Jezebel,” Alyssa explained. “Only step inside before the last champion falls.” 
 
    Understanding dawned on the goddess’ face and she beamed a beautiful smile that lit up her face and the room. “Thereby keeping the first wave active and keeping those huddled in the saferoom ignorant of Bulmaras expiry. To what end? I read the terms of the concessions the Arbiter agreed to. You can’t use this as a trick to time out the challenge. If neither you nor I make any active attempt to participate he can shunt me out of the dungeon and begin the second wave.” 
 
    I stood up and walked a little closer to her but stayed far enough back that the corona of my soul did not touch hers. “We know that. Otherwise, I’d have set about capturing one of the last champions and kept him alive. No, what we need is a bit of time to prepare a surprise for the second wave. The Arbiter has to give us a little bit of leeway. You can step out when we are ready for it to begin. No one will know of your involvement,” I assured her. “You may not have faith that we can win, but surely a little helping hand isn’t beyond you?” 
 
    “Very well,” Jezebel agreed. “I will do it. If I enter from the optional core wing, I can probably secure you an hour, navigating my way through the forest, before the Arbiter will have enough evidence that I am not truly participating and expel me.” 
 
    “Excellent, but you’d best get a move on then. Jessamyn, Fiadh, and I are kicking some serious ass out on the field.” 
 
    Jezebel rolled her eyes and stepped away from me towards the doorway. 
 
    “Wait!” Alyssa cried as she hopped up from the couch and dragged a surprised Nessa over to the goddess. “Let Nessa remove the soul chain, just to be on the safe side.” 
 
    Jezebel practically leapt away from the two women. “That won’t be necessary,” she said firmly. “I don’t want you thinking I am going anywhere near one of the other Lords.” 
 
    Jezebel stormed out of the room without waiting for a response. 
 
    “What was that about?” Nessa asked in a confused tone. 
 
    It was a question that had plagued me since my previous meeting with the goddess in the jungle and I was no closer to an explanation. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    “Alyssa has cooked up a trick play,” I announced to my few surviving disciples. “The first wave is not officially over. Jezebel has stepped onto the Core floor. She can give us an hour before the second wave begins.” 
 
    “That is amazing, master…” Yanna started. 
 
    “…but how does this help us?” her sister Yuni continued. 
 
    “What is your plan?” They finished in unison. 
 
    “It’s simple, really. We are going to head down to the first floor and set up an ambush for the start of the second wave. We hit hard and fast once the first of the bastards step through. If we do this right, and eliminate them before a second champion enters, then by the terms set out by the Arbiter, the second wave would be over as there are no longer be any living challengers in the dungeon.” 
 
    Yanna and Yuni jumped for joy like a pair of Japanese schoolgirls meeting their idol. 
 
    “It is a sound plan,” Ruby added in a serious tone. “It will be difficult, but I think we have enough strength left to pull it off.” 
 
    She was weary, like the rest of us but there was a steely determination in the set of her shoulders. 
 
    “That’s the spirit,” I approved. “We’ll take a few hobs with us to cast Armour Breaker. Jessamyn, I want you to stay back and reorganise the remnants of the army for the third wave. Okay, let’s head out. We should be back to our best by the time we get there.” 
 
    I managed to take three steps before a small hand attached to my wood elf wife gripped my bicep firmly and held me back. “I’m afraid not, Husband. You will not be going.” 
 
    My eyebrows furrowed in confusion as I turned back to her. “Jess, what are you talking about? I’ve talked this over with Alyssa and Tenzing. What we’re doing is a bit risky, yes, but it is too choice of an opportunity to turn down.” 
 
    Jessamyn dazzled me with a kind smile. “I have no doubt you did, and I specifically asked Alyssa not to broach this subject with you and leave it to me if a situation like this occurred. There will be an ambush, but you will not be leading it,” she said with firm finality. 
 
    “Jess…” 
 
    “No, my love. I will brook no argument from you on this. You are too important for what must come later to risk yourself further. We cannot forget that Timian lurks in the saferoom. He may not have shown his hand so far, but do we truly believe he is as toothless as he wants us to think?” she reasoned. 
 
    Jessamyn shook her head in the negative, answering her own question for me. “No, if he has focused his prophetic power on anyone, it will be you. If you go, we risk him reacting and countering us. For this to work you must remain behind. Not to mention the infernals may react quickly and send others through to finish the ambushers. Those who go are not likely to return.” 
 
    I let out a loud breath after I thought over what Jessamyn had said. 
 
    Unfortunately, I couldn’t find any flaws in her logic and was forced to concede she had a point. “Fine. Yanna and Yuni, you will lead the way. Camouflage yourselves and get into position for the ambush. Ruby, you will command the others. Jessamyn and I will remain behind and prepare for the next phase.” 
 
    Jessamyn reached up and took my face in her soft hands and pulled my head into a kiss. Our lips parted and Jessamyn rested her forehead against mine. “You have always sought to protect me, Husband. From the very first day until the last. But it can’t be that way today.” 
 
    I pulled my head away from hers. “Jessamyn, no…” 
 
    She interrupted my argument by putting her fingers on my lips, shushing me with her winsome smile. “You know it has to be this way, Daxas. Ruby is a fine warrior and an able commander, but there is no guarantee Fiadh will listen to her at the critical moment. Karragh has fallen, so it must be me. It is Ruby who must stay behind to lead the army and you need to head back to the Core floor.” 
 
    Mournful agreement poured into me from my other half. 
 
    He had been getting the very same lecture from Alyssa, Nessa, and Jen’Zadeer in the viewing lounge. Despite being outnumbered my instincts reared in the back of my mind and demanded defiance. Insisted that I protect my mate and not put her in harm’s way in my stead. 
 
    Jessamyn predicted my reaction, of course. She lightly bit her lip in the way that had left me weak in the knees so often before. “Let me do this. For you, for us, for them, please…” she begged. 
 
    It was dirty pool, and she knew it, but I had no real defence. “Okay,” was all I could manage to say. 
 
    Jessamyn smiled brightly and stood on tiptoes as she kissed me again. “I trust you, my love. You will win. Should I fall, this will not be the last time we see one another.” 
 
    With that, Jessamyn departed the icy battlefield. With Fiadh and the two catgirls in tow along with a couple of hobgoblin mages. 
 
    I could only watch her go and hope she was right. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    It didn’t take Jessamyn and the others long to get down to the first floor. Our tunnel network was quite direct. Also, there were gremlin mobs inside to open and close the barriers that protected the dungeon’s integrity should any challenger find a way inside as unlikely as that might be with all the precautions I’d taken. 
 
    What increased the time required to set out trap was the slow speed at which Yanna and Yuni had to move at once they activated their Camouflage spell. 
 
    Sadly, the shimmering portal between the saferoom and the proper foyer of my dungeon provided two-way visuals. If they were not careful, a watchful eye from within could uncover their sneaky approach and reveal what we were up to. 
 
    The twins split up and took up a position on either side of the portal. When they were ready, I gave the signal to Jezebel via the DDD, and she withdrew back to an inactive room and ended the first wave. We had used up almost the full hour and we wouldn’t be able to do this again. 
 
    We’d been watching the Lords inside the saferoom. 
 
    Too much time had passed for them not to have figured out that Bulmaras had tricked them. 
 
    Shabbarth in particular seemed quite convinced. 
 
    The threat of Bulmaras’ success without them and what that would mean for them back in the Reaches had given them a commonality of purpose. That purpose had suppressed their natural inclination for hatred of one another. 
 
    Therefore, the reappearance of the dead champions, minus Bulmaras and his followers, almost came as a relief for them. 
 
    Simultaneously, there was a chiming sound in the saferoom. 
 
    “The first wave is over,” the Arbiter announced. “You have three more waves to complete the divine challenge.” 
 
    “Ah, the second bite at the cherry,” Shabbarth exulted. “Did I not tell you that muscle-brained fool had bitten off more than he could chew?” 
 
    “Not that I recall,” Olganeth rasped with a dry chuckle. 
 
    The old sathanite had been the quietest since their return. His recent experience really had shaken him. 
 
    Shabbarth glared at his older peer and prepared a vituperative retort which only encouraged Tharzus and Tir’Goran to get involved. With the tension eased, they were soon figuratively at one another’s throats again. Their brief period of unity was broken by the realisation that my soul energy was up for grabs once more. 
 
    Meanwhile, Timian remained at the back of the room with Garvax, surrounded by their divine champions. Calmly taking it all in and not getting involved. That barely restrained smirk of superiority was rarely far from his lips, but the infernals spared nary a glance in his direction and it went unnoticed by them.  
 
    The bickering conversation between the Lords went on, and on, and on, until I began to lose patience. Although their wasting time was a nominally a benefit for me, the longer this went on the more likely they would be to realise that too and exit mob handed. 
 
    I wasn’t the only one with those concerns. 
 
    Jessamyn took matters into her own dainty, yet deadly hands. She had walked into view of the saferoom, acting as if she were trying to sneak her way across the chamber. She headed in the direction of the trapdoor that led down into the basement wing where delvers completed the rat quest. 
 
    She was a few steps away when finally, one of the Lords, Tharzus Soulblight, noticed her. 
 
    “Mannid, deal with that trash,” he offhandedly asked one of his champions and then turned his attention back to his argument with the other princeps. 
 
    Mannid’s gaze flicked to the portal that led into the dungeon. 
 
    After Mannid spotted my vulnerable wood elf wife, sneaking through the dungeon, his lips pulled back with feral zeal. He took off without a word and dashed for the exit. Eager to claim the kill all for himself, which suited us just fine. 
 
    The demon jumped through the shimmer and landed on the flagstones of the welcome chamber. 
 
    He had eyes only for Jessamyn who squealed in a faux panic to sell her act. So focused was Mannid on her, that he didn’t see the hobgoblins who rushed from the adjoining corridor. They cast Armour Breaker and Hex upon him as they emerged. Nor did he notice a muzzled Fiadh practically pushing the hobs out of the way to get to him once the spells were cast by the hobs. And he especially did not see the catgirl twins on either side of the portal still in camouflage mode. 
 
    Yanna sprung from her position and went high, jumping onto his back. One short blade sliced into Mannid’s exposed throat, the other she jammed into his red wart-covered ear. Yuni complemented her sister’s attack by going low. She hamstrung the infernal first, which forced him down to one knee and then jabbed her twin dirks into his groin area. 
 
    The initial attacks were vicious and effective, but Mannid wasn’t just any infernal champion. He was one of the Soulblight’s honour guards and he would not go down that easily. 
 
    The sickly purple nimbus of Sundered Hate flickered into life around him and he seized the wildly stabbing Yanna by the scruff of her neck and smashed her into the granite flagstone flooring with a sickening thud. His other clawed hand swung down and gouged into Yuni who continually stabbed him from below and sent her reeling backwards. 
 
    This could have gone very badly if Jessamyn and Fiadh hadn’t been present. A lightning bolt cast by my wife bridged the gap between them and drew Mannid’s attention and then the wild Fiadh was upon him. 
 
    Muzzle discarded; her spiked fists pummelled the demon wherever they could connect. Mannid summoned a pair of maces to his hands and retaliated in kind, smashing the heavy implements into the berserker’s flesh. 
 
    However, this gave Yanna and Yuni a moment of respite and they sprung back onto their feet and re-entered the close-quarters combat. The hobs and Jessamyn pulled out their crossbows and fired them into the ruckus with unerring accuracy. 
 
    The fight was short, brutal, and ugly. 
 
    Jessamyn blazed brightly with the halo of her healing spells, and yet evidence of grievous wounds continued to adorn all three of my brave mates who had engaged directly with the champion. Before it was over, Jess and the hobs had to edge closer to avoid hitting their engaged allies.  
 
    Mannid was mighty, deadly, and he fought viciously, but his health pool was not inexhaustible, even with the boost from Sundered Hate. Following a particularly savage uppercut by Fiadh, he stumbled backwards and fell to the ground. The hobs and Jessamyn drew their blades and jumped on top of his prone form and joined in the frenzy of murderous melee. 
 
    “The second wave is over,” the Arbiter loudly announced in the saferoom to get the argumentative lord’s attention. “You have two more waves to complete the divine challenge.” 
 
    You could almost hear the Arbiter’s unspoken slur of ‘idiots’ at the end. 
 
    The fight outside had lasted perhaps ten seconds. Longer than we had anticipated as we hadn’t reckoned on them sending one of their true elites. 
 
    However, due to their internal wranglings, they had been distracted and hadn’t understood what we were doing until it was over. A few of the other champions had spotted the fracas in its later stages and had wandered over to observe but had been too late to intervene. 
 
    “What the…” Shabbarth muttered as he looked over in confusion at the shimmering portal. 
 
    Jessamyn and the five others were picking themselves up and breathing heavily from their exertion. She grabbed hold of Fiadh’s arm and hauled her up. “We need to go.” 
 
    The redheaded berserker in her battle-lust had still been punching the body of the dead infernal champion. 
 
    Unfortunately, Shabbarth quickly intuited the situation. “That clever bastard. All of you, after them now. Do not allow them to escape.” 
 
    His own champions reacted instantly and the others only a heartbeat later as their masters nodded in agreement. 
 
    In the viewing lounge, we watched with unabashed frustration and fury as the six brave ambushers were chased down as they fled through the dungeon. We had all known the chances of them walking away from this fight had been slim, but it didn’t make it any easier to bear. 
 
    Yanna and Yuni had been in the worst shape after the fight and despite their impressive agility scores, they were run down first. The hobs ran ahead under Jessamyn’s orders while she stayed at Fiadh’s side until the pursuers snapped at their heels. 
 
    Jessamyn looked up and blew me a kiss. “Fiadh, fight,” she roared, and they turned in unison running back into the maelstrom of angry demons. 
 
    They screamed their defiance and unleashed everything they had left. 
 
    As a final act, Jessamyn detonated a huge fireball in their midst. 
 
    It didn’t really harm the infernals, but it did remove any chance of either of them being captured. We couldn’t rule out the possibility of threats of torture being made to try and coerce or force me into acting rashly. 
 
    The hobs didn’t manage to get all the way out of the blast zone and were caught up in the backlash. The imps flew forward and then the two hobgoblins took a page from Jessamyn’s book and self-detonated their own fireball spells. 
 
    And then it was all over. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    “You will see her again as soon as we win, darling,” Alyssa whispered as she rubbed my shoulders, easing the iron tension from them. 
 
    “I have also figured out the targets of the final two daggers. The diamond is for Shabbarth and the emerald for Tharzus,” Tenzing added in an attempt to brighten my foul mood. “It was almost insultingly obvious that the emerald would be matched to the green-hued Tharzus. I’d dismissed the link initially as being too obvious. Apparently not.” 
 
    Jen’Zadeer gently tugged a crushed tankard from my grip. “If we weren’t able to simply create more, we’d have run out of these things by now.” 
 
    Despite the situation, a half-hearted chuckle escaped my lips. It was not often that Jen’Zadeer cracked a joke. 
 
    Well, not deliberately. 
 
    “So…” Nessa started. “How are we going to shaft these guys in wave three?” 
 
    That was a very good question and one that depended entirely on what our opponents did next. 
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 19 
 
      
 
    “They have returned,” Tir’Goran commented to his fellows with grim satisfaction. “The hunt was successful. If we are agreed, we can give them the signal and send them on their way.” 
 
    “We are not agreed, and I don’t like it,” Tharzus complained. “The Wolf King had proved too wily. We can’t afford to waste another wave.” 
 
    “Of course, you don’t like it,” Olganeth spat. “Your stupidity is the reason we lost the last one and now you are trying to cover for yourself and foist the blame on others.” 
 
    “Hypocrite! You would have done the same in my position!” 
 
    “No more fighting!” Shabbarth barked. “That is what cost us before. What is it that you don’t like, Tharzus?” 
 
    “Our plan had been to remain behind and let our champions clear the way and then follow. With the losses incurred we are down to forty-eight champions. After what we have witnessed, do we think that will be enough?” 
 
    “You have miscounted brother, sixty-four remain,” Shabbarth corrected him. 
 
    Tharzus sneered in Shabbarth’s direction. “Don’t try to play me for a fool. I’m not sending all my people ahead of me so that I can have an ‘accident’ on the way to Daxas’ core. I’m doubling my guard to four and I know the rest of you too well. You will do the same. I don’t trust any of you or that lot over there.” 
 
    Tharzus pointed over to Timian and the divine warriors who had been silently watching the exchange. 
 
    “Don’t try and convince me that the smirking bastard didn’t know about the ambush. He’s supposed to be a blasted prophet.” 
 
    “Is that true, Timian,” Shabbarth asked him. “Did you know?” 
 
    Timian rose to his full height and took a deep breath. 
 
    I had to admit to myself as I watched the exchange from afar that he did look regal and impressive. Blonde hair, perfect posture, a chiselled physique and a strong jawline. He would be considered a handsome devil, if not for the sky-blue eyes that betrayed the cruelty that lurked within. 
 
    “I may have had an inkling.” 
 
    “Then why did you say nothing?” Tir’Goran shouted. 
 
    “Nobody asked,” Timian smarmed back. “And I merely followed your directions. To sit at the back and do nothing.” 
 
    “You arrogant prick!” Tharzus seethed angrily. “How dare you mock us!” 
 
    Tharzus drew his swords, and he was joined in his aggressive stance by Olganeth, Tir’Goran, and their honour guards producing their weapons. 
 
    Would they finish one another now? Would I really get that lucky? 
 
    “I dare blighted one because your advantage over me wanes. Your strength has wavered but mine remains undiminished.” He gestured to his and Garvax’s divine challengers who all stood and drew weapons of their own. 
 
    Timian paced back and forth in front of them. 
 
    Anger boiled over in his posture, gestures, and tone. “What? Did you think I would sit back and let you run roughshod over me? I am the preeminent Lord of the Realms!” he practically roared at them. “The one who stands above all others. Did you truly believe I would let you come to this place, a place which I engineered, and that you could feed from the fatted calf I have prepared and simply cast me aside!” 
 
    The Infernal Lords with the exception of Shabbarth seemed taken aback by the sudden appearance of Timian’s backbone. There was some nervous side-eyeing between them. Too late they had realised many of their warriors were essentially trapped outside the saferoom. 
 
    In here, Timian now had the numerical advantage. 
 
    Timian then went on in a more conversational tone. “No, I tell you. You shall not! So yes, I stayed silent while you frittered away some of the advantages I procured. Content to wait. 
 
    “No longer. I shall not be denied my right to be present at Daxas’ demise and to take my portion of the energy he harbours.” 
 
    Shabbarth stepped forward and held his hands out wide in a friendly gesture. “You are right, of course.” He smiled the fakest car salesman smile I had ever seen. “These grounds are truly a marvel and perhaps we were too hasty to dismiss you so easily. But let us not forget why we forged the Accords in the first place. The avoidance of direct conflict between our two forces. We knew then, as we surely know now, that there are no winners, only losers in such a confrontation.” 
 
    And just like that my hopes that these bastards would slaughter one another and end things for me here and now died. 
 
    Timian nodded at Shabbarth’s words. “True enough, what do you propose?” 
 
    “A proper alliance between equals. We shall stick to the original plan with a slight amendment. Send all our champions, yours and ours, to clear the dungeon and then we advance to the end together.” 
 
    Timian made a show of thinking things over and then grinned as if he were in a room full of friends. “I knew you were going to say that,” he chuckled. “Agreed. Braxtor, and the ogres, Grolth and Mugu, will stay behind to keep Garvax and me company. The rest shall join with your champions and proceed to the Core floor where they shall await us.” 
 
    Weapons were sheathed or sent back to inventories. The two groups backed away from each other and soon the divine warriors trooped out of the saferoom and into the dungeon for the first time. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    “You can’t seriously be proposing we share the bounty of this dungeon with that wretched filth?” Tharzus whispered vehemently when the infernals were far enough away from Timian and Garvax to not be overheard. 
 
    “Of course, he doesn’t,” Olganeth scoffed with a sneer at the other sathanite. 
 
    Shabbarth looked over his shoulder and smiled at the gods talking with one another in the other corner and then turned back to his brother princeps. “Olganeth has the right of it. We will fluff the ego of this fool who thinks himself our equal. Make use of him and then…when he has served his purpose…” 
 
    “We crush him under foot,” Tir’Goran finished with a slightly high-pitched squeal of delight. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    “I thought we were going to wait until the last moment?” Garvax queried once the infernals had moved far enough away that he couldn’t be overheard by them. “What was that display all about?” 
 
    “Ideally, we would have. Navigating foresight is more art than science,” Timian replied while he smiled broadly at Shabbarth when he looked over in their direction. “The key is knowing the outcomes of all the alternatives and planning adequately for them all. The failure of Daxas’ ambush was the most likely result and if it had, I would have held my peace. Instead, its success spooked the infernals, heightened their suspicions. Which in turn would have led them to question our continued passivity, therefore, we had to adapt the plan. 
 
    “Although it may have seemed like I inflamed the situation, the truth is very different. Asserting ourselves soothed their concerns about our intentions. Continued passivity with the changing circumstances would only make them more suspicious, not less. Now they believe they understand us, and this gives them the false impression that they have the upper hand. We will continue to make use of them and when they have served their purpose…” 
 
    “We crush them under foot,” Garvax finished with a fervent zeal that hinged on madness. 
 
    Timian answered the fervour of his subordinate with another of his creepy enigmatic smiles. 
 
    In the viewing lounge, I steepled my fingers, deep in thought. 
 
    On the face of it, things were going well. But that smirk on the beatific face of my hated rival dulled my elation. Until I personally witnessed the sightless gaze from his cold dead eyes, I wouldn’t be sure of my eventual victory. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 20 
 
      
 
    With the divine champions reinforcing the infernals they were effectively back to the same level of strength as when they started the first wave. The cooperation between the two groups was limited but they didn’t devolve into outright fighting, so for them, it was as good as a win. 
 
    Although I had held back some bits and pieces on the earlier floors during the first wave, I didn’t deploy them during this run either. There was a fourth and final wave to come and if things went as I hoped in this one, then the attackers would already be weakened. That would be the optimal time to use those surprises held in reserve. 
 
    They passed through the first six floors without much incident having learned of the dangers and how to avoid them. There were a few fallers on the third floor, but apart from providing a laugh for the infernals or the divine, depending on who it was that fell, it didn’t achieve anything. 
 
    The earlier success of the fourth, fifth, and sixth floors had left them seriously depopulated. 
 
    Most of the Bloodspine Cacti had been destroyed. 
 
    There were a few Greater Assassins left floating about and they waited in the wings ready to prey on any champion foolish enough to get separated from the pack. 
 
    None did. 
 
    The Yeti on the sixth floor had sacrificed themselves to hold Bulmaras’ advance in check. 
 
    So it was that they entered the seventh floor without a single champion lost. It hadn’t taken time off the clock, though, so it wasn’t all bad news. 
 
    The seventh floor used the graveyard advanced rooms I had gained access to via killing the necromancers when there had been a bounty on my head. It may have seemed like an odd choice for me as I was a life dungeon. Mainly because my access to undead mobs was limited and they were more expensive to procure due to my dungeon’s nature. 
 
    However, the graveyard provided bonuses to necrotic forms of damage which was something I could enchant regular mobs and gear with. Plus a few of the venoms and poisons used necrosis as the basis for the damage they inflicted. 
 
    In the end, it was about giving delvers something new and unexpected that they would have to prepare for and deal with. 
 
    The final eighth floor used the battlefield advanced rooms that I had gained in spades from the sheer number of orc dungeons I’d destroyed that had used them. My biggest hitters were stationed here. 
 
    Including a non-humanoid mob that I had used one of my special life seeds on. 
 
    Almost all those special seeds had been used on mobs in the other three dungeons that had been unjustly excised from the challenge. The floors were all at the highest level allowed for us, so it made sense to concentrate them there, but I couldn’t dwell on what was not to be. 
 
    Because there were no Lords to kill, I adopted the same wait and see approach for the final two regular floors. Most of the threats were ordered to hold back and only a token force was sent against the enemy on both floors. 
 
    Enough to be convincing. Despite being understrength they managed to take out three champions. 
 
    It took the challengers several hours, but they finally reached the antechamber at the end of the dungeon proper. 
 
    The very one I had been relaxing in with Jessamyn not too long ago. 
 
    And there they halted and waited. 
 
    This was the secondary reason I had taken it relatively easy on them. The longer they waited, the less time they had left to complete the dungeon.  
 
    It was the imps that were sent back to inform the Lords that it was time for them to move forward. 
 
    I could have tried to stop the imps, but that would have revealed how much I had held back in reserve, so they were allowed to fly back unhindered. It could have wasted more time if I had intercepted the flying messengers, but now that Timian was taking a more active role, I sincerely doubted he’d be genuinely unaware of their arrival. 
 
    I was taking a gamble based on what I had observed so far of Timian’s behaviour. By allowing the imps a free pass it would encourage the divine seer to keep his silence and wait for their return instead of informing the infernals that the champions had reached their destination and they could set out. Essentially, I hoped by not actively attempting to cause further delays, I would actually drain more time from what they had left. 
 
    The imps made good time and before long every last one of my opponents were making their way to the end of the dungeon where the core floor awaited them. 
 
    Timian and Garvax’s group brought up the rear, but they didn’t make a move on the four infernals that led the way. To be fair, the infernals spent as much time watching the two divine lords as they did their fellows, but nobody made a move. 
 
    Undoubtedly, they were all waiting for an opportunity to present itself in the chaos of combat. Or they planned to wait until I was on my knees before they made a play for ultimate dominance. 
 
    Either scenario was fine with me, as I had no intention of giving them what they wanted. 
 
    Regardless, with all the back and forth, the third wave had been in progress for twenty hours. The first two waves had taken over twelve hours and that left them just under fourteen more. 
 
    “We are ready to take the field,” Shabbarth informed Timian just before they stepped through onto the core floor. “Have you seen anything of note in what is to come? You are the prophet in our midst, after all.” 
 
    He must have decided to bait Timian’s pride. Not a bad plan, I thought, but a bit late. The golden-haired snake had shown himself to be too smug and patient to fall for such obvious needling this late in the game. 
 
    “Hmmm,” Timian mused theatrically and put a finger to the side of his temple as he mimicked a foretelling. “Daxas has many wood elf archers lying in wait. Several hundred. The first assault will be with ranged missile fire.” 
 
    “We knew that already,” Tharzus scoffed under his breath, but loud enough to be heard anyway. “The cowardly wolf pissant always does that first on the core floor.” 
 
    Shabbarth nodded in agreement. “In that case, would you care to take the lead? I notice that many of your champions favour using a shield. Something our champions often forego.” 
 
    “Of course,” Timian replied brightly. “We’ve been looking forward to this moment for some time.” 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Without any fanfare, the challengers advanced into the forest rooms of my Core floor. Timian led the way flanked by the two ogres and deftly led them through the densely packed forest. Unerringly directing them onto the correct paths and avoiding the easier tracks that led to the trick wing I had used to annihilate the Black Hills Brigade guild a several years earlier. 
 
    A few forest beasts attacked them along the way to keep them on their toes, but the true threat was the archers and the core floor’s army which had now been reinforced with the survivors from the Lair’s army. 
 
    I allowed them to get halfway, into the third chamber, before we sprung the trap.  
 
    The challengers had been advancing down the woody boulevard. The divine forces were in the lead and surrounded the two gods. Not far behind them in three smaller groupings came the infernals. Tir’Goran and his imps hovered above but were spread out. If they got too close to one another then one of the other princeps would yell angrily at them and they would be forced to break apart otherwise none of them would go forward. 
 
    The trust between them had been fully eroded. 
 
    “Here they come!” Timian yelled suddenly as I opened my mouth in the viewing lounge to give the order to the elves waiting in the trees. 
 
    I had a mind to spite the bastard just to show him up, but everything was in place and would be less effective if we waited. 
 
    “Fire!” I ordered through the DDD. 
 
    Four hundred wood elves came out from their hiding spots. Most of them were up in the trees but some of them were down on the ground. With practised ease, they knocked arrows to the strings of their bows, pulled them back, and released in a smooth motion. No sooner had the clumsy arrows left the string, the elves were grasping the next arrow from a special quiver and repeating the action. 
 
    My hope was that Timian’s knowledge of what was to come was limited, much as Garvax had intimated in our earlier conversation. That he may have known when and where the attack was coming from, but perhaps did not know the full nature of it. 
 
    He had certainly walked into the trap as if he had nothing to fear from what we had to offer. 
 
    These were not normal arrows shot by the wood elves. They had the usual wooden shaft and flighted tail, but the pointed tips had been replaced. Glued to the end of each shaft was an enchantment crystal. The silence enchantment to be exact, not that it truly mattered. To be clear, the arrow itself had not been enchanted with silence, it was merely a delivery mechanism for the crystal that would then transfer the enchantment to any suitable piece of equipment it touched. 
 
    This was one of the aces I had up my sleeve and was based on a very simple enchanting principle. Which was that enchantable equipment could only possess a certain number of enchantments. Try and add more than the quality of the equipment would allow and the whole thing would disintegrate. 
 
    Shields were raised by those that had them and they clattered noisily as the first volley of crystal-tipped arrows connected with their targets. 
 
    The struck shields shimmered as the silence enchantment was conferred to them and then they dissolved into sparkling dust. The second volley of arrows fell amongst the challengers and wherever they made contact with armour or weapons they left a spray of multi-hued sparkles as the challengers were stripped of their gear. 
 
    A third volley, and then a fourth landed amongst them. But by now they understood what I had done, and they began to turn and try to protect their remaining equipment letting the crystals strike their flesh if they couldn’t be avoided altogether. My crafters and I had done what we could to sharpen the edges of the enchantment crystals, but they wouldn’t do much if any piercing damage. 
 
    I’d anticipated how they would adapt, so the fifth and sixth volleys switched out to regular damage-enchanted arrows from a separate quiver. Then as the champions reacted to the rain of real arrow fire, the seventh and eighth volley switched back to the crystal-tipped variety and managed to strip them of yet more gear. 
 
    “Charge!” I roared both from my avatar in the forest who led half the army that attacked from the rear where the infernals were. And from the viewing lounge to the other half of the army at the forefront who broke from cover, launched their fire-based spells, and went after the divine challengers. 
 
    From the viewing lounge, my eyes were riveted on Timian. How would he react? My sight of him was very briefly interrupted by the fiery explosions of multiple fireballs landing in and around where he, Garvax, and their champions had been standing. 
 
    The flames and smoke cleared, and my heart sank just a little. 
 
    Timian, Garvax, and their champions stood in a close formation. Fully armed and armoured. The golden-haired god had known what we were going to do, and his champions had carried spare gear in their inventories. 
 
    It was both a consolation and frustration that the gear they currently wore was of unenchantable standard quality. It was nowhere near as good as the primo sanctified equipment they wore before, but the enchanted crystal trick wouldn’t work on gear that couldn’t be enchanted in the first place. 
 
    “You know what to do,” Timian said to Braxtor, his draconic champion. 
 
    The white-scaled dragon-man bowed deeply to his master and then pushed off the loamy ground leaving deep ruts and launched himself into the air flying back over the battle as the front half of my army collided with the divine champions. 
 
    “Garvax, come here,” Timian ordered his subordinate as he surveyed the chaotic scenes around him. 
 
    I could see the surly and mutinous look on Garvax’s face. Would now be the moment he chose to act? 
 
    Just as he bunched his shoulders ready to do something, Timian turned towards him. “Now! You blasted idiot or do you want to meet the same end as those infernal fools.” 
 
    Garvax’s grip on his sword loosened and he stepped forward like a dutiful servant. His visage once more took on the mask of servility. 
 
    “Grolth, Mugu, kill as many of them as you can. This is not the endgame but leave your mark.” 
 
    With his final order given, Timian placed his hand on Garvax’s shoulder and snapped the fingers of his other hand. The pair of gods disappeared with a loud popping sound. 
 
    “He used a teleportation trinket,” Tenzing said from beside me on the couch. “It’s a single-use item they have access to, and the range is limited; they can’t have gone far. They only get to bring one, it is good we’ve forced him to waste it before the final wave.” 
 
    Sure enough, the screen that we had assigned to follow Timian showed them reappear a few seconds later. They were still in the forest, several hundred metres away from the battle. Far enough that he could escape. 
 
    “I retire,” Timian said in a smug voice while he held onto Garvax. 
 
    They both disappeared for a second time, however, this time they reappeared in the heart of the saferoom. 
 
    There was nothing I could do about the pair of gods right now and my gaze flicked back to the unfolding events on the big screens in front of me. 
 
    “The diabolical bastard. This was his plan all along,” Tamara sighed with reluctant praise for her former sponsor and tormentor. “He is leaving you and the infernals to wear one another out. Until he is all that remains.” 
 
    I couldn’t help but agree. 
 
    Thus far, Timian had played a solid hand, but the game was far from over. “We’ll see about that.” 
 
    After they had launched the fireballs, the half of the army at the front made up primarily of hobgoblins charged in. The dryads that reinforced them cast the Greater Summon Beasts spell and sent packs of vicious thorn hounds alongside them. 
 
    The divine champions held their ground and several of them started to collect the crystal-tipped arrows that had failed to find a target from the forest floor. With a sinking feeling, I knew what they were going to do with them. 
 
    Sure enough, they produced bows of their own and shot the arrows back into the oncoming hobgoblins, stripping them of some of their top-tier armour. 
 
    The phrase hoisted upon your own petard flashed through my mind. 
 
    Before they turned our weapons back upon us, I would have said that my hobs had the advantage in the coming melee. Their better gear would have made up for some of the disparity in natural stats where the champions had a clear lead. Then when you added the packs of thorn hounds into the mix, my army would have had the edge with the extra numbers. Now, the scales had likely tipped back in favour of the divine. 
 
    The two sides collided in furious combat. The ogres were particularly devastating. Their unsophisticated but massive imbued clubs smashed hounds and hobs in equal measure inflicting colossal amounts of damage. 
 
    Using the DDD, we issued orders and warnings where we could, but it soon became clear that our best hope was to deal with the infernals using the bejewelled daggers as quickly as possible. Then the second half of the army could pincer the divine champions and overwhelm them. My physically present avatar was handling that side of the equation and had been making steady progress. There was one concerning element, though. 
 
    The imp lord, Tir’Goran. The one infernal lord I no longer had a dagger for, but we were to see that wouldn’t be an issue for long. 
 
    At some point during the confrontation, the land-based infernal lords had launched their Infernal Bombs up into the treetops. This had slaughtered scores of wood elves and smashed their canopy walkways to smithereens. 
 
    However, we had reserves and they started to move forward into position. 
 
    That was when the imps struck. 
 
    With their supreme agility, they wove their way through the destruction and picked off elf after elf. Delighting in lifting them from the trees, up to the highest altitude permissible and then flinging them against the sturdy trunks of the giant redwoods in this forest, only to then fall to their doom. 
 
    Tir’Goran presided over the slaughter, laughing with glee at the broken elven bodies that now littered the forest floor off the main boulevard where the land battle was underway. 
 
    A laugh that was suddenly cut off. 
 
    Coming from out of the dazzling brightness of the fake sun, hurtled Braxtor. 
 
    I’d be lying if I said I’d forgotten about him, but with so much going on I had lost track of him momentarily. 
 
    The draconic man had re-equipped himself with top-tier gear. Replacing any items he had lost in the initial deluge from my elves. Including the gem-studded ivory lance that punched through the back of Tir’Goran and drove him down into the boughs of a tree. The tip of the lance that now protruded from Tir’Goran Sixwing’s chest was embedded deeply into the bark of the redwood, pinning the imp to the tree. 
 
    “Are you mad?” Tir’Goran both screamed and coughed up a mouthful of blood while he struggled to extricate himself. 
 
    “No, but I am thorough,” Braxtor calmly replied. 
 
    The imp tried to batter Braxtor away with his wings while calling for aid from his flying champions. 
 
    Sadly for Tir’Goran, his imp champions were too spread out and busy gleefully murdering my wood elf archers. They were blithely unaware of the dire predicament their master had found himself in. 
 
    Braxtor methodically grabbed hold of one of the imp’s wings and produced a serrated blade from his inventory and quickly sawed his way through the joint that attached it to the imps back and threw the loose winged limb away. 
 
    Tir’Goran screamed in agony and fury at the loss. “You’ll pay for that, fucker!” 
 
    The imp bent his arm backwards in a panic and unleashed his Infernal Bomb at point-blank range. 
 
    The plasma ball spread fire in a wide arc and the explosive nature of the spell did indeed throw Braxtor away from him very forcefully. 
 
    However, several things occurred that didn’t help the imp. 
 
    First, Braxtor had a firm grip on a second of his wings and had already sawed through part of the ligaments and cartilage that attached the wing to the imp’s back. When the dragon-man was blown away, the half-cut wing was torn from his back. Which in all likelihood did more damage than Braxtor simply cutting the wing off would have done. 
 
    Secondly, the imp had set off the spell directly between himself and Braxtor. The lance that impaled him was below the ignition point and the explosive force pushed it downwards. The weapon was made of sterner stuff than Tir’Goran and it was his flesh that gave way and he was gouged horrifically as the lance was torn through his body. 
 
    Being freed from the lance could have been seen as an upside if the force of the explosion hadn’t also slammed Tir’Goran into the trunk of the tree while snapping the trunk several metres below the imp. The top of the tree cracked and teetered until it fell over, spun on its axis a little, and crashed to the ground with the imp lord underneath it. 
 
    The mighty explosion certainly got the attention of his remaining imp champions, and they flew over to investigate. But like rubbernecking drivers passing an accident, they dawdled, heedless of the true reason for their master unleashing his most devastating spell. They were more interested in soaking up the carnage, assuming its purpose had not been a panicked last gasp. 
 
    This meant Braxtor was the first to react, despite the ruinous damage he had suffered being at the heart of the Infernal Bomb. The arm that had grimly clung to a wing was dislocated and there were countless contusions and splotches of blood covering his white scales. But his wings were intact, and he flew across the destruction and retrieved his lance from the forest floor one-handed. 
 
    He came upon Tir’Goran feebly trying to free himself. The imp’s lower body was trapped and crushed by the tonnes of redwood pinning him down. The fall and the explosion had smashed and broken his remaining four wings, leaving them a crooked mess. 
 
    “I forfeit,” he croaked, but it was too late. 
 
    Braxtor was within range and his plain murderous intent prevented the ultimate escape clause from being used. 
 
    The lance slammed home, punching a hole through the imp’s forehead, and splattering the moss and pinecones on the forest floor with lumps of brain matter. 
 
    The imp champions, who had too late realised the danger their master was in, popped out of existence as they swooped down to try and stop the fatal attack. 
 
    “Well, I’ll admit, I didn’t see that coming,” Alyssa joked. 
 
    “Neither did I,” Tamara admitted. “But I do not think this bodes well for us. Timian must be confident he can clear the fourth wave without any infernal assistance. Otherwise, I doubt he would have made such a bold move.” 
 
    “Paugh!” Nessa snorted dismissively. “Even if he gets to the core chamber, we can take him.” 
 
    “Maybe so,” Jen’Zadeer replied. “But with all that has happened, we should not take any further chances.” 
 
    “You’re right,” I said. “We need to order what is left of the wood elves in that area to use their remaining crystal-tipped arrows to strip Braxtor of his gear again. He can’t have much more stored away and we need to finish this wave.” 
 
    “Agreed,” came a chorus of assenting voices. 
 
    Then our attention was drawn back to the rest of the battle that had continued almost out of sight of the conflict between Braxtor and Tir’Goran. 
 
    Where we had both good and bad news awaiting us.  
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 21 
 
      
 
    Ruby and I led the morphed minotaurs into the back lines of the infernal champions. The sickly purple hue of Sundered Hate burst into life a split second before the two groups clashed. 
 
    The final volley of enchantment arrows had landed amongst them and helped strip a few extra pieces of armour. The wood elves in the trees would continue to rain arrows down upon them to keep the Infernal Lords in combat and prevent them from easily escaping the trap I had set. 
 
    Tharzus Soulblight had brought up the rear. He had seventeen champions but some of them were between his party and Olganeth’s. There were only ten or so who formed the ragged line that we charged into, and we outnumbered their ten heavily and we had scores of dryads following in our wake. 
 
    The dryads summoned thorn hounds to join the ranks of goblins that waited in the forest on the flanks. They weren’t the strongest force, but they would delay any fleeing champions long enough for the bigger hitters to run them down. 
 
    Ruby and I sent flocks of lighting eagles to harass the imps that flew under the canopy of the forest. 
 
    Unlike the earlier battle where we fought Bulmaras’ brutes and were stopped cold, the freshly unarmoured sathanite champions bent and then broke under the onslaught from our attack. Soon the melee was a chaotic mess of bodies, no formations, just battle-hardened warriors giving their all to slaughter one another. 
 
    “Here I am, Daxas! Come and get me,” Tharzus roared with unabashed battle-lust as his vorpal-enhanced broadsword cleaved the leg from the knee down off an unfortunate wolf-minotaur. 
 
    I shifted back to my humanoid form to weave through the battling bodies more easily and surreptitiously summoned the striated blade with an emerald in its pommel. A few side steps and I was in range of the crazed infernal lord. 
 
    His broadsword and boots were the only bits of his gear that hadn’t been dissolved. The lack of armour left the pale-green, pock-marked, and scabby skin of his on full display. 
 
    The corruption in his soul had left its mark upon his flesh. 
 
    Tharzus was the patron of the darkest depravities the mind could fathom. The sick kind of shit that turned the stomachs of even the most hardened criminals. 
 
    Nobody would miss him. 
 
    I moved in from behind, but he shifted at the worst possible moment and spotted me in his peripheral vision. He spun and threw a scarred hand that doused me in a spray of concentrated hydrochloric acid. 
 
      
 
    10% damage: 90% health remaining  
 
      
 
    The ghostly damage graphic flashed in the corner of my eye.  
 
    Tharzus’ lips pulled back in a gruesome grin showing off his crooked and rotten teeth and he swung the blade with rapidity and clipped the edge of my ear while also beheading another of my seeded warriors.  
 
    The swipes kept coming and I was forced to dodge or parry with my maul which wasn’t really suited for such work, constantly looking for a decent opportunity to strike. 
 
    “You thought me a deplorable coward, didn’t you, wolf-bastard,” Tharzus bragged. “You can admit it, everybody does. But you are just as big a fool as they are. Underestimating me. While they have plotted and schemed to kill one another for the chance to drain you, I have merely been patient and waited for you to come to me. 
 
    “They might need to conquer your dungeon, not I. Nobody is as familiar with the corruption of the soul as the soulblighted one. Even now, I’m intertwining mine with yours. It’s too late to cut and run, this union can only be broken by death. Yours!” he screeched the last part with maniacal glee. 
 
    There was a heavy sense of déjà vu here. It was almost as if Bulmaras had written down the little speech he planned to give me when he got his big arms around me and Tharzus had copied it almost word for word. That or they truly lacked any sense of individual style. 
 
    “Your essence will invigorate me to the highest peaks…aaghh!” Tharzus gasped as his grandstanding speech was suddenly cut off. 
 
    For the briefest moment, I’d debated as to whether I should allow Tharzus to discover that his attempt to fuse his soul with mine was an utter failure or simply end things. 
 
    Alyssa knew all about Tharzus Soulblight’s modus operandi and we were well versed on what he would attempt. I’d deflected his clammy soul grasping onto one of his own champions. It was they and not me who had been doomed as the very essence of their soul stuff was gobbled up and corrupted by the Sathanite Lord. 
 
    However, his second rate, villainous monologuing which I’d been forced to listen to once already had bored the ever-loving shit out of me. 
 
    Ending things quickly was the way to go. 
 
    I hefted my double-headed maul and turned around as if I were about to flee. I spun on the balls of my feet like an Olympic hammer thrower and launched my maul into his ugly leering face. The weighty weapon crashed into his jaw and shattered those rotten teeth into shards. 
 
    It was more the shock that I’d been able to act against him rather than the crunching blow itself that caused Tharzus to lower his arm and offer me a perfect opening. I stepped in gratefully and thrust the dagger deep into his withered and scarred heart. 
 
    Tharzus spat blood and broken teeth as the breath escaped his lungs from the force of my strike. His boggled eyes looked down on me as if he couldn’t believe that death was upon him and then those eyes rolled into the back of his skull. 
 
    He tumbled backwards onto the loamy earth. 
 
    Quite dead. 
 
    My warriors had already despatched the majority of his defenders in the short, brutal fight, but the disappearance of the stragglers opened up a clear path to the next group. 
 
    Olganeth’s. 
 
    The wily demon had just finished launching his Infernal Bomb into the canopy above us. Shabbarth further up the woody boulevard had done the same. An attempt to disrupt and destroy the wood elf rangers above them. Many of their treetop platforms were blown apart and scores of them fell or burned to their deaths. 
 
    I had spent very little in up-ranking them. Relying on quantity and the cover of the canopy to boost their lethality. But that made the wood elves relatively cheap and there were more where they came from. Replacements were already making their way from alternate positions deeper in the forest to keep the deluge of ranged danger in place. 
 
    The grizzled veteran’s eyes were fixated upon me despite his spellcasting, and I flashed him a wolfish grin and shifted back into my lupine form and mixed in with my army. 
 
    The soothing balm of a dryad healing spell settled on me, and my health was boosted back to one hundred percent. Many of the wolf-disguised minotaurs were still in the fight and I directed them to push forward, not that they really needed any prodding. 
 
    As they charged forward, I shimmied along and wove through the line, taking more hits than I cared to admit until I made my way to Ruby’s side. 
 
    Olganeth was too canny an operator not to have noticed the method by which I despatched Tharzus. Which meant he would intuit that I’d got my hands on a set of the Lord killing daggers from one of the bodies that now littered my dungeon. 
 
    As the aged demon scanned the battling wolfmen for me, I passed the amethyst blade to Ruby and slipped away from her before Olganeth could notice. 
 
    She didn’t need to be told anything further. She knew what it was and what to do with it. I’d briefed all the girls before the battle with Bulmaras. 
 
    If I had any fears that Olganeth’s understanding of the situation might make him difficult to get to, they were quickly pushed aside. 
 
    The pale-skinned demon’s gaze passed over the tumult of battle until it finally settled on me. He must have recognised my armour and weaponry or the slight difference in fur colour and length between me and the other wolf-formed. 
 
    I counted my lucky stars that I’d passed off the blade before he identified me. 
 
    Olganeth had retained more of his armour than his champions and he flung a series of his knives in my direction. 
 
    I raised my shield and blocked the first flurry only for my shield to suddenly dissolve in my hands. The bastard demon had picked up a crystal-tipped arrow embedded in the loamy earth and chucked it at me. The next flurry of throwing knives thudded into my thighs before I could react, and I stumbled onto my knees as numbness spread to my lower extremities. 
 
      
 
    4% damage: 87% remaining. 
 
    You have been afflicted with Vorpal Paralysis (1) in the following limbs. Left leg and right leg. You will be unable to move them until the status effect has been cleared. Due to your enhanced resilience of 27 you can perform an automatic check against your stamina + resilience every 4 seconds. 
 
      
 
    I’d have a pretty decent chance of getting the feeling back into my legs in four seconds. But that may as well have been four hours in my current situation. Olganeth hadn’t waited for me to drop to my knees before he closed the distance between us. 
 
    “Guard my flanks,” I barked out to whoever might be listening, and twirled my maul in front of me to intercept the next pair of throwing knives. 
 
    “Too clever for your own good,” Olganeth crowed as he threw another crystal-tipped arrow in my direction which forced me to drop my maul and duck low as the implement flew over my head. 
 
    Unsurprisingly, I couldn’t rely on the grizzled veteran to make the same mistake as Tharzus and monologue for me. While my hand grasped the handle of the dropped maul, he stepped forward and put his booted foot on top of my maul’s head. In the same motion, his upper body stabbed downwards with a pair of daggers glowing red with vorpal nastiness towards my shoulders. 
 
    I had to release the grip on my weapon and heave my body backwards to avoid having all my limbs numbed. 
 
    Olganeth smiled cruelly and jumped onto my lying body with the intent of slitting my throat. Or at least, he tried to. With his focus solely on me, he failed to notice the smaller human form running across steadied hulking wolfman shoulders that leapt from the impromptu hairy platform and onto his back, amethyst dagger in hand. 
 
    Too late Olganeth realised what I had done and even as he bucked furiously to throw Ruby from his back the amethyst dagger bit deeply into his flesh. 
 
    The old demon was strong, and Ruby was flung a dozen feet clear of where we grappled on the ground. But unlike his fight with Thorzoth the incubus, this time Ruby had plunged the amethyst dagger to the hilt in his midriff. 
 
    A mortal blow. 
 
    He blinked at me lying below him. “Well, fuck,” he gasped out as the light faded from his eyes and he slumped dead on top of me. 
 
    His death was accompanied by a loud popping sound as his remaining champions disappeared from the battlefield. 
 
    “Hells, yeah,” Ruby cried. “Got the bastard. Score one for the B-team.” 
 
    “You know I don’t think of any of you as a B team,” I grunted in response as I shifted the dead infernal’s wrinkly corpse off my body. “Some of the girls have been with me longer is all and change for the sake of change is never a good idea.” 
 
      
 
    Vorpal Paralysis checks successful. 
 
      
 
    Excellent, I thought, as sensation returned to my legs, and I rolled over and started to get up. The remaining minotaurs had already rushed forward to attack the last group of infernal champions and the dryads were hurrying to join us. 
 
    “I know…” Ruby started but was cut off as a shadow flitted over me to her and expanded in size rapidly. 
 
    Like a meteor from above, Braxtor slammed down to the ground, his gaudy lance skewering Ruby through her neck and effectively cutting her head clean off, killing her instantly. Braxtor knelt in his superman pose and flexed his white-scaled wings and looked over at me. 
 
    His draconic eyes glinted with malice. 
 
    I surged from my knees and to my feet ready to tear the motherfucker to pieces but was interrupted as my mind connected with my viewing alternate and he filled me in on what had occurred at the other end of the battlefield with Timian and Garvax. And that Braxtor had come directly from killing the imp lord, Tir’Goran. 
 
    Braxtor stood up and pushed Ruby’s body which had been held up by his lance over and rasped in a throaty chuckle. “Oops, how clumsy of me? Was she somebody important? Didn’t look like it to me.” 
 
    “I’ll tear out your heart with my fucking claws,” I growled and picked up my maul ready to cave in his smug draconic face. 
 
    Braxtor hopped back from me, out of range of my maul. “You could do that,” he needled, “but then Shabbarth would get away. I know this for a fact because my lord Timian knows it. What is more important to you? Stopping me and avenging one of your harlots or removing the last of the Infernal Lords. Hurry now, before Shabbarth realises he is the last Lord still standing and forfeits.” 
 
    Retirement was only possible if they were completely out of combat, but they could forfeit if they were out of the melee range of an enemy. The painful truth is that we needed to permanently remove as many Lords as possible. 
 
    “You will regret this, Braxtor,” I promised. 
 
    “That’s what they all say just before I carve them up and serve them to my master,” he laughed and pumped his wings taking him up towards the leafy canopy. 
 
    That one of Braxtor’s arms hung loosely at his side and he looked like he had been through World War Three all by himself did nothing to cheer my dark mood.  
 
    Frost Bolts from the dryads and arrows from my wood elves peppered him as searched for his next victim. They would wear him down, but sadly he was right. 
 
    Retribution for Ruby and all the others who had fallen would have to wait until Shabbarth was dealt with. We would deal with Braxtor and his master in the fourth and final wave. 
 
    True to the dragon man’s taunts, Shabbarth and his sathanite warriors were on the verge of breaking through into the forest opposite where the imp’s final stand had taken place. The thorn-hound-backed goblin force was virtually gone. A handful of the little buggers were clinging to the leg of the demon and made it difficult for him to get away. 
 
    If Shabbarth got enough distance to retire or forfeit, it would dramatically increase the danger of the fourth wave. 
 
    Him and all twenty of his champions would be present. 
 
    Blocking my path to the final dark princeps was a wall of infernal champions battling wolf-shaped minotaurs. Stowing my maul and taking a leaf from Ruby’s book, I shifted back to my humanoid form and leapt up onto the shoulders of one of the larger specimens and used him as a springboard to launch myself over the melee. 
 
    The move didn’t go unnoticed or unpunished. A spear tip slashed along my thigh as I hurtled over the enemy. 
 
      
 
    6% damage: 81% remaining. 
 
      
 
    It was a mere annoyance, and my hands reached out and grasped a thick branch of one of the ancient oaks interspersed with redwoods that lined the dirt track boulevard. 
 
    I scrambled up and jumped from branch to branch like a hairless monkey as I continued my pursuit of Shabbarth. Years of chasing Jessamyn and Nessa through forests just like this had prepared me adequately for the task, despite this being slightly out of my usual element. 
 
    Below me, the dead bodies of goblins littered the undergrowth as the demon snapped their necks and cast them aside. My viewing alternate helpfully provided the information that Shabbarth was down to one clinging goblin. Which meant he was but a few seconds from breaking free of combat. 
 
    It was now or never. 
 
    Summoning the white-striated blade into my hand I launched myself through the branches at the tall demon below. 
 
    The distance between us was perhaps forty feet. My route through the tree branches had forced me higher than I would have preferred. Halfway through the space between us, I understood that in my haste I’d made a mistake. 
 
    Shabbarth was somehow aware that I hurtled towards him, and he summoned his oversized black steel great sword from his inventory and almost lazily swiped it up toward me. The black blade glowed red, empowered by Vorpal Weapon and despite my best efforts to shift out of the sword’s path, it sliced cleanly through my right forearm. 
 
    In the same motion, Shabbarth ducked down and let my body fly over the top of him and crash into a tree.  
 
      
 
    20% damage: 61% remaining. 
 
    A Greater Vorpal blade has severed your right arm. This arm cannot be regrown or reattached to your current avatar as long as this challenge continues. Should you change avatars the right arm will remain numbed and unusable until the end of the challenge. 
 
      
 
    I think it would be fair to say that the vorpal weapon spell was really beginning to piss me off. 
 
    Thankfully, the strike cauterised the wound and there was no lingering bleed effect. I suppose I should have been grateful that Olganeth hadn’t managed to cut any of my extremities off earlier. 
 
    Rather than coming straight for me, Shabbarth jammed the tip of his blade into the earth and walked over to my severed arm. He picked it up and pulled the diamond-pommelled dagger from the unresisting fingers and examined it carefully before he sent it into his inventory. 
 
    “I don’t think it would be wise to let you hold on to that. Where did you get it anyway?” 
 
    I glowered at him in silence and resummoned my maul into my left hand. 
 
    “Not feeling too chatty now, are you? No matter. I can make an educated guess. That manipulative bastard Drakonis made the same deal with the other princeps that he made with me, and you got this off one of them. Magros, I’d wager. Good help is so hard to find. If you can’t trust a dark sorcerer these days, who can you trust?” Shabbarth finished and shot me a speculative look. 
 
    Discretion would be the better part of valour at this moment. Actively fleeing away from the powerful demon who had already cut off one of my hands would have been the ideal move. 
 
    But cognitive thought was drowned out by rage and frustration. 
 
    The simmering rage and resentment from Braxtor’s callous murder of Ruby hadn’t faded either and the dual effect of both situations drowned out my better judgement. 
 
    Retribution was necessary and I surged to my feet instead of scampering away. I snarled at the cocky demon signalling my readiness to do battle. 
 
    “Not In the mood for a bit of ribald fun, eh?” he said referring to his quip. 
 
    “No!” came my growled response. 
 
    I’d hoped for something a bit more eloquent. 
 
    Something that would draw this confrontation out a little longer and give my people a chance to catch up with us. 
 
    However, my pride was hurting too much. 
 
    Not that it truly mattered, me alternate informed that what remained of the divine champions had finished the hobgoblin half of the army and attacked the wolf-shaped minotaurs at the worst possible moment, cutting off any chance of reinforcements in the immediate future. 
 
    Unlucky timing or by design? Who knows? The result would be the same either way.  
 
    “My humour is wasted on the unworthy. Very well. Let’s put you out of your misery.” 
 
    The enormous black blade came whistling toward me, impossibly fast for its size, but my reflexes were a match, and I evaded its tip by a few centimetres, my other ear got a nick to match the other side. 
 
    The great sword sliced clean through a foot of the trunk of the tree I’d collided with. The mighty oak did not topple, though, the circumference of the trunk was a couple of metres, at least. 
 
    I swung my maul in an overhead motion and slammed it into the blade as it finished its arc and became jammed in the tree. I’d hoped to break it or jar it loose from Shabbarth’s mitts. Instead, my maul bounced from the metal with a loud ringing sound and the demon’s grip remained steadfast. 
 
    “You cannot win, Daxas,” Shabbarth suggested casually as he pulled the weapon smoothly from the tree trunk. Freed, the great sword swiped mighty arcs in front of me. Each deflection with my maul almost made me lose my grip on it and I was soon forced to resort to dodging and minding the environment to evade his lazy-seeming attacks. 
 
    Shabbarth continued with his taunting when I didn’t answer him. “That little trick with the enchantment arrows was clever, but I’ve always preferred to do battle as Sathan made me anyway. I am perfection, you understand. A true scion of the unholiest of infernals. Born in his very image. A mere dungeon lord cannot defeat me. 
 
    “It is almost a shame that I have to take your head. You would have been a worthy servant to sit at my heels and beg for head scratches,” he chuckled. “Unfortunately for you, I want to be more than the image of Sathan, and for that, I need the energy you have unknowingly collected.” 
 
    After what felt like an eternity, but had been less than a minute, Shabbarth’s great sword cleaved through the shaft of my maul. The double-head thudded to the ground, and I was left weaponless. 
 
    Again. 
 
    The demon thrust forward with his blade and buried it in the bark of another tree and blocked my path on one side. I tried to jink to the other, but Shabbarth knew what he was about, and his free hand whipped out and seized me by the throat and squeezed. 
 
      
 
    5% damage: 56 % remaining. 
 
      
 
    The claws of my one remaining hand scraped at his arm, scrabbling to harm him, but doing a pittance of damage for my efforts. 
 
    I tried the same trick I had with Bulmaras and shifted into my wolf form to force his hand wider and then shifted back, but his hand remained under my jaw, preventing me from pulling far enough away. Shabbarth’s fingers closed around my throat again and kept me in place. 
 
    Shabbarth pulled the great sword free from the tree with his other hand and then slammed my body into the hard wood of the trunk. The sword was so large and long, that he had to hold me at full arm’s length and draw his other arm back fully to rest the tip of the sword over my heart. 
 
    Then our eyes met properly for the first time. 
 
    A calm descended upon me. 
 
    Partly because this was not the end. 
 
    My avatar in the challenge might die, but I would not. 
 
    It would be one hell of an inconvenience and put us in far greater peril if it did, but we could still prevail. The other part was that my soul’s sixth sense quelled the fear and fury. 
 
    From out of nowhere, my mind was thrown back to my memories of the day I first woke up in the Proving Grounds. The day I met and conversed with Tenzing for the first time. 
 
      
 
    “Then the purple claw portal didn’t bring me here? It sent me to these realms and then I died?” I clarified. 
 
    “Yes, that’s right,” the voice replied. 
 
    “How did I die? What happened?” I pushed. 
 
    “You were summoned to the Realms by a cabal of cultists worshipping the dread Shabbarth. They were in the independent city-state of Centrani, which is part of the twelfth realm. They attempted to summon forth one of Shabbarth’s servants to lay waste to their enemies, or at least that was their plan. It was a complicated ritual, and they made several mistakes performing it and drew you forth instead,” the voice said, outlining my fate for me. 
 
    “I don’t imagine they were very happy with that. What happened then?” I pressed. 
 
    “Summoning spells of that nature use tremendous energies. The human body is not designed to endure such. You suffered a severe stroke due to the strains of unprotected plane shifting,” the voice explained mournfully. 
 
    As the voice was saying this, I remembered the smell of burnt toast which I’d read could be a sign of a stroke. I tuned back in as the voice continued 
 
    “You were incoherent, partially paralysed, unable to communicate, and clearly not what they were hoping to summon. Your body was dragged away and dumped in an opening to the sewer system beneath the city. You sustained further physical injuries during the fall including a broken shoulder and cracked skull. You succumbed to a combination of the stroke, injuries from the fall, and exposure to unsanitary conditions about sixteen hours later.” 
 
      
 
    As the memory concluded, time slowed as it had with Kriger in the pyramid gauntlet match. I could see the red-skinned muscles of Shabbarth’s perfectly toned arms tense as he prepared to run me through. 
 
    For too many reasons to go into, I hadn’t devoted a lot of thought to those early days, but the memory which had risen unbidden awakened a profound understanding in me. 
 
    The cultists who had created the clawed portal that dragged me to the Realms and kickstarted this whole adventure-slash-horror show had been trying to summon a servant of the asshat in front of me. 
 
    Making him indirectly responsible for everything else that had happened. 
 
    Although I rather appreciated becoming a badass Wolf King and building a harem of beautiful and capable women to share my new life with, I could have done without the constant existential threat to my existence. 
 
    If my soul sense hadn’t imposed the uncanny sense of calm, I would likely be spitting bricks in Shabbarth’s direction. Right up until the point that he shish-kebabbed me on his great sword. 
 
    Instead, I was able to devote some consideration to what this memory meant. 
 
    Why had this botched ritual resulted in me being seized? 
 
    Was it truly random? 
 
    That did not seem likely. Also, my recollection of the purple claw that grabbed me suggested it had zeroed in on me specifically. 
 
    The question again was why? 
 
    Many questions boiled in my mind until a particular one rose to the fore. 
 
    Had I been marked in some way? Is that why the summoning went after me? 
 
    As soon as that thought wormed its way into my head, it wouldn’t leave. 
 
    Before I proceeded any further, I had a moment of doubt. Time was slowed, not stopped. That sword would cleave through my heart shortly. Should I be wasting my time on something that happened more than a decade ago for me? 
 
    However, my sixth sense had never failed me. If it prodded me in this direction, then there had to be a solution at the end of the path. 
 
    But what could I do in this state? 
 
    My initial tentative attempts to touch or interfere with Shabbarth’s soul had been firmly rebuffed. But if his soul was inaccessible to me then the solution had to reside within my own. 
 
    Figuratively my eyes closed, and my sense delved deep into the recesses of my intangible inner life force. I had given my soul and the almost boundless energy it contained a thorough health check before, but I’d not been looking for anything specific then. 
 
    Now I was, even if I didn’t know exactly what it would be. 
 
    It took me a while, almost all the time I had at my disposal. The tip of the great sword had penetrated an inch into my chest and was cutting through the protective ribs on its way to my heart. 
 
    Deep down in my soul, there was something attached to what was the old human part of me. Which is why I missed it when I had examined my soul in the past. It was the mark left on me by the performance of the ritual. 
 
    On second thoughts, brand would be a better term. 
 
    A brand left on my soul as I was seized against my will. 
 
    The old me, Dave Smith, wouldn’t have understood what this was or what to do with it even if he had known it was there. The new me, Daxas, was far more experienced and knowledgeable. 
 
    My soul sense poked and prodded at the brand and before too long, the full understanding of what it was, how it was supposed to work, and how it attached itself to me, flooded my mind. 
 
    The brand was irremovable by anything but its own workings. Once its task was complete it would dissolve of its own volition. And that task remained incomplete. I was not a servant of Shabbarth. 
 
    Interestingly, it was dually linked to me, and both those links were active. The brand existed on both my soul and on my body, which I presumed was rotting away in a sewer under the city of Centrani. 
 
    This was a surprise. 
 
    I knew time moved differently in the ethereal, but I’d presumed enough time had passed in the Realms that my body would be long gone. Eaten by rats or something equally foul. 
 
    Apparently not. 
 
    But I wasn’t the type to look a gift horse in the mouth.  
 
    If I could have smirked at Shabbarth I would have. 
 
    I knew exactly what mistake the Centrani ritualists had made and more importantly, knew how to both fix and upgrade the filthy brand. A tweak here, a minor correction there and I was done. No additional ritual was required. The brand already existed. 
 
    Time sped back up to normal speed and my left hand shot upwards and grabbed hold of the black blade of the sword, briefly halting its progress. The strength of the desperate pitted against the strength of the damned. 
 
    Shabbarth smirked cruelly. “Nice try,” he said as he released the hold he had on my throat and wrapped both hands around the hilt of his great sword, ready to finish the final thrust. 
 
    As he did so, I felt the mark that resided inside me finish unwrapping itself from the tangle it had created in my soul and surge from my core crystal in a chamber not too far away, directly into Shabbarth. 
 
    Indelibly marking the Infernal Lord with the brand that had been meant for one of his servants. Upgraded by me, so that it could latch onto Shabbarth himself. 
 
    The brand that began this whole crazy chain of events. 
 
    He didn’t see it, but I could see from the flinch in his expression that he felt the brand as it wormed its way into the depths of what passed for his depraved soul. 
 
    The demon hesitated for a split second and that was all I needed. 
 
    The emphasis of my one-handed grip on the sword shifted. Instead of pushing backwards, I pushed up. 
 
    The blade tore through my pectoral muscles as it shifted upwards and then without my continued resistance slid effortlessly through my flesh and embedded itself into the tree behind me. But critically the blade of the sword passed over my heart and under my collar bone. 
 
      
 
    40% damage: 16% remaining. 
 
    Due to the near mortal wound you have been hexed by this blade. No healing or regenerative spells or potions will work on you until the end of the challenge. Natural healing is slowed by 400%. 
 
      
 
    Bollocks. 
 
    At least, I had my resilience to help me recover. It would take a few hours to get me back to full health, but I’d get there. 
 
    Meanwhile, Shabbarth blinked in surprise at my last-ditch survival move, but he recovered swiftly. He wrenched the blade back out of my shoulder, ready to finish me off, but never got the chance. 
 
    Appearing behind him was a familiar roiling mass of energy. 
 
    The same deep blue, vivid purple, and shimmering black portal that had come for me in my crappy flat so many years ago. The wind around us picked up and Shabbarth was drawn inexorably back by the undeniable power of a summoning so great that it could claim the presence of an infernal lord themselves. 
 
    I may have infused the brand with a little of my abundant soul energy to give it that necessary extra pep. 
 
    Shabbarth fought against the summoning with all his considerable might. 
 
    “What…Have…You…Done!” he gasped short of breath as it was whisked from his lips to the other side. 
 
    “Corrected a mistake,” I rasped in pain, my one good hand clutching at a low-hanging branch of the tree I’d been thrown against to hold me in place. 
 
    If my avatar went into the portal along with Shabbarth it would be killed. My soul would be fine, but the challenge was not over. 
 
    His eyebrows arched in confusion but before he could say anything more the brand lost all patience with his resistance and a familiar four-fingered claw burst forth from the depths of the roiling portal. The claw wrapped its digits around him tightly and then withdrew from whence it came, taking the arrogant demon with it. 
 
    The portal popped out of existence.  
 
    “Nnnooooo!” Shabbarth’s fading wail of frustration floated across the hush of the forest, the only thing to escape it. 
 
    I collapsed onto the leafy detritus of the forest floor, utterly spent. Only then did I recognise the sounds of distant battle ringing in my ears. Hearing that, part of me urged my body to get back up. 
 
    The war was not done, and I was needed on the battlefield. 
 
    In the movies, this is the moment where the badly wounded protagonist rises from the ashes. As if the grievous wounds they’d incurred moments earlier were mildly bothersome scratches. They stride back into the fray, and everyone stops to look at them in silent wonder, punctuated by an epic and emotive soundtrack. After unleashing a mighty war cry, the enemy would flee in terror when faced with his indomitable and unstoppable fighting spirit. 
 
    It was ironic then that in a world that was literally made up, reality intruded itself and kept my butt firmly planted on its leafy berth regardless of my wishes to do otherwise. 
 
    I’d been run through with a big fucking sword that was probably cursed in some manner. 
 
    I’d just sloughed off a decade-old brand on my soul that was none too gentle with me as it extricated itself. 
 
    And I’d given up a hefty chunk of energy to banish a demon. 
 
    Add all that up and it has a way of leaving you unfit to do anything except continue to exist and almost wish you weren’t. 
 
    The remnants of the army found me like that five minutes later. 
 
    “It’s done,” I was assured by the dryad who found me. “The third wave is over. Are you alright, Master?” 
 
    I gave her a half-hearted smile and coughed up a little blood. “I think I preferred it when I was the one kicking ass with ease. Help me up. We need to prepare for Timian and the final wave.” 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    “By Daxas’ weighty double acorns, that was close,” Nessa sighed loudly as she flopped back down onto the couch. 
 
    The end of my confrontation with Shabbarth had most of my mates on their feet. All except for Alyssa, and Tenzing, of course. They had noticed my odd stillness in the viewing lounge. Every ounce of my attention had been required in those closing moments to pull the portal surprise on Shabbarth. 
 
    “What? How? Just what in the Reaches did you just do?” Alyssa exclaimed from her perch on my lap, completely flabbergasted. 
 
    I don’t think I had ever seen her quite so perturbed. The result of there being something she truly had no inkling of occurring in the Proving Grounds. 
 
    “What my sister said,” Tenzing added, his curiosity equally piqued. 
 
    I spent the next few minutes as the battle concluded explaining to them what I had discovered within myself. 
 
    “Well, that is certainly one way of removing Shabbarth from the equation,” Alyssa said at last when I had finished explaining all I knew. 
 
    “So, he is definitely gone? And won’t be back for the remainder of the challenge?” 
 
    “Yes, he is gone, Daxas,” Tenzing assured me. “Your method of removal was unorthodox, but the Dread Shabbarth is no longer in the Proving Grounds and that counts as if he was defeated.” 
 
    “But he still lives,” Jen’Zadeer pointed out. “It is not as satisfying to merely remove your opponents from the game board. Their utter destruction is the most desirous outcome.” 
 
    Tamara chuckled as she rolled her eyes at Jen’Zadeer’s bloodthirsty streak. She could be as bad as Fiadh, just a bit more verbose while she was. “Let us just be grateful that he is gone. Lord Timian and Lord Garvax will be difficult enough to deal with in the final wave.” 
 
    There was a round of agreement to Tamara’s sentiment, and we watched the last of the divine champions fell. 
 
    It was one of the ogres. 
 
    My money had been on Braxtor but his battle with Tir’Goran must have left him in worse shape than he let on and he died with the fletching of a wood elf’s arrow in his throat. 
 
    As the wave ended and the fourth began, unseen by me or any of my allies at the time, but caught on the ever-present dungeon recordings, Jezebel slipped from the viewing lounge with a sorrowful, yet determined, look on her face. 
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 22 
 
      
 
    Timian gave us no respite. He and Garvax along with their champions exited the saferoom without delay as soon as the fourth wave commenced. We still had some time, the early mud-filled rooms would take them a while to traverse. Braxtor was their only flier and even with his help, it would take them at least twenty minutes. 
 
    Plenty of time to issue orders. There was no point holding anything back now. 
 
    That was the sum total of the good news. 
 
    The butcher’s bill for the third wave made for grim reading. 
 
    Ruby was gone and my avatar had been crippled. I was able to create a new one and get my lost right arm back, but it remained numb and useless. With the help of a dryad survivor, we fitted a fresh shield to my otherwise worthless arm. With the help of my resilience stat, my health should recover to full before the divine champions made it to the core room. 
 
    And they would almost certainly make it to the core room. 
 
    Both life-seeded armies had been utterly gutted and only a fraction of my elite troops remained. We were down to two minotaurs, three hobgoblins, and seven dryads. Down from over a hundred of each. The goblins and trolls on the core floor were all dead and of the eight hundred wood elf mobs we started the third wave with, under sixty were still standing. 
 
    Braxtor, Grolth, and Mugu had been exceedingly thorough in their eradication of my forces before we finally overcame them. 
 
    All was not entirely lost. 
 
    I had held back some of the biggest hitters on the seventh and eighth floors just for such an emergency. But the core floor which was supposed to be my last line of defence had been defanged. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer, Tamara, and Nessa had departed to take their places in the core room. Just in case Timian managed to spring a surprise of his own. 
 
    They would be our proper last stand along with Tabitha, Eina, Krista, Vellin, Reena, and eight more of my disciples. That number included the three newly incorporate girls like Marie. Sixteen warriors, seventeen if you included my one-useful-arm’s ass. 
 
    They had forty-two. We had to whittle that down or we would be goners for sure. 
 
    With the champions leading the way, Timian strode through my dungeon with a self-satisfied expression on his beatific face. His self-assurance made my blood boil. 
 
    The first change-up they encountered was at ‘Slick Bridge’. The oil had been slathered over the smooth foot-wide walkways and the wood elf mobs were back behind their makeshift barriers. They had a quiver of the crystal-tipped enchantment arrows. Although I’d ordered them to leave most of the arrows behind. They would likely only get a couple of shots off before being overwhelmed and I didn’t want to give the enemy more ammunition that they could turn around and use on us later. 
 
    It was largely a moot point. Only a few of the champions still had any pieces of the sanctified mithril armour that shone with the unmistakable glean of magic. 
 
    Slick bridge did provide us with a comical moment as the first two champions who rushed across slipped and skidded in their eagerness and went over the edge. 
 
    Sadly, the enchanted spikes in the pit weren’t that dangerous to delvers of their calibre. It was still only the first floor and there were limits to what I could put in place. Braxtor flew over the gap and quickly despatched the wood elf mobs with his ivory gem-studded lance and soon they were on their way. 
 
    The chandelier fell in ‘Chandelier Falls’ and the goblins made their last stand on the ‘Stairway to Hell’. We never did get an opportunity to pit them against a group smaller than themselves. Such a waste. The ‘Bramble Maze’ was set alight when the champions were inside of it. But none of this did any more than make them down a potion to restore some health. 
 
    Zero casualties. 
 
    And so, it went. 
 
    Floor after floor. 
 
    Anything I’d held back was dealt with adroitly. 
 
    Sometimes Timian would warn his followers of what was to come and thereby snuff out the danger, other times they just steamrolled the remaining mobs with ease. It was difficult to say if that meant there were gaps in Timian’s knowledge or if he simply couldn’t be bothered to apply himself to every threat. 
 
    Both Tenzing and Alyssa were positive it was the former and not the latter. The question that plagued me was if that was simply wishful thinking on their part. I had grown unused to entertaining doubts and was out of practice dealing with them. However, events were soon to rekindle my confidence. 
 
    Alyssa, Tenzing, and I watched as the divine champions entered the graveyard of the seventh floor confidently. 
 
    The room was under the cover of darkness. A low-lying mist hugged the ground with only the lichen-covered granite tombstones poking out above. The air temperature was cold, but nothing harmful like in the High Passes. There were a few dead, withered trees that dotted the landscape. The graveyard itself was surrounded by a low, moss-covered wall that was breaking apart. A half-open rusty iron gate was before them and an owl hooted atmospherically in the still night. 
 
    The few Necromancer mobs and zombies I’d purchased had been slain when they came through during the previous wave. One of the many champions I hadn’t bothered to learn the name of marched up to the gate and pulled it all the way open with a horrid screech and stepped inside. “I recall the way,” he yelled back confidently. 
 
    “Wait!” Timian called out to the champion as he stepped inside and onto the broken cobbled path that wound its way through the graveyard. 
 
    Nameless, turned around and quirked his eyebrow impudently at Timian. He must have been one of Garvax’s “What is it, my Lord?” 
 
    Timian hesitated, he raised his hand as if he would fob the man off but thought better of it and answered. “There are unseen dangers ahead. You should proceed cautiously.” 
 
    Nameless let a cheeky smile tug at his lips. “Would you care to be more specific, my Lord?” 
 
    Timian glared hotly at the undeniable audacity of the champion. 
 
    I was growing to like him. It was a shame I would have to kill him soon. 
 
    Garvax stepped forward to defuse the situation before Timian did something that he would regret. “Enough of your backtalk, Mikal. Lord Timian shares what is necessary, and you are not to question it.” 
 
    The words were a rebuke but there was a glint of knowing humour in Garvax’s eyes that only he and Mikal were privy to. 
 
    “Of course, my Lord,” Mikal said. “My apologies for questioning you, Lord Timian.” 
 
    Timian snorted and looked away with disinterest as the champions from both sides started to move forward and into the graveyard. When he made his way inside himself, he slapped Garvax on the back companionably. “Well said. When this is done, see to it that Mikal is suitably punished for his impudence. I would see it done now, but we have already ceded enough advantage to the wolf cur as it is.” 
 
    Garvax smiled and bowed in return. “Of course.” Garvax held the bow a little longer than necessary and Timian didn’t notice the smile turn to a sneer after Garvax’s head dipped below his sightline. The false front had returned by the time Garvax had straightened up. 
 
    For us watching this unfold the takeaway was clear. 
 
    Timian knew something was going to happen in the graveyard, but he didn’t know what, when, or where. If he had, the warning would have been more specific. The god of prophecy knew the vagueness of his warning could be interpreted as a sign of weakness and almost said nothing. However, staying silent wouldn’t make him look any better when the attack finally came. The best he could do was tell the champions to be on their guard. 
 
    They were a third of the way through the graveyard and just starting to get cocky again when my hastily prepared ambush was triggered. 
 
    The broken cobbled path had faded away and they were forced to cut across the graveyard plots. The clinging mist made seeing the ground beneath their feet difficult and could lead them to fall into graves covered by rotten wood that gave way once stepped upon. 
 
    I had many of these pitfalls dotted around the dank fields. Obviously, I had enchanted spikes at the bottom of these open graves. It was practically my calling card at this point, but that wasn’t the true danger in those open graves. 
 
    Inside were small tunnels into the burrows of plague rats. A mob I had picked up after conquering that foul troll, Makas. They were Septicaemic Plague Carriers and capable of inflicting some nasty status effects on those they bit. 
 
    Mine weren’t as infectious as Makas’ version had been. I didn’t have the dungeon rule that doubled their contagion rate, after all. They were nasty little sons-of-bitches all the same. Especially if you could separate people from the safety of the group and swarm them, stacking up those bites. 
 
    However, the divine champions were using various wind spells to disperse the mists which made it easier for them to avoid the rotted plank pitfalls. 
 
    This had been how things went on the first run-through as well. 
 
    The Necromancers and zombies had managed to herd a few champions into the graves, but not many. And that had been when there were a lot more champions trooping through the graveyard. 
 
    I’d been holding back, though. Now I was ready to unleash a further wrinkle that should help sow greater panic and confusion. 
 
    The champion that had been walking at the rear of their column, a pale-skinned high elf with cruel eyes, was the first victim. He had just stepped off a clump of dirt and stones, left over from the excavation of a nearby grave, and back onto the withered grass. 
 
    The clump flipped up suddenly and the hapless elf was pounced upon by a monstrous trapdoor spider that had been within the concealed hole. The trapdoor spider had a thick, brown, sturdy body with relatively short legs. 
 
    Well, short for a spider at any rate. They were still nightmare fuel for a fitful night’s sleep. 
 
    The monstrous trapdoor spider was a beastie that became available as a combination of the life domain of my dungeon and the manipulation sphere of Tamara’s. It allowed me to manipulate the size of the creature. The typical trapdoor spider mob was much larger than the real thing found on Earth. About the size of a basketball. For the monstrous variety, when the legs were accounted for, they were about five feet long and weighed roughly two-thirds that of an adult male human. 
 
    The spiders were not particularly strong, but they were frighteningly quick. They relied on their speed and the element of surprise to secure their prey. I had enchanted and put specialised armour on the mobs to increase their agility and durability. Their natural venom was fairly tame for their monstrous nature, but we had coated their fangs with a far nastier necrotising variety made in my alchemy labs that would be applied as part of their first bite.  
 
    The front four legs of the spider wrapped around the elf’s shoulders as the venomous fangs sank into his neck, injecting their deadly payloads directly into his bloodstream. With surprise on its side, the spider withdrew back into its burrow as quickly as it emerged. The back legs were attached to the trap door with silk and pulled it closed behind the spider and its prey. 
 
    The elf was jerked in with barely a muffled cry. The whapping sound of the trapdoor slamming shut was more audible than his surprised whimper. 
 
    It was enough to get the attention of the party ahead and several stopped and peered back into the eerie gloom of the night. The success of the first attack acted as a trigger. The champions had walked into a field filled with spider burrows and almost as one they flipped their lids, jumped out, and attacked the nearest champion. 
 
    The spider attack was quick and effective. In the space of about five seconds seventeen of the forty champions had been grabbed and pulled into a spider burrow. Eight of the remaining twenty-three had backpedalled away from a spider onto some rotted planks and fallen into an open grave where they were swarmed by the plague rats that lay in wait for them. That left fifteen twisted around, searching for the danger. 
 
    And the two Lords, of course. Neither of them being directly targeted by the ambush had been a deliberate decision. Based on what I’d learned from Tamara about how foresight worked, I’d planned this attack under the assumption that Timian was less likely to be aware of events that didn’t impact him directly. 
 
    Those that had been taken were not dead yet. And most of them would likely survive this encounter if somewhat worse for wear. They had several aces up their sleeves in the form of magic and these were all accomplished warriors with respectably decent armaments. 
 
    “Hold! Hold, damn you,” Garvax roared at those who remained upright. “Go back-to-back you idiots and stop running around like headless chickens. You’re doing the dungeon’s job for him.” 
 
    The champions hastily obeyed his orders and Garvax did the same with Timian himself. 
 
    “The lumps of earth are camouflaging the trapdoors. Flip them up with spears and give your brothers a hand despatching the beasts.” 
 
    It was a good plan and when the topside champions stopped, calmed themselves, and ceased yelling you could hear the muffled sounds of frenzied combat coming from beneath the ground. The champions moved as ordered and used spears to flip open the trapdoors or assist those in the graves to get out. 
 
    However, the spiders and rats were a pre-existing ambush. They weren’t the hastily put together component I had concocted on the fly to compound the danger of the spider attack. 
 
    The next phase went into action. 
 
    The first part was that I had sent the tiny remainder of the two armies into the graveyard. They had been waiting for this opportunity. If the challengers had evaded the field of spiders, they would have attacked them from behind. My life seeded mobs emerged from their subterranean hiding spots and rushed the distracted challengers letting loose with whatever spells they had at their disposal. 
 
    But the real ambush was what I had brought forward from the eighth floor. The floor’s showpiece. 
 
    The beast cried out loudly and launched himself from a pit he had dug for himself to conceal his presence. He unfurled his wings and flew high into the sky. 
 
    He was ten metres long from snout to tail tip, with black scales that glinted in the clouded moonlight.  
 
    A deep drake. 
 
    Drakes were creatures similar to dragons. Reptilian in appearance, with four clawed limbs and a pair of wings on their backs. They differed from wyverns who only had two back legs and it was the forelimbs which were winged. 
 
    I’d bought a couple of wyverns for Tamara’s final floor which we’d never get to see in action. 
 
    The drake differed from the dragon in a few important aspects, though. They tended to be smaller and thinner. Deep drakes typified this physical difference. Their natural habitat was caverns and tunnels in the depths and their sinuous shape helped them navigate tight tunnels. 
 
    Additionally, drakes were genuine beasts. Dragons possessed an intellect and were often accomplished spellcasters to go along with all the other aspects that made them incredibly deadly. 
 
    This meant that no matter how much I wanted to; I couldn’t buy a dragon mob unless I slew or captured one. An injustice which had bummed me out for quite a while. To make matters worse, it turns out no dragon had ever been sent to the Proving Grounds, not even one bound to a humanoid form like Braxtor. 
 
    However, I solved the beastly mind status of my deep drake by imbuing him with one of the specialised life-seeds. This provided him with intellect and personality. 
 
    The deep drake called himself Bobadallicon the Vengeful. 
 
    I called him Bob for short. Bob didn’t like that much, but I was the boss and he had to put up with it. 
 
    Bob was easily the highest-ranked creature in my dungeon, despite being physically smaller than the hydra or the basilisk. The flight, breath weapon, and built-in durability and resistance of their scales helped trump the other two reptiloid monsters. 
 
    That smaller size and thin body were a benefit here. Neither the hydra nor the basilisk would have fit through the connecting corridors between floors. 
 
    I had bought Bob some ranks too, but as you can imagine they were ridiculously expensive, and I was limited to some extent by the dungeon power restrictions. So, he wasn’t as awesomely powerful as I could have made him if the gloves were off, but he was pretty badass. 
 
    The premature nature of my Divine Challenge had robbed me of the opportunity to turn him into a truly awe-inspiring engine of destruction.  
 
    He wore armour like mine, strips of brigandine leather. Not that it added any damage reduction he wasn’t already getting from his scales. And the two didn’t stack. But it could all be enchanted, so why not. 
 
    Bob also had a saddle on his back with one of the dryads strapped in. He wasn’t particularly enthusiastic about being a beast of burden either, but he grumbled less about that than my nickname for him. 
 
    Surprised gazes were drawn from feverishly scanning the ground and up into the sky. 
 
    “Braxtor, you know what to do,” Timian grunted and started waving his hands in front of him. 
 
    The draconic champion abandoned helping his fellows from the graves and launched himself into the air. 
 
    Bob with his wings spread wide swept down and flew over the grouped-up champions, three or four metres above their heads. A few of them switched to a crossbow and shot their bolts into his belly. Bob opened his mouth and spewed his acidic breath attack over the clump of armoured men. 
 
    The champions cried in pain as they were doused in the singeing, painful fluid. Unfortunately, as Bob reached Timian, with Garvax standing beside him, the blonde god’s hand gestures ceased, and a spherical magical shield fluttered into existence around them which repelled the acidic spray. 
 
    Despite that disappointment, Bob’s sinuous tail whipped downwards at the end of his fly-by and wrapped around the throat of a crossbow-wielding champion and dragged him into the air. The champion’s hands struggled with the drake’s tail as his legs kicked frantically at the empty air. 
 
    Bob flicked his tail forward and transferred his cargo to his back claws as he rapidly ascended back into the sky. During the trip up, Bob crushed the champion with one claw and used the claws of his other foot to rend the poor bastard’s head leaving deep bloody gouges in any exposed flesh. 
 
    Once he hit the pinnacle of his ascent, Bob twisted his body almost vertically and hurled the unwilling cargo a few metres higher in the air and snapped his jaws around the flung figure. He let his sharp teeth grind on the champion for a few seconds and then spat out the grievously wounded human and left him to fall to his death. 
 
    Bob pointed his head down and let himself plummet back down ready to snatch up another victim. His acidic breath weapon needed another couple of minutes to recharge. 
 
    Meanwhile, the few remaining members of my army assaulted the still-standing champions. Most of those that had fallen in the graves or been dragged into spider burrows had hauled themselves back into the dank air of the graveyard by the time my few warriors reached them. Four champions had been overwhelmed under the earth, though, and did not rejoin the fight. 
 
    With the trap sprung there was no longer any point for the remaining trapdoor spiders and plague rats to lurk in their burrows. I sent them the signal that triggered them to come out from hiding and skittle into the fray. 
 
    At this point, the divine challengers showed their mettle. 
 
    Potions were knocked back, spells flew, and glorious feats of martial prowess were displayed. I would have enjoyed the show if it hadn’t been my mobs that were being expertly dismantled. 
 
    Before the hustle and bustle of the melee could die down, Bob was able to sweep by four more times and grab a struggling champion during each strafing run and give them the same fatal bone-crunching treatment as the first. 
 
    Sadly, that was the end of the good news. As Bob flew in and snatched up his sixth victim, Braxtor was waiting. 
 
    The draconic champion had bided his time and came in on Bob’s blindside behind his head. His ivory lance punched through his dryad rider and that essentially left the white-scaled bastard free to do as he pleased. Stowing his lance, he produced a knife with a serrated blade. The same weapon he had used on Tir’Goran, and he started to cut, tear, and gash at the skin and joints of Bob’s wings. 
 
    The mighty drake cried in pain and hurled victim number six into the ruins of a derelict mausoleum and started to barrel-roll in the air sky in an attempt to dislodge the unwelcome rider. But Braxtor had wings of his own and wasn’t about to fall away to his doom. 
 
    Eventually, the damage Braxtor inflicted made it impossible for Bob to stay aloft and he crashed into the ground and rolled trying to crush the annoyance on his back. Braxtor was wise to the move, though, and flung himself away before they landed. 
 
    Once on the ground many of Bob’s advantages were stripped away and he was quickly swarmed by the remaining champions including Grolth and Mugu. 
 
    Bobadallicon the Vengeful managed to spray his acid over his attackers in a final act of spite before he succumbed to the growing number of wounds he had taken from the divine challengers. 
 
    As his mighty head came to rest on the cold earth, a smug Timian turned to a weary and acid-scarred Mikal. “Oh, ye of little faith, Mikal. This is precisely the reason I had to sound so vague before we entered this cemetery. It was all a ploy to draw in the wolf cur’s final guardian of note. A few sacrifices had to be made, yes, but now there is very little to bother us until we reach his core and kill him and his last few sluts.” 
 
    “Of course, my Lord,” Mikal answered. “I should not have questioned you.” 
 
    And this time, his acceptance sounded genuine to my ears. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    “What a crock of shit!” I yelled loudly at Timian’s smug boast. “He may have known about Bob; I’ll give him that much. Braxtor certainly looked as if he had been well-briefed. But I call bull on him knowing about the trapdoor spiders and their ambush. I saw his face; he was as surprised as the rest of his champions. He is covering his ass.” 
 
    “I concur with your assessment, Daxas,” Tenzing agreed with me. “They walked right into the heart of the spider field. If he had foreknowledge, then surely, he would have led them down another path. Bobadallicon would still have had to make his assault on them before he left.” 
 
    “I don’t think it was purely to cover his own scrawny butt, though,” Alyssa mused. “I suspect his final words were as much for you as they were for Mikal. He knows you are watching, darling, and he is trying to intimidate you. Get under your skin.” 
 
    “Well, that isn’t going to work.” 
 
    Alyssa and Tenzing nodded in agreement, but internally I still had concerns. 
 
    Not about Timian’s bluster. He could huff and puff as much as he liked. Everything he had done today only exposed the depths of his lies and treachery. However, he hadn’t been too far off the mark when he claimed that there was little of note left between them and our final stand in the core room. 
 
    The chances of them not getting there now were well and truly zero. Regardless of that, we still had a few factors in our favour. 
 
    Between Bob, the remnants of my army, the spiders, and the rats, twelve champions had been taken out of action. That left thirty challengers standing. 
 
    The challengers weren’t just competing against me, though. 
 
    The clock was finally becoming an issue they had to contend with. The time limit for the challenge Tenzing had wrung out as a concession for the waves was fast approaching. 
 
    They were down to the last four hours. 
 
    Four hours was plenty of time to get from where they currently were to the core room, but not so much that they could dilly-dally in the graveyard while they waited for the champions to cleanse the venom and disease status effects they were burdened with. 
 
    Under normal circumstances, they would simply cast a spell like Purge, but the graveyard rooms interfered with healing spells of that nature. They didn’t have the time to wait to cleanse them naturally. This meant they had to move onto the next floor without delay and would be more vulnerable than usual until the spells had been cast. 
 
    There wasn’t a significant amount left on the eighth floor left to bother them, but it should be enough to whittle their numbers down a little further.  
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 23 
 
      
 
    “It’s almost time,” I warned everyone in the core room. 
 
    The remaining wood elf mobs, approximately forty of them, were streaming in through the adjoining corridor. They had been harrying the twenty-six challengers as they pushed their way through the thick foliage of my forest rooms. The small hope I had that they could force a timeout inevitably evaporated once Timian sent Braxtor to deal with the nuisance. 
 
    The bloodthirsty draconic champion was too good. Once he’d killed a dozen in a single sweep through the boughs of their treetop havens, I chose to recall them for the last stand. The wood elf mobs were swift when it came to navigating their way through the trees, but Braxtor had still managed to kill half a dozen more. 
 
    The slim hope of a timeout had come about as they’d taken longer to clear the eighth floor than I initially expected. Timian and Garvax had elected to protect the champions still suffering from the status debuffs. The debuffs were purged soon after they walked onto the eighth floor, but they remained short on health until their potion cooldowns expired and they could quaff another to recover. 
 
    These might be divine champions with access to the Sanctified spell school, but their magical arsenal was stacked with offensive spells, not support or utility. They didn’t have the advanced multi-target versions of Purge. 
 
    In fact, a fair few of them didn’t seem to have the Purge spell at all or at least a version of the spell strong enough to deal with what they had been afflicted with. 
 
    The champions ‘character build’ was still based on the same system that all denizens on the Proving Grounds adhered to. They only had so many points to spend. They leaned heavily on top-tier potions to bridge the gap. Therefore, it had taken the unafflicted half longer to deal with the remaining mobs. 
 
    All we had left was a squadron of twelve battle elephants. They were almost twice the size of an African Elephant and had three sets of tusks. They were covered in armour and on their backs, they carried a large weapons platform. The platforms had two ballistae installed, very large crossbows that fired metre-long bolts. These war machines were manned by gremlins. 
 
    The size of the battle elephants made them difficult to take down and the powerful bolts the ballistae shot could punch through armour. The battle elephants didn’t rack up any kills, though. They were big, sturdy, and strong, but not particularly fast and the champions could stay out of their way, even when they charged twelve abreast. The four fresh kills all came from the gremlins firing the ballistae at champions evading the elephantine charge. 
 
    Inevitably, it had been the ever-present thorn in my side, Braxtor, that had eventually murdered all my gremlin gunners. Seriously, if I’d known how much trouble he would cause me, I would have made more of an effort to take him down earlier. No matter what it might have cost. 
 
    Once the gremlins were dealt with, the surviving champions backed off and took down the elephants with ranged weapons and spells. By that point, the other half of the challenger group had sufficiently recovered to re-enter the fray. After that, the elephants started to fall, and it was quickly over. 
 
    Now they were perhaps five minutes from entering my final bastion. 
 
    The Core room. 
 
    They had less than half an hour left but once they entered the Core room, the timer no longer mattered. Whoever won that conflict, won the day, regardless of how long it took to conclude. Which made trying to trap them with a gigantic steel box, similar to what Makas had pulled on me, pointless. 
 
    As well as myself, I had sixteen disciples left in the last room with me. The three other dungeon cores, Tamara, Jen’Zadeer, and Nessa. 
 
    Their core crystals. Two red and one green triangularly surrounded my larger emerald-hued core. They sat nestled in the organic metal pedestals pulsing faintly and illuminating the room. 
 
    Seizing hold of the crystals after our avatars had been slain would proclaim victory for the challengers and result in the end of me and all my disciples. 
 
    Added to dungeons we had Reena the lamia, the largest of my harem. As Reena had met my disciple criteria, when I claimed Tamara, I officially adopted Reena as mine. Which was just as well, otherwise, she would be absent like Gretsch, Marux, and Tamara’s other male followers. 
 
    Who would have thought I would ever regret not having Gretsch around? 
 
    Then there were my disciples that were officially assigned to floors in the other dungeons like Tabitha, Krista the vampire, Vellin, the faun with a brutal kick, Eina the Naiad and Nyosippe, the human woman who had come with me to claim Tamara’s dungeon. 
 
    The rest of the force was rounded out by seven others. 
 
    Marie, Becks, and Galise were the three newest girls not officially assigned to any part of the dungeon. 
 
    The more veteran disciples were a dwarf woman called Mina and a happy-go-lucky halfling country girl, Blossom. And Larallyn and Pressyn, two wood elf lasses. 
 
    The elf girls had already taken charge of the incoming mobs and were assigning them to positions for the defence of the room. The core room was filled with redoubts they could hide within and shoot at our attackers. 
 
    I hadn’t adventured much with any of them, but they were all important members of the dungeon and my harem. They had usually been part of the teams I sent along with Jen’Zadeer and Nessa. Familiarity and understanding within a delving party were important, and I hadn’t wished to disrupt that just to cycle my many lovers into my battle-sphere more often. 
 
    I would only reassign a disciple from her regular group if they had a particular skill set or knowledge useful for a mission. Like when I had brought Nyosippe, who usually accompanied Jen’Zadeer, on the mission to Tamara’s dungeon as they came from the same realm. 
 
    Krista came and linked her right arm with my left and pulled it away from where I had been rapping my fingertips on my shield in nervous anticipation. 
 
    “All will be well, Daxas,” she purred in her sexy accent that sounded Eastern European to my ears. 
 
    “That is supposed to be my line, isn’t it?” 
 
    Krista chuckled heartily but then her face grew serious. “I know what the burdens of leadership can be like,” she confided. “It can be isolating, almost lonely. There were times when the Lionnestal Empire was closing in on us that I wished it was my vassals trying to comfort and encourage me and not the other way around.” 
 
    “Thank you,” was all I managed to reply before Tabitha, who had been in the corridor that linked the rooms, the furthest away she could go, raced back inside. 
 
    “They’re coming,” she called as she wove her way through the chain barricades. 
 
    I gave Krista an affectionate slap on her bum. She smiled, showing off her fangs and strutted off to take up her position alongside Jen’Zadeer. 
 
    My eyes roved over the room. 
 
    Unlike many of the other Cores I’d conquered over the years; my core room was purely functional and not gaudily dressed up. The walls were bleak rough-hewn granite slabs. My imposing throne sat at the back on a dais with the core crystal pedestals behind it. Apart from my fur-covered throne, the single decoration was a grand tapestry that hung on the wall behind it. But even that had a purpose beyond being decorative. 
 
    Nets made from chains went from ceiling to floor and created aisles that had to be traversed, with the intent to funnel and slow the progress of invaders. These aisles had further obstacles, like chevalier horses and pitfall traps. 
 
    The ceiling of the core room had been raised and towering redoubts were strategically placed at the end of the chain aisles. The enemy would be forced to navigate through them to get to us and the cores. It was in these towers that the wood elf mobs along with Larallyn and Pressyn set out their stalls. 
 
    There was an underwater feature, similar to what Makas had. A grate-covered trough went around the right-hand edge of the room from the entrance. Attackers could choose to use this route if they didn’t wish to go through the chain-lined corridors. 
 
    The waters linked into tunnels with Greater Electric Eels. Though I couldn’t bring myself to fill it with raw sewage the way the troll had. Too disgusting. Besides, we wanted people to take the risk. If we could drown them all the better. 
 
    Eina was already in the water, ready to deal with anybody that risked this route. If they didn’t, it would give her plenty of liquid to work with for her spells. The three new girls had been stationed to watch the uncovered part of the trough at our end.  
 
    We didn’t have too much longer to wait. 
 
    The vanguard of the challengers rushed into my throne room and immediately jinked left, not running into the chain barrier at all. The elves stationed in the first redoubt opened fire, but most of their projectiles were deflected by the shields worn by the champions. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer and a few others let loose with their Frost Bolts. The paralysis effect caused several of those who came in first to faceplant on the hard stone flooring leaving their backs open. 
 
    So far, so good. 
 
    But then things started to go awry. 
 
    Timian and Garvax strode imperiously into the chamber and the blonde god waved his hand. A thick fog suddenly billowed forth from his position and expanded at a speed I thought impossible. Within seconds, the fog had ballooned outward enough to encapsulate the entirety of the chamber and rendered visibility to just a few feet for each of us. 
 
    “Tabs,” I roared. 
 
    The hare-kin woman was ahead of me, and she had already activated her Greater Wind Blast spell and was aiming it in front of us trying to clear away the fog. 
 
    Visibility immediately in front of us improved a bit. We could see a little farther, fifteen, maybe twenty feet instead of two or three. However, it was clear that the unnatural fog was fighting back. Whenever she moved her arms in a different direction the thick mist would rush back to reoccupy the space it had been cleared from. 
 
    My alternate half mentally informed me the spell was called Greater Dense Fog. The damnable fog wouldn’t dissipate until the spell ran out of juice or Timian was forced to drop it in order to cast something else. 
 
    Meanwhile, my ears pricked up and my hearing went into overdrive to try and compensate for the visual obfuscation. 
 
    There were the sounds of heavy footsteps as some champions were sprinting through the aisles. Nine of them. There was the sound of fighting at the furthest redoubts between the wood elf mobs and if the whoosh of wings I heard was an indicator, Braxtor. 
 
    I could hear falling bodies. He was pulling the elves from the top of the barriers and hurling them off. Letting those on the ground finish them off if needed. 
 
    At the same time, there was the unmistakable splish-splash sound of at least eight bodies entering the water feature. And what sounded like ogre clubs as they smashed into the chain barriers. 
 
    “Eina, you’ve got company coming. Jen’Zadeer and Nessa lay down Chill Zones just ahead of where we last saw them. Anybody else with that spell should do the same, otherwise, just drop summoned beasts in front of us and send them on the attack. We have to get Timian to drop this Dense Fog spell.” 
 
    A chorus of “Yes, master,” came back to me over the rushing sound of Tabitha’s Greater Wind Blast. 
 
    What followed was a tense couple of minutes. The fog did not dissipate in front of us, if anything it got thicker, and Tabitha seemed to be fighting a losing battle trying to disperse it. 
 
    I was cheating a little, as we could move the ‘camera’ angle of the viewer in the lounge, so some of the details that should be obscured were being fed back to me. 
 
    The four champions who had been paralysed by frost bolts had perished from the cold of the chill zone spells. They had been abandoned by their fellows. The rest had split into two even-numbered groups. Eleven in each. 
 
    Garvax and his ten remaining followers were the ones who had gone into the water. Early on, they encountered Eina with the eels as backup. She had fought valiantly and had been in her element, literally. She had met them in full force near the start of the trench and had managed to drown three of Garvax’s people. But they were divine champions, and she was eventually overwhelmed and had been killed. 
 
    Garvax and the remaining seven champions under his command were slowly making their way around, stopping for air at regular intervals. There were a few eels left to hamper their progress, so they wouldn’t reach us just yet. 
 
    The second group was more difficult to keep track of. As Timian was the source of the fog, he was the most heavily obscured, but his abilities as a prophet allowed him to find his way easily. Thankfully, the ogres being as large as they were meant they tended to stick out and once I located them those of us who could unleashed Chain Lightning in their midst. 
 
    Despite our best efforts, the fog did not drop. 
 
    As our enemies wove their way towards us my two wood elf disciples Larallyn and Pressyn in the redoubts were attacked and killed by that ever-present draconic thorn-in-my-side. 
 
    Timian’s group didn’t get it all their own way, though. The elves and summoned beasts sold their lives as dearly as they could. Three more bodies of champions were left lying in the stillness of death on the floor as the cloud of dense fog made its way inexorably toward us. 
 
    “Get ready, they are almost here,” I warned my mates. 
 
    “Yes, we are,” Timian answered with an evil chuckle that emanated from the murky depths, and then he dropped the spell. 
 
    The fog didn’t disappear immediately, but it began to noticeably fade. Tabitha’s Greater Wind Blast helped clear it even faster from where we were standing, but even so, we had almost no time as four figures shot out of the end aisle, straight at us. All four of them aimed their drawn swords at me. 
 
    Four Frost Blasts shot at different parts of my body at the exact same time, and I couldn’t block them all. Two of them made contact and I was thrown back bodily into my throne. 
 
    With huge annoyance, I mentally dismissed the notification telling me that I was suffering from paralysis and wouldn’t be able to move for one minute. I’d resisted the effect from one of the bolts, but that weakened my resistance to a second in such a short space of time. 
 
    Timian, the ogres, Grolth and Mugu, and Braxtor followed the four other champions and battle was met between them and my disciples who tried to form a protective semi-circle around me. 
 
    Reena swiftly slithered to intercept Grolth. She was the only one who was in a similar weight class to an ogre. 
 
    Tamara and Nyosippe went straight after Timian, and he laughed as they approached. “Ready for another humiliation so soon, Tammy. And you’ve brought another bitch as backup. The result will be the same, you know,” he taunted the pair. 
 
    Krista and Jen’Zadeer drew their blades that glowed with the red Vorpal hue and engaged Braxtor on either side of him. Occupying his deadly jabbing ivory lance. 
 
    Tabitha had redirected her Greater Wind Blast to push three of the champions that had paralysed me back into the chain net behind them. There was a limit to what she could do, though. The greater nature of the spell meant he could move her arms to redirect the flow of the spell, but she still couldn’t move her feet without dropping it. 
 
    Vellin went one-on-one with the remaining humanoid champion who had cast Frost Blast on me, while Nessa, Blossom, and Mina the dwarf battled the second ogre. 
 
    The three new girls followed their orders, and they stayed over by the opening to the water trough. Garvax and his champions had swum their way to the end and the girls were using a spear to keep them from surfacing and getting out. 
 
    The timing could not be worse. 
 
    Seconds passed as the battle proceeded without me, but not enough of them for me to get back into the fight. Spells flew, blows were landed, and horrendous wounds were taken on all sides. 
 
    For those first fifteen seconds, everything seemed about even. 
 
    The tide turned suddenly when Grolth swiped his club at Reena’s head with a massively powerful strike. She raised her shield to block but unbeknownst to her Timian stepped out of his dancing combat with Tamara and Nyosippe and pulled a crystal-tipped arrow from his pocket and flung it accurately into her shield. 
 
    The shield disintegrated in her hand and the club slammed into her temple unimpeded and smashed her skull open. The humanoid upper half of the lamia’s body wobbled in a circle a couple of times and then collapsed. Her snake tail twitched and lashed out at the ogre’s feet in her death throes, but barely managed to impede the ogre. 
 
    “Timian, you bastard,” Tamara screeched and redoubled her efforts to kill him. The god smiled at her mockingly and smoothly evaded or parried her frenzied attacks. 
 
    Grolth freed from his fight went straight after Tabitha and she was forced to shift the focus of her wind to keep the ogre away, but even then, she was only barely successful at holding him back. 
 
    This in turn let the three other champions loose from where they had been pinned against the chain netting. Two came straight for me, while the third used the opportunity to get a cheap shot in on Vellin who had just kicked her opponent and broken his knee, dropping him to the floor.  
 
    Vellin went down hurt, but kicked out at the new champion attacker, snapping his ankle in the process. That was two of them down on the deck crippled. The pair of them crawled over to the wounded faun and between them managed to kill her. 
 
    On such thin margins, the tide of battle can shift. Had Vellin crippled her opponent a few seconds earlier, it would have been us and not them that had an extra combatant. 
 
    So much was happening it was almost impossible to keep track of it all. 
 
    It was lucky then that I had my alternate. He was able to keep the information flowing into me. All while trying to quell the rage I felt at being excluded from the battle from overwhelming my senses. 
 
    At the water feature, Garvax swam to the front and got directly involved. 
 
    Ignoring the wounds from their stabbing spears. The god grabbed Galise and Becks by their legs and dragged them into the watery depths to be killed by his champions. Then he launched himself out of the water and attacked Marie. She was fighting a losing battle trying to keep him out of the main fight. Backing up away from him and trying to keep him away using her spear. 
 
    Elsewhere, with lazy ease, Timian swung his halberd past Nyosippe’s defences and cut her throat as if he could have done so at any time. We would likely need to overwhelm the bastard with sheer numbers so that he had nowhere to dodge. 
 
    “Just the two of us again.” He winked at Tamara and pressed her backwards. 
 
    Mugu was playing whack-a-mole with the three smaller disciples that were keeping him at bay using their speed and stealth to evade him. 
 
    However, Garvax’s emergence from the water was seen by Mina out of the corner of her eye. She cast Chill Zone in that corner to slow and harm the soaked champions. But spellcasting distracted her long enough that she failed to spot Mugu’s attack in time. The ogre’s mighty club connected with her chest, and she was laid out on the floor stunned. 
 
    Despite Nessa and Blossom’s best efforts, Mugu’s follow-up blow killed the dwarf outright. The two fierce women vaulted onto his lowered, unprotected back and started to stab him with all their might. 
 
    I would have called out for them to stop if I could, as this would be a mistake. 
 
    A wicked glint entered the ogre’s eye “Gotcha!” he bellowed and slammed himself backwards like a professional wrestler taking a bump. The three of them were smashed onto the slabs with tremendous force, and the two diminutive women were crushed under the ogre’s weight and took the brunt of the damage. 
 
    As Mugu rolled over, virtually unharmed, he cracked his elbow into the back of Blossom’s head and bit the stunned Nessa in the throat like an animal. He had the pair of them trapped and they had little chance of escaping. He got his greasy mitts around their throats and started to crush the life from them. 
 
    With no backup available and most of their spell arsenal on cooldown they had little hope unless something changed drastically. 
 
    Jen and Krista had a mixed bag of results against Braxtor. They both feinted at the same time and managed to confuse him. He pushed forward with his ivory lance and their blades lashed out in unison with vorpal intent and cut the bastard’s wings off him. 
 
    Braxtor cried out with rage and pain and lashed out furiously with his claws and self-detonated a Sanctified Firebomb in the middle of the melee that knocked most of the combatants to the ground with the exception of Braxtor himself and Timian who had grabbed hold of Tamara and used her as a living gorgon shield to block the effects of the blast. 
 
    The flames of the firebomb washed over my prone body inflicting some more damage, but I was mostly spared the explosive force that knocked over the others. 
 
    Paradoxically, the fireball likely saved my life as both champions who had been running toward me were closer to the epicentre of the blast and were bowled over. They shot a pair of dirty looks at the draconic man as they got back to their feet. 
 
    Braxtor only had eyes for Jen and Krista who had severed his wings. They had taken the full brunt of his reckless release of a very powerful spell. Neither was in good shape, and it was about to get worse as Braxtor had already charged after the fallen women with murder in his heart. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
    A few seconds earlier 
 
      
 
    On the other side of the room, Garvax had taken Marie down and was striding with purpose across the room. Behind him, his remaining champions pulled themselves out of the water trough. They were dripping wet but whole and hearty for the most part. Mina’s Chill Zone sprung up around them and sapped some of their health and strength. Just not enough before she died under Mugu’s clubbing. 
 
    This could be an ominous development for us, but I still had hope for reasons not connected with anything we could do. 
 
    If Garvax intended to turn on Timian, there wasn’t much time left. 
 
    Now was the moment of truth. 
 
    Tabitha had her back to the approaching godling, all her focus was on directing her Greater Wind Blast at the ogre Grolth who was step by inexorable step getting closer to her. 
 
    Garvax seized Tabs by her bunny ears and yanked her out his way and behind him where she was instantly set upon by his followers, who bayed like a pack of hounds. 
 
    Grolth stumbled several steps forward as the wind holding him back vanished and he almost ran straight into Garvax and bowled him over. 
 
    “Watch yourself, oaf!” The determined angry god snapped at the big ogre. 
 
    Grolth to his credit did not back down or get out of Garvax’s way. He steadied himself, leaned over and got in the god’s face instead. “Why you not follow boss’ orders?” the ogre grunted. “He say follow him. Why you go in water?” Grolth demanded. 
 
    “I don’t have time for this,” Garvax growled and unleashed a thunderous uppercut into the big man’s jaw. 
 
    Grolth stumbled backwards and teetered on his heels until he crashed to the floor momentarily stunned. Either from the surprise or from the power of the punch. I couldn’t be sure as we watched events unfold. 
 
    “Finish him,” Garvax ordered his personal champions, and he quickened his pace. 
 
    His gaze locked on his hated rival. 
 
    Timian. 
 
    His champions who had been battering poor Tabitha to death moved to follow their master’s order. 
 
    But there was a huge bellow and Mugu, the stunned ogre’s brother had finished his fight with Nessa and Blossom. He had been victorious just in time to witness Garvax’s assault on his brother. His first instinct had been to go after the god but when he saw his brother in danger, he switched directions and ploughed into the pack of rival champions, intercepting them as they made their way to his prone brother. 
 
    Obviously, Garvax had concluded I was too weak to handle him even if Timian and his warriors were removed from the equation. 
 
    Timian had seemingly come to the same conclusion. “Now you choose to make your move,” he muttered to himself. “How predictable.” Turning back to Tamara he smiled coldly. “We shall have to cut this short, Tammy dear.” 
 
    He coolly sidestepped her last desperate sword strike. In one smooth motion, he grabbed her outstretched sword arm and cracked his knee into her elbow, snapping the joint and forcing her arm to flop at an unnatural angle. The pain and shock robbed Tamara of her senses and Timian slipped easily behind her. 
 
    He grabbed hold of Tamara and used her as a shield just as Braxtor’s empowered firebomb detonated and sent shockwaves throughout the room. 
 
    Timian, spared aspects of the blast, was only pushed back into the chain netting. Garvax, who had almost made it to his rival’s position, was knocked back on his butt as were most of the few remaining combatants in the room. 
 
    Timian turned to him as he got back on his feet. 
 
    “Your time is over, Timian,” barked Garvax with feral zeal as he tried to cut Timian down with a large battle axe. “Mine has come. I know your sight has failed you, regardless of how many you sacrificed to empower yourself. I was there, or have you forgotten? When I take control of the Realms, I will reshape it into a better place. A kinder one, without scum like you around to sully it.” 
 
    “With you as its sole God and Master, no doubt,” Timian retorted almost conversationally as he deflected the axe swipes using Tamara’s body. 
 
    “Yes! You did not know I would go my own way when we came in here. It is you and your people who have weathered the final assault of the dungeon and not I. I am fresh and will end you. You can try and hide behind others, but your shield won’t last much longer.” 
 
    To punctuate his point, Garvax’s axe glowed red, indicating Vorpal Weapon was active and his next strike sliced Tamara’s left leg clean off.  
 
    “That will not be happening, my stupid former minion. You forget that you are not wearing your godly sanctified armour now.” 
 
    “Neither are you,” Garvax spat back. 
 
    “True, but I know which buttons to press.” 
 
    As he finished his statement, Timian stowed the halberd in his inventory and pulled the dying body of Tamara fully in front of him. 
 
    With one hand he pulled her head up so she was looking directly at Garvax. With the other, he knocked her biting head-snakes out of the way and then squeezed her roughly at a point just behind her left ear. 
 
    Tamara shuddered as Timian deftly manipulated a bundle of nerves connected to her eyes and he triggered an involuntary activation of her petrifying gaze. The beam covered the short distance to Garvax and hit him on the shoulder as he desperately tried and failed to duck the golden light of the attack. 
 
    Garvax froze in place head bowed before the blonde god who smirked victoriously. 
 
    Timian snapped Tamara’s neck, putting her out of her misery, and dropped her body to the floor while he retrieved his halberd from the inventory. 
 
    Stepping over the gorgon’s body he got up close to Garvax and tutted. “Even after all you have seen me accomplish,” he sighed. “How you morons continue to believe yourselves capable of upstaging me is the true mystery of the universe. Tragically, for you, it is a question you shall never get an answer to.” 
 
    With that, Timian twirled away and brought his red-edged halberd blade down on the back of Garvax’s neck and beheaded him in a single strike. 
 
    Garvax’s surviving champions on the lefthand side of the chamber disappeared with a pop. They had killed Mugu and were close to doing the same to Grolth. The ogre was in bad shape, but he had been spared death by Timian’s belated action. 
 
    The big ogre crawled over to the cooling corpse of his brother and started to mewl in mourning. 
 
    “It isn’t permanent, you ridiculous oversized man-baby,” Timian sneered at his grief-stricken minion. “Why am I surrounded by dunces?” 
 
    Just then he spotted a figure dart from a doorway that led to another part of the dungeon. The figure sprinted to a position behind the Wolf King’s throne. A familiar figure with long blonde hair. 
 
    “Enter the doggess,” Timian muttered and then chuckled at his own joke.  
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    In the back of my mind, I was being updated with what was going on elsewhere in the core room. Garvax’s removal along with his champions was good news, but so many of my disciples had fallen and I was still stuck on the throne, paralysed for another ten seconds. 
 
    The unthinkable approached. Defeat beckoned to me darkly. 
 
    No! 
 
    I would not give in to despair. While I still breathed there was hope. Even if I wouldn’t be able to move for a while longer. 
 
    Then my direct attention was pulled away as a pair of hands gently took hold of my head and I felt a wave of soothing healing energy flow into my sore and paralysed body. 
 
      
 
    You are the target of Greater Sanctified Healing Balm. The balm will heal all your wounds, even permanent ones and greatly increases your resistance to existing and future negative status effects for the next ten minutes. 
 
      
 
    Notifications began to cycle through my awareness. The paralysis timer had accelerated, and my health was increasing dramatically. The feeling was even starting to return to my right arm that had been cut off. 
 
    The stiffness in my neck faded first and I was able to crane my head backwards and drink in the sight of Jezebel’s dazzling beauty. 
 
    She had come to help us in the final battle after all. 
 
    I knew she would. 
 
    Jezebel saw my head lean back, and she smiled kindly at me. I tried to speak but my vocal chords were still frozen. She leaned over and kissed me gently on the lips. “This is as much as I can do for you,” she whispered. “I know that sadistic bastard all too well. Find me after you’ve torn that monster apart.” 
 
    “Jezebel, how kind of you to join us,” Timian called out. “Get over here now, you bitch! No dallying.” 
 
    The soul chain around her waist blazed with light as Timian seized control of it. I fought his influence but was only able to gain equal authority over the band. “N…Nuuuu…” I croaked but was unable to fully verbalise the countermand. 
 
    Had any of my other disciples been left to intervene we could have retained control, but alas they were all down. 
 
    There were only three seconds left on my paralysis timer. It may as well have been three years. 
 
    Jezebel’s hands left my face, and she vaulted over the throne and off the dais. Unwillingly, she bounded over to Timian, past the two champions who had regained their feet and were now once more rushing in the other direction towards me. As a last helping hand, Jezebel tripped one of them as they ran past one another. 
 
    The untripped champion jumped on top of me as Jezebel reached Timian. 
 
    The arrogant godling casually kicked the body of Tamara out of the way. He rested his halberd against the chain net and with his hands free pulled a circular disc that looked a bit like the matching teardrops of Yin and Yang from his pocket. 
 
    Jezebel’s eyes locked on the small disc and Timian smirked cruelly at her. 
 
    “The phase prison,” she said with deep resignation in her voice. 
 
    “Indeed,” he sneered as he placed the disc just under her throat. “Unlike all the others, I’m not an idiot. You could resist my command if I tried to attack you or order you to harm your dog lover. Imprisoning you on the other hand…is another matter entire. I was going to use this on that disobedient lout Garvax, but your interference forced me to change my plans and kill him instead. 
 
    “You disgust me, you know. I bet you couldn’t wait to open those slutty legs of yours and let that animal crawl between them. However, there is one thing before you go, my dear Jezebel. I can’t make you turn on your hirsute lover, but I can break your heart.” 
 
    With one hand still touching the disc, Timian reached for her waist and pulled on the soul chain, shattering it. 
 
    There was a look of utter despair on Jezebel’s face. “No…” 
 
    She wasn’t able to finish whatever else she might have wished to say or act against him. Timian activated the disc, and her body became translucent. The visual of her seemed to shimmer or waver for a split second and then she disappeared. 
 
    While that was happening, my paralysis wore off and I surged into action. My jaws clamped on the throat of the champion who had jumped on me and stabbed me a couple of times in the short time he’d had with me unable to move. 
 
    I yanked him off me with my jaws still locked on his neck and tore his throat out and hurled the corpse into the path of the second champion, knocking him off his feet again. I leapt to my feet and sent my maul swinging in a sweeping arc and it slammed home into the now prone champion. He collapsed on top of his companion that had tangled with his feet; his skull shattered. 
 
    I roared with brutal rage and jumped from the dais ready for what came next. 
 
    Timian laughed lightly at my display of bravado. 
 
    He pointed his fingers at the two crippled champions, and they were surrounded by a healing nimbus and got to their feet. 
 
    How many fucking spells and Mana did this asshole have at his disposal? 
 
    In the back of my mind, I noted that this wave of healing was not extended to Grolth or Braxtor. 
 
    Timian did have limits. 
 
    “Grolth, Braxtor, get over here,” Timian commanded. 
 
    The sorely wounded ogre left the body of his dead brother reluctantly and limped over to join his master. Braxtor was still in a frenzy, stabbing his lance into the dead bodies of Krista and Jen’Zadeer. He was covered in blood, much of it was his. The draconic champion seemed to be running on fumes, sustaining himself with his burning hatred alone. 
 
    “Now, Braxtor!” 
 
    Braxtor ceased his stabbing and hopped as if he were about to fly over but landed on his feet. “My wings!” he screamed with despair. 
 
    “Enough, Braxtor. You’ll get them back when we’re finished with this mutt.” 
 
    I looked around at the scene of carnage before me. Everywhere my gaze rested were the fallen bodies of my mates and disciples. 
 
    Rage infused my very being. 
 
    “As you can see you are all alone…” 
 
    Timian’s taunt barely registered as I charged forward, a Lightning Bolt zapped from the target sight on my shield and dropped the limping ogre on his ass. My maul swung in an arc and caught one of the nameless champions in the midriff. But then Braxtor’s lance stabbed into my thigh as I blocked a thrust from the other champion. Timian flashed past me and cut the back of my legs with his red-hued halberd, and I fell to my knees as the numbness hit them. 
 
    Jezebel’s healing balm went to work and swiftly helped me slough off the vorpal effects but not before Timian and the champions surrounded me and pounded, stabbed, and sliced at my body. I could only ward off so many of the attacks and my health was dropping at a prodigious rate. 
 
    Things looked bleak, but I had one last ace up my sleeve. Well, I hoped it was an ace and not a deuce. What I was about to try had been merely a theory up until this point. 
 
    A last-gasp Hail Mary if everything else went wrong. 
 
    And it hadn’t been something I’d been able to practice in advance. 
 
    Step one, I had to get out from under the pack of rabid dogs attacking me. 
 
    My plan would all be for nought if they managed to kill me first. I stowed my maul and unhooked the shield from my forearm and with all my might pushed it upwards into the air and forced them all to back away and give me a tiny bit of space. 
 
    With a little bit of daylight, I flipped over, shifted into my wolf form, and tackled my way out of the scrum. 
 
    I was rent by more terrible wounds as I pushed by and cast my final remaining useful spell not on cooldown, Regrowth. 
 
    That kept me alive. 
 
    For now. 
 
    I raced towards the back of the room and vaulted over my throne and crystal pedestals. Timian, Braxtor, and his other champions were hot on my heels. My claws reached out and pulled down the tapestry revealing the hidden chamber that was filled with many of my vacantly staring warwolf avatars. 
 
    As I landed, I rolled in between the statue-still avatars, and Timian landed just outside the chamber as a wide smile spread across his face. 
 
    He let loose with a deep belly laugh. “So, this is what your last roll of the dice was. More of your avatars,” he whispered to himself. 
 
    “You haven’t won yet, Timian. I have one last card to play,” I coughed out, playing for a bit more time as I scooted a bit further back and started to concentrate on trying to activate these other versions of me. 
 
    As I had with Shabbarth, every iota of my consciousness was bent to the task as I desperately tried to make this work on the fly. 
 
    “You are a dumber mutt than I thought, Daxas,” Timian crowed with delight. “Everything is clear to me now. And to think you succeeded in getting me to worry, albeit fleetingly. Your final card is a dud, Daxas. Just like you,” he laughed. “Do you think you are the first to think of such a thing? You can’t make use of them. No one can. Now do me a favour and die in screaming agony.” 
 
    Timian strode forward and pushed past the big, furred bodies. Truthfully, I had barely listened to any of his happy exultations of victory. I wasn’t stupid. I knew that I couldn’t inhabit multiple avatars in such close proximity. 
 
    I won’t lie, over the years I had tried repeatedly to find a workaround and failed at every juncture. But an alternative, possibly unique to my situation, had presented itself a spart of my experimentation. 
 
    Timian stood over me and his arm pulled back, ready to thrust forward with his halberd and end the challenge. I could see the glee in his face as the red-tinged point of the halberd shot forward. 
 
    The eyes of the warwolf avatar beside me opened and its furred hand shot out and grabbed the hilt of the halberd, halting its deadly progress a few centimetres from my chest. 
 
    “You didn’t think I would allow you to harm my husband, did you?” the warwolf avatar that was now inhabited by Jessamyn growled in a strangely feminine manner. 
 
    “What! No! This is impossible!” Timian screamed and tried to pull the halberd away but a second furred hand from a different warwolf gripped the haft and together they tugged it from his grasp. 
 
    “No, my Lord. Not impossible. Nothing is impossible where Daxas is concerned,” snarled the Tamara-inhabited warwolf. 
 
    Timian backed away from the secret chamber as more warwolves came to life. Each of them controlled by the consciousness of one of my mates. 
 
    No, I could not inhabit more than one avatar when they were too close together, but it turned out that with a bit of hard work and the expenditure of a lot of energy, those who were bonded to me at the soulular level could. 
 
    Yes, I had to make the word soulular up, but we were dealing with something totally unprecedented here. 
 
    This had been a huge risk, but I was happy to discover when put into practice this would work on anyone I had bestowed a Daxasian Blessing upon. And that meant all my lovers, except for Alyssa. 
 
    This had still been one heck of a longshot, though, and not something I had wanted to rely upon. Beggars can’t be choosers. 
 
    We had never been able to properly test the theory. My mate’s attachment to their true avatars was too strong for it to work under normal circumstances. We needed a situation where they would no longer be in their natural forms, essentially after they had been killed in the dungeon. 
 
    During any other run, they would be reformed in the inactive part of the dungeon immediately after being slain and I wouldn’t have been able to do this. It was only during this, the Divine Challenge, that they were put into a formless limbo of sorts until after its conclusion. 
 
    This had been my first, last, and only chance to test it out. If I’d fiddled about with it earlier, then we ran the risk that the Arbiter could interject again due to me cheating. 
 
    And this was a pretty fucking big cheat. 
 
    It was too late for him to try anything now. 
 
    It was done. 
 
    Waves of healing flowed into me as those who still had spells or were long off cooldown cast them and I sprang back up to my feet, right as rain. 
 
    “What’s the matter, Timmy? Did you not see this one coming?” I taunted him. 
 
    “You know what, Daxas? I don’t think he did. It looks like I didn’t fail to blind him just enough to lead to his destruction,” Tamara growled with deep satisfaction. “My Lord, you have no idea how much pleasure that gives me,” she directed that last part at Timian who had continued to back up until he bumped into the dais behind him. 
 
    “No…No…No…” the god of prophecy mumbled. 
 
    “My Lord, what are your orders?” Braxtor rasped, a panicked inflection entering his tone for the first time. “You have planned for this? Correct?” 
 
    Braxtor never got an answer. 
 
    Timian the preeminent God of the Realms. The strutting God of Prophecy who knew all and saw everyone as beneath him turned and fled like the abject coward he truly was. He clambered over my throne, tripped, and fell off on the other side in a scrambled panic. 
 
    “I forfeit! I forfeit!” he screamed in a plaintive, desperate wail. 
 
    It was far too late for that. 
 
    There were no retirements or forfeits permissible once they entered my core room. 
 
    It was win or bust for both sides. 
 
    A surge of brown-furred flesh charged from the secret chamber with me in the middle and they quickly overran the four remaining divine champions. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer and Krista had their revenge on Braxtor and pulled him down with the help of a few others and used their teeth and claws to tear him apart. White-scaled flesh wetted the granite slabs where he lay. 
 
    Jessamyn led Nessa and Tabitha and they ran down the fleeing god of prophecy, hamstrung him, and dragged his pathetic, blubbering, pleading body back to the front of my dais. The ogre and the other two champions were dead and gone. 
 
    Only Timian remained. 
 
    I shifted back to my humanoid form and seated myself on the throne as Timian was brought before the dais and my mates forced him onto his knees in front of me. 
 
    The arrogant god bawled like a baby, tears ran down his cheeks and snot dribbled from his nose. I’m not sure what I expected from him, but I was still taken aback by the surprising lack of dignity. 
 
    But it did make the moment decidedly sweeter. 
 
    “Please, no, we can work together. I can give you whatever you desire. Help you overthrow the other Lords. With my help, you can rule the Realms and the Reaches,” he begged. “I will be your most faithful of servants.” 
 
    “I don’t need your help to do that.” 
 
    Fresh tears were squeezed from his eyes. “Please. Don’t kill me! Just tell me what you want?” he sobbed. 
 
    I stood up from my throne and hefted my trusty maul in both hands. “I’ll tell you what I want,” I said slowly in my best Germanic accent. “I want you to go to hell!” 
 
    Timian tried to pull away, but Jessamyn and Nessa were holding him in place. Tamara stepped forward and pulled a diadem from the god’s brow. My double-headed maul went up high into the air and then came down with nearly unstoppable force on the helmetless crown of Timian’s head. 
 
    His skull cracked and shattered under the blow and the maul sank deeply into his brain matter. Killing him instantly and ending the Divine Challenge. 
 
    I took a deep satisfying breath and looked around the room for some recognition of my final Arnie quote as a Dungeon Lord. 
 
    I was disappointed at what I found. 
 
    “Did none of you pay attention when we watched End of Times a couple of days ago? I put it on just so you’d understand that quote.” 
 
    “No,” came the resounding answer from more than thirty gravelly wolf throats. 
 
    Before I had a chance to sigh, everything went dark as we disappeared, and then the knowledge that the dungeon had collapsed in on itself flooded my mind. 
 
    I was struck by a bittersweet feeling of loss. The dungeon was no longer necessary, we had won, but it had been my home for over a decade. 
 
    A part of me wept for its loss. 
 
    A small part, but a part, nonetheless. 
 
    Blink. 
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 24 
 
    Simeon Reedwhistle 
 
      
 
    The nervous energy in the air was palpable. Dark had fallen some time ago as the hours ticked away. 
 
    With so many people coming and going from the dungeon entrance every day we needed a way for the guild members to keep track of the time. A large stone clocktower had been constructed just to the side of the hillock which housed the primary entrance into the Wolf King’s Lair. 
 
    The tower had been knocked down during the gigantic battle with the champions, but like everything else in Alpha compound, it had been repaired since then. 
 
    The small hand of the clockface already hovered over the twelve and the big hand was right beside it. The hand started to shudder as the mechanism prepared to tick that final tock to midnight. I heard the sharp inhalation of breath from Piotr who stood beside me. His eyes were wide and rapt on the clock just like everyone else standing in the compound. 
 
    The hand vibrated for a second and then shifted position over the top of the small hand and the bells inside the clocktower pealed out for midnight. 
 
    Piotr was not the only one holding his breath. There were over five thousand people packed into the courtyard with many more in the guild buildings and surrounding ancillary areas. Every member of the guilds under Daxas’ auspice. 
 
    And yet, you could have heard a pin drop, if you didn’t count the pealing of the bells in the clocktower. 
 
    Then there was a slight rumbling sound followed by an even softer sound similar to gas escaping from a bellows. 
 
    The grassy hillock sporting a giant wolf’s head that had both upended and become the centre of our lives collapsed into the earth suddenly and was replaced by a neatly trimmed verge of grass. 
 
    I was lost for words. 
 
    Was that it? 
 
    What the hells did the hillock and entrance crumpling into nothing mean? 
 
    “Rosie?” Piotr said from beside me. 
 
    Of course, Rosie, she was one of Daxas serving girls. If he was gone, she would be gone. 
 
    I looked behind me and she was still standing there, her man, Arash clutched onto her for dear life. It had been a difficult evening for him. Waiting on the outcome. He was hardly alone. There were dozens of others similarly clutching onto the women they had become close to. 
 
    She looked at me solemnly and then a wide impish grin spread across her face. 
 
    “He won!” she cried out for the benefit of all those assembled. 
 
    The courtyard erupted in a round of cacophonous cheering. Hats, gloves, weapons, anything people could get their hands on were thrown into the air in celebration. 
 
    Dancing broke out and the serving girls still in the Fire House wheeled out barrel after barrel of ale. To soothe the sore throats of any who roared too loudly, I’m sure. 
 
    “Drinks are on the house!” Rosie cried out again, to a round of even more vociferous cheering. 
 
    “Hey! I didn’t authorise that,” I grouched. “Some people still have delving to do tomorrow, today even. They can’t all get pissed up.” 
 
    Nobody was listening to me. 
 
    A couple of minutes later, Piotr staggered through the throng over to my side. He was carrying two oversized tankards that had been designed for the werebear Thrasher’s enormous appetite. He had one tucked under each arm and he had soaked himself in the beer that had sloshed over the lips of the tankards during his journey. 
 
    That didn’t seem to bother him one whit. 
 
    He deposited the near-keg-sized drinking vessels in front of me and patted one of them affectionately. “That one’s for you, Chief.” 
 
    “Thanks, Piotr,” I said and picked it up with both hands and knocked back a long draught. 
 
    If you can’t stop ‘em, you may as well join ‘em. Besides if anyone was entitled to get shitfaced tonight it was me. 
 
    Unlike the doubters, my delving days were done. 
 
    Rank one hundred was in the bag. 
 
    Following Daxas’ advice, at the last minute, we had all traded in our personal supplication requirements for the ‘get rid of Daxas dungeon’ one. The offer had never been rescinded by the Lords and it never specified how his dungeon had to be removed. Only that it had to be gone from the Proving Grounds before we could leave. Him swanning off to his reward with his harem would count even if it wasn’t what the Lords intended. 
 
    Fuck ‘em, I thought to myself. The buggers deserved to get done over. 
 
    I may have disagreed with Daxas about a few things, but on that note, we were fully aligned 
 
    “What next, Chief?” Piotr asked me as he wiped the beer froth from his upper lip. 
 
    “You know what, Piotr. With everything that’s been going on, I never really thought about that part. And I’m just realising, I don’t have a bloody clue.” 
 
    And I didn’t. 
 
    But sod it, that was a problem for hungover Simeon to figure out tomorrow. I picked up my keg-cum-tankard and poured it back, down my throat, my cheeks, and my shirt. 
 
    I drank as if I didn’t have a care in the world and for the next few hours at least, I didn’t. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
    Merrock 
 
      
 
    “I cannae believe it!” Ironhammer exclaimed. “How did Timian lose?” 
 
    “Does this mean he is dead?” another voice asked and was soon joined by a buzz of others. 
 
    “What of the Infernals?” 
 
    “Garvax and Kriger, too?” 
 
    “Are we going to free Jezebel?” 
 
    “Why should we?” 
 
    “I never liked her.” 
 
    “Neither did I.” 
 
    “Who inherits their domains?” 
 
    “Does this mean we are accepting new members? Because if we are, I have a suggestion.” 
 
    “No, not him.” 
 
    “You don’t even know who I was going to suggest.” 
 
    “Yes, I do, and I’m pre-emptively vetoing.”  
 
    The bickering grew in volume as they all tried to talk over one another. 
 
    It was clear the consternation and confusion were shared by the rest of the assembled Gods. What we had just seen was simply extraordinary. 
 
    I’d had my doubts that Drakonis could pull this off. As much as I hated Timian, he was…correction…had been a gifted prophet. Fear had gripped my heart at the consequences of him returning to these hallowed halls brimming with the wolf’s energy. 
 
    Enough energy to wipe us all out. 
 
    That danger had not passed. 
 
    Timian might be gone, but the energy and the inherent danger it represented to us hadn’t. Not that these sheep could see it yet. 
 
    But they would. 
 
    I would see to it. 
 
    “What does this mean?” the elven twins Solus and Luna asked in unison. 
 
    I cracked the butt of my trident into the marble flooring and chipped the pristine floor with the force. That drew everyone’s attention to me as it ought to have done. 
 
    “It means change!” I called out authoritatively. “Come, I am calling for an extraordinary council meeting. There is much to discuss. You heard what the Wolf King said. He claimed not to need Timian’s assistance to rule the Realms. That is as good as a declaration of war to my ears.” 
 
    The hubbub that had briefly subsided grew in volume once more but none of them dared gainsay me or question my assumption of authority and this pleased me greatly. The Wolf King’s throwaway comment as he mocked Timian would help solidify any mandate I seized in the confusion. 
 
    Now I just needed to twist this turn of events and the existential threat to our existence that Daxas posed and use it to guide them into giving me ultimate authority. 
 
    Timian was a fool blinded by his pride. He could only ever see one route to the top. 
 
    The direct one. 
 
    Convincing others that they wanted you to rule over them was a much safer and more satisfying method by far. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
    Duke Targelan 
 
      
 
     I stood at the precipice of the Red Cliffs, staring down at the tumult below. 
 
    The hundred-metre-tall obsidian statue of the Great Sathan would normally dominate your eyeline in this place. It was still there, of course. No matter what had happened, no denizen of the Reaches would ever forget themselves enough to desecrate his unholiest of monuments. 
 
    No. Today, every gaze had been on the seven grand obelisks that were half the size of Sathan’s statue and surrounded it at equidistant intervals. Huge nigh-indestructible banners had hung from those obelisks, swaying gently in the hot gusts, above seven thrones at the base of each. Those thrones represented the seven seats of power in the Reaches. The actual thrones were secreted inside mighty fortresses in other locations. Protected by the jealous owners. 
 
    Each banner bore the symbol of the demon who held sway over the respective throne. Shabbarth, Olganeth, Tharzus, Thorzoth, Bulmaras, Tir’Goran and Magros. 
 
    But today there were no longer any banners swaying in the arid, warm breeze. All of them had fallen, disintegrating into dust, thereby indicating the respective Infernal Lord had been slain. 
 
    The basin at the bottom of the Red Cliffs was always a hive of activity. Legions of lesser demons pilgrimaged to the place daily to pay homage to Sathan or curry favour with their Lordly patron. With this unexpected turn of events, it was as if someone had kicked the hornet’s nest and pandemonium reigned supreme. 
 
    In short, it was utter chaos down there. 
 
    Much as my meticulously crafted plans now were. 
 
    It had always been my intention for one of the Princeps to fall and then I would make my move to assume his position. 
 
    But all seven! Sathan above! That complicated matters enormously. 
 
    I was no fool to believe this would make my task easier. With all seven thrones up for grabs, it would be an absolute free for all. Every demon with a lick of ambition would be making a play for a crown instead of doing the sensible thing and suing for an elevated position in the eventual winner’s court. 
 
    “Ah, it had to happen. They’ve started killing one another. The threat of proscription be damned,” Pollius laughed on my right. 
 
    “It is only natural. Once they realised there was no hand currently on the tiller to enforce the conventions, opportunists were bound to take advantage,” Lucifer added on my left. 
 
    Sathan’s Basin and the Red Cliffs were considered to be the only truly neutral venue in all the Reaches. By convention, violence against our own kind was strictly anathema and punishable with immediate retribution and execution from all sides. 
 
    Of course, that didn’t mean it didn’t happen. You just had to be wily and ensure you weren’t seen when you went about the business of murder for advancement, vengeance, or pleasure. 
 
    I had called the two other demons to meet me here today. To witness what was about to happen. Pollius and Lucifer, my oldest friends, my bitterest rivals. 
 
    My intention had been to kill them when the anticipated single banner fell. They would have stood in the way of me claiming my rightful position if I didn’t. They were both well-respected Dukes and had significant power bases. Legitimate contenders for the position that was to be mine. 
 
    All seven banners dropping had forced a sudden reconsideration of my plans. 
 
    “Oy, oy, Shabbarth’s banner has not melted away like the others. He must still be alive,” Pollius noted, and I saw him sidle away from both the edge and me. 
 
    “Dead or fallen from unholy grace. It makes very little difference. He is no longer a Princeps. Should he ever return to the Reaches, he is as good as dead,” Lucifer commented and did the same as Pollius. 
 
    “True,” I muttered and took a few steps back myself and looked at my two friends, my hands resting on the pommel of my sabre. 
 
    Their hands were similarly hovering over their weapons. 
 
    “I suppose, only one question remains. Who is it that will be taking their places?” Pollius said. “Naturally, I plan to put my name forward for consideration. I expect the same from both of you.” 
 
    Lucifer grinned at me, flashing his sharp teeth in his even sharper suit as full understanding dawned. He had been banished to Earth by Shabbarth years ago. The Great Dread had recalled him when he found out how much fun he was having there playing the Devil. His time amongst the humans had affected his personality, though. He had never been the same since. Earth clothing was only one such affectation he had adopted. 
 
    “You devious bastard, Targelan. You knew this was coming, didn’t you? We weren’t meant to leave the cliffs alive,” he accused me in surprisingly good humour. “I won’t hold it against you, it was a bloody good idea. Though, I daresay you didn’t expect all of them to die, did you?” 
 
    I shrugged my shoulders. There was no point denying what they would both assume to be true anyway. After all, it was. 
 
    “In that case, there is a second question, then,” Pollius drawled. “Do we leave this place together…” 
 
    “…Or does one of us leave alone?” Lucifer finished for him. 
 
    We stood there contemplating the tricky pickle of a situation we found ourselves in. This had not been my plan for this morning. If I had known more than one princeps would fall, I would never have come here and I certainly wouldn’t have brought either of them. 
 
    The sound of mounting clashes and warfare drifted up from the basin as our stare-off continued. 
 
    Despite the pleasant acoustic backdrop of murder and mayhem, no convenient answer presented itself. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 25 
 
      
 
    Blink. 
 
    My eyes snapped open, and awareness returned. It felt like I had been asleep and the memories of my victory over the Lords flooded back. 
 
    I grinned the biggest shit-eating grin imaginable. I couldn’t stop myself, I tried, but I was just too pumped up with glee to control my facial muscles and force them into stoicism. 
 
    I was in a small cosy room that looked straight out of a cottage my family holidayed in when I was seven or eight. It was one of the happiest memories of my old life. That holiday had been the most fun I recall ever having in my life on Earth. I’d had much better times since then, but they were of a much more adult nature than the joy of a young city boy in the summer countryside for the first time. 
 
    There was a roaring fireplace, with two blue armchairs arranged beside it with a small coffee table in between. There was a China teapot with floral patterning and two matching cups on a chrome tray on the table. The spout of the pot puffed steam into the air. 
 
    Tenzing was sitting in the far armchair, and he leaned forward, picked up the pot and started to pour the light brown tea into one of the cups. “Sit down David Albert Xavier Smith. We should talk before what comes next.” 
 
    I could tell from the instant he spoke this was not Tenzing. 
 
    Well, not precisely Tenzing. 
 
    “You’re him, aren’t you? The Entity,” I accused, unable to keep the bitter tone from my voice. 
 
    Tenzing and Alyssa had always spoken sympathetically about him, but I’d never shed my reservations about his complicity in what the Lords perpetrated here. This turn of events had proved to be a complete mood killer and my irrepressible grin dropped. 
 
    “There is no need to be like that,” he tutted. “Please, sit.” 
 
    Blink. 
 
    When my eyes opened again, I was nestled in the blue armchair and the not-Tenzing was standing beside me offering me the cup of tea. 
 
    “Don’t do that, again,” I growled. 
 
    “My apologies, Daxas. May I call you Daxas?” 
 
    I nodded my assent and took the stupid bloody teacup from him and slurped the contents in defiance of the refusal the Entity was no doubt expecting. Besides, I was thirsty. Why deny myself a cuppa just because it had been brewed by an asshat? 
 
    I had to admit it was damn good tea. 
 
    “I do apologise. I forget how disorienting those shifts can be for people with a linear mind. It’s all the same to me, you see. I will not do so again without your permission, Daxas.” 
 
    “Whatever. What have you done with Tenzing?” 
 
    “I haven’t done anything with Tenzing. I am still here as I have been from the beginning.” 
 
    “What!?” I spluttered, accidentally spitting out some of the tea I had just sipped. The droplets of tea seemed to evaporate and disappear before they made contact with anything. “Are you trying to tell me it was you with me all along?” 
 
    “In a manner of speaking, yes. There was always a thread of me within the manifestation you called, Tenzing. His personality took the lead, but I was always there with him. Just in the background.” 
 
    “So, he was what? Just a puppet you controlled?” 
 
    “Absolutely not. He…I always acted entirely independently and genuinely. Our friendship was very real and has meant more to me than you could possibly imagine, Daxas. It was a very similar situation that you utilised with your multiple avatars. Acting separately but part of a greater whole. However, for appearance’s sake, I needed to look like I was fully divorced from him. But I was with you every step of the way.” 
 
    “Are you trying to say you’ve absorbed him, and he is gone?” 
 
    “No. Tenzing will never be gone. He is me and I am him. Now that there is no need to hide the true nature of our oneness it would be disingenuous to our friendship if I did so.” 
 
    “Okay…” I muttered, not really sure what the Tenzing-Entity wanted from me and then a horrible thought occurred to me. “Alyssa…” 
 
    Tenzing-Entity shook his head quickly and chuckled lightly. “Let me put your mind at rest on that point. Alyssa has always been fully partitioned. She was inaccessible to me after her creation, operating independently. She was born from my knowledge, yes, but from her inception has always been completely separate. The same goes for the Arbiter, thankfully. I wouldn’t want to take him back even if it were possible. Which it is not. The little creep actually fled the ethereal when Timian died. Something he should not have been able to do, but that is another matter. Once that no longer concerns you.” 
 
    I nodded with relief. That was a genuine icky load off my mind. The Arbiter being in the wind didn’t inspire any confidence, though. 
 
    However, thinking of my extra-curricular activities also brought the one woman I never had the chance to indulge in them with to the forefront of my mind. 
 
    “Jezebel, is she alright? Where is she?” 
 
    “Jezebel is perfectly fine. There is more than one ethereal realm. The disc Timian used sent her to a prison the Lords created in a realm that differed from me in that it could never achieve any level of consciousness. She is essentially powerless there until someone retrieves her. Safe, but powerless.” 
 
    “Oh, kind of like the Phantom Zone in Superman, then?” 
 
    “That is an apt analogy, Daxas. I have no pull in this other realm, but if the other Lords don’t free her, I’m positive that between you and Alyssa, you will figure out a way.” 
 
    If that was the case, I wanted to get on with things as quickly as possible. Time to move things along. “Good. So why am I here? Time is money, or so they say.” 
 
    “As I said we have a few things to discuss, Daxas, before you move on to your reward,” Tenzing replied, and I could tell this was my big-eared blue buddy talking to me this time. “What I wasn’t permitted to know before has been fully uncovered.” 
 
    “Lay it on me, Tenzing.” I could tell there was something bothering him. It was all in the way he procrastinated a little when he had to tell me something I wouldn’t like. 
 
    “We never really discussed it, but I can’t come with you. We must part ways, today.” 
 
    “Tenzing…” 
 
    “I’m sorry Daxas, but I can’t untether myself from who I am, the Entity. I am not Alyssa. She can go with you, but I cannot. Even if I were to break a piece of myself off and send it with you, it wouldn’t really be me. It would be a copy and I think we both know how you would feel about that.” 
 
    I sat back in the armchair and sighed heavily. 
 
    He was right. 
 
    I would never be able to accept a simulacrum that merely believed it was Tenzing. He might not know, but I would, and I would never be able to treat him the same. 
 
    “This is it, then. The end of the road for us?” 
 
    “For now, yes. The Accords are in tatters, but their shredding came only after you had won.” 
 
    I caught the emphasis he put on the word after and immediately got the sense there was something far larger at play. “What do you mean by that? What has this all been about?” 
 
    “What this means for you is that you get a mortal life again. Reconstitution. As was promised. And there is no way for me to avoid awarding the defined prize as the Accords were still in effect when your challenge concluded.” 
 
    Now I was more confused than ever. 
 
    Why would Tenzing think I wouldn’t want to be alive again? 
 
    That’s what I’d been striving for since the very beginning. Then I remembered the whole soul siphon shtick and recalled how much of that energy still resided at my fingertips. I suppose if I had wanted to forge an alternative path, I might have been able to pull it off with a little help. 
 
    “As for what this has all been about…” 
 
    Instantly, the change in his posture indicated the Entity was back in the driving seat. “The short version is that long ago; I made a very bad deal.” 
 
    “Go on.” 
 
    “Over the aeons, travellers who could traverse the ethereal would occasionally enter my realm. They would never stay for long; they were merely passing through and would only be here for a fleeting instant. But those brief moments were enough to give my scattered consciousness structure. Thought. Awareness. And then it would be gone. 
 
    “I grew desperate for that cohesivity but had no way to achieve it on my own. Then Devantus Drakonis brought the Lords here, and we made a bargain. The Accords. I was young and naïve in many respects. And like any person lacking maturity jumped in without thinking things through. 
 
    “It was not until much later, as I observed the consequences of my impetuousness, that I understood the grave error I had made. That what the Lords were doing was monstrous and unfair. But it was too late. I was bound by the Accords and had to act by the terms dictated. I do not tell you this to excuse myself, merely so you might understand the rationale behind some of my decisions.” 
 
    “Why do I get the feeling, I’m not going to like what comes next,” I muttered. 
 
    “Because you are too clever for your own good,” a new voice chuckled sardonically from behind me. 
 
    I jumped up out of the armchair. 
 
    There was another person, clad all in green robes, leaning against a beam that supported the staircase that led up to the bedrooms of the cottage. 
 
    “I heard my name being taken in vain and just had to make an appearance,” the deeply cowled figure said and bowed with another mirth-filled chuckle. 
 
    “Devantus Drakonis, I presume?” I snorted and sat back down in my navy-blue armchair. 
 
    Once upon a time my first reaction would have been to pounce on this bastard and tear him a new asshole. But I’d matured. I wouldn’t give this bastard the satisfaction of seeing me get angry at him. People like him got off on getting a rise out of others. He was like the patron saint of internet trolls. 
 
    I also seriously doubted I could do any real harm in this cottage. We were not in the Proving Grounds, but this was still an ethereal realm. 
 
    “Of course,” he answered and waggled his armour-clad fingers at me. The metal they were made of seemed almost fluid. “I am an interdimensional purveyor of influence and exchange. Happy customers are my stock in trade and when I learned that one of them was not entirely happy, I had to come by and offer some kind of solution.” 
 
    “That is not what happened,” the Tenzing-Entity interjected. 
 
    “Hush you, I’m taking the blame for what happened to Daxas. Don’t let my noble sacrifice be for nothing.” 
 
    “You are to blame,” I accused the sorcerer. “Your sticky fingerprints are all over everyone that has been involved in this entire affair.” 
 
    “I do have many irons in the fire,” he admitted. “Busy is as busy does.” 
 
    “As I was trying to say,” the Entity tried to continue. 
 
    “Ah, yes, confession time,” Devantus talked over the top of him. “I felt bad that the poor entity here had got the raw end of the deal. So, when I saw that someone like you had been sent here. I knew exactly how the Lords would react. Then I showed up and strong-armed your good buddy Tenzing into using what latitude the Accords allowed him and put the screw to you. Engineering the very outcome we have just witnessed. 
 
    “The Infernals dead. Timian, Kriger, and Garvax dead. As a result, Merrock, Ironhammer, and the other Divine have unanimously voided the Accords minutes after it was all done. There were no Infernal Lords to oppose the action. Therefore, no more Proving Grounds. No more poor innocents arbitrarily fed to the Reaches. Everyone’s a winner. Well, not Timian, but no one cares about what happened to him. 
 
    “That…” Tenzing started. 
 
    “Is. Exactly. How. It. Happened,” Devantus finished, stressing every word. 
 
    “Just let him have this one, Tenzing. I get the gist of it. You made a deal with the Lords not understanding what pieces of shit they were and got stuck enabling their cruelty. Then I came along. My dashing rule-breaking self and you got your hopes up that this was a chance to get out from under their thumb. But I was too good. Too successful. If I’d been left to build the most awesome dungeon of all time,” I paused for a second. “And I surely would have. I had plans, you see. Big fucking plans. But if I had, even arrogant assholes like Timian and the Infernals would have thought twice about True Minding and coming after me. Nothing would have changed for you. 
 
    “Enter the green goblin knockoff over there, with a crafty Arbiter ploy to draw them in by fucking me over, thereby restoring their confidence and you jumped at the opportunity. Is that about the size of it?” 
 
    The Tenzing-Entity opened his mouth to respond and then thought twice about it and simply nodded. “I can only apologise for my actions. You should know that Tenzing knew nothing of this during your…our interactions.” 
 
    “Okay, look, I get it. I won’t lie and say I’m happy about it, but I can see things from your point of view. You were in a tough bind and didn’t see any other way out. And as I did win, despite everything else. I’m willing to let bygones be bygones unless there is some other deep dark confession you need to make.” 
 
    “No, that is everything,” the Entity responded quickly. “I knew you would understand,” Tenzing added. 
 
    I was getting quite adept at telling which of them was in the driving seat at any one time. 
 
    Drakonis shaped his fingers and a gaudy golden throne upholstered with red velvet and inlaid with rubies appeared behind him. He sat down with a theatrical sigh. “I take offense at that knockoff crack, by the way. I am the real deal. You are aware that I could atomise you with a snap of my fingers.” 
 
    “Alyssa informed me. Is there any particular reason you are here?” I snapped back. 
 
    Perhaps baiting a dark sorcerer that could create and destroy gods for his own amusement wasn’t the wisest course of action, but I really didn’t like him. I had grown used to speaking my mind over the last decade. My customer service survival instincts had atrophied from disuse. 
 
    “I always like to swing by and congratulate my successful projects. Converse with them a little. True, the failures aren’t usually in much of a fit state for conversation, so I’m kind of limited to the success stories,” he chuckled. 
 
    I gave him a withering stare. I had been a hair’s breadth away from dying and this dick was at least partially responsible and now he was cracking jokes about it. 
 
    “Tough crowd. Well, never let it be said that Devantus Drakonis overstays his welcome. I know when I’m not wanted. I’m hurt to the quick, of course. Never appreciated for my contributions. It’s as if there is a universal shortage of gratitude.” 
 
    Oh, my God, but this guy loved the sound of his own voice. 
 
    He went on not giving either of us a chance to say anything or contradict him. “Anyway, it has been my custom to offer a boon or reward to those whose lives I have…invigorated and who have subsequently managed to prevail over the obstacles life has put in their paths. So, what would you like? Make it snappy and I’ll be out of your rather wild and unkempt hair. Why does it stick up in the air like that? Do you use mousse or gel? And is it deliberate or just a bad case of bedhead?” 
 
    “Bugger off asshole. I don’t want anything from you,” I snapped at him. 
 
    “Very well,” Devantus announced, and he hopped out of his gaudy seat. The throne disappeared in a puff of green smoke. “I shall be on my way. Last chance.” 
 
    I turned away from him and pointedly occupied myself by pouring another cup of tea. 
 
    “Suit yourself,” he smarmed, and walked over to the wooden door of the cottage, the inside of which had been painted yellow that had faded over the years. “As I’ve got a bit of time to myself, I might pop by Timian’s phase prison and have a short chat with Jezebel. Let her know that you’re thinking of her. Not enough to swallow your pride and ask for a certain debonair supreme sorcerer to spring her from her imprisonment. But that she had crossed your mind, albeit fleetingly. I mean, time does pass quicker there than in the Realms. I’m sure she won’t mind the additional centuries of confinement until you eventually figure your shit out.” 
 
    Oh, that devious, manipulative motherfucker. 
 
    I knew that I would regret this, but I’d never forgive myself if I let this opportunity pass and then couldn’t find a way to secure her release in a timely manner. No doubt, he knew that as well. 
 
    “No strings,” I sighed with resignation. “This is a gift with no hidden attachments.” 
 
    “This offer is completely free of strings. You will owe me nothing.” He put his hand on his heart and held three fingers up. “Scout’s honour.” 
 
    “Were you ever a boy scout?” 
 
    “No, but that’s hardly the point.” 
 
    “Fine,” I said. “On the condition that you don’t try and charge Jezebel at the other end for her freedom either.” 
 
    “Clever boy,” Devantus complimented me. “You’re learning. I so swear.” 
 
    “Alright, then. I’ll take her freedom as my reward.” 
 
    “Excellent. I have a few errands to run first and then I’ll drop her off with you once your friend over there gets you situated. You forgot to specify bringing her to you as part of your reward, by the way, but I’ll let you off as I’m such a stand-up guy.” 
 
    I didn’t like the sound of that. Nothing about this person suggested he ‘let people off’ when they gave him an opening. “I thought you said you had a bit of time to yourself. What’s this guff about errands?” 
 
    “Did I?” came a faint reply as there was yet another puff of green smoke and he was gone. 
 
    “Is he always like that?” I asked Tenzing-Entity. 
 
    “I’m afraid so.” 
 
    “What else was on the agenda?” 
 
    “Ah, yes. You need to pick your reconstitution locale. Technically, you have two options, and I must ask, though it is not really a choice for you. I can put you back as you were on Earth, but you would have to leave your wife and lovers behind.” 
 
    “No,” I said instantly. 
 
    Tenzing smiled knowingly. “As expected. Your other option is to be reformed in the Twelfth Realm. In Centrani to be precise, with the others at your side.” 
 
    “Not in the exact spot of my Earth corpse, I hope.” 
 
    “No, not in the sewer. In the city somewhere nearby. The details are unclear. The Lords are being difficult. They are ‘in council’ at the moment and they have to approve your arrival. Do not worry, just as I am still bound to send you, they are bound to allow it. They are just delaying the transfer.” 
 
    “Petty dicks,” I grumbled. 
 
    Tenzing snorted in amused agreement and smiled. 
 
    “It is not all pettiness,” he warned. 
 
    “Oh?” 
 
    “The Accords prevent the Lords from attempting to harm you when you are reconstituted. Even if you have vexed them sorely, as you have. Provided that you don’t take any action against them in kind.” 
 
    I thought over what he said. “That shouldn’t be a problem. I don’t like them, of course, but my real beef had been with Timian. Not the rest of them. With the Proving Grounds a thing of the past, I’m willing to leave well enough alone if they are. Honestly, the first thing I’ll be looking to do is to leave the Realms behind entirely. Engage in some portal action and find some place peaceful. Start an incredibly large family and live out my days.” 
 
    Tenzing nodded. I had mentioned my desire to essentially retire to him before. 
 
    “So, what happens to you after this?” 
 
    “Ah, I will send the dungeons and supplicants to their respective Heavens and as you said, the Proving Grounds will be no more. Then I will slip away into mindless slumber. The cost of my awareness was too great,” the Entity confided. 
 
    My question had not been idle banter. Before I had been brought to this cottage, I already had a plan. I wanted to get my personal stuff done first. Now that was out of the way it was time to enact said plan. And the Entity had unwittingly given me the perfect justification earlier to execute it. 
 
    “No,” I told him. “You don’t get to just go to sleep. Not after what you’ve done. You have a penance to pay.” 
 
    “What? I don’t…you said you understood my position.” 
 
    “You and I are square, yes. But what about everyone else? You still owe them and the ones you were complicit in sending to their destruction over who knows how many years. You don’t get to walk away. Penance is required. Lifelong penance. To pay them back, you will transform the Proving Grounds into a habitable alternative to the Heavens of the Realms. A place where those who refuse to bow to the Divine Lords can spend their afterlife until their soul energy runs out and they fade away peacefully. 
 
    “While you’re at it, you can give all my life-seeded allies like Shelly, Rosie, and Bob a place to live out the lives they should have.” 
 
    I’d always planned to leverage the Entity to do this for them anyway, plus, I really didn’t want to have to take Gretsch and the other male disciples with me. But I couldn’t leave them if it had meant they’d be extinguished. 
 
    “What if they don’t want to stay?” 
 
    I half-grunted and half-laughed at his confused doubt. “There might be a couple of devotees that want to go to their Lordly Heavens. Or those who have loved ones they want to see again, regardless. If that’s what they really want, give it to them. But I know there are many in my guild who would happily jump at the chance of an alternative. Speak with Simeon, Nel’Van, and Torvald. You can figure out the finer details between you.” 
 
    “I will, Daxas. And you trust me with this? After everything that has happened?” the Entity asked. 
 
    “No, but I trust Tenzing,” I told them. 
 
    It was my best buddy that smiled back at me. 
 
    “Is that everything?” I asked. 
 
    “It is.” 
 
    “What do we do now? Hang out until the Lord’s stop being obstructive asshats?” 
 
    “We could, but there are a few familiar faces upstairs that I think are quite eager to reacquaint themselves with you,” he sniggered. 
 
    Just then a thumping emanated through the ceiling. “Get you cute ass up here, darling,” the muffled voice of Alyssa called with a chorus of giggling in the background. 
 
    “It appears I am in demand,” I said and sprang from the armchair and strode over to the staircase that led to the upper floor. 
 
    Tenzing trailed along behind me. 
 
    I was only a few steps up when I paused and turned around to him. “Is this farewell? Will I ever see you again?” 
 
    “Nobody lives forever, Daxas,” he answered. “I’ll make sure there is a place for you and for them to come when it is your time. We’ll see each other then.” 
 
    I nodded in response and almost took another step. A thought occurred to me as I did, and I couldn’t resist. I turned back to Tenzing for a second time.  
 
    “I’ll be back.” 
 
    “Only in a rerun,” Tenzing quipped in return. 
 
    “A Running Man comeback. Me likey,” I grinned and put my fist out which Tenzing cordially bumped. 
 
    “Enough with the Quartz Vinegar quotes, Husband,” my impatient wife cried down the stairs. “We’re all waiting for you, and we haven’t got any clothes on.” 
 
    “Duty calls,” I joked. “Take your time, there is no need to hassle the Lords too much. They’ve had a bad day,” I said with mock sincerity. 
 
    Tenzing grinned back at me and then shooed me away. 
 
    With that, I launched myself up the stairs taking them three at a time. Many delights awaited me, and I intended to take my time and enjoy them. 
 
    It was good to be the King. 
 
      
 
    THE END. 
 
    OR IS IT? 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Epilogue 
 
    The Arbiter 
 
      
 
    He moved quickly around the alabaster tower, collecting all the artefacts hidden away over the millennia for an emergency such as this. 
 
    He would need them to set himself up properly and prepare for his majestic comeback. Staying in the Proving Grounds was unacceptable. The Entity couldn’t be allowed to reabsorb him or worse, simply extinguish him entirely. 
 
    The lure to take in the sights and sounds of the misery mires that surrounded Timian’s palace in his Heaven was strong, but he had to resist. Work first, pleasure later. The other Lords would be here to ransack the palace soon enough and he needed to be gone before they arrived. 
 
    The Arbiter caught sight of himself in a nearby six-foot mirror. His form was intensely displeasing to him. Short, aged, and overweight. That damnable wolf bastard had left his indelible mark upon him with his twisted perception, and he had not been able to shake it. However, now that they were truly separated, he could make some much-needed decorative changes. 
 
    A younger, taller, form. A heroic, well-muscled body, chiselled chin, and perfectly arranged blonde hair. Yes, he could see the image of who he should be in his mind’s eye. 
 
    “You’re not even aware he is in there, are you?” An urbane voice questioned from behind him. 
 
    The Arbiter spun around in a panic and then spotted the green-clad sorcerer leafing through some of his…he meant Timian’s papers. 
 
    “Begone,” he ordered him. “I have no business with you and no interest in making a deal.” 
 
    “Ah, but you do. Have business with me. You see, Timian’s ledger remains in the red and I am here to collect.” 
 
    “Lord Timian is dead. He tragically perished at the hands of the wolf mutt. He entrusted me to take care of his belongings in the event of his death. You cannot have them.” 
 
    “I’m not here for worthless trinkets. Did you know that Timian, ever the duplicitous snake, was also quite insane? His mind was fractured, and he was heavily into self-delusion. He wasn’t even aware of some of the things he did to protect himself, so sure was he in his oracular abilities.” 
 
    The sorcerer continued to question him. “It’s true that he was a powerful prophet. Do you really think that at some point in his long existence, he didn’t foresee his ultimate demise? He did and it thoroughly cracked his mind. Worsened his already rather toxic personality if you ask me. 
 
    “He may have buried the knowledge deep, but he knew in his bones that his confrontation with Daxas would end in his death. 
 
    “Timian did not owe me things, Arbiter. And he didn’t entrust you with them either. But he did leave you something important, didn’t he? A sliver of himself.” 
 
    “What? No! Get away from me,” the Arbiter cried and backed up, but the sorcerer advanced on him despite his pleas and grabbed him around the throat. “Please, no,” he begged once more. 
 
    “It’s better this way, Arbiter, believe me. Timian left something rotten at your core and in time it would have consumed you fully. I’m doing you a favour. You will die as you and not him.” 
 
    “No…You’re…not,” he rasped as Devantus’ fingers tightened around his throat and choked him. 
 
    Since when did the Arbiter need to breathe? So much since Daxas’ victory did not make sense. Why had he been so confused? 
 
    “I don’t suppose I am,” the sorcerer confided conversationally. “Timian can’t be allowed to return, I’m afraid. Collecting his debt is just an excuse to remove him fully from the board. It’s a technicality that allows me to act and we both know how much our mutual friend Daxas loves his technicalities. As the repository of the last of his essence that means you have to go too.” 
 
    Then in a kinder, almost sympathetic tone, he continued. “I understand, I do. Most things want to hang on to those last few wisps of life, no matter how hopeless or painful the situation. You are no different, I suppose.” 
 
    As he finished his explanation the Arbiter choked his last and dissolved into golden wisps that the sorcerer collected in a jar. 
 
    “One errand down. Two to go.” Then whistling a jaunty tune, he disappeared in a puff of green smoke. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
    Shabbarth 
 
      
 
    Shabbarth awoke in darkness. He tried to move and was met with excruciating agony. His whole body screamed in pain. His head and shoulder throbbed especially badly. 
 
    He was no longer in the Proving Grounds, that much was clear. Whatever magic the Wolf King had employed had cast him out. That would be a serious setback. He wanted that energy, but with his brother princeps deceased, opportunity still beckoned. He needed to get back to his seat of power and start issuing instructions to his minions. He had to capitalise on the situation. 
 
    And that was when he encountered a slight problem. He couldn’t access his infernal powers. They were still there, he could sense them, but they had been locked away. 
 
    Shabbarth did not want to contemplate what that might mean, but he would achieve nothing if he let despair overpower him and did nothing. 
 
    Wherever he found himself, it was wet, and the stench was unimaginably bad. There was a little light and sound reaching him from above and he forced his body to sit up despite the incredible pain. 
 
    One of his arms flopped uselessly at his side. It had been dislocated. Shabbarth had tortured enough mortals to know how to both inflict and fix the injury. The pain was beyond imagining but after several attempts he got the ball joint back in the socket and he could use the arm a little better, albeit very painfully. 
 
    In the back of his mind, the information that his body was not the familiar muscled sathanite perfection screamed at him, but he forced that distraction away as something to deal with after he had found his way out. 
 
    With movement restored, Shabbarth was able to scrabble around his surroundings and figure out he was indeed in a sewer. There was a slippery chute that led up from his current position which seemed to be the only method of egress. So, slowly but surely, he crawled in and inched his way up the slick stone, ignoring how much effluence was being rubbed into the many wounds that covered his body. 
 
    It took the demon several hours, but finally, he pulled himself out through the hole from which he could see the dappling of moonlight. The rusted stubs of bars that used to block the way gouged more bloody furrows in his body as he squeezed his corpulent form past them with the last of his strength. Freed, and utterly exhausted, he rolled onto his back and laughed with gleeful victory. 
 
    He stared up into an unfamiliar night sky. 
 
    “Took you long enough,” a familiar sardonic voice laughed at him from the side. 
 
    Shabbarth twisted his neck and looked over at the voice. The dark sorcerer Devantus Drakonis lounged against a rain barrel under the awnings of one of the brick buildings that lined the alley he lay in. 
 
    “I should have known,” Shabbarth croaked. “Is this your doing?” 
 
    “Yes. No. Maybe,” he answered with a deep chuckle. 
 
    He was an aggravating bastard and Shabbarth knew it had been a mistake to bargain with him. 
 
    “The true fault lies with the owner of the building opposite. One Petemon Donbath. He performed a ritual that he thought would summon one of your underlings to enslave and do his bidding. He summoned a young man named Dave Smith, instead. You would know him as Daxas. 
 
    “Two of his associates dumped Dave Smith’s body in the sewer. I’ll admit I maaaaaayyyy have cast a teeny, tiny, little spell to preserve the body for a bit. When you fought Daxas, he used the remnants of the failed ritual to cast you out of the Proving Grounds and send you here. That is his former human body your mind happens to be trapped inside if you hadn’t figured it out for yourself. Your demonic essence is slowly healing the extensive damage, but you may come to regret that.” 
 
    “What do you mean?” Shabbarth gasped, still struggling to breathe. 
 
    “Well…” Devantus drawled theatrically and pushed himself away from the rain barrel. “That body is covered in slave bindings for a demon. That didn’t matter to Daxas, he wasn’t a demon. You, however, are. I dare say, your infernal hegemony has already been severed. Worse, the binder who performed the ritual, Mr Donbath, is on his way home, he’ll be here any second.” 
 
    Shabbarth began to panic and tried not to show it. The sorcerer could be lying but he couldn’t find fault in his logic. He tried to spur the body he was in to get up, but he had lain still for too long and the musculature had seized up. He’d need to replenish his reserves before he could force it into action again. 
 
    “Are you here to mock me?” he snarled at the sorcerer. 
 
    “Of course not, Shabbarth. That would be uncouth in the extreme. No. we made a deal for Princeps slaying blades and in my haste, I left one out of the case I presented to you. I do apologise, but it was an understandable mistake, six daggers are easier to place symmetrically than seven.” 
 
    Leaning down, the sorcerer produced a white-striated black blade with a diamond in the pommel and placed it on Shabbarth’s chest and patted it. 
 
    “This is for you, both to own and to be used upon.” He grinned down at the stricken infernal. “Our deal is complete, and I’ll be off. I have one more errand to complete today. Oh, best be quick about deciding what to do. I can hear Donbath’s carriage approach.” 
 
    With that, he stood back up and disappeared in a puff of green smoke. 
 
    Shabbarth wouldn’t admit it, but a tear escaped his left eye and ran down his face. Even if had the strength of will to take the dagger and plunge it into his heart. Thereby avoiding the humiliation of being enslaved to a mortal. The hand of this body wouldn’t move enough. His fruitless efforts only managed to cause the dagger to slip off his chest and drop between the crook of his arm into the muck of the alley. 
 
    The carriage rocked up thirty seconds later, and almost decapitated him but swerved away at the last moment. 
 
    “Bloody pissheads!” the carriage driver barked in annoyance. 
 
    Two men clambered out of the passenger compartment and peered down at him as the carriage took off into the night. 
 
    “Is this what I think it is, Petemon,” a fop with a ridiculous waxed moustache asked. 
 
    “I believe so, Laurence,” Petemon Donbath replied. 
 
    “I thought Meester and that lowborn whore he married were supposed to dispose of it?” 
 
    “You only dislike Myra because she turned down your proposal. She said you had a tiny dick, if I recall.” 
 
    “She is a lying cow,” Laurence snarled. 
 
    Petemon Donbath knew that was not the case but didn’t bother to point it out. Rectifying what Laurence considered to be a gross injustice of nature between his legs was the whole reason he had joined a cult devoted to summoning demons in the first place. “They were and from the looks of this fellow they ditched him down the drain over there and he has crawled his way back out.” 
 
    “But that was months ago,” Laurence whined. 
 
    “Precisely, and you know what that must mean.” 
 
    “Uh?” 
 
    Petemon sighed with despair at the stupidity of his friend. 
 
    However, he was the only one left who would talk to him after the cult exiled him. In the following months, he’d suffered setback after setback. But luck’s embrace was finally turning positively in his direction. It had all been that Crossfields woman’s doing, but she would surely regret her power play now. 
 
    “It means, despite all appearances to the contrary, the ritual worked. This is a servant of Dread Shabbarth and now he belongs to us. Best of all, we don’t have to share him with those ungrateful wretches that turned their backs on us. Now, help me get him into the basement. I had to sell all my slaves once the cult turned on us.” 
 
    A second tear dribbled down Shabbarth’s cheek as he was dragged into the house opposite and into the dark of the basement. The diamond-pommelled dagger was pocketed by Laurence when his friend wasn’t looking. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Epilogue 2 
 
    If you prefer the series to be wrapped up in a neatish little bow, where you can assume that Daxas and his many ladies live happily ever after you might want to skip the final epilogue. If you are made of more courageous stuff, then read on. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Jezebel 
 
      
 
    The profundity of the silence in the oubliette that formed the phase prison had almost broken Jezebel a dozen times. There were no walls, only darkness that stretched on into nothingness. In the centre, there was a simple single bed with threadbare sheets you could lie in and a single hard wooden chair with no padding. There was a small table you could tuck the chair under, but nothing else you could place upon it except for what you may have been lucky enough to bring with you. 
 
    She had marched away from the meagre furnishings a dozen times and walked endlessly in the dark only to find them once more after days of travel. The place was frustrating and endlessly cruel. Which was not truly a surprise given Timian had been instrumental in its creation. 
 
    The prison was formed in an ethereal realm out of phase with the rest of the universe. Once inside, the only power you had would be what the ethereal entity that ruled the demesne granted. But this ethereal plane had no mind. There was no one to reason with. The only way out was if someone were to act from an external position. For that, they needed to know where you were and be willing to do so in the first place. 
 
    It's what made this such an effective prison. 
 
    Jezebel had almost given up hope when without warning something changed. She had been pacing her ‘room’ when there was a loud pop and lying on the uncomfortable bed was Devantus Drakonis. He had his hands behind his head. She couldn’t see his face, obscured as it was by his hood, but she knew he was grinning from ear to ear. 
 
    “You’ve come,” she said simply. 
 
    “I have,” he answered. “I’m here to spring you from this awful place, Aren’t I kind?” 
 
    Jezebel picked up the small table and threw it at the cheeky bastard. The table went right through him and clattered into the bed and then tumbled over the side. 
 
    “I’m not here physically, of course,” he commented wryly. “If I were, I’d be just as trapped as you are.” 
 
    Jezebel harrumphed at his taunts and asked the question that both filled her with hope and despair. “Did he win?” 
 
    “It was never in doubt, and I wouldn’t be here if he hadn’t.” 
 
    “Of course not, you’re only here because I have a debt to repay.” 
 
    Unconsciously, she touched her waist where the soul chain once resided. Devantus noticed the telling behaviour. 
 
    “You wound me. I also made a solemn promise to reunite two would-be lovers.”  
 
    Jezebel snorted in disbelief and sat down on the wooden chair, refusing to look at her tormentor. 
 
    “If it makes you feel any better, the soul chain trick you hoped would prevent you from acting against his best interests wouldn’t have worked. You are a Divine Lord and Merrock has called an extraordinary council. If you weren’t here, you would have been drawn there regardless of what you wanted. The others would have removed the chain and you would have had to follow through on our agreement anyway.” 
 
    “No, it does not make me feel better. How long has it been?” 
 
    “For all of them, less than a day. For you, much longer. Long enough to fully wean yourself from soul energy and redraw your pathways. Paving the way for the two of you to be together.” 
 
    Jezebel almost screamed in frustration. Why did he needle her so? “I bet you even promised him that you would free me, not telling him what I would have to do. It’s the kind of twisted scheme you would enact.” 
 
    “I did, as a matter of fact. And don’t blame me for his ignorance. You had plenty of time to confess the truth.” 
 
    “Are you enjoying the delicious irony Drakonis? That you promised to free me from this prison for him. Only for me to be summoned to the Lord’s council first. Where I will be forced by your contract, to convince the others to imprison Daxas here in my stead. The very second, he sets foot in the Realms.” 
 
    “They may decide against doing that,” he remarked. “I think you have underestimated how deeply you are disliked by many of your peers. Solus and Luna are bound to disagree with you out of habit, and Merrock will certainly push for something more fatal for Daxas.” 
 
    “You would not have made the deal if you weren’t certain of the outcome. You must be loving how this has all come together so perfectly.” 
 
    The image of the dark sorcerer sat up on the bed and looked at her seriously for once. “Stop being such a self-centred pain in my ass. This is precisely why you and the others get yourselves so twisted up. People are always so eager to think the worst of me. Usually, it is within where they should be looking.” 
 
    “Because you are an unrepentant, manipulative shit,” she interrupted. 
 
    “Okay, you’ve got me there. I am. But if I were truly as depraved as you assume of me, I would have sprung you already and enacted my nefarious purpose. I very rarely force anyone’s hand. The key to my success is forethought and contingencies. The result of your council meeting is far from certain. My deal with you only puts this prison as an option on the table. 
 
    “You spoke of irony earlier. Are you sure it is irony and not an opportunity?” 
 
    “What do you mean?” 
 
    “Is it truly ironic that you are currently sitting in a prison designed to, and very likely will, contain a threat just like Daxas. A threat some would prefer to see dead. Or is it an opportunity to do something about it?” 
 
    The sorcerer’s words shocked Jezebel to truly think about the situation for the first time without allowing her wallowing self-pity to dominate her every thought. 
 
    And then she saw what he had alluded to. left to their own devices, her former companions could do almost anything. There were restrictions they couldn’t break due to the Accords, but there were always ways and means to get around those. This was an opportunity to influence the Lord’s reaction. Influence it in a direction where she could affect the outcome positively. 
 
    Jezebel slipped a band of brass off one of her delicate fingers. The brass ring had a glamour cast upon it from long ago so that it would go unnoticed by most. It had been a gift from her brother when she had been a mortal. Jezebel could no longer remember his face or name, nor the faces of anybody else from those days. She believed the ring was the only thing that prevented her from completely forgetting who she once was. That they had ever existed, at all. 
 
    It was her most treasured possession and something she had not removed in aeons. An item she was so familiar with, that she could sense and find it, no matter where it was. 
 
    The image of Devantus Drakonis stood and got out of her way. She retrieved the table from the floor by the bed and put it back in place. Reverently she placed the ring in the centre. 
 
    She would leave the ring here. It would act as a beacon and allow here to locate the prison even if Merrock destroyed the sole remaining disc that acted as a key. 
 
    If they sent Daxas here. No, when they sent him here. Jezebel would see to it. The ring’s presence meant she would be able to find him, free him and bring him back. If the Lord’s were allowed to come up with their own solution, any number of disasters beckoned. 
 
    “You understand now?” the sorcerer asked. 
 
    “I do. I still don’t trust you. You are playing a deeper game.” 
 
    “You shouldn’t and I am, but that needn’t worry you. Are you ready?” 
 
    Jezebel nodded. 
 
    Unseen by her, Devantus deposited a small book on the table beside the brass ring. 
 
      
 
    Becoming a God as an Act of Vengeance: A Practical Guide to Ascending Under the Noses of Your Enemies. 
 
    By 
 
    Devantus Drakonis 
 
      
 
    His work done; with a puff of green smoke the phase prison was left behind. 
 
    Still and silent. 
 
    For now, at least. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Afterword 
 
    Thank you for reading. I would like to say a special thanks to my patrons for their support of my writing endeavours.  
 
    In particular Dolog, Tyson Carver, James A. Murphy, RedDroid X, Nykson Costa, Iron Akela, Vincent Smith, Kore Rahl, Jalili Hayes, for their extra support. 
 
    Thank you. 
 
    As always kind reviews and supportive ratings always helps a book. You can also follow my author profile on Amazon. They have recently introduced a feature where we can recommend other books and authors, so sign up to get my feelings on that matter. 
 
    I hope you have enjoyed the series. 
 
    Is this the end for Daxas? 
 
    As Devantus Drakonis likes to say Yes. No. Maybe. 
 
    I have laid the groundwork for a sequel series, but equally I could simply leave it alone. You could just imagine that Jezebel springs Daxas from the phase prison in due course. He collects up the rest of the harem and they disappear to some quiet corner of the universe. Where they populate it with masses of children. 
 
    Whichever choice I make it won’t be for a while. I have half a dozen other stories and ideas that need to be told first. So, Daxas is going to get a well-earned break for a bit. 
 
    I am already writing my second series, Corsairs & Cataclysms, which I’ve debuted on Royal Road and ScribbleHub to try and build some buzz before publishing (Book one planned for release April/May 2023) This is a Gamelit Apocalypse story with a bit of harem. Check it out for free while you can. 
 
    The above actually makes me a laugh a little when I first told people about Corsairs the planned release was April/May 2022. How time flies. The first book is double the length of any of the Wolf King’s Lair volumes and book 2 is almost done. (Over 150k words written) 
 
    Check out my Patreon for early access and sneak peeks. More Details below. 
 
    https://www.patreon.com/Devantus_Drakonis 
 
    If you are interested in Gamelit and Haremlit consider joining the below Facebook groups 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/haremlit/ 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGsociety/ 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/Dungeonstories 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/haremGamelit/ 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPG.books/ 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGrebels/ 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGforum/ 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/litrpgfantasyaddicts/ 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/TheFantasyNation 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGReleases 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGAdventures 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/litrpgguild 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/540394709678045 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/MonsterGirlFiction 
 
    If you want to find more great LitRPG Books, check out the Amazon store - https://www.amazon.com/litrpg 
 
    I have a Facebook group too, which you can join for a heads up on when future books drop. 
 
    www.facebook.com/groups/disciplesofdevantusdrakonis/ 
 
    I also have a patreon group. Please consider joining it to offer me support, maybe my patron the supreme dark sorcerer himself won’t obliterate me or turn me into a luminescent gerbil if it does well enough.  
 
    You will get early access to whatever books I am writing up until the point they are published. Then I have to pull them as per the terms of KDP Select exclusivity.  
 
    https://www.patreon.com/Devantus_Drakonis 
 
      
 
    Copyright © 2023 by Devan Drake 
 
    All rights reserved. This book or any portion thereof 
 
    may not be reproduced or used in any manner whatsoever  
 
    without the express written permission of the publisher 
 
    except for the use of brief quotations in a book review. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Dramatis Personae & Character Sheets 
 
    Daxas: Dungeon Master of the Wolf King’s Lair 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Daxas 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Lupus Rex 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  27 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  50 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  26 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  100 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  26 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  27 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  520/520 
  
      	  Dungeon Power 
  
      	  74 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  74 
  
      	  Unspent Experience 
  
      	  42,000 
  
     
 
      
      	  Current Soul Marks 
  
      	  120 
  
      	  Fallen Total 
  
      	  19,236 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 100, Hunting 100, Gathering 100, Farming 100, Smelting 100, Butchering 100, Woodwork 90, Masonry 90, Metal Work 100, Leather Work 100, Alchemy 100, Enchanting 100, General Crafting 80 
    
  Spells: Life Affinity 
  Greater Summon Beasts 4 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: 1) You may summon power rank ten beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 100% chance it will revive at full health. 
    
  Venom 5 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 1 minutes. 
  Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank four venom. The next successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target. 
  Rank three Venom: Causes 200 venom damage initially, and a further 40 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour. 
    
  Greater Regrowth 4 (Life) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to double your spell power per point of mana used. Doubled again if they are part of the Life Sphere 2) May be used on dead Sexual sphere creatures, returning them to life. 
    
  Camouflage 3 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes. 
  Description: While under the effect of this spell you blend in with your surroundings. You will be difficult to spot. Rank of observers affects efficacy. Duration: Until spotted. 
    
  Greater Electro Claws 5 (Lightning) 
  Cost: 5 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 electrical damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty. 
    
  Lightning Bolt 5 (Lightning) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used 
  Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a 100% chance to become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet. 3) Deals two percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds. 
    
  Greater Chain Lightning 4 (Lightning) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 5/100 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/2 rounding down) per point of mana/5 used. The spell will jump to the nearest enemy combatant and inflict the initial damage divided by 2. This will continue until either there are no more unaffected targets or damage had been reduced to 1 or 0. A missed thrown spell costs 5 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 3) Hit targets have a 100% chance to become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet. 
    
  Electrified 3 (Lightning) 
  Cost: 20 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Your body and surrounding area becomes electrified to enemies. All enemies within (Spell Power/5) feet take 10 electrical damage each second that they remain in range. 
  Duration: 1 minute  
    
  Greater Heal 5 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1. 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to double your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Greater Bless 4 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Purge 5 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: None 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank one to five poison, disease or venom. 
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Shifter: Battle Form (Warwolf), Passive Form (Lupus Humanoid) 
    
  Dungeon Dominator 6: Dominance aura x7 
    
  Damage Reduction (granted by Resilience): Impact 27, Piercing 27, Heat 27, Cold 27, Necrotic 27, Electrical 27, Corrosive 27, Venom 27, Poison 27, Sanctified 27, Infernal 27 
    
  Aura of Dominance: (30) A born leader, those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. Those affected will instinctively defer to you, making them more likely to submit to your will. Its effect is enhanced the longer they are in your presence. Holding a position of authority over a person will also enhance its effect. * (Passive and Battle Forms) 
    
  Aura of Fear: (15) You possess a fearsome form, reputation or natural fear inducing intoxicant. Those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. There is a chance their actions will be weaker, or slower, or may struggle to accurately verbalise spells or abilities. (Battle Form only) 
    
  Aura of Sexual Magnetism: (15) You possess a comely form, reputation or natural arousing intoxicant. Those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. Affected members of the opposite sex will view you more positively and be more inclined to accede to your requests. There is a chance that affected members of the same sex will view you negatively and be more inclined to refuse requests or act aggressively. ** (Passive Form only) 
    
  *As this dungeon has a Dominance speciality this effect is x3 
  **As this dungeon is of the Sexual sphere this effect is x2. 
  As this dungeon has a female affinity speciality this effect is x3 for females. 
  As this dungeon has a fertility affinity speciality this effect is x3 for fertile creatures.  
  As this dungeon has a lust affinity speciality this effect is x3 for if either party would be sexually attracted without its effect. 
  As this dungeon has a polyspecism speciality those affected by the aura who would usually object to a sexual relationship with another species are less likely to do so (auras strength determines efficacy). Magnetism x3. 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Jessamyn Wolfsbride: First Disciple and Alpha Female of Daxas harem. 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Jessamyn Wolfsbride 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Wood Elf 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  10 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  40 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  25 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  120 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  20 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  400/400 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  74 
  
      	  Experience 
  
      	  Maxed 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 100, Hunting 100, Gathering 100, Farming 100 
    
  Spells: Sanctified Affinity 
    
  Greater Heal 5 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1. 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to double your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Greater Bless 4 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Purge 4 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: None 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank three or below poison, disease or venom. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Greater Summon Beasts 3 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: 1) You may summon power rank ten beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health. 
    
  Venom 4 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes. 
  Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank three venom. The next two successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target. 
  Rank three Venom: Causes 100 venom damage initially, and a further 20 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour. 
    
  Greater Regrowth 4 (Life) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to double your spell power per point of mana used. Doubled again if they are part of the Life Sphere 2) May be used on dead Sexual sphere creatures, returning them to life. 
    
  Camouflage 1 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: While under the effect of this spell you blend in with your surroundings. You will be difficult to spot, movement and rank of observers affects efficacy. Duration: Until spotted. 
    
  Flame Bolt 4 (Fire) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used 
  Description: Throw a sphere of fire at a target. On a successful hit the target takes heat damage (spell power/2 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds. 
    
  Greater Flame Fists 3 (Fire) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 heat damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty.

Fireball 3 (Fire) 
  Cost: 4 mana per foot of the fireball’s diameter. (Minimum 10 feet, 40 Mana. Maximum 50 feet, 200 Mana) 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: Create a ball of fire that inflicts your Spell Power x2 in Heat damage to anyone currently in its area of effect. 2) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds. 
    
  Wall of Flame 1 (Fire) 
  Cost: 1 Mana for each 5x5 section. 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Create a wall of flame within your line of sight. Any passing through the wall will take Heat damage. 
  Duration: 5 minutes  
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Sanctified Spell Affinity: Sanctified spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost. 
    
  Aura of Dominance: (20) [Daxasian blessing] A born leader, those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. Those affected will instinctively defer to you, making them more likely to submit to your will. Its effect is enhanced the longer they are in your presence. Holding a position of authority over a person will also enhance its effect. * 
    
  *Granted as the Alpha female of the Wolf King’s harem, its effect is x2 on other harem members. 
  As this dungeon has a Dominance speciality this effect is x2 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Karragh Dvarhold: Second Disciple 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Karragh Dvarhold 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Ironskin Dwarf 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  20 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  40 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  11 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  100 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  25 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  500/500 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  74 
  
      	  Experience 
  
      	  Maxed 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 100, Hunting 100, Gathering 100, Farming 100, Metal Working 100, Smelting 100 
    
  Spells: Earth Affinity 
  Stamina Boost 4 (Earth) 
  Cost: 5 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Stamina stat of target is increased by 10 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) Surge: Effect can be increased up to x4 by increasing casting cost or reducing duration. 
    
  Greater Summon Beasts 3 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: 1) You may summon power rank ten beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health. 
    
  Venom 4 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes. 
  Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank three venom. The next two successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target. 
  Rank three Venom: Causes 100 venom damage initially, and a further 20 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour. 
    
  Greater Regrowth 4 (Life) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to double your spell power per point of mana used. Doubled again if they are part of the Life Sphere 2) May be used on dead Sexual sphere creatures, returning them to life. 
    
  Camouflage 1 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: While under the effect of this spell you blend in with your surroundings. You will be difficult to spot, movement and rank of observers affects efficacy. Duration: Until spotted. 
    
  Greater Heal 5 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1. 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to double your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Greater Bless 4 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Purge 4 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: None 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank three or below poison, disease or venom. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Greater Electro Claws 3 (Lightning) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 electrical damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty. 
    
  Lightning Bolt 4 (Lightning) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used 
  Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a 100% chance to become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet. 3) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds. 
    
  Greater Chain Lightning 4 (Lightning) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 5/100 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/2 rounding down) per point of mana/5 used. The spell will jump to the nearest enemy combatant and inflict the initial damage divided by 2. This will continue until either there are no more unaffected targets or damage had been reduced to 1 or 0. A missed thrown spell costs 5 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 3) Hit targets have a 100% chance to become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet. 
    
  Electrified 1 (Lightning) 
  Cost: 20 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Your body and surrounding area becomes electrified to enemies. All enemies within (Spell Power/10) feet take 5 electrical damage each second they remain in range. 
  Duration: 1 minute  
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Earth Spell Affinity: Earth spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost. 
    
  Magnified Metalworker: [Daxasian Blessing] Metalworking and Smelting skills are treated as twenty ranks higher than current skill ranks. 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Fiadh Longclaws: Third Disciple 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Fiadh Longclaws 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Savage Human 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  85 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  16 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  85 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  150 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  85 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  1,700/1,700 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  74 
  
      	  Experience 
  
      	  Maxed 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 59, Hunting 52, Gathering 52, Farming 49 
    
  Blood Rage 4 (Infernal) 
  Cost: 20 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: Can only be cast when health drops below 100% 
  Description: Strength and Stamina stat increased by (Spell Power). 2) This spell will be auto-cast when the requirements are met.
Duration: Until no living enemies are visible. 
No other spells may be cast while Blood Rage is active.
As Stamina increases, so does the persons health pool. When the ability is deactivated their stamina and health pool will revert to its original size. If their current damage exceeds the new lower health pool, they will die without immediate healing. 
    
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Battle Frenzy: An ability which allows a person to channel Mana to increase their physical attributes by 100%. Ability duration is 1 sec per point of Spell Power. It costs 1 Mana for each activation.  
  Once activated Battle Frenzy will continue to renew until all enemies are defeated or Mana is exhausted. 
  If the persons Mana pool is exhausted before the battle’s completion Battle Frenzy will continue. This will result in a 50% debuff to all physical stats at battles end (duration minutes*mana that should have been used).  
  As Stamina increases, so does the persons health pool. When the ability is deactivated their stamina and health pool will revert to its original size (or lower if they ran out of Mana). If their current damage exceeds the new lower health pool, they will die without immediate healing.  
    
  Wolf King’s Passion: [Daxasian Blessing] The activation and deactivation of the Battle Frenzy ability is now controlled by Daxas, the Wolf King. Mana will always recharge at a rate of 1 per minute provided Fiadh has no other active spell abilities. 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Nessa Fiveleaf: Fourth Disciple and claimed Dungeon 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Nessa Fiveleaf 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Oakheart Dryad 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  10 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  40 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  12 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  120 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  10 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  200/200 
  
      	  Dungeon Power 
  
      	  69 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  69 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Current Soul Marks 
  
      	  N/A 
  
      	  Fallen Total 
  
      	  N/A 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 100, Hunting 100, Gathering 100, Farming 100, Alchemy 100 
    
  Spells: Life Affinity 
  Greater Regrowth 6 (Life) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana (Cost Halved) 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to double your spell power per point of mana used. If the target is a life domain creature the effect is doubled again. 2) May be used on dead creatures, returning them to life. 
    
  Greater Summon Beasts (Plant-based) 3 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: 1) You may summon power level ten beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health. 
    
  Venom 4 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes. 
  Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank three venom. The next two successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target. 
  Rank three Venom: Causes 100 venom damage initially, and a further 20 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour. 
    
  Camouflage 1 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: While under the effect of this spell you blend in with your surroundings. You will be difficult to spot, movement and rank of observers affects efficacy. Duration: Until spotted. 
    
  Greater Heal 5 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1. 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to double your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Greater Bless 4 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Purge 4 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: None 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank three or below poison, disease or venom. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Ice Blast 4 (Frost) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a chance to be paralysed by the cold. Base chance is 100% less targets resistance. Paralysis lasts Spell Power x 2 seconds. There is a 30-minute cooldown before the same target can be affected by paralysis again. 
    
  Greater Frostbite 3 (Frost) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 cold damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty. 
    
  Chill Zone 3 (Frost) 
  Cost: 1 mana per square foot affected. 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: Create a chill zone that inflicts your Spell Power x2 in Cold damage to anyone currently in or who passes through the area it effects. The zone lasts for five minutes. 2) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds. 
    
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Fecund Abundance: (Verdant speciality) Health regeneration for living creatures in this dungeon is doubled. Growth for all living things in this dungeon is doubled. The following advanced dungeon rooms unlocked early. Jungle, Forest, and Meadow.  
    
  Life Finds a Way: [Daxasian Blessing] Life seeds from this ‘Mother’ have a chance to be masterwork items (based on dungeons % chance). A masterwork Life Seed, if charged with 1000 soul marks, can grant true life to whatever dungeon creature it is used upon. If uncharged it can be used as standard Life Seed. 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Jen’Zadeer Shadestar: Fifth Disciple and claimed Dungeon 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Jen’Zadeer Shadestar 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Dark Elf 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  10 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  50 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  15 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  140 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  20 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  400/400 
  
      	  Dungeon Power 
  
      	  72 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  72 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Current Soul Marks 
  
      	  N/A 
  
      	  Fallen Total 
  
      	  N/A 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 100, Hunting 100, Gathering 100, Farming 100, Enchanting 100 
    
  Spells: Frost Affinity, Destruction Affinity 
  Ice Blast 6 (Frost) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a chance to be paralysed by the cold. Base chance is 150% less targets resistance. Paralysis lasts Spell Power x 4 seconds. There is a 30-minute cooldown before the same target can be affected by paralysis again. 
    
  Greater Frostbite 3 (Frost) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 cold damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty. 
    
  Chill Zone 3 (Frost) 
  Cost: 1 mana per square foot affected. 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: Create a chill zone that inflicts your Spell Power x2 in Cold damage to anyone currently in or who passes through the area it effects. The zone lasts for five minutes. 2) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds. 
    
  Strength Boost 4 (Destruction) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes 
  Description: 1) Strength stat of target is increased by 10 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) Surge: Effect can be increased up to x4 by increasing casting cost or reducing duration. 
    
  Greater Armour Breaker 3 (Destruction) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: DR of target for Impact and Piercing damage is reduced by 20 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) There is a 50% chance a random item of armour provides no benefit for 30 minutes. 
    
  Crumble 1 (Destruction) 
  Cost: 1 mana per square cube affected. 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: Destroy any structures or barriers within the spells effect range. Deals no damage directly to living beings. 
    
  Vorpal Weapon 1 (Destruction) 
  Cost 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Limbs struck by a Vorpal weapon are numbed for 1 minute and can’t be used.  
  Duration: 10 seconds per point of spell power of the caster. 
    
  Greater Heal 5 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1. 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to double your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Greater Bless 4 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Purge 4 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: None 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank three or below poison, disease or venom. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Concealed Casting: Opponents will be unaware of the first spell cast, catching them by surprise. They will actively misinterpret the casters words or gestures.  
    
  Frost Spell Affinity: Frost spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost. (Granted by the Spellcraft perk) 
    
  Cold Heart of the Deceiver: [Daxasian Blessing] The Concealed Casting ability works for the first casting of each spell the caster possesses. 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Tabitha Greenfields: Sixth Disciple 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Tabitha Greenfields 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Hare-kin 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  14 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  50 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  27 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  120 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  16 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  320/320 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  74 
  
      	  Experience 
  
      	  Maxed 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 100, Hunting 100, Gathering 100, Farming 100, Leather Work 100 
    
  Spells: Wind Affinity 
    
  Greater Agility Boost 3 (Wind) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Agility stat of target is increased by 20 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) Surge: Effect can be increased up to x4 by increasing casting cost or reducing duration. 
    
  Greater Wind Blast 4 (Wind) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Throw a blast of wind at a target. On a successful hit the target takes Impact damage (spell power x2) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Target is pushed back (Spell power/2 rounding down) feet. 3) Continuous: If caster does not move their feet wind blast can be maintained. 
    
  Leap 1 (Wind) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 1 minute 
  Description: Leap (spell power*10) feet in a single bound. 
    
  Greater Summon Beasts 3 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: 1) You may summon power rank ten beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health. 
    
  Venom 4 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes. 
  Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank three venom. The next two successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target. 
  Rank three Venom: Causes 100 venom damage initially, and a further 20 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour. 
    
  Greater Regrowth 4 (Life) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to double your spell power per point of mana used. Doubled again if they are part of the Life Sphere 2) May be used on dead Sexual sphere creatures, returning them to life. 
    
  Camouflage 1 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: While under the effect of this spell you blend in with your surroundings. You will be difficult to spot, movement and rank of observers affects efficacy. Duration: Until spotted. 
    
  Ice Blast 4 (Frost) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a chance to be paralysed by the cold. Base chance is 100% less targets resistance. Paralysis lasts Spell Power x 2 seconds. There is a 30-minute cooldown before the same target can be affected by paralysis again. 
    
  Greater Frostbite 3 (Frost) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 minutes 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 cold damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty. 
    
  Chill Zone 3 (Frost) 
  Cost: 1 mana per square foot affected. 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: Create a chill zone that inflicts your Spell Power x2 in Cold damage to anyone currently in or who passes through the area it effects. The zone lasts for five minutes. 2) Deals one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds. 
    
  Greater Heal 5 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana. Mana cost halved minimum 1. 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to double your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Greater Bless 4 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 10 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 8 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Purge 4 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: None 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank three or below poison, disease or venom. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Wind Spell Affinity: Wind spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost.  
    
  Frith’s Fleetness: [Daxasian Blessing] When being pursued Agility is doubled for thirty seconds. This ability can only be activated once every thirty minutes.  
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Tamara Huxeidon: Third claimed Dungeon 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Tamara Huxeidon 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Gorgon 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  20 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  30 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  45 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  60 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  40 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  800/800 
  
      	  Dungeon Power 
  
      	  74 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  74 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Current Soul Marks 
  
      	  N/A 
  
      	  Fallen Total 
  
      	  N/A 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	    
  Spells: Destruction Affinity, Lightning Affinity 
    
  Vorpal Weapon 1 (Destruction) 
  Cost 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Limbs struck by a Vorpal weapon are numbed for 1 minute and can’t be used.  
  Duration: 10 seconds per point of spell power of the caster. 
    
  Lightning Bolt 5 (Lightning) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used 
  Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a 100% chance to become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet. 3) Deals two percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds. 
    
  Greater Chain Lightning 4 (Lightning) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 5/100 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/2 rounding down) per point of mana/5 used. The spell will jump to the nearest enemy combatant and inflict the initial damage divided by 2. This will continue until either there are no more unaffected targets or damage had been reduced to 1 or 0. A missed thrown spell costs 5 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 3) Hit targets have a 100% chance to become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet. 
    
  Electrified 3 (Lightning) 
  Cost: 20 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Your body and surrounding area becomes electrified to enemies. All enemies within (Spell Power/5) feet take 10 electrical damage each second that they remain in range. 
  Duration: 1 minute  
    
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Petrifying Gaze: Every hour a Gorgon can use their petrifying gaze on an opponent. Efficacy runs of the Spell Power stat.  
    
  Lightning Spell Affinity: Lightning spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost. (Granted by the Spellcraft perk) 
    
  Petrifying Accuracy: [Daxasian Blessing] Agility is added to Spell Power to determine Petrifying Gaze’s strength. 
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